EXECUTIVE
Date: Tuesday 5 July 2022
Time: 5.30 pm
Venue: Rennes Room, Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter
Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business.
If you have an enquiry regarding any items on this agenda, please contact Mark Devin, Democratic
Services Team Leader on 01392 265477.
Entry to the Civic Centre can be gained through the rear entrance, located at the back of the Customer
Service Centre, Paris Street.
Membership Councillors Bialyk (Chair), Wright (Deputy Chair), Denning, Ghusain, Morse, Parkhouse, Pearce,
Williams and Wood

Agenda
Part I: Items suggested for discussion with the press and public present
1

Apologies
To receive apologies for absence from Committee members.

2

Minutes
To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 31 May 2022.

3

Declarations of Interest
Councillors are reminded of the need to declare any disclosable pecuniary
interests that relate to business on the agenda and which have not already been
included in the register of interests, before any discussion takes place on the
item. Unless the interest is sensitive, you must also disclose the nature of the
interest. In accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct, you must then leave
the room and must not participate in any further discussion of the item.
Councillors requiring clarification should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer
prior to the day of the meeting.

4

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 - Exclusion of Press
and Public
RECOMMENDED that, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act
1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of

(Pages 5 10)

item 17 on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information
as defined in paragraph 3 of Part I, Schedule 12A of the Act.
5

Questions from the Public Under Standing order No. 19
To receive questions relating to items on the Agenda from members of the public
and responses thereto.
Details of questions should be notified to the Corporate Manager Democratic and
Civic Support by 10.00am at least three working days prior to the meeting.
Further information about speaking at a committee can be found here: Speaking
at a Committee

6

Progress update from Exeter City Futures and city of Exeter Greenhouse
Gas inventory
To consider the report of the Chief Executive & Growth Director.

(Pages 11
- 78)

The Strategic Scrutiny Committee considered the report at its meeting on 16 June
2022, and its comments will be reported.
7

General Fund Capital Monitoring 2021/22 and Revised Capital Programme
for 2022/23 and Future Years
To consider the report of the Director Finance.

8

Overview of General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22
To consider the report of the Director Finance.

9

(Pages
159 - 170)

UK Shared Prosperity Fund, Exeter Allocation
To consider the report of the Director Net Zero Exeter & City Management.

13

(Pages
151 - 158)

Allocation of the one off Net Zero budget
To consider the report of the Director Net Zero Exeter & City Management.

12

(Pages
125 - 150)

Treasury Management 2021/22
To consider the report of the Director Finance.

11

(Pages
103 - 124)

2021/22 HRA Budget Monitoring Report - Outturn
To consider the report of the Director Finance.

10

(Pages 79
- 102)

Local Validation List

(Pages
171 - 194)

To consider the report of the Director of City Development.
14

Proposed changes and re-procurement of outreach-led rough sleeping
services
To consider the report of the Deputy Chief Executive.

15

(Pages
357 - 366)

Implications of the Elections Act 2022
To consider the report of the Electoral Registration Officer and Returning Officer.

16

(Pages
195 - 356)

(Pages
367 - 378)

Former Exeter Bus Station
To consider the report of the Director Finance.

(Pages
379 - 386)

Part II: Items suggested for discussion with the press and public excluded
No representations have been received in respect of the following items in accordance with the Local
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations
2012.

17

Guildhall Shopping Centre
To consider the report of the Director Finance.

(Pages
387 - 394)

Date of Next Meeting
The next scheduled meeting of the Executive will be held on Tuesday 6 September 2022 at 5.30 pm
in the Civic Centre.
A statement of the executive decisions taken at this meeting will be produced and published
on the Council website as soon as reasonably practicable.
Find out more about Exeter City Council services by looking at our web site http://www.exeter.gov.uk.
This will give you the dates of all future Committee meetings and tell you how you can ask a question
at a Scrutiny Committee meeting. Alternatively, contact the Democratic Services Officer
(Committees) on (01392) 265115 for further information.
Follow us:
Twitter
Facebook

Individual reports on this agenda can be produced in large print on
request to Democratic Services (Committees) on 01392 265275.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2
EXECUTIVE
Tuesday 31 May 2022
Present:
Councillor Bialyk (Chair)
Councillors Wright, Denning, Ghusain, Morse, Parkhouse, Pearce, Williams and Wood
Apologies:
Councillor D. Moore (as an opposition group Leader)
Also present:
Councillor K. Mitchell (as an opposition group Leader)
Councillor Jobson (as an opposition group Leader)
Also present:
Chief Executive & Growth Director, Deputy Chief Executive, Director Corporate Services,
Director of City Development, City Surveyor, Assistant Service Lead – Local Plan, Skills &
City Inclusivity Manager and Democratic Services Team Leader
54

MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 4 April 2022, were taken as read, approved and
signed by the Chair as a correct record.

55

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made.

56

QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC UNDER STANDING ORDER NO. 19
No questions from members of the public were received.

57

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2022
The Executive received the report on appointing Members to outside bodies, which
ensured that there was Council representation to maintain effective partnerships
with the external organisations. Appendix A, included with the report presented at
the meeting, highlighted the proposed appointments. The Leader highlighted the
following proposed changes to appointments listed in Appendix A:Community Safety Partnership - Councillor Amal Ghusain as the Portfolio
Holder for City Management & Environmental Services, in place of the Leader;
Devon Authorities Strategic Waste Committee - Councillor Ruth Williams as the
Portfolio Holder for Recycling & Waterways, in place of Councillor Ghusain;
Energy From Waste Liaison Committee - Councillor Ruth Williams as the
Portfolio Holder for Recycling & Waterways, in place of Councillor Ghusain;
Exeter Canal & Quay Trust Ltd - Councillor Ruth Williams as the Portfolio
Holder for Recycling & Waterways, in place of Councillor Ghusain;
Exeter Fairtrade Steering Group - Councillor Trish Oliver to take the vacant
position;

Page 5

Maynard School – Vacancy, in place of Councillor Pearce; and
Relate – Vacancy, in place of Councillor Wright.
The Leader acknowledged the historic value of the appointments to outside bodies,
but highlighted that a review of the Council representation on the various bodies
would be undertaken, in consultation with the opposition Leaders.
The Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Culture, Corporate & Democratic
Services highlighted that there was an error in the first recommendation and that
approval was a Council function. She moved an amendment to the wording of the
recommendation, to state that the Executive recommended that Council approve
the appointments to the outside bodies set out in Appendix A of the report.
RECOMMENDED that Council:(1) approve the appointments contained in Appendix A of the report and as
amended at the meeting; and
(2) grant delegated authority to the Corporate Manager Democratic and Civic
Support, in consultation with the Group Leaders, to appoint, when necessary,
representatives to outside bodies during the course of the Municipal Year.
58

MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES AND EXPENSES PAID 2021/22
The Executive received the report on expenses and allowances paid to elected
Members in 2021/22, which, the Council had a statutory obligation to publish each
financial year.
RESOLVED that Executive Committee note the allowances paid and the expenses
claimed by Members in 2021/22.

59

EXETER SKILLS STRATEGY
The Executive received the report on the new Exeter Skills Strategy, which had
been developed to consider the impact and changes to the labour market and
economy, following the Covid Pandemic. Members were reminded that in March
2020, the original Skills Strategy had been approved, just prior to the Covid
lockdown, which had impacted on the delivery of the strategy priorities and to the
local labour market and workforce.
Particular reference was made on the impact of the Pandemic to the Skills Strategy,
with the following key points:At its peak, 30% of the city’s workforce was part of the Furlough scheme which
equated to 17,000 people;
Universal Credit claims had risen to over 4%; and
There had regularly been over 3,000 job vacancies within five miles of the city
and 9,000 vacancies within 25 miles of the city over the past year and as was
still the case, as of April 2022.
In March 2021, Council approved a review of the evidence base to refresh the Skills
Strategy following the impact from the Pandemic and had begun working with
‘Wavehill Social and Economic Research’ and its partners and stakeholders to
develop the revised strategy. This included a review of available data on to one

Page 6

consultation and an event in April 2022, which brought together partners to engage
on key themes and topics to bring the strategy forward.
Highlights from the evidence gathered included:The number of Universal Credit claimants had reduced to under 2%, but there
were a lot of complex barriers to employment;
Older workers, aged over 50, had become economically inactive and had left
the labour market, which had further impacted on employment retention;
There were issues with recruitment across the city, despite there being a
number of qualified residents available, there were noticeable skills gaps
identified;
Around 45% of the city’s employment was in three sectors - Health & Care,
Retail and Education;
The Self-employment rate for the city had dropped from 15% in 2017/18 to just
6% since the Pandemic;
Various sectors had been impacted by new demands from the workforce,
including an increased desire for more home working and hybrid working
options, which remained a challenge to attract a work force – particularly for
those sectors unable to offer these flexibilities; and
Although there were identified deprived wards, the strategy covered all wards
across the city, but there would be actions and focus in place for the identified
wards.
Reference was made to the priorities outlined in the strategy, which had strong links
to the Exeter 2040 vision, supporting the city in becoming healthy, inclusive,
sustainable and delivering world class education. The priority of the strategy was
focussed on inclusivity and productivity, working with a wide range of key partners
across the city. Following approval, a short summary document would be produced,
with a Members’ Briefing provided in September 2022 to highlight the priorities and
to finalise the action plan with the skills group.
The Chief Executive & Growth Director commented on the strategic point, where
Members had agreed to the vision of the city as an inclusive, healthy and
sustainable city, providing many opportunities for its residents. The report
highlighted how the city delivered on inclusive growth, which the skills agenda
connected with younger residents to provide them with opportunities and the
building of relationships with educational providers. The Civic University Agreement
work had brought education providers together to help residents enter the work
place. Members noted that, although the Council had no statutory responsibility to
undertake the work, it had moved from economic development to inclusive growth,
which included building a skills agenda.
During the discussion, Members welcomed and commended the strategy and team
for the excellent work that been undertaken to identify the impacts of the pandemic
on the city work place, and developing a wide ranging evidence base. The Skills
Strategy was crucial in supporting residents and bringing new businesses to the
city, which would enable residents to also work in the city, rather than travel
elsewhere. The Strategy identified the need for developing green skills to support
climate change, which combined with the Council’s objectives for Net Zero.
The Council Leader, in summarising, noted the importance of the report,
highlighting that, although it wasn’t a statutory function, the Council was choosing to
invest in providing skills for all residents for the benefit of the city’s future.
RECOMMENDED that Council approve:-

Page 7

(1) the Exeter Skills Strategy; and
(2) the development of the associated action plan to enable the Skills & City
Inclusivity Manager to address the identified priorities.
60

NEW STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT: PROPOSED ADOPTION
The Executive received the report on the new Statement of Community Involvement
(SCI), which was a legally required document and was an important planning tool
that explained to residents how they could engage with planning applications and
how the Council would consult on plan making. The existing SCI had been adopted
in 2005 and no longer met legal requirements.
The draft SCI alongside the Exeter Local Plan ‘Issues Consultation’ underwent an 8
week consultation in 2021, and the results and comments received were
incorporated into the document presented at the meeting. Although the SCI set out
the minimum legal requirement for consulting on planning applications and plan
making, Exeter City Council had opted for a best practice approach and had gone
further than the legal minimum requirement. Interactive engagement exercises had
been undertaken, which included pop-up exhibitions on the High Street, where
residents were invited to attend and build Lego models to represent their view of the
future of the High Street, and the information attained would feed into the Exeter
Local Plan.
Particular reference was made to the planned engagement with the Royal Albert
Memorial Museum (RAMM), Exeter University and Exeter Culture on further
interactive engagement projects during the summer period, to attain further detail
from residents on the future they want for the city. Members also noted that a
planned city wide consultation exercise on the future place initiative, would be
undertaken, allowing residents to engage with the Council on the future of their local
neighbourhoods.
The Leader proposed an amendment, as agreed with Group Leaders, to page 6 of
the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI), to replace the last paragraph with
the following text:‘Through Liveable Exeter, the Council will strengthen communities and create new
neighbourhoods. Using innovative and interactive engagement tools, the Council
will better inform communities about Liveable Exeter and enable them to shape
emerging development proposals as they come forward, as well as feeding into the
new Exeter (Local) Plan.’
Councillor Jobson, as an opposition leader, spoke on this item regarding the issue
of neighbourhood planning and asked that it be made clear that there was funding
and support available for groups who wanted to setup neighbour plans through the
locality budget.
Councillor K. Mitchell, as an opposition leader, spoke on this item and thanked the
Director of City Development for the report and previous correspondence. He
commented on Neighbourhood Planning, which was an important way for residents
to address what they wanted in their neighbourhoods and that it needed to be a part
of the process. The St. James Forum had recently disbanded for various reasons
and he would welcome a conversation about what had happened with the forum
and how improvements could be made in the future. He acknowledged that a lot of
time and support was needed for residents to develop neighbourhood plans and
sought reassurance that support would be provided. Councillor K. Mitchell

Page 8

welcomed the report and thanked the Chair for the amendment to the SCI
document.
During the discussion the following points were made:The report highlighted that a best practice approach had been taken and with
few comments received that required a change to the document, provided a
strong indication that the Council was doing what communities wanted and was
going beyond the minimum legal requirements;
It was important and innovative to run consultations for future residents so they
could engage and contribute on how the future of the city would look;
The eight week consultation on the SCI also demonstrated a best practice
approach and how the Council went beyond the minimum legal requirement to
produce the document; and
There has been historic difficulty with consulting on planning documents and
the new interactive engagement process with communities showed how much
the Council was prepared to engage through various means of consultation
with residents.
The Council Leader stated that the Statement of Community Involvement, was an
important document and allowed residents to contact the Council and engage with
local councillors. He commented on the neighbourhood plan, which was available
online and was easily accessible but help and support would be provided to anyone
looking to setup up a neighbourhood group.
RESOLVED that the Executive grant delegated authority to the Director of City
Development, in consultation with the Council Leader and the Portfolio Holder for
City Development, to make minor editorial changes to the final Statement of
Community Involvement (SCI) document.
RECOMMENDED that Council adopt the final Statement of Community Involvement
(SCI) including any minor changes (as per recommendation 1).
61

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 - EXCLUSION
OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED that under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the
press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following
item on the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Act.

62

LAND IN SUMMERLAND STREET
The Executive received the report, which advised Members on the proposed
disposal of land at Summerland Street to facilitate the re-development of a site on
Council owned land on the edge of the city centre. The three existing long leases
would be surrendered with a new long lease being granted to facilitate redevelopment of the site for co-living accommodation, thereby securing a significant
capital receipt.
Particular reference was made to the difference between co-living and purpose built
student accommodation. The City Surveyor confirmed that the lease on the land
would limit use of the site to co-living accommodation and would exclude use as
purpose built student accommodation.

Page 9

Councillor Jobson, as an opposition leader, spoke on this item and wanted to
ensure that the Council kept an open mind on the types of development on the land.
Members welcomed the report, which was considered to be a good opportunity to
re-develop the Council owned land and to create vibrant living spaces close to the
city centre.
RESOLVED that the surrender of the existing leases of land at Summerland Street
and the grant of a new long lease (as set out in the report) be approved with the
detailed terms to be agreed by the City Surveyor in consultation with the Director of
Finance, Director of Corporate Services and the Council Leader.

(The meeting commenced at 5.30 pm and closed at 6.32 pm)
Chair

The decisions indicated will normally come into force 5 working days after
publication of the Statement of Decisions unless called in by a Scrutiny
Committee. Where the matter in question is urgent, the decision will come
into force immediately. Decisions regarding the policy framework or
corporate objectives or otherwise outside the remit of the Executive will be
considered by Council on 19 July 2022.

Page 10

Agenda Item 6
REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 5 July 2022
Report of: Chief Executive & Growth Director
Title: Progress update from Exeter City Futures and City of Exeter Greenhouse Gas
inventory

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Executive

1.

What is the report about?
1.1 This report sets out progress from Exeter City Futures CIC on the work being done to
progress the Net Zero Exeter 2030 Plan together with a baseline greenhouse gas (GHG)
inventory for the city, it quantifies the reductions required to achieve net zero in 2030 and
identifies more specific and timely metrics for monitoring progress towards carbon
neutrality in each emissions sector.
1.2 The Report paints a stark picture of the scale of the challenge ahead for the city of
Exeter in achieving a Net Zero city by 2030. It does provide a helpful suite of key
performance indicators that are measurable and capable of being held as a strategic
dashboard on performance for the city. The Report inevitably raises questions regarding
resources to achieve the goal. Therefore the report suggests options for consideration.
The Greenhouse Gas Emissions Inventory and the essential body of this report was
presented to Strategic Scrutiny Committee on 16th June 2022.

2.

Recommendations:
2.1 That Executive acknowledge Net Zero Exeter 2030 requires a comprehensive and
whole system approach to delivery, and no single organisation - including the City Council
- can solve the challenge of a city reducing greenhouse gas emissions to zero; and that a
timetable 20 years ahead of national and county targets for net zero is very ambitious and
requires place based co-ordination and cross institutional cooperation. In the light of this
Executive welcome the Exeter Greenhouse Gas Emissions Inventory and acknowledge
that the pace and scale of change required to deliver on the Net Zero 2030 goal will
require a step change in resources, activity and policy making both at a local and national
level.
2.2 That Executive invite Exeter City Futures CIC to reflect on the challenges of
resourcing the step change in activity to meet the Net Zero 2030 Goal and to suggest
options for meeting these challenges for consideration by Executive and Council.

Page 11

2.3 That Executive welcome the initiative of the Strategic Scrutiny Committee to look into
the practical issues raised for the construction sector and the supply chain in meeting the
demands of retrofitting the housing and commercial stock, and further supports members
pursuing a wider brief as a critical friend of Executive in looking into the financial,
technical and policy issues.
2.4 That Executive call for immediate and concerted effort to be taken on one specific
intervention required under the Greenhouse Gas Emissions Inventory, such as the goal of
connecting homes and non-residential buildings to a district heat network, in order to
explore the practical challenges to securing delivery with limited capacity against the
2030 time line and to report back to Executive by December 2022 with a plan of action.
2.5 That Executive welcome the decision of the Strategic Scrutiny Committee in
acknowledging the importance of biodiversity and carbon sequestration in addressing the
challenge of delivering a net zero Exeter and invites Strategic Scrutiny committee to
advise Executive on practical proposals for linking the planning and development system
with the climate and ecological emergency involving a mechanism to deliver net
biodiversity gain on development sites and carbon offsetting within Devon.
2.6 For members to note that Councillor Zion Lights, member champion for Net Zero, has
now been appointed as a Director on the Board of Exeter City Futures to replace the
Chief Executive & Growth Director as the Council’s Director on the Board.

3.

Reasons for the recommendation:
3.1 Exeter City Council (ECC) declared a Climate Emergency in 2019 and pledged to
work towards creating a carbon neutral city by 2030. The target year is 20 years in
advance of the 2050 national net zero target required under the Climate Change Act 2008
and reported on in the Sixth Carbon Budget.
3.2 In 2020 the Council announced a series of initiatives to drive forward the City’s net
zero ambitions. The Centre for Energy and the Environment at the University of Exeter
was commissioned to establish a baseline greenhouse gas (GHG) inventory for the city,
quantify the reductions required to achieve net zero in 2030 and identify more specific
and timely metrics for monitoring progress towards carbon neutrality in each emissions
sector.
3.3 The GHG inventory reports emissions for eight sectors: power, buildings, industry,
transport, agriculture, land use, waste and fluorinated gasses (F gases). The inventory is
for territorial emissions. Territorial emissions are those arising from within the boundaries
of the city and are therefore more in the control of people living, working and visiting the
city.
3.4 Greenhouse gas emissions in Exeter have generally been on a downward trajectory
since 2008. Estimated GHG emissions of 717 thousand tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent (kt CO2e) in 2008 have declined by a third to 476 kt CO2e in 2019. Buildings
is the sector with the highest emissions (35%) followed by power (24%) and transport
(22%). Emissions from each of the remaining sectors are 7% or less.
3.5 Analysis for ECC’s 2007 Climate Change Strategy identified a 2020 emissions target
of 516 kt CO2. With 2019 emissions below 500 kt CO2e, this looks achievable (subject to

Page 12

Covid 19 bounce back). However, the sector detail shows that the reduction is the result
of grid decarbonisation, which has taken place outside Exeter, and has delivered three
times the change estimated in 2007. Local sector reduction in buildings and transport has
failed to meet the objectives set in 2007 by factors of 6 and 4 respectively.
3.6 Extrapolating from the “current trend” since 2016 suggests that emissions in 2022 will
be 448 kt CO2e.The continuation of the current trend to 2030 would give residual
emissions of 291 kt CO2e, nowhere near net zero. Importantly, the current trend will not
continue because of grid decarbonisation; for the decline in emissions to continue at the
same rate, a 28% reduction from non-power sectors will be required to deliver the
extrapolated trend in 2030.
3.7 Delivering net zero in 2030 requires a much greater reduction in emissions. A linear
decline in emissions from 2021 to zero in 2030 requires a decline of 50 kt CO2e (11%)
per year and gives cumulative emissions over the period of 2.2 Mt CO2e. Under the
extrapolated current trend these cumulative emissions would be exceeded in 2026. Lack
of progress in the buildings and transport sectors is particularly concerning. Growth in the
city is leading to increases in emissions and the decarbonisation of electricity cannot
continue to make up for the shortfalls in these sectors. The city needs to make significant
progress in buildings and transport to deliver net zero.
3.8 In the sector analysis, net zero 2050 targets from the Sixth Carbon Budget set the
2030 values for measures in Exeter. The default assumption is that progress from the
current position to net zero will occur in a linear manner, i.e. with the same annual
increment in the nine years between 2021 and 2030. The danger with other assumptions
(for example an exponential change which starts at a low level) is that the short term
challenge is minimised only for the measure to then be impossible to deliver in the late
2020s.
Power
3.9 Local renewable energy contributes to grid decarbonisation and to the local economy.
In the power sector, the majority of Exeter’s future additional renewable energy will come
from solar photovoltaic (PV) panels on roofs. The Sixth Carbon Budget does not set
targets for roof mounted PV so it has been assumed that by 2030 25% of Exeter’s
existing domestic roofs have PV installed and that 50% of new homes built between 2020
and 2030 have PV with each installation assumed to have the historic average peak
capacity (3 kW). Hitting this target would mean that in 2030, 14,000 of Exeter’s domestic
roofs (28%) would have PV (currently 2,300). The target for larger non-domestic arrays is
890 installations (currently 128). Recent PV installation rates have been low (36 in 2020)
with a long run average of 220 installations per year. Hitting the 2030 monitoring target of
14,900 installations in total requires a rate of some 1,240 installations per year, every
year to 2030. This installation rate is twice the peak historic rate achieved in 2012.
Buildings
3.10 Emissions from Exeter’s buildings have hardly changed since 2008. Buildings were
responsible for 35% of GHG emissions in 2019. 25,400 of Exeter’s 56,400 homes (45%)
are estimated to still need more loft insulation. Installing this basic energy efficiency
measure by 2030 requires 2,800 installations in every year until 2030. The city needs

Page 13

cavity or solid wall insulation in 10,200 homes. Insulating all cavities and half the solid
walls by 2030 requires 1,500 wall insulation measures each year.
3.11 Net zero requires moving away from natural gas for heating. While Exeter has more
homes connected to heat networks than many UK cities its size (3,100), another 11,200
will need to be connected by 2030 (1,200 each year). While some homes will be on heat
networks, the majority will need to install heat pumps with a target of 42,200 homes
having heat pumps by 2030 (currently 449 homes are estimated to have heat pumps).
This requires the installation of 4,600 heat pumps every year to 2030.
3.12 Non-domestic buildings also need improving. 3,100 non-domestic buildings in Exeter
have energy efficiency ratings of C or below. Achieving a targeted 27% improvement in
energy efficiency means upgrading most of these buildings to band B with 260 buildings
upgraded every year to 2030. The need to switch to low carbon heating in non-domestic
buildings implies heating system replacement in 270 non-domestic buildings every year to
2030.
Industry
3.13 The industrial sector covers emissions from manufacturing and construction
businesses excluding those arising from the consumption of electricity and from buildings
(covered above). Typically, the sector includes energy intensive industrial activities such
as refineries, chemicals, iron and steel, and cement, which together are responsible for
nearly two thirds of UK industrial sector emissions. These industries are not present in
Exeter. Emissions in the area are more likely to occur from food and drink manufacture,
printing, water, waste management and a variety of other smaller manufacturing
businesses.
3.14 Industrial emissions in Exeter are relatively small (6% in 2019) and are less than
one-half of the 2008 value. Only 2% of Exeter’s 2019 industrial emissions came from
industrial processes with the remainder arising from fuel consumption (mostly gas)
indicating that cutting fuel consumption is the priority. The absence of identified point
source emissions in Exeter makes it difficult to identify specific measures that target
significant industrial emissions in the city. Improving industrial energy efficiency and
switching away from fossil fuels to electricity are likely to be the most effective ways of
reducing emissions. However, there is currently insufficient granularity in the data to
measure or target specific measures in the sector. Reducing 2019 emissions of 27 kt
CO2e will require annual emission reduction of 2.4 kt CO2e per year over 11 years to
2030.
Transport/Mobility
3.15 Emissions from transport, Exeter’s third largest emissions sector (22%), have
remained stubbornly high with little change since 2008. Pre Covid rises in vehicle miles in
Exeter need to be reversed to hit the 2030 target of a 17% decline in the 542 million
kilometres driven in 2019. This change requires a 10 million kilometre per year reduction
to 2030, a large change from the 6 million average annual increase from 2000 to 2019.
3.16 Electric vehicle (car and van) ownership in Exeter has grown exponentially over
recent years. At the end of 2020 there were 590 battery electric vehicles registered in

Page 14

Exeter. For all 50,400 vehicles in Exeter to be electric requires 317 to be registered in
2021 with exponential growth continued thereafter. However, this rate of growth means
that beyond 2027 the required replacement rate exceeds the pre Covid new vehicle
registration rate. Adequate charging points will also be needed; as of October 2021
Exeter had 49 charging points for electric vehicles. The 2030 charging point target is 778,
which if it is to be met, needs the installation of 81 new charging points per year to 2030.
3.17 Larger commercial vehicles and HGVs will also need to be zero emissions. In 2020
there were 2,500 HGVs, buses and other vehicles registered in Exeter. These are likely to
be a fraction of those categories of vehicle driving on the city’s roads. Although relatively
few in number, larger vehicles have a greater per vehicle impact on emissions, so
transitioning them away from fossil fuels is important. Targets and monitoring for larger
vehicles need to be developed as data becomes available.
3.18 Exeter has recorded steady increases in cycling over the past decade. However, to
reach the target of 11% of car and taxi journeys requires current cycling (5 million
kilometres) to increase to 46 million kilometres in 2030, an annual increase of 4 million
kilometres each year every year. Similar numbers of journeys will need to be walked.
Waste
3.19 Exeter’s waste emissions (7% of the 2019 total) have been similar over the past 4
years following the commissioning of the energy recovery facility (ERF) in Marsh Barton.
Emissions prior to 2014 were lower as Exeter’s waste was disposed of outside the city
(mostly to landfill).
3.20 Exeter City Council and Devon County Council, the respective waste collection and
disposal authorities, only have information on, and collection and disposal responsibilities
for, domestic waste. Local authorities have little knowledge of or influence over
commercial waste in their locality. It is important for Exeter to obtain reliable and up to
date information on volume and composition of non-domestic waste streams to enable
assessment of emissions from non –domestic waste.
3.21 The Sixth Carbon Budget foresees a range of measures including reducing waste
generation by 33% by 2037, increasing the UK wide recycling rate to 70% by 2030 and
fitting carbon capture and storage (CCS) to all energy from waste (EfW) plants by 2050.
3.22 Exeter generated 39,000 tonnes of household waste in 2020/21. A 33% reduction
would require this to fall to 26,000 tonnes in 2030, equivalent to an annual reduction of
1,300 tonnes each year. Although Exeter’s households each generate moderately less
waste than those in other parts of county, the city has a relatively low recycling rate (28%
versus 55% for Devon as a whole). Improving recycling to 70% requires a 4.2% annual
increase each year to 2030.
3.23 Measures for lowering emissions from the ERF include reducing fossil inputs to the
ERF (e.g. by increasing plastic recycling) and exporting heat. The use of heat increases
the efficiency of energy recovery from the waste and reduces CO2 emissions; the more
heat used, the lower the emissions. Promoting heat use in the Liveable Exeter schemes
in Water Lane and Marsh Barton will be important in this respect. Ultimately, the
installation of CCS is required. The Sixth Carbon Budget requires the installation of CCS

Page 15

on all UK energy from waste plants between 2040 and 2045. Net zero in Exeter requires
this in 2030.
F-gases
3.24 Although emissions from F-gases in Exeter are a minor part of Exeter’s footprint
(7%), under a net-zero scenario, the decarbonisation of other sectors means that, left
unchanged, the F-gas contribution will play an increasing role.
3.25 Emissions reduction in the F-gas sector is driven by national and international
legislation and there is therefore relatively limited scope for Exeter to accelerate emission
reduction from F-gases. Local trading standards bodies enforce air conditioning
inspections and more proactive enforcement may be a route to lower emissions.
3.26 Further work is required to develop specific targets for F-gas emissions. Reducing
2019 emissions of 29 kt CO2e will require annual emission reduction of 2.6 kt CO2e per
year over 11 years to 2030.
Proposed Monitoring Targets
3.27 The monitoring targets show the scale of the changes needed in Exeter to meet the
2050 targets set out in the Sixth Carbon Budget by 2030. In summary, these include:













Over 1,200 PV installations each year every year to 2030, compared to 36 in 2020, a
six-fold increase in the long run average installation rate.
Installing loft insulation in 25,400 homes by 2030 or 2,800 homes each year every
year to 2030.
Insulating the walls of 13,500 homes by 2030 at the rate of 1,500 every year.
Putting 4,600 heat pumps in homes every year to 2030, there are currently 449 heat
pumps in Exeter’s homes.
Connecting an extra 11,200 homes to heat networks by 2030 (over 1,200 each year).
Improving the energy efficiency of 260 non-domestic buildings every year to 2030
and switching 270 every year to low carbon heating.
Reducing driving in Exeter by 10 million kilometres each year, every year to 2030.
Continuing the exponential growth in electric vehicles ownership (aiming for 317 in
2021) and putting in an additional 81 charging points in every year to 2030.
Increasing cycling rates by 4 million kilometres annually (equivalent to 70% of the
current total level) with matching increases in walking.
Achieving a 1,300 tonne annual reduction in household waste generation each year,
every year and a 4.2% annual increase in recycling rates each year, every year to
2030.
Capturing and storing CO2 emission from the Exeter energy recovery facility by
2030.

3.28 It has not been possible to identify data sources or specific proxy measures for the
industry and f-gas sectors and some more specific targets have yet to be determined and
therefore do not currently have data sources or incremental targets. These shortcomings
should be addressed as part of the ongoing monitoring process.
Carbon off setting and Biodiversity gain

Page 16

3.29 It is inevitable that carbon off setting will be part of the programme to achieve a net
zero city, urgently the City Council needs to satisfy itself that a mechanism has been
established that is credible and capable of delivering greenhouse gas reductions. There is
a growth in international and national initiatives to off-set carbon, there is an international
and national price for off-setting a ton of carbon. That pricing mechanism will change over
time. There are opportunities for abuse and opportunities to do indirect damage. It would
be interesting to work out all the existing commitments to deliver carbon off setting and
whether it is feasible to actually achieve these stated commitments.
3.30 A couple of local authorities have put in place a local pricing mechanism for
biodiversity gain and given the planning obligations it is timely that the City Council
establish a process that will satisfy members both in terms of biodiversity but also as part
of the carbon off setting requirements.
3.31 It would be helpful if Members could look at local initiatives and see for themselves
the opportunities for addressing biodiversity gain and carbon off setting. It would be
possible to invite to Scrutiny committee companies already working on local initiatives
that may provide a mechanism to deliver with a degree of confidence.
Strategic Scrutiny Committee & other matters
3.32 Strategic Scrutiny Committee received the main body of this report together with the
Greenhouse Gas Emissions Inventory. Members called for an ongoing role in looking at
the body of work and would seek to make this point to the Scrutiny programme Board.
They acknowledged the scale of the challenge that will require a step change in
resources to achieve a net zero 2030 target date.
3.33 Members’ comments included the need to improve recycling performance, and the
practical challenges with the supply chain in rolling out the new service. Delivering on Net
Zero 2030 was clearly a huge challenge and should be seen as a call to action of what
we will do as a Council. Despite the focus on skills and a world leading university in the
city there were still barriers to graduate retention such as a lack of affordable housing and
the availability of the right kind of jobs. There ought to be an opportunity for the Council to
lead on suggesting suitable national incentives through the Government and local
businesses offering improvements for private homes relating to solar PV panels,
insulation or retrofitting boilers as this was just too big a financial barrier to leave to
individual households.
3.34 Members recognised the complexity of transport issues. Extending active travel was
all well and good but alternative transport and ensuring affordability had to be included.
Some residents have commented adversely on road changes to support active travel not
because they do not want to deal with climate change, but because they have been
disproportionally affected as individuals. Their livelihoods may be affected by these
changes and so it was just a request to convey this need for a behavioural change was
communicated sensitively. Likewise experience on the Highways and Traffic Orders
Committee (HATOC) illustrate difficult decisions being made weighing up how individuals
will be affected. Members asked about the costs for changes that would have to be made
and wondered if there was any opportunity for funding from the Devon Devolution deal to
carry out some pilot work. We are now experiencing a cost of living crisis but there may

Page 17

still be an opportunity to reinvigorate the economy through public spending and further
develop the green technology and the infrastructure needed.
3.36 Councillor Zion Lights, the member champion for Net Zero, supporting Councillor
Duncan Wood, as the Portfolio Holder for Climate Change, has been appointed under
delegated powers as the City Council’s Director on the Board of Exeter City Futures,
replacing the Chief Executive & Growth Director.

4.

What are the resource implications including non financial resources?
4.1 ECF as a Community Interest Company is minimally resourced and has relied
heavily in the past upon funding from Oxygen House and Global City Futures and to a
lesser extent ECC. At times other partner organisations contribute by providing an officer
resource. For example in the past a transport planner from DCC was based in the team,
and a project manager was seconded into the team by the University of Exeter. If the role
of ECF is defined as a change agent, a vehicle for the city’s organisations to keep a focus
on the challenge and to align and co-ordinate activities towards a net zero goal then the
capacity of the team is insufficient to meet the task but nevertheless it can continue to
perform an effective role in moving the agenda forward, but in an opportunistic way rather
than as supporting a programme designed to meet defined targets.
4.2 Presently there is insufficient resource within ECF to support the whole programme to
achieve Net Zero Exeter 2030. Even if the work was limited to a traditional programme
management role ECF would need more staff. There is insufficient funding to support
studies and prototype work. There is no funding for capital projects nor a constant funding
resource to fund bid writing for national funding opportunities. However, there is clear
alignment with the strategic ambitions for the partner organisations that should be
suggestive of a willingness to address these issues.
4.3 The Net Zero Plan 2030 identified the scale of the investment programme required to
deliver Net Zero 2030. A successful delivery plan would be a mixture of public and private
finance. There is already large scale investment taking place in various work streams and
there is investment appetite to fund aspects of the work, big shifts are taking place with
long term investment strategies. For example land is being bought by institutional
investors for the purpose of carbon off setting requirements, pension funds are investing
in technology such as air heat pumps. Registered Providers (RPs) are investing hundreds
of millions in housing retrofit programmes. It would therefore be a mistake to assume that
the public sector has to do the heavy lifting in funding the transition. There is an interest in
working with cities to deliver an ambitious programme. International examples of cities
making progress are worth looking at. The clear 2030 end date for delivering net zero
crystallises the challenge and what has to happen to achieve the goal. But the present
pace of change within the city will not get us to the goal of Net Zero by 2030.
4.4 The retrofit programmes for domestic and commercial buildings are quantifiable and
we have enough examples of the ingredients for achieving the required improvement in
performance to be able to quantify the cost and work through the logistical challenges to
achieving the monitoring targets. It will become more interesting and challenging when
addressing the solution for individual buildings, as the Council’s own retrofit programme
illustrates optimising the solution for specific properties has to be done by building type
and building specific. The technical solutions require assessors and contractors, labour

Page 18

and product, finance and rigorous inspection. There already exists private and public
funded programmes, and contractors are working with the Exeter College to address
challenges in areas such as skills and labour supply. RPs are willing to share learning.
Individual companies are building digital twins of the city’s roofs to identify capacity for
PV, potential for walls to contribute to PV output. The city possess firms at the leading
edge of air heat pumps technology. Therefore there are many of the ingredients already
assembled to make solid progress towards a meaningful retrofit programme. But to
achieve the targets required to meet Net Zero 2030 requires a step change in activity, a
massive increase in outputs.
4.5 The same can be said for: connecting an additional 11,200 homes to heat networks;
stepping up Electric Vehicle (EV) infrastructure, reducing car usage and increasing
cycling usage etc. A massive step change is required. From an ECF point of view
aggregating individual programmes in a programme management function will not
achieve the goal, although there is a lot of value in bringing this body of work together in
one place and holding the data on performance in a public fashion, and it is clearly an
option.
4.6 It has been known for some time that the sector that is likely to be most challenging is
transport, because people live complex lives and transport policy impacts on us all,
movements across the city and in and out of the city are vital to us as individuals and to
businesses. We also know that when public transport is less than satisfactory or when
there is no public transport available the car becomes essential to our quality of life. This
is particularly so for those living within the rural catchment of the city. A Net Zero Exeter
requires us to address this theme. The County Council transport planners can testify to
the difficulty in making decisions that require interventions prioritising pedestrians and
cyclists over motorists. The simple fact is that the city will need a profound shift in cycling
within the city and this will require a combination of reprioritising of infrastructure in favour
of cyclists, safe networks and supportive policies, plus co-ordination of transport policies,
parking tariffs and innovation in mobility solutions. Layered on to this will be the need for
changes in the planning system the distribution of land uses and physical activities and
support for communities and individuals. Good work is already taking place to begin this
transformation but the pace of the change is not sufficient to meet a Net Zero Goal. In
real time the City Council is having to consider policies that will lock in the city
development for the next 20 years and therefore the redevelopment of surfaced car parks
or not, the location for multi-story car parks or not, the provision of car free developments
or not are all matters that require urgent attention and care so as to not to damage
businesses in the here and now for the sake of a goal that we have chosen 20 years
ahead of the country as a whole.
4.7 Therefore, in answer to the question what are the resource implications of this report,
the question is what role members wish ECF to play in pursuance of the Net Zero 2030
goal? It can be modest, assuming that Members simply note the report and acknowledge
the considerable challenge or it can be seen as mission critical and therefore requires an
enhanced resource commensurate to the challenge in hand. A combination of investment
and a clear policy framework will be required to support the city of Exeter achieve the Net
Zero goal and options to achieve these outcomes should be brought back to Executive
with some urgency.

Page 19

5.

Section 151 Officer comments:
This report sets out in stark terms the challenges to deliver net zero. From a financial
point of view, the scale of investment required is far in excess of that which the Council
can afford. Council set aside £1 million a year ago in order to provide some resource to
the project, but this in itself is clearly a tiny fraction of what is required. Members will have
a difficult balancing act on driving forward the agenda, whilst protecting number of income
streams that they rely on to deliver services to their citizens.

6.

What are the legal aspects?
The Climate Change Act 2008 imposes a duty on the Secretary of State to ensure that
the net UK carbon account for the year 2050 is at least 100% lower than the 1990
baseline. In 2008, this was regarded as ground breaking legislation. The UK was the first
country globally to introduce legally binding greenhouse gas emissions targets.
The Act sets out legally binding carbon emission reduction targets. The original target
was that the UK would reduce its greenhouse gas emissions by 80% by 2050 when
compared to 1990 levels. However, that target was subsequently increased in 2019.
The UK has now committed to a target of net zero by 2050 and therefore this requires the
UK to bring all greenhouse gas emissions to net zero by 2050.

7.

Monitoring Officer’s comments:
This is an informative report by the Chief Executive and Growth Director of Exeter City
Council and the Chief Executive of Exeter City Futures Community Interest Company.
As this is an informative report and an update for members it raises no issues for the
Deputy Monitoring Officer. Simon Copper (Deputy monitoring Officer)

8.

Report details:
Background Report
8.1 Exeter City Council (ECC) declared a Climate Emergency in 2019 and pledged to
work towards creating a carbon neutral city by 2030. The target year is 20 years in
advance of the 2050 national net zero target required under the Climate Change Act 2008
and reported on in the Sixth Carbon Budget. The Devon Carbon Management Plan aligns
with the 2050 national net zero target. At the 23rd July 2019 meeting of Council members
also recognised the connected biodiversity crisis, and the vital role of biodiversity in
tackling climate change and its contribution to our quality of life.
8.2 In July 2020 Council adopted the Net Zero Exeter 2030 Plan to inform all policy
documents, plans and corporate decision making in response to the Climate Emergency
and in pursuance of the goal to make Exeter a carbon neutral city by 2030.
8.3 The Plan presents a blue print for how the city of Exeter can achieve its ambition to
be net-zero carbon by 2030. The Plan sets out ways in which each of us can play our part
in achieving the net zero ambition, and to enable everyone across the city to engage in a
meaningful way. It is built on an understanding that the city can only achieve its net-zero
carbon targets if organisations, individuals and institutions take responsibility and accept
they have a role and play their part. It is an attempt to focus the city on a sequence of key

Page 20

actions that take us to 2030 and enable these actions to be reflected in city and
organisational plans.
8.4 It needs to be acknowledged that in pursuing a 2030 goal some national policies will
not be aligned and therefore, as with the case of new housing, there will be limits to what
councils can oblige.
8.5 At the time members adopted the Net Zero 2030 Plan the country was battling Covid
and the financial impacts of lock-downs on the council’s finances was severe. There was
a recognition that once the crisis was over and the financial impacts were better
understood work would be done to consider how the City Council would progress those
actions identified in the Plan as actions that ECC could lead on. Since approving the
report there have been changes internally within the council to bring a clear focus on the
net zero agenda under the Director for Net Zero and that work, focused on the
greenhouse gas emissions from ECC, will be brought forward separately for
consideration.
8.6 The focus of this report is the work of Exeter City Futures CIC to support the city of
Exeter’s Net Zero ambition.
Exeter City Futures CIC
8.7 Exeter City Futures (ECF) was established in 2015 to transform Exeter into a leading
sustainable city. Comprising Exeter City Council, Devon County Council, the University of
Exeter, Exeter College, the Royal Devon & Exeter NHS Foundation Trust, Global City
Futures and Oxygen House, it was conceived as an ambitious, long-term vision for the
city that promises to harness pioneering technology and data analytics to tackle transport,
energy and health challenges, and accelerate the city’s economic development. The
focus on data analytics was deliberate and matched a particular skill set in the city and
suggested opportunities to do things differently. Further, it was an attempt to support a
greater level of innovation in the city that could stimulate new start-up businesses.
Exeter’s economy needs more SME and greater levels of innovation, indeed this is a
significant regional challenge - Exeter does relatively better than other parts of the region
but - the region lags behind relative to the country as a whole. The work launched
simultaneously to a major push by Sir Steve Smith, then Vice Chancellor at the University
of Exeter on Innovation Exeter, an attempt to provide leadership to an emerging strategic
theme that framed the big opportunity and challenge for the region. The University of
Exeter had become a Russell Group University and was securing increasing amounts of
research funding, a challenge for the region was to capitalise on this research for the
benefit of the wider economy and the opportunity was to shape an economic agenda
focused on two world leading institutions the Met Office and the University of Exeter in
their expertise in the area of environmental intelligence.
8.8 Bringing private and public sector institutions together to support an emerging
ecosystem for firms wishing to work on the challenges faced by urban areas especially in
the area of climate change was, and still is, an opportunity to address some of the
structural challenges facing the economy as well as solving practical problems in the city.
8.9 The initial focus of the work of ECF was energy independence and congestion, with
an emphasis on supporting the shaping of a new vision for the city of Exeter, i.e., the

Page 21

Exeter Vision 2040 statement. The Work of ECF suggested that at the heart of any
successful city must be sustainability, wellbeing, resilience, innovation and productivity.
These themes continue to weave through the work of ECF.
8.10 The first report commissioned by ECF was an examination of the potential options
and road maps that would enable the greater Exeter area to develop a path towards a
sustainable future starting with Energy Independence and Congestion Free. The energy
independence study identified financial and technical barriers and contained a series of
10 recommendations, including:
1. Net Energy Positive Buildings: it is particularly important to develop a supply chain
and policy environment where new build developments are net positive energy as
soon as possible;
2. Develop a credible roadmap to large scale domestic retrofit;
3. Encourage and demonstrate innovate solutions to reduce appliance energy use;
4. Develop demonstrator commercial/industrial case studies of what is achievable;
5. Develop tangible roadmaps to cut transport consumption;
6. Co-ordinate solutions to grid constraints;
7. Stimulate onshore generation encouraging joined up cross authority planning;
8. Provide economic evidence of energy independence;
9. Support & encourage research into enhanced generation efficiency; and
10. Encouraging investment into marine & geothermal technologies
8.11 This early work was typical of the early work of ECF, it was an exercise in thought
leadership, building an ambition for place that recognised the scale of the challenge was
significant but also presented opportunities, both in terms of innovation and working
collaboratively with the private sector. The ambitious pronouncements on congestion free
and energy independence brought interest and a wider audience for an agenda that had
been quietly and in a disciplined way already been making steady progress in the
transition to low carbon. An example of this approach was the rolling out of the district
heat network in East Devon and Exeter. That project demonstrated three local authorities
working together to achieve tangible progress towards “net zero” homes. The councils
were supported in this programme because national policy explicitly required the house
builders to reach a defined standard on a progressive path towards net zero homes and,
as a consequence, it was possible to cost the option against a more traditional approach,
namely individual measures on a building by building basis. This type of project
demonstrated both what was possible and also the limitations of operating within a
nationally framed policy environment. This continues to be an issue but should not be
used as a reason not to try different approaches.
8.12 The transition to a low carbon future for Exeter has been solid, it has informed the
work of the local authorities and has galvanised effort in pursuit of lots of good practise.
There has been a very public campaign championing the agenda both in the city and
nationally. Throughout this campaigning, especially by ECF, there has been a spirit of
collaboration, innovation and doing things differently. While ECC has quietly got on with
carrying out a raft of measures to improve its carbon footprint, ECF stepped into the
space of galvanising business, our institutions, communities and individuals to contribute
to shaping a vision, supporting new enterprises, and providing a focal and vocal point for
the ambition for place.

Page 22

Presently work is being progressed on:
Exeter Development Fund
8.13 The Net Zero Exeter 2030 Plan identifies locally controlled finance as a goal under
the theme of capability. This 3 year project is funded by central government.
The following actions are identified:




Create and lead a city partnership and aligned investment fund that enables the city
to strategically develop, co-ordinate, deliver and invest in infrastructure that supports
Exeter to achieve a “just transition” to carbon-neutrality (12.1, 12.2)
Presently a joint scrutiny committee is exploring the strategic business case for the
city fund concept, this work will take place over a number of meeting and is expected
to conclude by the autumn. The business case will need to be presented to Executive
and Council. The team at ECF is inviting engagement with the key stakeholder
partners to better understand their appetite for the fund concept.

Change Makers Programme
8.14 The Change Makers programme is funded by the National Lottery Community Fund.
The programme is now in Year 3 of delivery and the end date has been extended with
National Lottery approval until June 2023. ECF Net Zero Change Makers Programme
aims to cultivate a vibrant community of net zero change makers across Exeter through:
Establishing a collaborative infrastructure for community and business change makers by:





building city partnerships;
Enabling cross-city dialogue;
Creating accessible networks; and
Developing ideas with and supporting net zero citizen-led projects and enterprises.

8.15 The key focus is on improving collaboration between change makers – whether
representing a community, business or local authority – wanting to positively impact
Exeter’s ambition to be carbon neutral by 2030.
8.16 The aim to better enable localised, self-sufficient, citizen-led change projects and
enterprises to improve the places and spaces that matter to them, and to address local
challenges, particularly around climate change, rapidly and at the earliest possible stage.
We are doing this through:
Connect events
8.17 To help showcase local projects already delivering sustainable change in Exeter.
The Connect programme events provide open events where residents, communities and
organisations share their change making projects, form new partnerships to drive their
projects forward, and build joint solutions. ECF have run Connect events on the themes
of active travel, travel to school, greening the city and reducing and reusing waste.
Toolkit & Resources

Page 23

8.18 An Innovation Toolkit and training package will be published to facilitate change
makers’ understanding of city and local challenges, and to help them design solutions to
identified challenges. Currently in development, the aim is that ECF will share its
Innovation Process, enabling citizens to define shared net zero challenges and initiate,
plan and develop their own net zero projects.
Social enterprise and community development support
8.19 ECF is mapping the support available for social enterprises and community
organisations in the city, to understand what help is available and to draw together a
programme that will support local change makers in building sustainable projects that
align with Exeter’s 12 goals in the Net Zero Exeter 2030 Plan.
8.20 The aim is nurturing an increased openness to new ideas, change and innovation
across the city, we want communities to more greatly influence city decision makers and
to be recognised for the contribution they make to Exeter.
8.21 The Officer leading the work started as Community Engagement Officer in
September 2021, with the task of coordinating and running the Connect events, which is
‘Work Package One’ of the project. There are four work packages in total.
Ambition and the 2030 net zero goal
8.22 The national commitment to achieve Net Zero by 2050 is challenging, no one should
underestimate the challenge for the country to make the necessary changes. However,
assuming the whole country will be net zero by 2050, why should the City Council work to
achieve Net Zero by 2030?
8.23 One can argue, it is one planet and therefore reducing the city of Exeter’s carbon
emissions by making Exeter Net Zero by 2030 will have no material impact on the planet
as a whole, but it will be challenging for the city and because of the resources that will
have to be directed at this goal, will require significant changes that will impact on
everyone in the city. The city of Exeter is not an island and operates within a county that
is committed to the national timetable. It is reasonable for members to ask these
questions when the City Council and our communities will be asked effectively to prioritise
investment and resources from other areas of the City Council to make the impact on this
agenda.
8.24 Members of the City Council declared a climate emergency and this declaration
recognises that we are in a crisis and we need as a planet to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions by at least 50% by 2030. Today’s decisions on energy, transportation and land
use lock in their respective emissions levels for decades and therefore action must be
taken immediately.
8.25 This has been the tone of the debate around the net zero agenda in the city. In
simple terms soon it will be too late. But the Council went further than framing the matter
with reference to the City Council. Members have defined the goal for the city of Exeter,
recognising that the City Council has only limited levers to pull in relation to the city as a
whole, hence the work through ECF to shape a wider effort.

Page 24

8.26 Some like to think of the City Council as running a business. Many businesses run
what may be called an efficiency model, namely, they continue to drive down costs and
can be much focused on their core business costs. In such cases taking any resource out
to address structural issues that affects the wider sector can be seen as inefficient. For
example, taking time to invest in developing the supply chain and skilling up workers for
the sector, for the individual company the risk is that training the staff and developing the
supply chain benefits their competitors and some therefore will chose not do it. Doing the
right thing is not always win.
8.27 The Council has strategically chosen not to view the council in a simple efficiency
model. It has long recognised we need both to focus on efficiencies but also demonstrate
leadership of Place. Some businesses recognise that investing in the supply chain makes
them more resilient in the long term and therefore less resilient to economic shocks.
Many successful business also embrace a value model that places increasing weight on
the triple bottom line of people, planet and profit. The City Council tries to encourage
firms to move from an efficiency model to a value model when it sets procurement
tenders, the council encourages some investment in the skills agenda or social value in
order to build a stronger local economy. The Council has worked hard to support a
stronger city by being aware of the shared outcomes that matter to all of us rather than a
strict statutory services view of the role of a council. What may be good for the City
Council as a business may not be helpful to the wider community and therefore the
council has always held up strategic considerations when viewing its role, budget and
policy making.
8.28 In relation to the economy of the City, the Council pivoted its economic development
approach to move away from a traditional model of supporting inward investment to a
model to support inclusive growth. Therefore our resources have been directed to the
skills agenda and increasingly a relentless focus on the net zero agenda. This recognises
that climate sciences are the strength of the local economy and our greatest opportunity
to build innovation, increase start-ups and attract investment and the most significant
opportunity to transform the whole of the Devon economy. Net zero is the most significant
issue that will shape the investment market over the longer term and it is an area where
presently we have considerable assets but others areas of the country are moving with
ambition, and some areas who have been in contact with ECF to duplicate the model and
already looking press on.
The Opportunity
8.29 Some of the city of Exeter’s institutions are unique in a national and international
context. The University of Exeter and the Met Office have an acknowledged global
strength in the areas of climate sciences. For example a number of the University of
Exeter academics have been lead authors for chapters on the Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change (IPCC). The Global Systems Institute is applying Earth system
science to generating networked solutions. The aim is to work with others to secure a
flourishing future for humanity as an integral part of a life-sustaining Earth system. They
are uniting a trans-disciplinary group of researchers, educators and partners to look
beyond single ‘environmental’ issues to a truly systemic view of coupled global changes
in the human social and economic sphere and the biosphere. The Met Office Hadley
Centre is one of the UK's foremost climate change research centres. Contributing to all

Page 25

six Assessment reports by the IPCC; contributing 2 lead authors, 2 coordinating lead
authors, and 1 review editor in the latest report.
8.30 The City has one of the highest concentrations of recognised climate change
scientists of any place in the world. The area of climate sciences is the USP of the city of
Exeter. Therefore, it provides a compelling picture that has fed into the regional narrative
in terms of the Heart of the South West Local Enterprise Partnership Productivity Strategy
2018 and Local Industrial Strategy.
8.31 For example in the Productivity Strategy under Key Strengths and Challenges
Transformational Growth, it states:
“The HotSW region has world class potential across several, high value sectors, with the
potential to provide a springboard for accelerated productivity growth – within those
sectors – throughout their supply chains and across the area. These transformational
sectors are our ‘golden opportunities’:
Exeter has an exceptionally high concentration of climate and environmental science
experts, and Europe’s most powerful supercomputer located in the Met Office. It is
emerging as a cutting-edge place for enviro-technology, agri-tech and data analytics”.
8.32 Translating world leading research into local impact in Exeter and the region is a
strategic objective and opportunity. Both institutions: The Met Office and the University of
Exeter have a place on the Liveable Exeter Place Board and have signed up to the
Exeter 2040 Vision. The Vice Chancellor of the University, Lisa Roberts, has done a
number of things since her arrival that has demonstrated leadership of this agenda. Firstly
she has signed a Civic University Agreement with the city and has identified Net Zero
2030 as one of the key themes. This recognises that ECF will be the vehicle to support
this city wide work. Lisa has also now taken up a role as a Director on the Board of ECF.
This has been further backed by the publication of the ten year strategy Exeter 2030
strategy in which it states:
“We will create the Exeter Futures initiative to support bold, new research ideas, working
across disciplines and with our partners to address societal challenges. Each year, we
will support a number of new research ideas from the community and provide the
resources and time for teams to pursue ambitious new avenues of research.”
“We will launch a Net Zero Plus Innovation Hub for the South West, supporting regional
businesses and organisations with their climate and environment action plans. We will
attract start-ups and entrepreneurs to the region, providing skills development for green
and digital transformation and building the South West into an international leader in
climate action, biodiversity and natural capital.”
8.33 The University of Exeter has brought forward its carbon net zero target to 2030. After
declaring an environment and climate emergency in 2019, the University set out a plan to
reach net zero before 2050. But – based on support and input from students and staff –
this has been accelerated to 2030.
8.34 The City of Exeter’s institutions collaborating for local impact is an explicit aim of the
Exeter 2040 Vision. The City Council has a vital role in shaping the leadership of place

Page 26

and the direction over the long term and the type of long term investment that is required
to meet the needs of the city.
8.35 It is therefore worth reflecting on the fact that there is a strong culture of
collaboration in the city, there is good alignment among the city’s institutions, there is a
new focal point with the civic university agreement, and innovation is centre stage as a
key objective with the goal of converting research into solutions for our challenges an
aim. Many of the leading officers of the city’s institutions regularly meet and explore the
challenges through the Liveable Exeter Place Board. Therefore, the city is in a better
position than most places in galvanising organisations behind a big ambitious goal.
The immediate challenge
8.36 There is not sufficient resources for a traditional project management programme in
support of such an ambitious programme, let alone the scale of face to face interactions
required to support behavioural shift and the need to make specific interventions that
require one to address technical, financial and political considerations. From procurement
to legal specialists a multi-disciplinary team is required to support whole city change.
Between the leading institutions it should be possible to pull together resources for a core
team but rolling out the scale of initiatives required to deliver against the greenhouse gas
inventory, sector by sector to meet the 2030 timeline will require upfront funding to
support a range of technical studies, feasibility and business cases, bid writing,
communications, behaviour change expertise and data analysts.
Policy Considerations:
8.37 The two local authorities have a vital role to play in putting in place a policy
framework to deliver the Net Zero goal for Exeter. There are a number of clear messages
that flow from the Greenhouse Gas Inventory that will require policy development in
coming months.










Optimising the contribution of existing roofs domestic and commercial to
accommodate PV;
Planning policies on new build, mechanisms for enhancing biodiversity and possibly
financially rewarding communities in rural areas that support carbon offsetting,
biodiversity enhancement and multi-authority agreements on renewable energy;
Rolling out more district heating networks - two feasibility studies previously prepared
for a city centre network and a heat network from the Viridor plant to serve Marsh
Barton and South West Exeter offer a basis for thinking about future expansion
including the relationship to the Liveable Exeter Strategic sites, and how planning
policy may need to be written to support provision;
Immediate provision of EV charging infrastructure both for buses, fleet and private
vehicles;
Policies that will have to address non EV use within the city, this is particularly an
issue given the considerable retail and employment catchment area;
Planning policies in support of cycling and pedestrians with reprioritisation of spaces
and infrastructure to support cycling; and
Stepping up of recycling and roll out of food waste.

Page 27

8.38 This not to make light of the issues involved with the development of the policy
framework. It is challenging but necessary to deliver on the goal. ECF will be exploring
the issues and the policy considerations that may be required.
Conclusions
8.39 Greenhouse Gas Emissions in the city of Exeter have declined by a third since 2008.
This reduction has occurred because of decarbonisation of the national grid. Emissions
from buildings and transport have hardly changed since 2008.
8.40 The Greenhouse Gas Inventory has set out the reductions required by sector to
meet the Net Zero 2030 goal.
8.41 The strategy for delivering a net zero Exeter is broadly understood: optimise the
amount of renewable energy from PV on residential and commercial properties, connect
over 11,000 additional homes to district heating networks, minimise energy use within
buildings by retrofitting commercial buildings, and retrofitting the homes in the city with a
fabric first solution, such as cavity wall insulation, and then replacing all gas boilers with
air heat pumps - 42,000 of them. Back this up with replacing all fossil fuel cars (50,430
licensed vehicles) with EV battery cars, making most of the short journeys in the city by
walking or cycling, massively increasing the amount of cycling. Plan all new homes so
they don’t need to be retrofitted, make sure all new homes are within 15mins of facilities
and designed in a fashion to avoid the need to use the car, and improve recycling rates.
8.42 There are plenty of political, financial, legal, technical and supply chain reasons why
this may be extremely challenging to deliver by 2030. It also identifies the opportunities
for the local economy, investment, labour demand, and innovation in technology.
8.43 The City Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan requires a significant reduction of
over £6m over the next 4 years. Identifying additional resources from the City Council’s
budget to support the task of achieving Net Zero 2030 will not be easy, and therefore
alternative ways of bringing resources to the task would need to be identified.

9.

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?
9.1 Net Zero Exeter 2030 Plan has been adopted by Council, and Net Zero is one of the
Council’s core corporate priorities. Net Zero Exeter 2030 is explicit in the Exeter 2040
Vision. This report is focused on progress, and to highlight the size of the task ahead of
the city of Exeter in getting to this goal.

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?
10.1 This agenda is challenging as it touches on all aspects of the way people live their
lives. From challenging the way people move around the city, to the heating of their
homes and the choice of motor vehicle they purchase. People live complex lives and we
know from the work supporting our communities that the type of changes envisaged will
require a great deal of care and resources to support our residents and business through
the changes required.
10.2 There are clear tensions for the City Council in supporting the role out of ambitious
programmes that challenge the way the council is funded. Car parking income generates
a lot of income, over £8m, and there will be pressure on both the transport authority and

Page 28

the City Council re income versus policy instruments designed to deter car use for short
journeys. The City Council has signalled a desire to redevelop some of the existing
surface car parks to provide homes close to the centre and to improve the street scene
and public realm. The phasing of removing spaces does need to take into account the
needs of city centre businesses and the availability of alternative transport solutions for a
wide rural catchment. The Council is producing a new parking strategy and this will
provide direction on the total amount of parking that will be required. However, the
shaping of the strategy will need to reflect the challenge of supporting a step change in
cycling and significant reduction in car usage.
10.3 Transport is probably the most challenging part of this net zero agenda for the city of
Exeter, a significant area of risk. Everyone living, working or visiting the city of Exeter will
be impacted by transport interventions. It is a polarising issue that becomes immensely
emotional as it has a direct bearing on our lifestyles. People living complex lives view
changes from their point of view, and therefore the intensity of community engagement
and consultation is demanding. The transport authority has to balance many
considerations and needs the institutions and businesses to work constructively with the
agenda. During the Covid crisis and the roll out of emergency measures to support active
travel the city had a flavour of what could be achieved but listening to the cycling interest
groups the measures don’t go far enough, and the reality is they don’t go far enough to
make the scale of changes required to ensure 50% of all journeys in the city are walking
or by bicycle. The County and City will have to make a choice regarding priorities,
business as usual will not get us to a net zero city. A significant risk is that the stick
comes before the carrot and alternative transport solutions are not progressed ahead of
policy sticks.
10.4 In the early years of setting up Exeter City Futures an accelerator programme was
established to help fund business start-ups exploring environmental challenges such as
transport challenges, moving goods around the city, car clubs etc, and this type of
initiative could have a role in meeting specific needs and working through risks. Having
the city’s anchor institutions invested in place and driving local impact, is an important
quality to reduce the risk of failure.
10.5 The Exeter Vision 2040 states: “An innovative and analytical culture will support
communities, businesses, civil society and public bodies to work together to solve the
city’s challenges and achieve its ambitions. The city institutions work collaboratively with
a coherence in pursuit of the city’s vision. Getting the city institutions to work in this
fashion is a major plus in reducing the risk of failure.
10.6 It is not recommended that individual programmes are instigated without a risk
assessment

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)
11.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equalities Duty, decision makers are required to
consider the need to:



eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct;
advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking
account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and

Page 29



foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting
understanding.

11.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on
equality of decisions, policies and practices. These duties do not prevent the authority
from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals
that consider the impacts on all members of the community.
11.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex
and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and
new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a
decision.
11.4 In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people
with protected characteristics as determined by the Act because the report is a discussion
document requesting Members to consider the strategic resource implications of the
Council’s Net Zero 2030 ambition and is requesting a mandate for Exeter City Futures
CIC to lead on the securing of investment partners for the City.
11.5 It is well understood, that the impacts of climate change globally will be felt most
keenly by the most disadvantaged groups in society. Therefore a full Equalities Impact
Assessment of the Council’s Net Zero Action Plan will be undertaken as this plan is
developed.

12. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:
12.1 This report seeks to identify those actions that will be required to achieve a net zero
Exeter, it identifies clear targets to measure progress. It raises questions of the policy,
financial and technical challenges to delivery.

13. Are there any other options?
13.1 To note the findings of the Greenhouse Gas Inventory and to push out the 2030
target date for Net Zero to reflect the scale of the challenge.
13.2 For the Council itself to explore opportunities with private investors, energy
companies and local enterprise partnerships their appetite to work collaboratively with the
city on achieving a net zero city 2030.
13.3 The city of Exeter could choose to work with investors on an opportunistic basis, this
would be to accept the limitations of funding and project management capacity and
therefore simply work with those companies that can take the agenda forward when those
opportunities present themselves and assuming the basis for the engagement can pass
the appropriate procurement obligations. Presently there are companies that can install
some forms of battery electric vehicle charging infrastructure, it would not cost the local
authorities; likewise companies are interested in installing heat networks; the transport
authority will be approached by numerous companies interested in mobility solutions and
novel schemes.
13.4 Therefore, instead of one large strategic investment partner, the city of Exeter could
work with lots of companies as and when they identify a funding route to delivery, this has

Page 30

an obvious appeal, it moves the dial forward and progresses the agenda. The downside
with pace is that it brings its own challenges, and as we have seen with the digital agenda
and the roll out of fibre, there can be downsides in locking into a specific initiative in the
absence of a strategic plan. Strategic planning, procurement and implementation require
a project management capacity and up front funding when it is not always apparent how
the project will return on the investment. The attraction of responding opportunistically is
things can happen without apparent upfront investment.
13.5 A challenge for the city of Exeter is that without a vehicle such as Exeter City
Futures CIC a similar approach of bringing together a number of partners will require
some form of co-ordination role that gives confidence to investors, this could be
transactional on a one to one basis, such as Devon County Council in relation to charging
infrastructure, or multi party in relation to district heating involving a similar number of
organisations that sit around the Board of ECF, namely local authorities, hospital trust
and university. It is worth recalling that in delivering the existing district heat networks in
the city and sub-region Government funding has been essential for building business
cases and unlocking the problems. Much of that early work funding is at risk and the
costs are significant. Many hundreds of thousands of pounds in building the feasibility
studies and business case and undertaking the legal and financial due diligence, and in
the case of south west Exeter and Central Exeter failed to achieve implementation. The
City Council in isolation cannot afford to invest upfront in this manner

Chief Executive & Growth Director Exeter City Council, Karime Hassan
Executive Exeter City Futures, Karime Hassan
Author: Karime Hassan

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:Energy Independence 2025 Report, Exeter City Futures, 2017
Energy-Independence-2025.pdf (cityscience.com)

Contact for enquires:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 4.36
01392 265275

Page 31

This page is intentionally left blank

Exeter’s 2019 greenhouse gas inventory and sector
emissions monitoring

Page 33

Author(s): TA Mitchell, ADS Norton, A Rowson
Report Number: ID 1007
Publication Date: February 2022
Revision number
0 First draft

Initial
ADSN/TAM

Date
24/02/2021

CENTRE FOR ENERGY AND THE ENVIRONMENT
University of Exeter
Hope Hall
Prince of Wales Road
Exeter, EX4 4PL
+44(0)1392 724143/4/5
www.exeter.ac.uk/cee

Cover image:
Exeter quay

Page 34

Management Summary
Exeter City Council (ECC) declared a Climate Emergency in 2019 and pledged to work towards creating a carbon neutral
city by 2030. The target year is 20 years in advance of the 2050 national net zero target required under the Climate
Change Act and reported on in the Sixth Carbon Budget.
In 2020 the Council announced a series of initiatives to drive forward the city’s net zero ambitions. The Centre for Energy
and the Environment at the University of Exeter was commissioned to establish a baseline greenhouse gas (GHG)
inventory for the city, quantify the reductions required to achieve net zero in 2030 and identify more specific and timely
metrics for monitoring progress towards carbon neutrality in each emissions sector.
The GHG inventory reports emissions for eight sectors: power, buildings, industry, transport, agriculture, land use, waste
and fluorinated gasses (F gases). The inventory is for territorial emissions. Territorial emissions are those arising from
within the boundaries of the city and are therefore more in the control of people living, working and visiting the city.
Greenhouse gas emissions in Exeter have generally been on a downward trajectory since 2008. Estimated GHG
emissions of 717 thousand tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (kt CO2e) in 2008 have declined by a third to 476 kt CO2e
in 2019. Buildings is the sector with the highest emissions (35%) followed by power (24%) and transport (22%). Emissions
from each of the remaining sectors are 7% or less.
Analysis for ECC’s 2007 Climate Change Strategy identified a 2020 emissions target of 516 kt CO2. With 2019 emissions
below 500 kt CO2e, this looks achievable (subject to Covid 19 bounceback). However, the sector detail shows that the
reduction is the result of grid decarbonisation, which has taken place outside Exeter, and has delivered three times the
change estimated in 2007. Local sector reduction in buildings and transport has failed to meet the objectives set in 2007
by factors of 6 and 4 respectively.
Extrapolating from the “current trend” since 2016 suggests that emissions in 2022 will be 448 kt CO2e.The continuation
of the current trend to 2030 would give residual emissions of 291 kt CO2e, nowhere near net zero. Importantly, the
current trend will not continue because of grid decarbonisation; for the decline in emissions to continue at the same
rate, a 28% reduction from non-power sectors will be required to deliver the extrapolated trend in 2030.
Delivering net zero in 2030 requires a much greater reduction in emissions. A linear decline in emissions from 2021 to
zero in 2030 requires a decline of 50 kt CO2e (11%) per year and gives cumulative emissions over the period of
2.2 Mt CO2e. Under the extrapolated current trend these cumulative emissions would be exceeded in 2026. Lack of
progress in the buildings and transport sectors is particularly concerning. Growth in the city is leading to increases in
emissions and the decarbonisation of electricity cannot continue to make up for the shortfalls in these sectors. The city
needs to make significant progress in buildings and transport to deliver net zero.
In the sector analysis, net zero 2050 targets from the Sixth Carbon Budget set the 2030 values for measures in Exeter.
The default assumption is that progress from the current position to net zero will occur in a linear manner, i.e. with the
same annual increment in the nine years between 2021 and 2030. The danger with other assumptions (for example an
exponential change which starts at a low level) is that the short term challenge is minimised only for the measure to
then be impossible to deliver in the late 2020s.
Power
Local renewable energy contributes to grid decarbonisation and to the local economy. In the power sector, the
majority of Exeter’s future additional renewable energy will come from solar photovoltaic (PV) panels on roofs.
The Sixth Carbon Budget does not set targets for roof mounted PV so it has been assumed that by 2030 25%
of Exeter’s existing domestic roofs have PV installed and that 50% of new homes built between 2020 and 2030
have PV with each installation assumed to have the historic average peak capacity (3 kW). Hitting this target
would mean that in 2030, 14,000 of Exeter’s domestic roofs (28%) would have PV (currently 2,300). The target
1
Page
35

for larger non-domestic arrays is 890 installations (currently 128). Recent PV installation rates have been low
(36 in 2020) with a long run average of 220 installations per year. Hitting the 2030 monitoring target of 14,900
installations in total requires a rate of some 1,240 installations per year, every year to 2030. This installation
rate is twice the peak historic rate achieved in 2012.
Buildings
Emissions from Exeter’s buildings have hardly changed since 2008. Buildings were responsible for 35% of GHG
emissions in 2019. 25,400 of Exeter’s 56,400 homes (45%) are estimated to still need more loft insulation.
Installing this basic energy efficiency measure by 2030 requires 2,800 installations in every year until 2030. The
city needs cavity or solid wall insulation in 10,200 homes. Insulating all cavities and half the solid walls by 2030
requires 1,500 wall insulation measures each year.
Net zero requires moving away from natural gas for heating. While Exeter has more homes connected to heat
networks than many UK cities its size (3,100), another 11,200 will need to be connected by 2030 (1,200 each
year). While some homes will be on heat networks, the majority will need to install heat pumps with a target of
42,200 homes having heat pumps by 2030 (currently 449 homes are estimated to have heat pumps). This
requires the installation of 4,600 heat pumps every year to 2030.
Non-domestic buildings also need improving. 3,100 non-domestic buildings in Exeter have energy efficiency
ratings of C or below. Achieving a targeted 27% improvement in energy efficiency means upgrading most of
these buildings to band B with 260 buildings upgraded every year to 2030. The need to switch to low carbon
heating in non-domestic buildings implies heating system replacement in 270 non-domestic buildings every
year to 2030.
Industry
The industrial sector covers emissions from manufacturing and construction businesses excluding those arising
from the consumption of electricity and from buildings (covered above). Typically, the sector includes energy
intensive industrial activities such as refineries, chemicals, iron and steel, and cement, which together are
responsible for nearly two thirds of UK industrial sector emissions. These industries are not present in Exeter.
Emissions in the area are more likely to occur from food and drink manufacture, printing, water, waste
management and a variety of other smaller manufacturing businesses.
Industrial emissions in Exeter are relatively small (6% in 2019) and are less than one-half of the 2008 value. Only
2% of Exeter’s 2019 industrial emissions came from industrial processes with the remainder arising from fuel
consumption (mostly gas) indicating that cutting fuel consumption is the priority. The absence of identified
point source emissions in Exeter makes it difficult to identify specific measures that target significant industrial
emissions in the city. Improving industrial energy efficiency and switching away from fossil fuels to electricity
are likely to be the most effective ways of reducing emissions. However, there is currently insufficient
granularity in the data to measure or target specific measures in the sector. Reducing 2019 emissions of 27 kt
CO2e will require annual emission reduction of 2.4 kt CO2e per year over 11 years to 2030.
Transport/Mobility
Emissions from transport, Exeter’s third largest emissions sector (22%), have remained stubbornly high with
little change since 2008. Pre Covid rises in vehicle miles in Exeter need to be reversed to hit the 2030 target of
a 17% decline in the 542 million kilometres driven in 2019. This change requires a 10 million kilometre per year
reduction to 2030, a large change from the 6 million average annual increase from 2000 to 2019.
Electric vehicle (car and van) ownership in Exeter has grown exponentially over recent years. At the end of 2020
there were 590 battery electric vehicles registered in Exeter. For all 50,400 vehicles in Exeter to be electric
requires 317 to be registered in 2021 with exponential growth continued thereafter. However, this rate of
growth means that beyond 2027 the required replacement rate exceeds the pre Covid new vehicle registration

Page2 36

rate. Adequate charging points will also be needed; as of October 2021 Exeter had 49 charging points for electric
vehicles. The 2030 charging point target is 778, which if it is to be met, needs the installation of 81 new charging
points per year to 2030.
Larger commercial vehicles and HGVs will also need to be zero emissions. In 2020 there were 2,500 HGVs, buses
and other vehicles registered in Exeter. These are likely to be a fraction of those categories of vehicle driving on
the city’s roads. Although relatively few in number, larger vehicles have a greater per vehicle impact on
emissions, so transitioning them away from fossil fuels is important. Targets and monitoring for larger vehicles
need to be developed as data becomes available.
Exeter has recorded steady increases in cycling over the past decade. However, to reach the target of 11% of
car and taxi journeys requires current cycling (5 million kilometres) to increase to 46 million kilometres in 2030,
an annual increase of 4 million kilometres each year every year. Similar numbers of journeys will need to be
walked.
Waste
Exeter’s waste emissions (7% of the 2019 total) have been similar over the past 4 years following the
commissioning of the energy recovery facility (ERF) in Marsh Barton. Emissions prior to 2014 were lower as
Exeter’s waste was disposed of outside the city (mostly to landfill).
Exeter City Council and Devon County Council, the respective waste collection and disposal authorities, only
have information on, and collection and disposal responsibilities for, domestic waste. Local authorities have
little knowledge of or influence over commercial waste in their locality. It is important for Exeter to obtain
reliable and up to date information on volume and composition of non-domestic waste streams to enable
assessment of emissions from non –domestic waste.
The Sixth Carbon Budget foresees a range of measures including reducing waste generation by 33% by 2037,
increasing the UK wide recycling rate to 70% by 2030 and fitting carbon capture and storage (CCS) to all energy
from waste (EfW) plants by 2050.
Exeter generated 39,000 tonnes of household waste in 2020/21. A 33% reduction would require this to fall to
26,000 tonnes in 2030, equivalent to an annual reduction of 1,300 tonnes each year. Although Exeter’s
households each generate moderately less waste than those in other parts of county, the city has a relatively
low recycling rate (28% versus 55% for Devon as a whole). Improving recycling to 70% requires a 4.2% annual
increase each year to 2030.
Measures for lowering emissions from the ERF include reducing fossil inputs to the ERF (e.g. by increasing plastic
recycling) and exporting heat. The use of heat increases the efficiency of energy recovery from the waste and
reduces CO2 emissions; the more heat used, the lower the emissions. Promoting heat use in the Liveable Exeter
schemes in Water Lane and Marsh Barton will be important in this respect. Ultimately, the installation of CCS is
required. The Sixth Carbon Budget requires the installation of CCS on all UK energy from waste plants between
2040 and 2045. Net zero in Exeter requires this in 2030.
F-gases
Although emissions from F-gases in Exeter are a minor part of Exeter’s footprint (7%), under a net-zero scenario,
the decarbonisation of other sectors means that, left unchanged, the F-gas contribution will play an increasing
role.
Emissions reduction in the F-gas sector is driven by national and international legislation and there is therefore
relatively limited scope for Exeter to accelerate emission reduction from F-gases. Local trading standards bodies
enforce air conditioning inspections and more proactive enforcement may be a route to lower emissions.
3
Page
37

Further work is required to develop specific targets for F-gas emissions. Reducing 2019 emissions of 29 kt CO2e
will require annual emission reduction of 2.6 kt CO2e per year over 11 years to 2030.
The monitoring targets show the scale of the changes needed in Exeter to meet the 2050 targets set out in the Sixth
Carbon Budget by 2030. In summary, these include:
Over 1,200 PV installations each year every year to 2030, compared to 36 in 2020, a six-fold increase in the long
run average installation rate.
Installing loft insulation in 25,400 homes by 2030 or 2,800 homes each year every year to 2030.
Insulating the walls of 13,500 homes by 2030 at the rate of 1,500 every year.
Putting 4,600 heat pumps in homes every year to 2030, there are currently 449 heat pumps in Exeter’s homes.
Connecting an extra 11,200 homes to heat networks by 2030 (over 1,200 each year).
Improving the energy efficiency of 260 non-domestic buildings every year to 2030 and switching 270 every year
to low carbon heating.
Reducing driving in Exeter by 10 million kilometres each year, every year to 2030.
Continuing the exponential growth in electric vehicles ownership (aiming for 317 in 2021) and putting in an
additional 81 charging points in every year to 2030.
Increasing cycling rates by 4 million kilometres annually (equivalent to 70% of the current total level) with
matching increases in walking.
Achieving a 1,300 tonne annual reduction in household waste generation each year, every year and a 4.2%
annual increase in recycling rates each year, every year to 2030.
Capturing and storing CO2 emission from the Exeter energy recovery facility by 2030.
It has not been possible to identify data sources or specific proxy measures for the industry and f-gas sectors and some
more specific targets have yet to be determined and therefore do not currently have data sources or incremental
targets. These shortcomings should be addressed as part of the ongoing monitoring process.

Page4 38

Contents
1

Introduction ...................................................................................................................................................................6

2

GHG inventory ...............................................................................................................................................................7

3

2.1

Methodology .........................................................................................................................................................7

2.2

Results ....................................................................................................................................................................7

2.2.1

Progress in reducing emissions .....................................................................................................................8

2.2.2

Future emissions trajectories......................................................................................................................11

Sector emissions monitoring .......................................................................................................................................13
3.1

3.1.1

Current renewable electricity generation ..................................................................................................14

3.1.2

PV on homes................................................................................................................................................14

3.1.3

Non-domestic PV .........................................................................................................................................16

3.1.4

All PV ............................................................................................................................................................17

3.1.5

PV monitoring and reporting ......................................................................................................................18

3.2

Buildings...............................................................................................................................................................19

3.2.1

Energy efficiency in homes .........................................................................................................................19

3.2.2

Low carbon heat in homes ..........................................................................................................................21

3.2.3

Energy efficiency and low carbon heat in non-domestic buildings ...........................................................23

3.3

Industry ................................................................................................................................................................26

3.4

Transport / Mobility ............................................................................................................................................28

3.4.1

Electric and zero carbon vehicles ...............................................................................................................29

3.4.2

Vehicle charging points ...............................................................................................................................31

3.4.3

Walking and cycling .....................................................................................................................................32

3.5

Waste ...................................................................................................................................................................35

3.5.1

Waste collection and recycling ...................................................................................................................35

3.5.2

Waste disposal ............................................................................................................................................38

3.6
4

Power ...................................................................................................................................................................14

F-gases .................................................................................................................................................................39

Conclusions ..................................................................................................................................................................41

5
Page
39

1 Introduction
The 2007 Energy White Paper1 set a goal of reducing carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions by between 26% and 32% from
1990 levels by 2020. In its 2007 Climate Change Strategy, Exeter City Council (ECC) set a 30% CO2 emission reduction
target over the same timescale. The Centre for Energy and the Environment (CEE) at the University of Exeter to
undertook an analysis2 as input to the strategy. The analysis identified emissions reduction potential in buildings and
transport offset by growth to give net emission reduction of 92 kt CO2 and 16 kt CO2 respectively with progresses
towards the target being assisted by a 68 ktCO2 reduction in the carbon intensity of electricity sourced from the National
Grid. These reductions, totalling 175 kt CO2, would achieve 2020 emissions of 530 kt CO2 versus estimated 1990
emissions of 736 ktCO2, a 28% reduction. This study provides an updated greenhouse gas (GHG) inventory for the city
and reports on progress towards the 2020 emissions reduction potentials identified in 2007.
The 2008 Climate Change Act, with subsequent amendments, radically changed the UK’s climate change ambition and
now sets a legal obligation for net zero emissions in UK by 2050. The Act established the Climate Change Committee
(CCC). The CCC sets five-year carbon budgets for the UK, the most recent of which is the Sixth Carbon Budget3, i covering
the period from 2033 to 2037.
In 2019, increasing urgency to address climate change led ECC to declare a Climate Emergency and pledge to work
towards net zero by 20304. In 2020 the Council announced a series of initiatives to drive forward the city’s net zero
ambitions5 and, in addition, to establishing a baseline GHG inventory for the city. The CEE was commissioned to quantify
the reductions required to achieve net zero in 2030 and identify more specific and timely metrics for monitoring
progress towards carbon neutrality.

This study makes extensive use of material from The Sixth Carbon Budget. References to the CCC refer to the Sixth Carbon Budget
unless stated otherwise.
i

Page6 40

2 GHG inventory
This GHG inventory is for territorial emissions. Territorial emissions are those arising from within the boundaries of the
city and are more within the control of people living, working and visiting the cityii. The publication of territorial GHG
emissions for local authority areas is 2 years in arrears, so the most recent data available is for 20196.

2.1 Methodology
This inventory reports emissions under the following categories:
power: emissions resulting from electricity consumption;
buildings: emissions resulting from fuel combustion in the domestic, commercial and public administration sectors;
industry: emissions categorised as from industry (other than from electricity consumption and in buildings),
including large industrial installations, in the government local authority CO2 dataset ;
transport: emissions from road and rail vehicles (emissions from electric vehicles are reported under power;
emissions from aviation and shipping have not been included);
agriculture: emissions from fuel use in the sector, as reported in the government local authority CO2
dataset (emissions from livestock and fertiliser use was assumed to be negligible in Exeter in the absence of data
for recent years);
land use and land use change: as reported in the government local authority CO2 dataset;
waste: emissions from the disposal of solid waste and wastewater, and
f-gases: emissions from the consumption of fluorinated gases (in the absence of data for Exeter, national emissions
have been apportioned on the basis of non-domestic electricity consumption since the majority of such gases are
used in refrigeration systems, air conditioning and heat pumps).
An accompanying report7 describes the inventory methodology in more detail.

2.2 Results
Estimated total greenhouse gas emissions in Exeter in 2019 are 476,221 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (t CO2e).
Figure 1 and Table 1 give the breakdown of emissions.

Figure 1. Sources of Exeter’s greenhouse gas emission in 2019 (excluding agriculture and land use)
Table 1. Exeter’s greenhouse gas emission by sector in 2019

The territorial emissions method is consistent with the approach taken in UK national reporting. A complementary method,
consumption-based carbon footprinting, considers upstream and downstream emissions arising outside an area.
ii

7
Page
41

GHG emissions
t CO2e

Sector
Power
Buildings
Industry
Transport
Waste
F-gases
Agriculture
Land use
Total

117,077
167,684
26,795
106,023
33,449
28,914
948
-4,669
476,221

Figure 2 shows the breakdown of emissions for each year since 2008. GHG emissions in Exeter have generally been on
a downward trajectory with estimated GHG emissions of 717 kt CO2e in 2008 declining by a third by 2019.

Figure 2. Sources of greenhouse gas emission in Exeter from 2008 to 2019.

2.2.1 Progress in reducing emissions
In 2007, a 30% reduction, based on a 1990 emissions estimate of 736 kt CO2, required 2020 emissions of 516 kt CO2.
With 2019 emissions below 500 kt CO2e, this looks achievable (subject to Covid 19 bounceback). However, the sector
detail shows that the reduction is the result of grid decarbonisation, which has delivered three times the change
estimated in 2007 (210 kt CO2e versus 68 kt CO2). Locally, sectoral reduction in buildings (15 ktCO2e versus 93 kt CO2)
and transport (4 kt CO2e versus 16 kt CO2) has failed to meet the objectives set in 2007 by factors of 6 and 4 respectively.
Looking ahead, the changes achieved in each sector, based on the latest emissions trends, are summarised in Table 2
and Table 3, and Figure 3 and Figure 4. Only the power, industry and land use change sectors are on trend to achieve
net zero carbon by 2030. Changes in grid carbon intensity will largely take place outside the city, the mix of industry in
the city affects industrial emission trends, and land use change will not have a material impact on future emission
reduction. Increases in waste sector emissions are a result of the development of the Marsh Barton energy recovery
facility (ERF) . Prior to 2014 the city’s waste emissions were artificially low as Exeter’s waste was landfilled outside the
city. Since 2014 the situation is partially reversed as the ERF treats some waste that originates outside Exeter.

Page8 42

As emphasised above, lack of progress in the buildings and transport sectors is particularly concerning, with growth in
the city leading to significant increases in emissions in recent years. The city needs to make significant progress in these
two key sectors to deliver net zero.
Table 2. Changes achieved from a 2008 and 2016 baseline in t CO2e. Negative values indicate a reduction. Values in
green exceed the annual reduction required for zero carbon by 2030 on a linear trajectory; those in red do not.

Sectr
Power
Buildings
Industry
Transport
Agriculture
Land use
Waste
F-gases
Total

Change achieved (t CO2e)
2008 to
2016 to
2019
2019
-210,379
-49,151
-15,321
+4,327
-35,917
-9,049
-3,661
-1,586
+71
+8
-442
-187
+27,377
+1,363
-2,105
-5,589
-240,378
-59,864

Average annual change
achieved (t CO2e)
2008 to
2016 to
2019
2019
-19,125
-16,384
-1,393
+1,442
-3,265
-3,016
-333
-529
+6
+3
-40
-62
+2,489
+454
-191
-1,863
-21,853
-19,955

Annual change required to
achieve zero carbon by
2030 (t CO2e)
2008 to
2016 to
2030
2030
-14,884
-11,873
-8,318
-11,668
-2,851
-2,560
-4,986
-7,686
-40
-67
+192
+320
-276
-2,292
-1,410
-2,465
-32,573
-38,292

Table 3. Changes achieved from a 2008 and 2016 in percentage terms. Negative values indicate a reduction. Values in
green exceed the annual reduction required for zero carbon by 2030 on a linear trajectory; those in red do not.

Sector
Power

Buildings
Industry
Transport
Agriculture
Land use
Waste
F-gases
Total

Change achieved (%)
2008 to
2016 to
2019
2019
-64.2%
-29.6%
-8.4%
+2.6%
-57.3%
-25.2%
-3.3%
-1.5%
+8.1%
+0.9%
-10.4%
-4.2%
+450.9%
+4.2%
-6.8%
-16.2%
-33.5%
-11.2%

Average annual change
achieved (%)
2008 to
2016 to
2019
2019
-5.8%
-9.9%
-0.8%
+0.9%
-5.2%
-8.4%
-0.3%
-0.5%
+0.7%
+0.3%
-0.9%
-1.4%
+41.0%
+1.4%
-0.6%
-5.4%
-3.0%
-3.7%

Annual change required to
achieve zero carbon by
2030 (%) iii
2008 to
2016 to
2030
2030

-4.5%

-7.1%

Except for land use, which starts with negative emissions (carbon uptake), so an increase in emissions would technically be
allowable in this sector, although the number is small relative to other sectors.
iii

9
Page
43

Figure 3. Emissions reductions against a linear trajectory to net zero by 2030 (dotted), 2008 base, by sector.

Figure 4. Emissions reductions against a linear trajectory to net zero by 2030 (dotted), 2008 base, total emissions.

Progress in the power sector is attributable to rapid decarbonisation of grid electricity. Locally, emissions from the
transport and buildings sectors in particular are not falling at the rate required.

Page10 44

2.2.2 Future emissions trajectories
Figure 5 extrapolates Exeter’s total emissions between 2016 and 2019 to represent the “current trend”. To cover the
two year data lag it is assumed that emissions follow this trajectory in 2020 and 2021 giving estimated emissions in 2021
of 448 kt CO2e. Following the current trend would result in 2030 emissions of 290.5 kt CO2e and give an ongoing decline
of 17.5 kt CO2e (3.9% of 2021 emissions) per year and cumulative emissions from 2021 to 2030 of 3.7 Mt CO2e.
However, the continuation of the current trend without local GHG reduction relies on unrealistic grid decarbonisation
that would imply zero carbon grid electricity in 2026iv. Using the CCC’s Balanced Pathway UK grid carbon intensity
projections suggests that, while it may be realistic to assume current trend estimates for 2021 may be achieved with
grid decarbonisation, by 2030 a 28% reduction from non-power sectors will be required to continue to follow the
current trend.
Emissions reductions from 448 kt CO2e in 2021 to net zero in 2030 could take many alternative trajectories. For example,
a possible but unlikely trajectory would be to follow the current trend until 2029 with net zero occurring in one step the
following year. This would create cumulative emissions from 2021 to 2030 of 3.4 Mt CO2e. Alternatively, a linear decline
to net zero in 2030 (shown in Figure 5) would give a decline of 49.8 kt CO2e (11.1%) per year and give rise to cumulative
emissions of 2.2 Mt CO2e. Achieving the linear decline requires an additional 32.3 kt CO2e (7.2%) per year over the
current trend.
An alternative decline (also illustrated in Figure 5) shows how a delay to the start of emissions reduction can achieve
the same cumulative emissions as the linear decline by assuming a more accelerated descent in the middle years of the
decade.

Figure 5. Current trend emissions with alterative trajectories to net zero by 2030.

The Climate Change Committee’s assessment in the Sixth Carbon Budget is that electricity grid carbon intensity will approach zero
(10gCO2/kWh, a reduction of 95% on 2019) in 2035.
iv

11
Page
45

Figure 6 shows the cumulative emissions from the current trend, linear and alternative declines in Figure 5. By 2026,
cumulative emissions from the current trend case exceed the 2.2 Mt CO2e cumulative emissions to 2030 from the linear
decline case.

Figure 6. Emissions reductions against a linear trajectory.

Page12 46

3 Sector emissions monitoring
While there may be a broad public understanding of what Net Zero means (i.e. minimal fossil fuel use), the two year lag
in the publication of GHG emissions statistics together with the difficulty of relating the reduction in quantities of CO2
to everyday actions presents challenges for setting and achieving easily understood interim CO2 targets.
Exeter has pledged to work towards net zero by 2030. This target is 20 years in advance of the 2050 national net zero
target required under the Climate Change Act and reported on in the Sixth Carbon Budget.
The approach taken in the sub sections below is to use the 2050 data from the Sixth Carbon Budget to establish 2030
net zero target values for measures in Exeter. The change required between the current status and the 2030 target is
then used to calculate a measurable target for the end of 2022 which can be reported on in 2023 and subsequently
annually thereafter.
The default assumption, unless there is evidence to the contrary, is that progress will occur in a linear manner, i.e. with
the same increment in each of the nine years between 2021 and 2030. This is consistent with the linear GHG reduction
profile shown in the graphs above. The danger with other assumptions (for example an exponential change which starts
at a low level) is that the short term challenge is minimised only for the measure to then be impossible to deliver in the
late 2020s.

13
Page
47

3.1 Power
Power, distributed through the national and regional electricity networks is the sector of the UK economy that has
decarbonised most rapidly. The resulting national grid emission factor has fallen by 60%, from 477 g CO2/kWh in 2010
to 193 g CO2/kWh in 2019. The use of a national emissions factor for local electricity CO2 emissions calculations
precludes considering carbon emissions from power at a local level by, for example, considering renewable electricity
generation in Exeter as Exeter’s CO2 reduction. All renewable energy generation in the UK contributes to national
emissions reduction, so while Exeter should do everything possible to deliver local renewable electricity generation, the
emission reduction benefits contribute to national grid decarbonisation.
The Sixth Carbon Budget estimates that demand for electricity will more than double by 2050. At the same time the
CCC projects that grid carbon intensity will have reduced by 76% in 2030, 96% in 2040 and 99% in 2050. Zero carbon
electricity generation is therefore essential for the national net zero target to be met. Projections for the Balanced
Pathway show that variable renewables such as solar photovoltaic (PV) and wind generation make up 58% of generation
in 2030 and 66% in 2040 and 2050. Given these projections, it is clearly important to maximise Exeter’s contribution to
zero carbon electricity generation and, to be consistent with a 2030 net zero target, Exeter could therefore target full
deployment of its renewable electricity potential by 2030.
The urban nature of Exeter limits the potential for renewable electricity generation in the city and, while there may be
discrete opportunities for technologies such as run of river hydrov and small-scale wind turbinesvi; these do not have
the potential to generate material amounts of power. A review of a long list of potential renewable energy technologies
is included as part of the evidence base for the Greater Exeter Strategic Plan8 . The review led to an assessment of largescale wind and ground mounted PV across the region. The assessment identified one 0.5 MW wind site in Exeter with
the potential to generate 1 GWh annually and 24 ground mounted PV sites with total capacity of 64 MW and the
potential to generate 64 GWh anually. In practice, the number of ground mouthed PV sites in the city that are
realistically likely to receive planning permission and gain grid access will be significantly fewer. Roof mounted PV arrays,
although individually small, have the potential to make a material contribution if widely adopted across the rooftops of
Exeter’s homes and businesses.

3.1.1 Current renewable electricity generation
Data on renewable electricity (RE) installations is available from the Department of Business Energy and Industrial
Strategy’s (BEIS) regional renewable energy statistics9 and also from OFGEM’s feed-in tariff installation report10,vii. The
BEIS data shows total RE generation in Exeter of 16 GWh in 2020, 3% of Exeter’s 511 GWh electricity consumption. PV
generated 78% (12 GWh), sewage gasviii 17% (3 GWh) and hydro 5% (1 GWh).

3.1.2 PV on homes
In 2020 there were a total of about 2,295 PV installations (amounting to 4% of Exeter’s homes), with a total capacity of
7 MW generating 7 GWh. 2012 saw the largest annual installation rate (663). Recently installation rates have been
significantly less, averaging 82 annually over four years since 2016. Figure 7 shows the trends in domestic PV generation
and installations as a percentage of Exeter’s domestic roofs.

Exeter has two run of river hydro sites with total capacity of 273 kW. The availability of civil infrastructure, e.g. weirs, mill leats,
etc., limits the development of new sites.
vi There have been some trials of small-scale wind turbines in the city but these have generally been unsuccessful.
vii The discontinuation of the feed–in tariff for PV means that OFGEM data is not representative after 2018.
viii Generated from combined heat and power at the Countess Weir sewage treatment facility.
v

Page14 48

Figure 7: Historic domestic PV in Exeter from 2010 to 2020
Target setting for PV assumes that by 2030 25% of Exeter’s existing domestic roofsix have PV installed and that 50% of
new homes built between 2020 and 2030x have PV with each installation assumed to have the historic average peak
capacity (3 kW). Hitting this target would mean that in 2030 13,971 domestic roofs (28%) in Exeter would have PV.
Figure 8 shows the projected increase in domestic solar PV which would generate 42 GWh in 2030.

Figure 8: Historic and projected domestic PV in Exeter
The projected domestic installation rate is 1,200 per year, some 6 times the historic average and twice the peak rate
achieved in 2012.

Number of roofs from 2011 census housing mix (41,160) assumes that 3 purpose built flats or 2 conversions share one roof and
does not count flats in commercial buildings or mobile/temporary homes. New roofs added annually (data from ECC’s "Authority
Monitoring Report 2020/21" https://exeter.gov.uk/media/5861/amr-2020-2021.pdf) to 2020 gives 45,179 existing roofs.
x Based on ECC 2021 housing supply statement (see https://exeter.gov.uk/planning-services/planning-policy/monitoring/five-yearhousing-supply-statement/) which gives 5,353 new roofs in 10 years.
ix

15
Page
49

3.1.3 Non-domestic PV
Non-domestic PV installations generated 5 GWh in 2020 from 128 sites with a total capacity of 5MW. Exeter City Council
PV sites provide about 40% of the non-domestic generation. New non-domestic PV will be a combination of a larger
number of roof mounted PV arrays together with a smaller number of ground mounted sites. The relatively high historic
average array size (42 kW) accounts for the current ratio of site sizes. Exeter has 3568 non-domestic buildings11. It is
assumed that 25% are suitable sites (mostly roofs) and install PV with the average historic installation capacity per site.
On this basis projected 2030 generation is 42 GWh. Figure 9 shows historic and projected non-domestic PV installations,
capacity and generation.

Figure 9: Historic and projected non-domestic PV in Exeter
The projected non-domestic installation rate is 76 per year, nearly 7 times the historic average and twice the peak rate
achieved in 2011.

Page16 50

3.1.4 All PV
Table 4 and Figure 10 show historic and projected domestic and non-domestic PV installations in Exeter over the period
2010 to 2030.
Table 4. Historic and projected domestic and non-domestic PV installations in Exeter
No. of PV
installations

PV capacity
MW

PV
generation
GWh

2010

51

0.1

0.1

2011

450

1.8

1.5

2012

1,104

4.1

3.5

2013

1,328

5.4

4.6

2014

1,599

6.5

5.6

2015

1,910

9.9

6.7

2016

2,082

10.7

9.2

2017

2,185

11.1

9.8

2018

2,259

11.3

11.1

2019

2,387

11.8

11.0

2020

2,423

12.4

12.1

2021

3,667

19.7

19.3

2022

4,911

27.0

26.4

2023

6,155

34.3

33.6

2024

7,399

41.7

40.7

2025

8,643

49.0

47.9

2026

9,887

56.3

55.0

2027

11,131

63.6

62.2

2028

12,375

70.9

69.3

2029

13,619

78.2

76.4

2030

14,863

85.5

83.6

Year

Figure 10: Historic and projected total (domestic and non-domestic) PV in Exeter
17
Page
51

The projected overall installation rate is 1,240 per year, some 6 times the historic average and twice the peak rate
achieved in 2012. The 2030 PV generation of 84 GWh represents 16% of Exeter’s current electricity consumption.
However, by 2030 the CCC projects national electricity demand will rise by 17%. Over the period 2020 to 2030, grid
electricity CO2 emissions offset (using the grid emission factors in the Sixth Carbon Budget) peak at 6.0 ktCO2e in 2025
falling to 3.9kt CO2e in 2030, 1% of Exeter’s current CO2 emissions.

3.1.5 PV monitoring and reporting
SECTOR:

POWER

CURRENT LEVEL:

2,423 PV INSTALLATIONS, 12 MW CAPACITY & 12 GWh GENERATION (2020)

MONITORING TARGET:

14,863PV INSTALLATIONS, 88 MW CAPACITY & 86 GWh GENERATION IN 2030

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

1,244 PV INSTALLATIONS, 20 MW CAPACITY & 20 GWh GENERATION

DATA SOURCE:

RENEWABLE ENERGY BY LOCAL AUTHORITY STATISTICS, BEIS

DATA AVAILABLE:

ANNUALLY

Page18 52

3.2 Buildings
Emissions from Exeter’s buildings have hardly changed since 2008. Buildings were responsible for GHG emissions of
167.7 kt CO2e in 2019, 35% of the city’s GHG emissions.. The majority of emissions associated with the buildings sector
are due to the requirements for space heating and hot water. Emissions from the consumption of electricity are included
under the power sector. Reducing emissions arising from space heating and hot water relies on both reducing demand
through efficiency measures, and supplying any heat required using low-carbon technologies.

3.2.1 Energy efficiency in homes
The Sixth Carbon Budget calls for insulation of all lofts and cavities and solid wall insulation on 50% of solid wall homes
by 2033. The target in Exeter is 2030.
Data from Energy Performance Certificates12 (EPC) provides information on some 37,278 homes or two thirds of the
56,350xi homes in Exeter (duplicate EPCs on the same home excluded). The dates of the EPCs go back to 2008, which
means that many will be out of date with the potential for changes to the properties since the EPC. This caveat should
be borne in mind when using EPC data. Table 5 shows the roof insulation data in Exeter EPCs with the percentage for
each type applied to the total number of homes.
Table 5: Loft insulation recorded in Exeter EPCs
Roof / insulation type
Dwelling/premises above
U values given (new homes)
Pitched uninsulated
Pitched 100mm or less
Pitched 101mm to 200mm
Pitched 201mm to 300mm
Pitched 300mm plus
Pitched unknown
Flat roofs
Roof rooms & thatched
Unknown
Total

EPCs
6,785
5,352
2,633
7,407
6,762
5,184
1,033
26
1,043
1,037
25
37,287

% of roofs
18.20%
14.35%
7.06%
19.86%
18.14%
13.90%
2.77%
0.07%
2.80%
2.78%
0.07%

Exeter
10,254
8,088
3,979
11,194
10,219
7,834
1,561
39
1,576
1,567
38
56,350

About 24% of Exeter’s homes either do not need roof insulation (e.g. non-top floor flats) or are difficult to insulate. Of
the remaining 42,876 homes 17,484 (41%) are insulated (new build, where U values are given, and pitched roofs with
more than 200mm). However, 3,979 pitched roof homes in Exeter have no loft insulation and 21,413 homes require
top up insulationxii giving a total 25,392 homes, or 45% of the housing stock, in need of some loft insulation. Installation
over 9 years requires 2,821 loft insulation measures per year to 2030.

Estimate of number of homes in Exeter in 2020 based on 2009 census (51,020) plus new dwellings completed since.
The recommended depth for loft insulation is between 220mm and 270mm depending on the insulation, material uses (National
Insulation Association see: https://www.nia-uk.org/understanding-insulation/loft-insulation/ )
xi

xii

19
Page
53

SECTOR:

BUILDINGS

CURRENT LEVEL:

17,484 INSULATED LOFTS

MONITORING TARGET:

42,876 HOMES WITH LOFT INSULATION (200mm OR MORE)

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

2,821 FULL AND TOP UP LOFT INSULATION INSTALLS

DATA SOURCE:

EPCS

DATA AVAILABLE:

QUARTERLY, BUT INCLUDES HISTORICAL DATA

Table 6shows a summary of the EPC data for wall insulation in Exeter.
Table 6: Wall insulation recorded in Exeter EPCs
Wall type
Insulated cavity walls
Insulated other walls
Insulated solid walls
Partly insulated cavity walls
Partly insulated other walls
Partly insulated solid walls
Uninsulated cavity
Uninsulated other walls
Uninsulated solid walls
Unknown
Total

EPCs

% of walls

21,741
1,237
1,172
946
196
30
6,453
549
4,944
19
37,287

58.31%
3.32%
3.14%
2.54%
0.53%
0.08%
17.31%
1.47%
13.26%
0.05%
100.00%

Exeter
32,856
1,869
1,771
1,430
296
45
9,752
830
7,472
29
56,350

The data suggests that 32% of the homes in Exeter (18,053) do not have wall insulation of which 54% (9,752) are cavity
walls and 41% (7,472) are solid walls.
Assuming linear installation of cavity wall insulation over 9 years, 1,084 cavity wall insulation installations are required
per year to 2030.
SECTOR:

BUILDINGS

CURRENT LEVEL:

32,856 INSULATED CAVITY WALLS; 9,752 UNINSULATED

MONITORING TARGET:

9,752 CAVITY WALL INSULATION INSTALLS BY 2030

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT :

1,084 CAVITY WALL INSULATION INSTALLS

DATA SOURCE:

EPCs

DATA AVAILABLE:

QUARTERLY BUT INCLUDES HISTORICAL DATA

Assuming linear insulation of half of the 7,472 uninsulated solid walls in Exeter over 9 years gives 415 solid wall insulation
installations per year.

Page20 54

SECTOR:

BUILDINGS

CURRENT LEVEL:

1,711 INSULATED SOLID WALLS; 7,472 UNINSULATED

MONITORING TARGET:

3,736 SOLID WALL INSULATION INSTALLS BY 2030

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

415 SOLID WALL INSULATION INSTALLS

DATA SOURCE:

EPCS

DATA AVAILABLE:

QUARTERLY BUT INCLUDES HISTORICAL DATA

3.2.2 Low carbon heat in homes
The Sixth Carbon Budget foresees the decarbonisation of home heating in urban areas via heat pumps and heat
networks. By 2050 the uptake of heat pumps in UK homes with gas is forecast to reach 17.8 million representing 76%
of the 23.6 million UK homes on the gas grid13. Around 20% of heat to homes and 42% to public and commercial
customers will be through heat networks by 2050. Table 7 shows EPC data on heating in Exeter’s homes.
Table 7: Heating types recorded in Exeter EPCs
Heating type
Mains gas central heating
Electric storage heaters
Community schemes
Electric room heaters
Room heaters mains gas
Heat pumps
Electric central heating
Oil central heating
LPG central heating
Unknown
Room heaters coal
Solid fuel central heating
Room heaters biomass
Biomass central heating
Room heaters bottled gas
Room heaters oil
Total

EPC no.

% of heat type

28,846
3,744
2,074
1,469
474
297
159
83
70
27
21
10
8
5
0
0
37,287

77.36%
10.04%
5.56%
3.94%
1.27%
0.80%
0.43%
0.22%
0.19%
0.07%
0.06%
0.03%
0.02%
0.01%
0.00%
0.00%
100.00%

Exeter
43,594
5,658
3,134
2,220
716
449
240
125
106
41
32
15
12
8
0
0
56,350

BEIS Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI) statistics14 shows 57 heat pumps in Exeter. This is significantly fewer than the prorata 449 calculated from the EPC data (presumably due to the majority of installations not taking up the RHI). The pro
rata EPC data gives 3,134 homes in Exeter connected to community heating schemes (heat networks)xiii. On this basis
an estimated 55,819 homes in Exeter will require low or zero carbon-heating retrofit by 2030xiv.
Installation of heat pumps in 76% of homes that do not have heat pumps, or are not connected to heat networks,xv
requires 41,714 extra installations over 9 years, a rate of 4,635 each year.

A BEIS FOI request gives 1,261 homes, 54 commercial buildings and 939 educational customers (total 2,255) connected to DH in
Exeter with total capacity of 12.1 MW supplying 9 GWh in 2015. The more up to date EPC data is used.
xiv Assuming that new homes built after 2025 have low or zero carbon heating.
xv Assuming all homes in Exeter are on the gas grid.
xiii

21
Page
55

SECTOR:

BUILDINGS

CURRENT LEVEL:

449 HEAT PUMPS IN HOMES

MONITORING TARGET:

42,163 HEAT PUMP IN HOMES BY 2030

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

4,635 HEAT PUMP INSTALLS

DATA SOURCE:

EPCs

DATA AVAILABLE:

QUARTERLY BUT INCLUDES HISTORICAL DATA

Heat networks will play a role in the balance of Exeter’s homes currently without low or zero carbon heating that are
not retrofitted with heat pumps (24% or 13,657). Heat networks connecting 20% homes that need retrofit low or zero
carbon heating total 11,164. Over nine years to 2030 this requires the connection of 1,240 buildings each year.
SECTOR:

POWER AND HEAT

CURRENT LEVEL:

3,134 HEAT CUSTOMERS CONNECTED TO HEAT NETWORKS

MONITORING TARGET:

14,298 HEAT CUSTOMERS CONNECTED TO LOW CARBON HEAT NETWORKS IN 2030

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

1,240 HEAT CUSTOMERS CONNECTED TO LOW CARBON HEAT NETWORKS

DATA SOURCE:

EPCs

DATA AVAILABLE:

QUARTERLY BUT INCLUDES HISTORICAL DATA

Table 8 summarises the current and target 2030 net zero heating mix in Exeter’s homes.
Table 8: Current and target 2030 net zero heating mix in Exeter’s homes
Heating type
Gas
Heat pump
Heat network
Other
Total

Current
43,594
449
3,134
9,173
56,350

2030
0
42,163
14,298
5,815
62,276

Change
-43,594
41,714
11,164
-3,358
5,926

Currently the majority of heat networks are fuelled by natural gas. Fossil fuel based heat networks will need to
decarbonise to achieve Net Zero.
SECTOR:

POWER AND HEAT

CURRENT LEVEL:

NO LOW CARBON HEAT NETWORKS

MONITORING TARGET:

ALL HEAT NETWORKS DECARBONISED BY 2030

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

DECARBONISATION PLAN FOR ALL HEAT NETWORKS IN EXETER

DATA SOURCE:

UNKNOWN

DATA AVAILABLE:

UNKNOWN

Page22 56

3.2.3 Energy efficiency and low carbon heat in non-domestic buildings
The Sixth Carbon Budget assumes a 27% reduction in energy consumption compared to the CCC’s 2018 baseline.
However, in its Balanced Pathway, the CCC assumes that commercial energy efficiency measures are fully deployed by
2030 and public sector measures are fully deployed by 2032. Nationally the CCC projects that by 2030 37% of public
and commercial heat demand is met by low-carbon sources. Of this low-carbon heat demand, 65% is supplied via heat
pumps, 32% via district heating and 3% by biomass. By 2050 all heat demand is met by low-carbon sources of which
52% is heat pumps, 42% is district heat, 5% is hydrogen boilers and around 1% is new direct electric heating.
In practical terms, this requires organisations (or in many cases, their landlords), to invest in efficiency measures such
as insulation and low and zero carbon building services.
Display energy Certificate (DEC) and non-domestic Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) data provide an insight into
Exeter’s non-domestic buildings. DECs are required annually on buildings accessed by the public which are over 1000 m2,
and less frequently (every 10 years) on smaller buildings (over 250 m2). There are some 275 premises with DECs in
Exeterxvi. Non-domestic EPCs have been required since 2008 on the sale, rental or construction of non-domestic
premises. As EPCs are not required regularly some will be out of date with the potential for changes having been made
since the EPC was performed. There are 2,282 non-domestic EPCs in Exeterxvii. DECs and EPCs provide an
operational/asset rating from A (good) to G (poor) for each building based on the building’s estimated CO2 emissions.
Most buildings with DECs will also have an EPC.
The CO2 estimates in DECs and EPCs are calculated using electricity CO2 emissions factors that are not consistent with
those used for Exeter’s 2019 GHG emission estimate. Building electricity consumption figures in the DECs have therefore
been use to estimate CO2 emissions using the 2019 grid electricity emission factors for each rating band resulting in
total CO2 emissions from buildings with DECs of 33 kt CO2 (a 38% reduction compared to 87 ktCO2 reported in the DECs).
Figure 11 shows the distribution of buildings, floor areas and CO2 emissions for each DEC band. The graph suggests the
poor performing buildings in band E and, to a lesser extent, band G account for a disproportionate share of the building
stock’s CO2 emissions.

Figure 11: Percentage of non-domestic buildings, floor area and CO2 emissions for each DEC band in Exeter.

xvi
xvii

DECs with missing energy data excluded.
EPCs with missing energy data excluded.
23
Page
57

Average CO2/m2 figures for each rating band have been used to estimate how improvements in building performance
to a better performing band is likely to impact CO2 emissionsxviii. Improving buildings with DEC ratings of D, E, F and G
(137 buildings) to a C rating achieves a 38% reduction in CO2 emissions, while improving only E, F and G rated buildings
(58 buildings) to a D rating achieves a 25% reduction.
EPCs do not provide energy consumption data so the methodology applied to DECs cannot be repeated. Total CO2
emissions recorded in the 2,282 EPCs are 113 kt CO2. As with DECs, this figure will be inconsistent with Exeter’s 2019
GHG inventory. If the 38% reduction applied to the DECs is applied, total emission fall to 43 kt CO2 (much of which will
duplicate savings from buildings that also have DECs). Figure 12 shows the distribution of buildings, floor areas and CO2
emissions for each EPC band which suggest a more proportionate profile of CO2 emissions compared with the number
of buildings and floor space than is found from DECs.

Figure 12: Percentage of non-domestic buildings, floor area and CO2 emissions for each EPC band in Exeter.
The 43 kt CO2 adjusted total emissions from EPCs compares with the non-domestic GHG assessment of 127 kt CO2
(34%). This indicates that EPCs have not been undertaken on all non-domestic properties. This is confirmed by
comparing the number of EPCs (2,282) with the 3,568 non-domestic buildings recorded in the non-domestic national
energy efficiency data-framework15 (64%). .
As with DECs, average CO2/m2 figures for each rating band in the EPCs have been used to estimate how improvements
in building performance to a better performing band is likely to impact CO2 emissions. Improving buildings with EPC
ratings of D, E F and G rated buildings (1,326 or 58% of the buildings with EPCs) to a C rating achieves a 12% reduction
well short of the 27% required by the CCC. Improving C, D, E, F and G (1,960 or 86% of the buildings with EPCs) to a B
rating achieves a 36% reduction in CO2 emissions. This implies that achieving a 27% CO2 emission reduction will require
significant energy efficiency upgrades to some 2,312xix non-domestic buildings in Exeter. Assuming that the same
number are upgraded in each of the nine years to 2030 gives 257 buildings requiring upgrading per year.

Note that no specific allowance is made for electricity grid decarbonisation.
86% of the 3,568 non-domestic buildings in Exeter (3,065 pro rated (27/36)).

xviii
xix

Page24 58

SECTOR:

BUILDINGS

CURRENT LEVEL:

3,065 NON-DOMESTIC BUILDINGS WITH EPC BAND C, D, E, F, AND G RATINGS

MONITORING TARGET:

2,312 NON-DOMESTIC BUILDINGS BAND C, D, E, F & G IMPROVED TO BAND B BY 2030

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

257 NON-DOMESTIC BUILDINGS IMPROVED FROM BANDS C, D, E, F & G TO BAND B

DATA SOURCE:

EPCS/DECS

DATA AVAILABLE:

ANNUALLY BUT INCLUDES HISTORICAL DATA

Table 9 shows the numbers of low carbon heating (LCH) measures implied by the CCC’s non-domestic heating
projections.
Table 9: Projected low carbon heat sources for non-domestic buildings.
Area
CCC timeframe
Total low carbon heat provision
from:
Heat pumps
Heat networks
Biomass
Hydrogen
Direct electric
Total

National
2030

National
2050

Exeter

Exeter

37%

100%

37%

100%

65%
32%
3%

52%
42%

100%

5%
1%
100%

858
422
40

1,320

1,855
1,499
178
36
3,568

Net Zero by 2030 requires Exeter to meet the CCC’s 2050 target. EPC data shows that 4 non-domestic buildings in Exeter
are heated with biomass and 8 are supplied from heat networks. Grid electricity is the main heating fuel for 1,097
premisesxx. Assuming that 2,459 buildings require LCH upgrades and that the same number are upgraded in each of the
nine years to 2030 gives 273 buildings per year.
SECTOR:

BUILDINGS

CURRENT LEVEL:

UNKNOWN

MONITORING TARGET:

3,568 NON-DOMESTIC BUILDINGS WITH LOW CARBON HEATING (LCH) BY 2030

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

273 NON-DOMESTIC BUILDINGS INSTALL LCH MEASURES

DATA SOURCE:

EPCS/DECS

DATA AVAILABLE:

ANNUALLY BUT INCLUDES HISTORICAL DATA

xx

EPCs do not specify how many of these have heat pumps.
25
Page
59

3.3 Industry
The industrial sector covers emissions from manufacturing and construction businesses excluding those arising from
the consumption of electricity (included under the power sector) and from space heating and hot water provision in
buildings (covered above). Typically, the sector includes energy intensive industrial activities such as refineries,
chemicals, iron and steel and cement, which together are responsible for nearly two thirds16 of UK industrial sector
emissions. These industries are not present in Exeter. Emissions in the area are more likely to occur from activities such
as food and drink manufacture, printing, water treatment and waste management and a variety of other smaller
manufacturing businesses.
Industrial emissions in Exeter are relatively small (26.8 kt CO2e or 6% of total emissions in 2019) and have more than
halved since 2008. Figure 13 shows the historic trajectory of industrial emissions in Exeter. There is a general trend of
falling emissions, albeit with an increase in the period 2011 to 2015. The graph shows a linear extrapolation forward
from the periods 2015 to 2019 and 2017 to 2019. Were the average reduction of 4.1 kt per annum achieved from 2015
onwards maintained, the sector would be decarbonised by 2025. This is likely to be over-optimistic: firstly, the annual
rate of reduction is halved from 2017 onwards to 2.0 kt; at this rate of decline decarbonisation would not be achieved
until 2033. Secondly, further examination of the data , discussed below, suggests that the 2015 value may be anomalous.
To achieve zero carbon by 2030 would require a reduction in emissions of 2.4 kt per annum from 2020 onwards.

Figure 13: Historic and projected industrial emissions for Exeter.
The BEIS Local Authority CO2 data6 reports emissions from large industry separately. The data includes emission sources
identified in the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory or by the Environment Agency as large industrial point
sources. Figure 14 shows the contribution from large industry and other industry; a rapid decline in emissions from large
industry is evident in the first reported year, from 2008 to 2009. Emissions from large industry have generally reduced
at a faster rate than other industry, accounting for 49% of total industrial emissions in 2008, 36% in 2009, 26% in 2017
and 13% in 2019. The graph also reveals a large spike in emissions from other industry for a single year in 2015. The
data show this to be attributable to natural gas consumptionxxi.

xxi

The anomalously high consumption is present in both the BEIS local authority CO2 and gas consumption datasets.

Page26 60

Figure 14: Industrial emissions in Exeter categorised as being from large industry or other industry.
Industrial emissions in the BEIS Local Authority data are significantly higher than those in the National Atmospheric
Emission Inventory point and area source data (which lists no industrial point sources within Exeter). This suggests that
the BEIS Local Authority data might erroneously include emissions from some non-industrial point sources, such as
power generation, commercial and public sector operations.
The National Atmospheric Emission Inventory reports industrial emissions from fuel combustion separately from
industrial processes. Data from recent years indicate that only a very small proportion (1 to 2.5%) of industrial emissions
in the city originate from industrial processes. Cutting industrial fuel consumption (mostly gas) is therefore a priority for
industrial emissions reduction In Exeter.
The Committee on Climate Change envisions fuel switching (to electricity and hydrogen), carbon capture and storage,
and improving energy efficiency as key to decarbonisation of the sector. The absence of identified point source
emissions in Exeter makes it difficult to identify specific measures that target significant industrial emissions in the city.
Improving industrial energy efficiency and switching away from fossil fuels to electricity are likely to be the most
effective ways of reducing emissions. However, there is currently insufficient granularity in the data to measure or target
progress. The monitoring target is therefore based on the BEIS Local Authority CO2 emission dataset (excluding non-CO2
emissionsxxii).
SECTOR:

INDUSTRY

CURRENT LEVEL:

26.8 THOUSAND TONNES CO2 EMISSIONS (2019)

MONITORING TARGET:

ZERO CO2 EMISSIONS BY 2030

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

2.4 THOUSAND TONNES CO2 EMISSIONS REDUCTION

DATA SOURCE:

BEIS LOCAL AUTHORITY CO2 STATISTICS

DATA AVAILABLE:

ANNUALLY

Methane and nitrous oxide emission estimates are added to the figures presented elsewhere in this report. In recent years, CO2
accounted for over 99% of industrial CO2e emissions in Exeter.
xxii

27
Page
61

3.4 Transport / Mobility
Emissions from transport, Exeter’s third largest emissions sector (22%), have remained stubbornly high with little
change since 2008.
While lower emission vehicles will be key to the decarbonisation of the transport sector, reduction in vehicle use is also
an important factor. In Exeter, vehicle-kilometres increased at an average of 6 million per annum between 2000 and
2019. Reversing this trend through lower use and modal shift is potentially the most effective way of reducing CO2
emissions. The Balanced Pathway in the Sixth Carbon Budget assumes a 17% reduction in vehicle miles in 2050. Figure
15 shows the trend in vehicle miles in Exeter from 2000 to 2019 and a projected linear reduction to 83% of 2019 levels
by 2030xxiii.

Figure 15: Vehicle kilometres on roads in Exeter 17.
The annual reduction in activity by all vehicles required to achieve a 17% reduction by 2030 is 10 million kilometres or
2% per annum. This is a large change from the 6 million average annual increase from 2000 to 2019. Investment in
alternatives to the private car will help towards achieving this target; investment in capacity for general traffic will have
the opposite effect.
SECTOR:

TRANSPORT/MOBILITY

CURRENT LEVEL:

542 MILLION VEHICLE KILOMETRES (2019)

MONITORING TARGET:

17% REDUCTION (FROM 2019) BY 2030 TO 450 MILLION VEHICLE KILOMETRES

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

10 MILLION VEHICLE KILOMETRE REDUCTION

DATA SOURCE:

LOCAL AUTHORITY ROAD TRAFFIC STATISTICS, DfT

DATA AVAILABLE:

ANNUALLY

xxiii

Data for 2020 is not available and, if it were, would be atypical due to the impact of Covid-19 lockdowns.

Page28 62

3.4.1 Electric and zero carbon vehicles
Electric vehicles and charging points hold the key to the transformation of mobility. Net zero essentially requires all cars
and vans driving in Exeter to be electric and the provision of the corresponding charging infrastructure. The provision
of infrastructure for larger commercial vehicles and HGVs is also required to enable emissions reduction from these
vehicle classes.
The number of battery electric vehicles (BEVs) registered in the Exeterxxiv area has been accelerating with 590 registered
in2021 (1.2% of Exeter’s 50,430 licensed vehiclesxxv). Figure 16 shows the exponential rate of increase to date.

Figure 16: Battery electric vehicles in Exeter, 2011 to 2020 18.
Figure 17 includes projections at the current growth rate and suggests that some 63% of vehicles may be BEVs by 2030.
Continuing at this rate could potentially see all vehicles registered in the city electrified by 2032.

Figure 17: Projected battery electric vehicles in Exeter to 2030 at current growth rate.
Considering vehicle registrations in Exeter is a consumption-based approach (as against territorial). Vehicles registered in Exeter
drive outside the city boundaries. The target is that all vehicle mileage within Exeter is undertaken in EVs, which requires all those
driving in the city using vehicles registered elsewhere to also be BEVs. Measures to achieve this might include a strict clean air zone,
for example. Nonetheless, BEV registrations in the city are a relevant indicator of progress towards eliminating fossil fuel mobility.
xxv Excluding motorcycles
xxiv

29
Page
63

Delivering 100% electric vehicles by 2030 requires a slightly higher growth rate. The figures and the targets for
electrifying all vehicles by 2030 are set out inTable 10.
Table 10. Battery electric vehicle targets to achieve 100% of current vehicle numbers by 2030
(shaded parts of the table are unlikely to be achievable through the normal vehicle replacement cycle - see below).
Year

Current BEV projection
Number
%

Accelerated Projection to meet 100% by 2030
Number
%

2020

590

1.2%

590

1.2%

2021

705

1.4%

907

1.8%

2022

1,077

2.1%

1,418

2.8%

2023

1,645

3.3%

2,216

4.4%

2024

2,512

5.0%

3,463

6.9%

2025

3,837

7.6%

5,411

10.7%

2026

5,860

11.6%

8,456

16.8%

2027

8,949

17.7%

13,214

26.2%

2028

13,669

27.1%

20,650

40.9%

2029

20,876

41.4%

32,270

64.0%

2030

31,884

63.2%

50,430

100.0%

In 2019 (pre Covid-19), first time registrations of cars represented 8.4% of the South West fleet which, if applied to
Exeter’s vehicles, implies that about 4,200 new vehicles are registered annually. Cells that are shaded in Table 10
exceed this number of annual new registration and occur if either the exponential function from Figure 16 or an
accelerated exponential function is applied.
The shading implies that from 2028 (following the current exponential trajectory), or from 2027 (for the accelerated
trajectory), all vehicles replacements from then on will be BEVs. If replacement is limited to the current 8.4% per year,
the percentage BEVs in 2030 will be limited to 43% of the fleet if the current exponential trajectory is followed, or 50%
of the fleet if the accelerated exponential trajectory is followed.
This limitation shows the potential pitfalls of relying of accelerated uptake of measures in the latter part of the
decade.
Replacing 4,200 vehicles with BEVs each year to 2030 achieves 43,000 vehicles, 7,000 short (85%) of the target.
Incentives to increase the rate of fleet replacement or further accelerate the uptake of BEVs in earlier years will be
required to achieve 100% BEV by 2030. Measures could include the promotion of car clubs or additional regulation of
petrol and diesel vehicles.
SECTOR:

TRANSPORT/MOBILITY

CURRENT LEVEL:

590 BEVs REGISTERED IN EXETER (1.2%)

MONITORING TARGET:

50,430 BATTERY ELECTRIC VEHICLES (100%) IN EXETER IN 2030

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

317 EXTRA BEVS REGISTERED (FOLLOWING ACCELERATED TRAJECTORY)

DATA SOURCE:

ULEV STATISTICS, DfT

DATA AVAILABLE:

QUARTERLY

Page30 64

Larger commercial vehicles will need to be zero emissions along with cars and light goods vehicles. Whilst the analysis
above considers the vehicle fleet as a whole, the strategy for the replacement of large vehicles (which are operated
commercially) is likely to differ significantly from the replacement of cars (and to an extent light goods vehicles) which
are largely privately owned. In 2020 there were 2,470 HGVs, buses and other vehiclesxxvi registered in Exeter. Again,
these only represent a fraction of the vehicles driving on the city’s roads. Although relatively few in number, larger
vehicles have greater emissions per vehicle, so transitioning them away from fossil fuels is important.
SECTOR:

TRANSPORT/MOBILITY

CURRENT LEVEL:

NEAR ZERO NON-FOSSIL LARGER COMMERCIAL VEHICLES

MONITORING TARGET:

100% NON ZERO CARBON LARGER COMMERCIAL VEHICLES AND HGVS BY 2030

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

TO BE DETERMINED

DATA SOURCE:

TO BE DETERMINED

DATA AVAILABLE:

TO BE DETERMINED

3.4.2 Vehicle charging points
The Sixth Carbon Budget provides estimates of the public vehicle charging point infrastructure required nationally in
2035. These figures have been prorated by population to estimate the number of charge points required in Exeter in
2030 (see Table 11).
Table 11. The estimated number of public vehicle charging points required in Exeter in 2030.
Charger size
3 to 7 kW
22 kW
50 kW
150+ kW
Total

Quantity
127
264
375
12
778

In October 2021 Exeter had 49 charging points, an increase of 10 since October 2020, and itself an increase of 11 from
October 2019. To achieve 779 charging points by 2030, assuming an even number of installations over 9 years will
require the addition of 81 new charging points per year. This is approximately eight times the installation rate
achieved over the past two years.
SECTOR:

TRANSPORT/MOBILITY

CURRENT LEVEL (2021):

49 PUBLIC CHARGING POINTS

MONITORING TARGET:

778 PUBLIC ELECTRIC VEHICLE PUBLIC CHARGING POINTS IN 2030

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

81 ADDITIONAL PUBLIC CHARGING POINTS

DATA SOURCE:

PUBLICLY AVAILABLE EV CHARGING DEVICES BY LA, DfT

DATA AVAILABLE:

QUARTERLY

Other vehicles include rear diggers, lift trucks, rollers, ambulances, Hackney Carriages, three wheelers and agricultural vehicles,
and account for about one-half of the number of vehicles stated.
xxvi

31
Page
65

3.4.3 Walking and cycling
Figure 18 shows cycling activity on Exeter’s major roads. Count data are also available for a small number of minor roads
but distance data are not publically available. Activity on major roads is therefore assumed as a proxy for cycling activity
as a whole. Growth has been sporadic, with large year-on-year increases in some years, and to a lesser extent year-onyear decline in others. Calculating a three-year rolling average from historic data clarifies the general trend. This
averaged data shows a more consistent increase from 2008 onwards. The increase since 2007 averages 12% per annum.

Figure 18: Cycling count in Exeter from 2007 to 2019 17.
Additional data from Devon County Councilxxvii, which operates a network of traffic counters on off-road cycle paths,
facilitates the estimation of the kilometres cycled in Exeter on off-road cycle paths (see Figure 19). From 2007 to 2015,
there is an approximately linear increase in cycling averaging about 13% per annum (similar to the on-road figure).
Since 2015, activity has been more variable, with the figure for 2021 being similar to 2015.

Figure 19: On and off-road cycling counts in Exeter from 2007 to 2021.
xxvii

Personal communication with William Pratt, Transportation Planning Team Leader, Devon County Council, 7th Feb 2022.

Page32 66

The DfT publishes statistics on walking and cycling based on the National Travel Survey and the Active Lives Survey19.
These include the proportion of adults who do any walking or cycling, for any purpose, by frequency and local authority.
Figure 20 shows the 2018/19 statistics for Exeter compared to the South West and England.

Figure 20: The percentage of adults who did any walking or cycling, for any purpose in 2018/19 19.
The figures suggest that people in Exeter walk and cycle more frequently than average regionally and nationally which,
given Exeter’s largely urban nature, is perhaps unsurprising.
In the Sixth Carbon Budget the CCC assumes that 5-7% of car journeys could be shifted to walking and cycling (including
e-bikes) by 2030, rising to 9-14% by 2050. Urban areas such as Exeter should exceed this national figure. England’s
Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy20 aims to double cycling from 2013 to 2025. The Government’s recent
transport decarbonisation plan21 identifies that 43% of urban journeys are under 2 miles and aims for 50% of all journeys
in towns and cities to be cycled or walked by 2050 (assumed here to be 22% of journeys split evenly between cycling
and walking, a target of 11% for each).
Figure 21 takes the historic cycling counts from Figure 18 and projects these to 2050.

Figure 21: Cycling count projections in Exeter.

33
Page
67

Assuming linear growth of the historic trend leads to a 49% increase from 2013 to 2025, well short of the doubling in
the Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy. Doubling by 2025 would (if linearly extrapolated) lead to 24 million
kilometres cycled on major roads and cycle paths by 2050. This would therefore appear to fall short of the 46 million
required for cycling of 11% of all car and taxi journeys (although the cycling projection does exclude unquantified cycling
activity on minor roads). To meet the 11% target by 2050 (assuming linear growth) requires an annual increase of 1.3
million kilometres (25% of 2019 levels). Meeting the target by 2030 requires an increase of 3.7 million kilometres (70%
of 2019 levels).
SECTOR:

TRANSPORT/MOBILITY

CURRENT LEVEL:

2.0 MILLION km CYCLED (ON MAJOR ROADS) (2019)
3.3 MILLION km CYCLED (ON CYCLE PATHS) (2019)

MONITORING TARGET:

46 MILLION km CYCLED

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

3.7 MILLION km CYCLED

DATA SOURCE:

DfT LOCAL AUTHORITY ROAD TRAFFIC STATS (MAJOR ROADS)
DCC MONITORING DATA (CYCLE PATHS)

DATA AVAILABLE:

ANNUALLY

To meet the overall walking and cycling target, the amount of walking activity would need to be similar to cycling.
SECTOR:

TRANSPORT/MOBILITY

CURRENT LEVEL:

UNKNOWN

MONITORING TARGET:

UNKNOWN

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

3.7 MILLION km WALKED

DATA SOURCE:

UNKNOWN

DATA AVAILABLE:

UNKNOWN

Page34 68

3.5 Waste
The Sixth Carbon Budget suggests that 80% of the UK’s CO2 abatement in the waste sector to 2035 is from waste
prevention, increased recycling and banning biodegradable waste from landfill. By 2050 30% of the abatement comes
from fitting carbon capture and storage to energy from waste (EfW) plants. The additional 10% of emissions reductions
comes from capturing more methane at landfills, reducing wastewater treatment emissions and improving composting.
The CCC foresee a range of measures including reducing waste generation by 33% by 2037, increasing the UK wide
recycling rate to 70% by 2030 and fitting carbon capture and storage (CCS) to all EfW plants by 2050.
It is important to recognise that locally Exeter City Council and Devon County Council (the respective waste collection
and disposal authorities) only have information on, and collection and disposal responsibilities for, domestic waste.
Local authorities have little knowledge of or influence over commercial waste in their locality. It is important for Exeter
to obtain reliable and up to date information on volume and composition of non-domestic waste streams to enable
assessment of emissions from non –domestic waste.
SECTOR:

WASTE

CURRENT LEVEL:

UNKNOWN NON-DOMESTIC WASTE ARISINGS AND COMPOSITION

MONITORING TARGET:

TO BE DETERMINED

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

OBTAIN DATA ON NON-DOMESTIC WASTE IN EXETER

DATA SOURCE:

TO BE DETERMINED

DATA AVAILABLE:

TO BE DETERMINED

This remainder of this section therefore considers collection and disposal of domestic waste only.
Exeter’s waste emissions (34.4 kt CO2e) are about 7% of the total and have been similar over the past 4 years following
the commissioning of the energy recovery facility (ERF) in Marsh Barton. Emissions prior to 2014 were lower as Exeter’s
waste was disposed of outside the City (mostly to landfill).

3.5.1 Waste collection and recycling
The Devon Authorities Strategic Waste Committee provides data on waste across the county22. The data shows that the
amount of domestic waste generated by Exeter’s residents is lower than that in the rest of Devon (see Figure 22)

Figure 22: Domestic waste per head in Devon in 2019/21 and 2020/21 (courtesy of DCC)
35
Page
69

However, Figure 23 shows that recycling rates are significantly lower in Exeter than in the rest of the county.

Figure 23: Domestic waste recycling rates in Devon 1994/95 to 2020/21 (courtesy of DCC)
Low recycling rates mean that in 2020/21 Exeter had higher residual waste per head (485 kg/household) that any other
Devon district (16% higher than South Hams, the next highest district in Devon). Exeter’s residual waste per head is also
11% higher than comparably urban Torbay. Exeter is currently in the process of introducing food waste collection, which
is likely to increase the recycling rate. Figure 24 illustrates the 4.2% annual increase in recycling rate that Exeter needs
to achieve the CCC’s target of 70% recycling by 2030.

Figure 24: Domestic waste recycling projection for Exeter to meet 70% in 2030
Waste prevention is a vital component of emissions reduction from the sector. In its 2050 trajectory to net zero the CCC
targets a 33% reduction in waste arisings by 2037. In light of Exeter’s 2030 target, this is brought forward to 2030.
Figure 25 shows the combination of achieving a 33% reduction in waste arisings and a 70% recycling rate in 2030.

Page36 70

Projected to meet
targets

Figure 25: Domestic waste arisings and recycling rates including targets to 2030
This shows that while total waste arisings would fall 33% from 38,998 t in 2020/21 to 25,732 t in 2030/31, residual waste
would fall from 28,164 t in 2020/21 to 7,720 t in 2030/31: a 73% reduction. These projections lead to the following
waste collection and recycling monitoring targets.
SECTOR:

WASTE

CURRENT LEVEL:

39.0 kt TOTAL WASTE ARISINGS IN 2020/21

MONITORING TARGET:

25.7 kt TOTAL WASTE ARISINGS IN 2030/31

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

1.3 kt TOTAL WASTE ARISNG REDUCTION

DATA SOURCE:

DCC

DATA AVAILABLE:

ANNUALLY

SECTOR:

WASTE

CURRENT LEVEL:

27.8% RECYCLING RATE IN 2020/21

MONITORING TARGET:

70% RECYCLING RATE IN 2030/31

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

4.2% RECYCLING RATE INCREASE

DATA SOURCE:

DCC

DATA AVAILABLE:

ANNUALLY

Devon’s waste targets23 include reducing waste collected per head to 416 kg per head per year by 2030 and recycling
at least 60% of household waste by 2025 and 65% by 2035. Exeter’s waste per head (296 kg per head in 2020/21) is
already lower than the Devon wide 2030 target. Meeting the CCC’s trajectory gives a projected 183 kg per head in 2030.
37
Page
71

The CCC recycling rate trajectory for Exeter is below the Devon wide target of 60% recycling in 2025 (49%), but reaches
65% in 2029: well before the 2035 Devon wide target.
In practice, changes to recycling are driven by changes to local authority collection regimes, which in turn, will be
dictated by the Environment Act 2021. The Act requires mandatory changes to local authority waste collection.
However, the extent and timing of these changes is still uncertain and, if implemented by central government, is out of
the control of local authorities.

3.5.2 Waste disposal
Exeter disposed of its residual waste in landfills up to 2014. The city now sends its residual waste for disposal at the
Exeter ERF. The plant uses waste to generate electricity for the national grid. Reduced fossil inputs to the ERF reduces
emissions so increasing plastic recycling rates will be an important factor in cutting the plant’s emissions. The plant has
the ability to export heat. The use of heat increases the efficiency of energy recovery from the waste and reduces CO2
emissions: the more heat used, the lower the emissions. Promoting heat use in the Liveable Exeter schemes in Water
Lane and Marsh Barton will be important in this respect.
SECTOR:

WASTE

CURRENT LEVEL:

NO HEAT EXPORT

MONITORING TARGET:

HEAT EXPORT TO THE LIVEABLE EXETER DEVELOPMENTS IN THE VICINITY OF THE ERF

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

UNKNOWN

DATA SOURCE:

DCC

DATA AVAILABLE:

ANNUALLY

Ultimately, the installation of CCS is required. The Sixth Carbon Budget requires the installation of CCS on all UK energy
from waste plants between 2040 and 2045.
SECTOR:

WASTE

CURRENT LEVEL:

NO CARBON CAPTURE AND STORAGE

MONITORING TARGET:

INSTALLATION OF CCS ON MARSH BARTON ERF BY 2030

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

UNKNOWN

DATA SOURCE:

DCC

DATA AVAILABLE:

UNKNOWN

Page38 72

3.6 F-gases
Fluorinated gasses (F-gases) account for a small percentage of UK GHG emissions (3% in 2018) and, although released
in small volumes, they can have a global warming potential (GWP) up to 23,000 times greater than CO2. The four Fgases included in the UK emissions inventory are hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs) (accounting for 94% of GHG emissions in
2017), sulphur hexafluoride (SF₆) (4% in 2017), perfluorocarbons (PFCs) (2% in 2017) and nitrogen trifluoride (NF₃) (less
than 1% in 2017).
The largest source of emissions of HFCs (77%) is the refrigeration, air conditioning and heat pump sector (RACHP).
Emission release is due to refrigerant leakage from appliances during use and at disposal. Current regulation outlaws
refrigerants of various types, mandates inspection regimes and testing and sets a cap on the amount of HFCs that can
go on the market. Cuts to the cap every 3 years give a 79% reduction from 2015 levels in 2030. Beyond this, the CCC
identifies F gas replacement with lower GWP F gases as the main emission reduction measure. The Balanced Pathway
reduces F gas emissions by 81% in 2050. Achieving this 81% reduction in a linear decrease by 2030 requires a reduction
of 9% of current emissions each year, every year.
The National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (NAEI) 24 provides estimates of HFC emissions. NAEI emissions are
apportioned to Exeter based on non-domestic electricity consumption25. Given the range of uses (RACHP, fire-fighting,
blowing agents/propellants, electrical switchgear, metal production, etc), local usage will vary and the apportioned
value is therefore subject to significant uncertainty.
Although the estimated 28.9 kt CO2e emissions from F-gases in Exeter are a minor part of Exeter’s footprint (7%), under
a net-zero scenario, the decarbonisation of other sectors means that, left unchanged, the F-gas contribution will play
an increasing a role. In addition, the future deployment of tens of thousands of heat pumps across the city has the
potential to increase F gas emissions. Ensuring that the release of F gases are as near to zero as practical will be
important in ensuring that the city achieves the emissions reductions that the deployment of heat pumps should secure.
Emissions reduction in the F-gas sector is driven by national and international legislation and there is therefore relatively
limited scope for Exeter to accelerate emission reduction from F-gases. Local trading standards bodies enforce air
conditioning inspections (which are required for any system with a rated output of over 12 kW). More proactive
enforcement of these air conditioning inspections may be a route to lower emissions.
Display Energy Certificates (DEC) and Energy Performance Certificates (EPC)xxviii record air conditioning equipment with
capacity of over 12kW. These suggest that 85% of Exeter’s above 12 kW air conditioning capacity is in 6
organisations/buildings as shown in Table 12. More detailed information on each system can be found in individual
building air conditioning inspection certificates and reports.
Table 12. Air conditioning capacity in Exeter listed in DECs and EPCs
Source
DEC
DEC
DEC
DEC
EPC
DEC
DEC & EPC

Organisation
RD&E
Crown & County Court
Royal Mail
ECC
Various
SWAS
Others

Location
Wonford
Southernhay Gardens
Osprey Road
RAMM & Civic Centre
Exebridge Centre
Eagle Way
Total

xxviii

For references see Buildings section
39
Page
73

System rating kW
3,067
613
525
459
318
316
951
6,249

%
49.1%
9.8%
8.4%
7.3%
5.1%
5.1%
15.2%
100.0%

Identifying these organisations/buildings enables a targeted approach to a year on year reduction in HFC leakage rates
by encouraging a reduction in the requirements for air conditioning through improved building performance, minimising
refrigerant leakage from existing equipment through good maintenance and encouraging the use of very low GWP
refrigerants when replacing refrigerant or installing new equipment. However, there are likely to be thousands of other
air conditioning units across the city with capacity less than 12 kW.
With most F gas emissions coming from RACHP equipment the number, size and refrigerant type of units probably
represents the best proxy measure for local emissions. However, air conditioning certification is only required every five
years, giving a long time lag. In addition, reducing these measures locally will not necessarily lead to a reduction in the
apportioned NAEI emissions if non-domestic electricity consumption remains the basis for apportionment.
SECTOR:

F-GASES

CURRENT LEVEL:

28.9 THOUSAND TONNES CO2 EMISSIONS (2019)

MONITORING TARGET:

ZERO CO2 EMISSIONS BY 2030

NEXT YEAR INCREMENT:

2.6 THOUSAND TONNES CO2 EMISSIONS REDUCTION

DATA SOURCE:

BEIS LOCAL AUTHORITY CO2 STATISTICS

DATA AVAILABLE:

ANNUALLY

Page40 74

4 Conclusions
Greenhouse gas emissions in Exeter are on a downward trajectory. Emissions of 717 kt CO2e in 2008 declined by a third
to 476 kt CO2e in 2019 and it is likely that the city will meet a 2020 target of a 30% reduction from 1990 levels (516 kt
CO2). Changes to date are due largely to the reduction in the carbon intensity of the national electricity grid, which gives
a 64% reduction in emission from the power sector (with most generation plant located outside Exeter). The city is
missing 2020 sector targets for emission reduction from buildings and transport by factors of 6 and 4 respectively.
Looking ahead lack of progress in these sectors is particularly concerning, with growth in the city leading to increases in
emissions in recent years. The city needs to make significant progress in reducing emission from buildings and transport
to deliver net zero.
Extrapolating the current trend from 2016 suggests emissions in 2021 will be 448 kt CO2e. Continuation of the current
trend without local GHG reduction relies on unrealistic grid decarbonisation (implying a zero carbon grid electricity in
2026). While it may be realistic to assume current trend estimates for 2021 can be achieved with grid decarbonisation,
by 2030 a 28% reduction from non-power sectors would be required to continue the current trend to 2030 while still
leaving residual emissions of 291 kt CO2e in 2030 and cumulative emissions of 3.7 Mt CO2e over the decade. A linear
decline in emissions from 2021 to zero in 2030 would yield cumulative emissions of 2.2 Mt CO2e. The current trend,
which itself requires significant non-electricity emissions reduction, exceeds this amount in 2026.
The monitoring targets show the scale of the changes needed to meet the 2050 targets set out in the Sixth Carbon
Budget by 2030. These include:
Over 1,200 PV installations each year every year to 2030, compared to 36 in 2020, a six-fold increase in the long
run average installation rate.
Installing loft insulation in 25,400 homes by 2030 or 2,800 homes each year every year to 2030.
Insulating the walls of 13,500 homes by 2030 at the rate of 1,500 every year.
Putting 4,600 heat pumps in homes every year to 2030, there are currently 449 heat pumps in Exeter’s homes.
Connecting an extra 11,200 homes to heat networks by 2030; over 1,200 each year.
Improving the energy efficiency of 260 non-domestic buildings every year to 2030 and switching 270 every year
to low carbon heating.
Reducing driving in Exeter by 10 million kilometres each year, every year to 2030.
Continuing the exponential growth in electric vehicles ownership (aiming for 317 in 2021) and putting in an
additional 81 charging points in every year to 2030.
Increasing cycling rates 3.7 million kilometres annually (equivalent to 70% of the current total level) with
matching increases in walking.
Achieving a 1.3 kt (3.3%) annual reduction in household waste generation each year, every year and a 4.2%
annual increase in recycling rates each year, every year to 2030.
Capturing and storing CO2 emission from the Exeter energy recovery facility by 2030.
It has not been possible to identify data sources or specific proxy measures for the industry and f-gas sectors and some
more specific targets have yet to be determined and therefore do not currently have data sources or incremental
targets. The monitoring process needs to address these shortcomings.

References
1

BEER, 2007. Meeting the Energy Challenge, A White Paper on Energy
41
Page
75

2

University of Exeter, 2008. Exeter climate change strategy analysis.

3

Climate Change Committee, 2020. The sixth carbon budget. The UK’s path to net zero. Available from
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/sixth-carbon-budget/ [Accessed 26/1/2022]

4

Exeter City Council, 2020. Council adopts Exeter’s roadmap to a carbon neutral future. From
https://news.exeter.gov.uk/council-adopts-exeter-s-roadmap-to-a-carbon-neutral-future/ (accessed 26/1/2022)

5

Exeter City Council, 2021. New role to drive forward city’s net zero ambitions. From https://news.exeter.gov.uk/new-role-todrive-forward-city-s-net-zero-ambitions/ [accessed 26/1/2022]

6

Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy, 2021. UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions
national statistics: 2005 to 2019. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regionalcarbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2019 [Accessed 9/10/2020].

7

University of Exeter, 2019, Greenhouse Gas Inventories for SWEEG: Methodology Paper

8

University of Exeter, 2018. Low Carbon and Climate Change Evidence Base for the Greater Exeter Strategic Plan

9

BEIS, 2021. Renewable electricity by local authority 2014 to 2020. Available from
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1030065/Renewable_ele
ctricity_by_local_authority_2014_to_2020_rev.xlsx [accessed 17/1/2022]

10

ofgem, 2021. Feed-in Tariff Installation Report 30 September 2021. Available from
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications/feed-tariff-installation-report-30-september-2021 [accessed 17/1/2022]

11

BEIS, 2021, Non-domestic national energy efficiency data framework. Available from
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/974175/nd-need-2020geographical-annex.pdf [Accessed 9/2/2022]

12

DLUHC, 2021. Energy performance of buildings data: England and Wales. Available from
https://epc.opendatacommunities.org/

13

BRE Trust, 2020. The Housing stock of the UK. Available from https://files.bregroup.com/bretrust/The-Housing-Stock-of-theUnited-Kingdom_Report_BRE-Trust.pdf

14

BEIS, 2021. RHI monthly deployment data. Available from https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/rhi-monthlydeployment-data-may-2021

15

BEIS, 2021, Non-domestic national energy efficiency data framework. Available from
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/974175/nd-need-2020geographical-annex.pdf [Accessed 9/2/2022]

16

Climate Change Committee, 2019. Net zero technical report

17

Department for Transport, 2021. Road traffic statistics. Local Authority Devon. Available from
https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/local-authorities/71 [Accessed 28/1/2022]

18

Department for Transport, 2021. VEH0134: Licensed ultra low emission vehicles by postcode district: United Kingdom
Available from https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/all-vehicles-veh01#ultra-low-emissions-vehicles-ulevs
[Accessed 31/1/2022]

19

Department for Transport, 2021. Walking and cycling statistics (CW). Available from
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/walking-and-cycling-statistics-cw [Accessed 31/1/2022]

20

Department for Transport, 2017. Cycling and walking investment strategy. Available from
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycling-and-walking-investment-strategy [Accessed 31/1/2022]

21

Department for Transport, 2021. Decarbonising transport: A Better greener Britain. Available from
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-decarbonisation-plan [Accessed 31/1/2022]

Page42 76

22

Devon Authorities Strategic Waste Committee, 2021. Waste performance statistics 2020/21. Available from
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/documents/s38269/Waste%20Performance%20Statistics%202020%2021.pdf [Accessed
7/2/2021]

23

Devon Authorities Strategic Waste Committee, 2020. Resource and waste management strategy fro Devon and Torbay 2020 –
2030. Available from https://www.devon.gov.uk/wasteandrecycling/document/resource-and-waste-management-strategyfor-devon-and-torbay/

24

National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory, 2019 UK emissions data selector. Available from http://naei.beis.gov.uk/data/dataselector?q=118879,

25

Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy, 2019 Sub-national electricity sales and numbers of customers, 2005 –
2019 , https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/regional-and-local-authority-electricity-consumption-statistics,

43
Page
77

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 5 July 2022

REPORT TO COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 19 July 2022
Report of: Director Finance
Title: General Fund Capital Monitoring 2021/22 and Revised Capital Programme for
2022/23 and Future Years

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1.

What is the report about?
To advise members of the overall financial performance of the Council for the 2021/22
financial year in respect of the annual capital programme.
To seek approval of the 2022/23 revised capital programme, including commitments
carried forward from 2021/22.

2.

Recommendations:
It is recommended that Executive Committee supports and recommends to Council to
approve:
(1)
(2)

3.

The overall financial position for the 2021/22 annual capital programme; and
The amendments and further funding requests to the Council’s annual capital
programme for 2022/23.

Reasons for the recommendation:
Local authorities are required to estimate the total of capital expenditure that it plans to
incur during the financial year when it sets the prudential indicators for capital
expenditure. This shows that its asset management and capital investment strategies are
affordable, prudent and sustainable.
Capital expenditure is a significant source of risk and uncertainty since cost variations,
delays and changing specifications are often features of large and complex capital
projects.
In order to manage the risks associated with capital programming the annual capital
programme is updated every three months to reflect any cost variations, slippage or
acceleration of projects.

Page 79

4.

What are the resource implications including non-financial resources.
The financial resources required are set out in the body of this report.

5.

Section 151 Officer comments:
Members have been informed of the challenges impacting the delivery of the capital
programme throughout the year. This is evidenced by the completed spend of only £17m
against a budget which peaked in excess of £100m during the year. The global economy
is struggling with demand and further challenges should be expected in 2022-23.
The decision to finance vehicles under the fleet lease will have a substantial benefit to the
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. However, it will only work if Members and
Officers manage demand for new vehicles in line with the availability for capital receipts.
It is therefore crucial that the section 151 Officer is informed at an early stage of the
proposals and that it is noted that the section 151 Officer may recommend delaying some
purchases in order to manage affordability. There is a very real risk that unexpected
purchases could seriously damage the financial position of the Council.

6.

What are the legal aspects?
The capital expenditure system is framed by the Local Government Act 2003. The
requirements imposed by the Act are set out in section 3 of the report.

7.

Monitoring Officer’s comments:
The purpose of this report is to provide members with information concerning the overall
financial performance of the Council with regard to the annual capital programme and to
seek approval of the revised capital programme, including those commitments which
have been carried forward to the new financial year.
The report raises no particular issues for the Deputy Monitoring Officer. Members will
note the section 151 Officer comments in particular.
(Simon Copper – Deputy Monitoring Officer)

8.

Report details:
GENERAL FUND CAPITAL MONITORING 2021/22 AND REVISED CAPITAL
PROGRAMME FOR 2022/23 AND FUTURE YEARS

8.1

REVISIONS TO THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME

The 2021/22 Capital Programme was last reported to Council on 19 April 2022. Since
that meeting the following changes have been made that have increased the programme:
Description

£

Capital Programme,
as reported to Council on 19 April
2022

100,204,220

Budget Deferred to 2022/23 & beyond
at Quarter 3

(29,060,300)

Page 80

Approval/Funding

Approved by Council 19
690 April 2022

Overspends/(Underspends) reported at
Quarter 3
Bromhams Farm Playing Fields

250,000

Exeter Arena additional CIL funding for
teen shelter

18,000

Safer Streets funded CCTV cameras
and installation

297,210 Grant funding

Additional grant received for Play Areas

500 Grant funding

Disabled Facilities Grant

11,490 Increased DFG Funding

Energy Saving Projects

591,410 ERDF funding

Exeter Bus Station

16,000 LEP Funding

Revised Capital Programme

72,329,220

8.2 PERFORMANCE
Capital expenditure in the year amounted to £17,044,221. The actual expenditure during
2021/22 represents 23.56% of the revised Capital Programme, it is proposed to carry
forward a total of £55.246 million budget into future years, whereas £0.139 million budget
has been brought forward from future years and spent in 2021/22 (giving a net budget
carry forward of £55.385 million), as indicated in Appendix 1.
Appendix 2 shows the overall position for those schemes which span more than one
financial year.

8.3

CAPITAL FINANCING
The capital expenditure in 2021/22 of £17,044,221 was financed as follows:
£
Capital Grants & Contributions
Capital Receipts

3,339,805
590,622

Community Infrastructure Levy
Revenue Contributions

1,300,000
0

Page 81

8.4

Borrowing

11,813,794

TOTAL

17,044,221

AVAILABLE CAPITAL RESOURCES

The available capital resources for the General Fund for 2021/22 are £8.251 million.
Total General Fund capital expenditure is £17.044 million of which £11.814 million will be
funded from borrowing, allowing £2.021 million of capital receipts to be carried forward.
Appendix 4 sets out the forecast use of the resources available for the General Fund and
the likely amounts of borrowing that will be necessary to fund the capital programme over
the next three years.

The value of actual capital receipts received in 2021/22 to date in respect of the
General Fund are:
General Fund
£
Balance as at 1 April 2021
New Receipts

282,195

Amount used to finance capital
expenditure in 2021/22

(590,622)

Amount used to finance historic
debt

(1,000,000)

Balance as at 31 March 2022

8.5

3,329,009

2,020,582

EXPENDITURE VARIANCES
The main (greater than +/- £30k) variances and issues concerning expenditure are as
follows:
Overspend / (Underspend)
£

Scheme
Domestic Refuse Bins and Boxes

Officer Responsible: Interim Service Lead – Waste, Recycling & Fleet
The £80k capital budget for wheelie bin replacement was halved to £40k in
anticipation of the change to the kerb side sort system. The decision to retain
comingle has meant that recycling bins which would have been swapped for

Page 82

81,260

recycling boxes have been replaced like for like. This combined with an increase in
the costs of plastics has meant a total spend of £121k against the reduced budget of
£40k, an over spend of £81k.
Fleet Lease Costs

146,447

Officer Responsible: Interim Service Lead – Waste, Recycling & Fleet
The Council changed its policy from buying vehicles to leasing vehicles from
2020/21. In order to address the issues within the MTFP the decision has been
taken to capitalise the lease costs and fund from capital receipts.
Capitalised Staff Costs

(100,000)

Energy Saving Projects

100,000

Officer Responsible: Net Zero Project Lead
The Water Lane solar farm project is projected to overspend as a result in changes in
the project and price increases since the original bid was prepared. The project
includes the staff time of officers delivering the project and as there are no other
directly attributable staff costs were incurred during 2021/22 or expected during
2022/23 the approvals have been transferred between schemes to partially offset.
Agile & Flexible Rollout

(62,930)

Officer Responsible: Deputy Chief Executive
This capital budget is funded from the Transformation Reserve, the saving within the
capital budget will be used to increase the amount available for revenue expenditure
on the Organsiational Change Programme.
Corn Exchange Roof Replacement

(54,168)

Officer Responsible: City Surveyor
The underspend on this project is due to the lower tender value being less than the
budget estimate. Also some built-in contingency sums were not required.

8.6

SCHEMES TO BE DEFERRED TO 2022/23 AND BEYOND
Schemes which have been identified as being wholly or partly deferred to 2022/23
and beyond are:

Budget to be Deferred
£

Scheme
Idox System for Planning

60,679

Officer Responsible: Chief Executive & Growth Director
This Strata programme will continue into 2022/23

Page 83

Financial Management

207,273

Officer Responsible: Deputy Chief Finance Officer
The eFins finance system was successfully upgraded from version 5 to 6 and new
features, such as single sign-in, went live in March 2022. Phase 2 – the
implementation of a new eProcurement and Purchase Invoice Management system –
has begun and is the planning stage.
SAN Replacement

179,700

Door Access RAMM

100,000

NCSC Zero Trust

53,910

Officer Responsible: Chief Executive & Growth Director
All the above Strata programmes will be continued into 2022/23.
Two replacement SANs were purchased in January; however, due to an international
shortage of electronic components, not all the remaining items needed to complete
the project have been purchased. It is likely that the this programme will not be
completed until Summer 2022.
Work started on the door access to RAMM in April 2022 and it is anticipated that the
programme will be completed by early summer.
Leisure Complex Build Project
Bus Station Construction

46,713
298,903

Pinhoe Community Hub

53,760

Officer Responsible: Director
The Leisure Complex and Bus Station Construction budgets have been re-profiled inline with anticipated expenditure.
Pinhoe Community Club have plans to spend the remaining budget in 2022/23.
Ash die back tree replacement

141,364

Officer Responsible: Service Lead – Public & Green Space
Works have been carried out on tree specimens with either Ash die back in the end
stages of the disease requiring immediate felling, or remedial works carried out to
prolong the life of the specimen as far as practicable to increase likelihood of
survival. To date works have been carried out over an excess of 50 sites spread city
wide. The ash die back replacement programme was originally due to be carried out
over 3 years, however now it is anticipated that the majority of the work will be
carried out in 2023/24 and 2024/25.

Page 84

Trews Weir refurb

50,000

Exeter Arena skatepark

42,748

District Street lighting

30,000

Exeter Quay Cellars cliff face

38,925

Bromhams Farm playing fields

250,000

Officer Responsible: Engineering & Assets Manager
Discussions with the Environment Agency regarding Trews Weir works are
continuing but there is limited capacity of engineers and designers which has delayed
commencement of the scheme from 2021/22.
Phase 1 works at Exeter Arena skatepark have been completed and work on the
acoustic barrier is in progress. Further work on providing a teen shelter is to be
funded from s106 and completed in 2022/23.
DCC has a street lighting contract with SSE and work began in March on new and
replacement installations, this will be completed and invoiced in 2022/23.
Work at the Quay Cellars has been delayed due to legal issues but ground
investigations had begun by March 2022.
The EA have agreed to reinstate the pitches at Bromhams Farm playing fields to a
satisfactory standard and ECC will fund drainage improvements at while this is being
undertaken, which will be best undertaken during the drier months.
Recycling containers

292,104

MRF enhancements

4,141,605

Officer Responsible: Interim Service Lead – Waste, Recycling & Fleet
The roll out of the new food waste collection arrangements has been trialled during
2021/22 but the bulk of the new bins and boxes will be purchased as the scheme is
extended across the whole city.
Consultancy and project management services have been engaged to support with
the planned enhancements to the Materials Reclamation Facility. There are a
number of different elements of this project and there will be a lengthy procurement
process with the bulk of the costs likely to be spent in 2023/24.
Energy Saving Projects

1,243,145

Officer Responsible: Net Zero Project Lead
The Water Lane solar project is scheduled to complete by December 2022, further
details of the project and timescales are included below.

Next Steps Accommodation Programme Property
Acquisition

Page 85

771,234

Officer Responsible: Service Lead, Housing Needs & Homelessness
The acquisition programme will continue into 2022/23.
Leisure Centre Essential Enhancements

32,360

Riverside Leisure Centre

410,930

Riverside Sports Hall Roof

100,000

Leisure Complex – Fit Out

713,430

Officer Responsible: Director, Leisure
The remaining budgets will be needed in 2022/23 to continue the improvement of the
current leisure facilities, as well as ensuring that St Sidwell’s Point is fully equipped;
this is particularly important due to the high level of demand already experienced
since the opening in April 2022.
Unfortunately, work on the roof at Riverside was unable to start before 31 March so
the remaining budget was not used in the 2021/22 financial year. However, work on
this programme is starting in June 2022 and will be completed by October.
Commercialisation Options

500,000

Commercial Property Purchase

44,000,000

Officer Responsible: Director, Finance
These budgets will be needed in 2022/23 for properties including the Guildhall
shopping centre, the purchase of which happened in May 2022.
Fire Risk Assessment Works

750,550

Guildhall Roof Replacement

99,570

RAMM Roof Replacement

35,990

Officer Responsible: City Surveyor
All the above capital programmes will continue into 2022/23.
It is anticipated that both the Guildhall and RAMM roof replacements will be
completed in 2022/23. It was hoped that additional grant funding would be secured
through the Museum Estate & Development (MEND) Fund to expand the current
RAMM roof programme but unfortunately, RAMM were unsuccessful in the first round
of applications. However, they will submit another proposal during the second round
so there is potential to increase this budget although it will most likely not occur until
the 2023/24 financial year.
8.7 ACHIEVEMENTS
Energy Saving Projects

Page 86

Two Capital projects that will assist ECC to reduce its carbon emissions and deliver a net
zero Council include:
The on-going ERDF funded Water Lane Smart Grid and Battery Storage Project will be
commissioned later in the autumn. The project includes a successful bid for ERDF grant
funding, securing a total of four renewable energy and battery storage projects across our
estate. The main site being a City Solar Farm made up of over 3,700 solar panels. The
site on Water Lane comprises a 1.2MW solar farm producing green energy for the city,
including a battery store and private wire that will supply to the Council’s Operations
depot with a renewable energy supply to support EV charging for our fleet, including
Electric Refuse Collection Vehicles.
Capital Funding spent in 2021/22 includes £661,460 from the Public Sector
Decarbonisation Scheme, which fully funded the delivery of a new and upgraded Building
Management System (BMS) across our key buildings and installation of new Energy
Management Information Software for all building managers.
Binfrastructure
This grant saw the purchasing and installation of over 27 new bins around the City. This
included two smart self-compacting bins that have resolved waste issues that occurred at
Bromhams farm over busy weekends, and the provision of increased capacity bins at
Topsham Quay and Bowling Green Road has reduced the litter impacts at the height of
tourist footfall. The grant has also provided subway aperture bins giving the service the
opportunity to utilise a staged process to preventing domestic waste fly tipping in litterbins
across the City and reducing the likelihood of the removal of litter bins as a result of antisocial behaviour.
Parks Infrastructure
During 2021/22 the following improvements have been made:









the provision of a new stone path around West Garth park which is notorious for
waterlogging which will enable at least part of the park to be used all year round.
new benches on path so that users can stop and enjoy the view over the Exe valley,
new trees planted across the site,
the installation of new fitness equipment,
new drainage into the wettest areas of the site to try and improve drainage
the resurfacing of footpaths in Belle isle which had suffered serious decline in
condition in recent years
the comprehensive resurfacing of St Thomas park near the popular play and water
facility which will protect prime tree specimens and improve surface condition for the
continued enjoyment of the site;
and the addition of speed bumps in Cowick Barton, improving site safety along the
popular and well traversed Cycle and footpath.

Anti Intrusion measures
This scheme is now 50% complete and the following works have been carried out:
 Hamlin lane and Heavitree Playing fields planned works have been completed in full.

Page 87







8.8

High Security gates have been fitted at Northbrook, Topsham Rec, Summerway
POS, and King George V playing fields.
Exhibition Fields, Isca church POS, Easter Fields cycle path north access,
Lymebourne Avenue Heavitree, and Honeylands have all been fitted with post and
chain defences across areas vulnerable to access.
Manchester Bollards have also been completed at Heavitree Roseland Avenue and
Hayes Barton Court.
99 meters of fencing fitted at Grandisson play area completing the site security works
for that site.

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2022/23 (Appendix 3)

The revised Capital Programme for 2022/23, after taking into account the carried forward
requirements from 2021/22 now totals £131,182,860:

Description

£

2022/23 Capital Programme,
as reported to Council February
2022
Budget Deferred to 2022/23 at Quarter
3
Budget Deferred to 2022/23 at Quarter
4

46,468,890

29,060,300 Approved by Council on 19
April 2022
55,384,550
To reflect the Better Care
189,120 Allocation from Devon
County Council

Disabled Facility Grants

Purchase of Domestic Bins

80,000 Council 21 July 2020

Revised 2022/23 Capital Programme

8.9

Approval/Funding

131,182,860

FURTHER FUNDING REQUESTS

Energy Saving Projects – Water Lane Solar Farm additional approval (£64,000)
The Water Lane Smart Grid and Storage project commenced in 2020 and following
substantial challenges, additional costs have had to be met that fall outside of the original
grant funded budget. Spend previously unknown includes additional charges from the
District Operator (WPD), contamination and structural surveys, and increased electrical
infrastructure.
Fleet Leasing Costs (£2,110,830)

Page 88

As noted earlier in this report the Council’s policy is to lease vehicles rather than
purchase. In order to address the on-going MTFP issues it is prosed to finance these
costs from capital receipts and the budget to form part of the capital programme.

9

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?
The Capital Programme contributes to all of the key purposes, as set out in the Corporate
Plan.

10 What risks are there and how can they be reduced?
Areas of budgetary risk are highlighted to committee as part of the quarterly budget
monitoring updates.

11

Equality Act 2010 (The Act)

Under the Act’s Public Sector Equalities Duty, decision makers are required to consider
the need to:




eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct;
advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking
account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and
foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting
understanding.

In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on equality of
decisions, policies and practices. These duties do not prevent the authority from reducing
services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the
impacts on all members of the community.
In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex
and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and
new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a
decision.
In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people with
protected characteristics as determined by the Act because: because
The impact of each scheme is considered prior to approval. Any significant deviation
from this will be noted within the body of this report.

12

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:

We are working towards the Council’s commitment to carbon neutral by 2030. The impact
of each scheme is considered prior to approval.

13

Are there any other options?

There are no other options.

Page 89

Director Finance, Dave Hodgson
Author: Nicola Matthews-Morley, Bridget Kendrick & Claire Hodgson

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:None
Contact for enquires:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 4.36
01392 265275

Page 90

APPENDIX 1
2021/22 CAPITAL MONITORING TO 31 MARCH 2022

Responsible Officer

Scheme

2021/22 Capital
Programme

2021/22 Spend

£

£

2021/22 Budget
to be Carried
Forward to
2022/23 and
Beyond

2021/22
Programme
Variances
(Under)/Over

£

£

Chief Executive & Growth Director

Chief Executive & Growth Director

Page 91

Customer Contact Platform
Annual Contribution to Strata
Idox System for Planning
HR System
Cabinet & Network Replacement
Cash and Income Management
Land Charges
Finance System Upgrades
Idox System Upgrades
Financial Management
Idox Environmental Health
SAN Replacement
Door Access RAMM
NCSC Zero Trust
IT Replacement programme

TOTAL

5,000
53,900
78,540
5,680
5,090
73,720
5,390
49,050
8,160
215,200
11,200
179,700
100,000
53,910
12,960
857,500

1,812
53,904
17,861
0
5,095
71,882
0
47,775
1,900
7,928
11,203
0
0
0
14,051
233,409

3,188
0
60,679
0
0
1,839
0
1,275
6,260
207,273
0
179,700
100,000
53,910
(1,091)
613,032

0
4
0
(5,680)
5
0
(5,390)
0
0
0
3
0
0
0
0
(11,059)

8,693,610
532,290
53,760
9,279,660

8,646,897
233,387
0
8,880,284

46,713
298,903
53,760
399,376

0
0
0
0

Transformation
Director
TOTAL

Leisure Complex - Build Project
Bus Station Construction
Pinhoe Community Hub

Responsible Officer

Scheme

2021/22 Capital
Programme

2021/22 Spend

£

£

2021/22 Budget
to be Carried
Forward to
2022/23 and
Beyond

2021/22
Programme
Variances
(Under)/Over

£

£

Net Zero Exeter and City Management

Service Lead - Public & Green Space

Page 92

Engineering & Assets Manager

Parks Infrastructure
Cemeteries & Churchyards Infrastructure Improvements
Parks Anti-Incursion Measures
Ash Die Back Tree Replacement
Binfrastructure
Columbarium
Play Areas
Pinhoe Playing Field Upgrades
Salmonpool Swing Bridge
Trews Weir refurb
Exeter Arena Skatepark
District Street Lighting
Holman Way, Topsham CP Copse
Exeter Quay Cellars cliff face
St James Weir & Ducks Marsh
St Davids Church Boundary Wall
Double Locks
Heavitree Paddling Pools
Flowerpot Skate Park
Landfill gas extraction
Mincinglake Valley Park
Exeter Ship Canal Bottleneck

Service Lead - Engineering, Waterways & Parking

Service Lead - Waste, Recycling & Fleet

Service Lead - Environmental Health & Community Safety
Corporate Energy Manager
Miscellaneous
TOTAL

Bromhams Farm Playing Fields
Car Park Resurfacing, Lining & Boundary Improvements
Improved Car Park Security Measures at King William Street & Arena Park
Repairs to Turf Lock Pier Head
Repair to Walls at Farm Hill
CCTV improvements
Domestic Refuse Bins and Boxes
Improved recycling containers
Enhance the Materials Reclamations Facility
Fleet Lease Costs
Disabled Facility Grants
Warm Up Exeter/PLEA Scheme
Energy Saving Projects
Capitalised Staff Costs

100,000
2,000
44,200
173,140
20,000
4,450
53,190
52,000
45,210
50,000
48,600
50,000
10,000
75,000
2,360
23,340

92,691
0
19,989
31,776
17,044
7,094
37,097
51,978
45,211
0
5,852
20,000
260
36,075
2,356
17,336

7,309
2,000
24,211
141,364
2,956
(2,644)
16,093
22
0
50,000
42,748
30,000
9,740
38,925
0
6,004

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
(4)
0

5,000
5,000
11,230
4,200
10,000
10,000

0
3,850
9,234
575
5,500
4,136

5,000
1,150
1,997
3,626
4,500
5,864

0
0
0
0
0
0

250,000
5,210
19,670
10,000
5,000
312,210
40,000
345,010
4,169,000
0
985,620
204,820
3,111,440
0
10,256,900

0
5,215
0
3,193
0
298,970
121,263
52,906
27,395
146,447
491,556
80,544
1,968,295
0
3,603,840

250,000
0
19,670
6,807
5,000
13,240
0
292,104
4,141,605
0
494,064
124,276
1,243,145
(100,000)
6,880,773

0
5
0
0
0
0
81,263
0
0
146,447
0
0
100,000
(100,000)
227,713

2021/22 Budget
to be Carried
Forward to
2022/23 and
Beyond

2021/22
Programme
Variances
(Under)/Over

£

£

2021/22 Capital
Programme

2021/22 Spend

£

£

Agile & Flexible Rollout
Next Steps/Rough Sleepers Accommodation Programme Property Acquisitions
Marsh Barton Station

82,930
1,641,760
1,300,000
3,024,690

0
870,526
1,300,000
2,170,526

20,000
771,234
0
791,234

(62,930)
0
0
(62,930)

Leisure Centre Essential Enhancements
Riverside Leisure Centre
Riverside Sports Hall Roof
Leisure Complex - Fit Out

47,880
1,337,430
100,000
1,500,000
2,985,310

15,524
926,503
0
786,566
1,728,593

32,356
410,927
100,000
713,434
1,256,717

0
0
0
0
0

TOTAL

500,000
44,000,000
80,000
25,000
769,540
70,000
250,000
0
3,330
1,990
7,890
0
2,440
2,280
1,110
1,580
10,000
0
0
0
0
0
50,000
100,000
50,000
45,925,160

0
0
55,665
0
18,994
56,608
195,832
1,285
0
0
621
0
0
0
0
0
0
2,440
1,450
3,160
1,620
5,730
69,720
430
14,015
427,569

500,000
44,000,000
24,335
25,000
750,546
13,392
0
(1,285)
3,330
1,990
7,269
0
2,440
2,280
1,110
1,580
10,000
(2,440)
(1,450)
(3,160)
(1,620)
(5,730)
(19,720)
99,570
35,985
45,443,422

0
0
0
0
0
0
(54,168)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(54,168)

GENERAL FUND SERVICES TOTAL

72,329,220

17,044,221

55,384,554

99,555

Responsible Officer

Scheme

City Development, Housing & Supporting People
Director
TOTAL
Communications, Culture and Leisure Facilities
Director

TOTAL
Finance

Page 93

Director

City Surveyor

Commercialisation Options
Commercial Property Purchase
Building Management System (BMS)
Civic Centre Air Conditioning Replacement
Fire Risk Assessment Works
Pinces Gatehouse Roof repairs
Corn Exchange Roof Replacement
Exmouth Buoy Store
Mary Arches MSCP
Guildhall MSCP
Cathedral & Quay MSCP
Harlequins MSCP
John Lewis MSCP
Princesshay 2 MSCP
Princesshay 3 MSCP
Leighton Terra & KW St MSCP
City Wall
BLRF - Bonhay Meadows
BLRF - Exeter Canal Basin
BLRF - Mary Arches Car Park
BLRF - Belle Isle
BLRF - Cath & Quay Car Park
Depot Relocation
Guildhall Roof Replacement
RAMM Roof Replacement

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 2
SIGNIFICANT CAPITAL SCHEMES SPANNING MORE THAN ONE FINANCIAL YEAR

Responsible Officer

Scheme

Total Capital
Budget

Total Spend to
Date

£

£

Programme
Variances
(Under)/Over
£

Transformation
Director

Leisure Complex - Build Project
Bus Station Construction
Pinhoe Community Hub

41,987,040
8,955,050
100,000
51,042,090

41,180,522
8,447,678
46,244
49,674,444

0
0
0
0

Parks Infrastructure
Cemeteries & Churchyards Infrastructure Improvements
Repair Canal Bank at M5
Replacement of Mallison Bridge (Exeter Quay)
Repairs to Turf Lock Pier Head

500,000
180,000
64,520
1,082,160
242,950
2,069,630

350,809
45,205
37,631
44,407
4,693
482,745

0
0
0
0
0
0

Leisure Centre Essential Enhancements
Riverside Leisure Centre

331,480
7,062,100
7,393,580

299,128
6,651,173
6,950,301

0
0
0

60,505,300

57,107,490

0

TOTAL
Net Zero Exeter and City Management
Service Lead - Public & Green Space
Engineering & Assets Manager
Service Lead - Engineering, Waterways & Parking
TOTAL
Communications, Culture and Leisure Facilities

Page 95

Director
TOTAL
GENERAL FUND SERVICES TOTAL

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 3
BUDGETS CARRIED FORWARD TO 2022/23 AND BEYOND

Responsible Officer

Scheme

2022/23 Budget as
per Budget
Book/Council
Approvals

Budget Carried
Forward to 2022/23
and Beyond at Qtr 3

£

£

Proposed Budget to
Total 2022/23
2023/24 Budget as
be Carried Forward Capital Programme
per Budget
to 2022/23 and
Book/Council
Beyond at Qtr 4
Approvals
£

£

£

Chief Executive & Growth Director

Chief Executive & Growth Director

Page 97

Customer Contact Platform
Annual Contribution to Strata
Idox System for Planning
Cash and Income Management
Finance System Upgrades
Idox System Upgrades
Financial Management
PTSN Replacement
ECC Civic Centre HFX Door Access Replacement
System Upgrade Cost - 2012 Server Replacement
GIS Cloud Migration
Datacentre Relocation
SAN Replacement
Door Access RAMM
NCSC Zero Trust
IT Replacement Programme

TOTAL

157,840
53,910
0
0
0
0
0
40,000
100,000
35,940
3,590
35,940
0
0
0
50,000
477,220

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
37,040
37,040

3,188
0
60,679
1,839
1,275
6,260
207,273
0
0
0
0
0
179,700
100,000
53,910
(1,091)
613,032

161,028
53,910
60,679
1,839
1,275
6,260
207,273
40,000
100,000
35,940
3,590
35,940
179,700
100,000
53,910
85,949
1,127,292

0
0
0
0

667,760
208,470
0
876,230

46,713
298,903
53,760
399,376

714,473
507,373
53,760
1,275,606

141,880
0
0
150,480
0
0
146,830
278,200
121,270
26,890
500,000
800,000
44,530
153,750
901,850
0
262,150
0
60,000
0
164,500
400,800
210,960
77,250

0
132,790
0
0
0
362,850
10,000
87,310
0
0
0
0
(2,000)
0
103,000
0
0
10,000
0
0
0
0
0
0

7,309
2,000
24,211
141,364
2,956
(2,644)
0
16,093
0
0
0
0
22
0
50,000
42,748
30,000
0
0
9,740
0
38,925
0
0

149,189
134,790
24,211
291,844
2,956
360,206
156,830
381,603
121,270
26,890
500,000
800,000
42,552
153,750
1,054,850
42,748
292,150
10,000
60,000
9,740
164,500
439,725
210,960
77,250

53,910

200,000

50,000
303,910

Transformation
Director

Leisure Complex - Build Project
Bus Station Construction
Pinhoe Community Hub

TOTAL

0

Net Zero Exeter and City Management

Service Lead - Public & Green Space

Engineering & Assets Manager

Parks Infrastructure
Cemeteries & Churchyards Infrastructure Improvements
Parks Anti-Intrusion Measures
Ash Die Back Tree Replacement
Binfrastructure
Columbarium
Cemetery Fields Play Area
Play Areas
Outdoor Leisure Facilities - Newcourt
Repair Canal Bank at M5
Bowling Green Marshes Coastal Defence Scheme
Topsham Flood Prevention Scheme
Pinhoe Playing Field Upgrades
Cricklepit Bridge
Trews Weir refurb
Exeter Arena Skatepark
District Street Lighting
Piazza Terracina
Trews Weir Safety Improvements
Holman Way, Topsham CP Copse
Exeter Ship Canal M5 viaduct
Exeter Quay Cellars cliff face
Exhibition Way Bridge
Yaroslavl Bridge

25,000

218,600

160,000

163,950

APPENDIX 3
BUDGETS CARRIED FORWARD TO 2022/23 AND BEYOND

Responsible Officer

Engineering & Assets Manager

Page 98
Service Lead - Engineering, Waterways & Parking

Service Lead - Waste, Recycling & Fleet

Service Lead - Environmental Health & Community Safety
Corporate Energy Manager
Miscellaneous
TOTAL

Scheme

2022/23 Budget as
per Budget
Book/Council
Approvals

Budget Carried
Forward to 2022/23
and Beyond at Qtr 3

£

£

Proposed Budget to
Total 2022/23
2023/24 Budget as
be Carried Forward Capital Programme
per Budget
to 2022/23 and
Book/Council
Beyond at Qtr 4
Approvals
£

£

Leypark Road Footbridge
Paul Street Car Park Bridge & Ramp
King William Footbridge
Farm Hill Retaining Walls (23 no.)
Mallison Bridge
Riverside Walls at Quay
Bonhay Rd/Andlaw House Footpath
Underground Passages
St James' Weir & Ducks Marsh Meadow banks
St David's Church Boundary Wall
Canal Basin Topsham Quay Countess Wear - Canal craning pads
Double Locks Access Road & paths
Heavitree Paddling Pools
Taddiford Brook @ New North Road / Taddiford Road
Flowepot Skate-park
Landfill Gas Extraction Systems @ Clifton Hill & Mincinglake Valley Park
Mincinglake Valley Park Reed Beds & Pipe Inlet
Exeter Ship Canal - Bottleneck & Bird Hide
Exeter Ship Canal - Green Tip to Salmonpool
Bromhams Farm Playing Fields
Okehampton Street & Parr Street Car Parks
Exwick Cemetery
Higher Cemetery
Budlake Road
Salmonpool Swingbridge / Clapperbrook Lane
Improved Car Park Security Measures at King William Street & Arena Park
Repairs to Turf Lock Pier Head
Repair to Walls at Farm Hill
Bank Repairs & Stabilisation to Watercourses
CCTV improvements
Waste Infrastructure
Domestic Refuse Bins and Boxes
Improved recycling containers
Enhance the Materials Reclamations Facility
Disabled Facility Grants
Warm Up Exeter/PLEA Scheme
Energy Saving Projects
Capitalised Staff Costs

210,960
21,220
21,220
53,050
1,037,750
528,950
42,440
0
209,840
0
188,500
0
418,150
10,300
10,750
53,050
147,600
116,400
51,500
0
0
0
0
0
30,000
0
63,500
54,900
20,000
0
463,300
80,000
0
0
989,120
0
65,000
50,000
9,378,840

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
30,900
0
8,490
0
5,300
45,000
0
3,770
(4,200)
0
(10,000)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
20,000
0
228,000
0
0
0
0
0
0
(50,000)
50,000
1,031,210

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
6,004
0
5,000
1,150
0
1,997
3,626
4,500
5,864
0
250,000
0
0
0
0
0
19,670
6,807
5,000
0
13,240
0
0
292,104
4,141,605
494,064
124,276
1,243,145
(100,000)
6,880,773

210,960
21,220
21,220
53,050
1,037,750
528,950
42,440
30,900
209,840
14,494
188,500
10,300
464,300
10,300
16,517
52,476
152,100
112,264
51,500
250,000
0
0
0
0
30,000
19,670
70,307
79,900
20,000
241,240
463,300
80,000
292,104
4,141,605
1,483,184
124,276
1,258,145
0
17,290,823

Agile & Flexible Rollout
Rough Sleepers Accommodation Programme Property Acquisition

0
1,890,000
1,890,000

0
0
0

20,000
771,234
791,234

20,000
2,661,234
2,681,234

0
0
0
1,500,000

79,090
0
0
400,000

0
32,356
410,927
100,000

79,090
32,356
410,927
2,000,000

£
87,440
87,440
218,600

1,093,000

43,720
43,720
601,150

54,650
21,860
21,860
109,300
0
27,330

800,000

50,000
3,827,620

City Development, Housing & Supporting People
Director
TOTAL
Communications, Culture and Leisure Facilities

Director

Council Signage Improvement
Leisure Centre Essential Enhancements
Riverside Leisure Centre
Riverside Sports Hall Roof

0

APPENDIX 3
BUDGETS CARRIED FORWARD TO 2022/23 AND BEYOND

Responsible Officer

Scheme

Director
Leisure Complex - Fit Out
Leisure Management

2022/23 Budget as
per Budget
Book/Council
Approvals

Budget Carried
Forward to 2022/23
and Beyond at Qtr 3

£

£

Proposed Budget to
Total 2022/23
2023/24 Budget as
be Carried Forward Capital Programme
per Budget
to 2022/23 and
Book/Council
Beyond at Qtr 4
Approvals
£

£

£

0
0
1,500,000

0
245,440
724,530

713,434
0
1,256,717

713,434
245,440
3,481,247

15,641,560
0
0
14,650
15,000
0
3,427,430
0
3,496,800
16,510
0
2,384,310
0

0
4,412,720
11,000,000
0
0
95,000
169,620
101,130
369,330
0
124,330
115,990
56,590

0
500,000
44,000,000
0
13,392
(1,285)
3,330
1,990
7,269
0
2,440
2,280
1,110

15,641,560
4,912,720
55,000,000
14,650
28,392
93,715
3,600,380
103,120
3,873,399
16,510
126,770
2,502,580
57,700

Leighton Terra & KW St MSCP

606,660

80,110

1,580

688,350

Civic Centre Phase 3 Roof Rep

230,000

0

0

230,000

City Wall

343,520

25,000

10,000

378,520

4,934,830
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
514,190
938,530
124,640

0
1,009,870
600,000
1,310,000
673,420
2,373,180
425,000
3,450,000
0
0
0

0
(2,440)
(1,450)
(3,160)
(1,620)
(5,730)
0
(19,720)
99,570
35,985
0

4,934,830
1,007,430
598,550
1,306,840
671,800
2,367,450
425,000
3,430,280
613,760
974,515
124,640

242,350

0

0

242,350

TOTAL

235,270
121,000
204,700
33,491,950

0
0
0
26,391,290

0
0
0
45,443,422

235,270
121,000
204,700
105,326,662

107,000
2,760,270

GENERAL FUND SERVICES TOTAL

46,738,010

29,060,300

55,384,554

131,182,864

6,891,800

TOTAL

0

Finance
Director

Page 99

City Surveyor

Loan to Exeter City Living
Commercialistion options
Commercial Poperty Purchase
Beacon Heath Martial Arts & Boxing Club - New Roof
Pinces Gatehouse Roof repairs
Exmouth Buoy Store
Mary Arches MSCP
Guildhall MSCP
Cathedral & Quay MSCP
Harlequins MSCP
John Lewis MSCP
Princesshay 2 MSCP
Princesshay 3 MSCP

Backlog Maintenance
BLRF - Bonhay Meadows
BLRF - Exeter Canal Basin
BLRF - Mary Arches Car Park
BLRF - Belle Isle
BLRF - Cath & Quay Car Park
LRF - Clifton Hill
Depot Relocation
Guildhall roof replacement
RAMM - roof replacement
Commercial Property Ancillary Accommodation flat roof recovering
Bradninch Place heating system, roof access and removal of the BMS
system.
Wat Tyler House water ingress
Verney House roof and drainage
Commercial Properties EPC Improvements

1,014,340

567,580
1,071,350

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 4
GENERAL FUND AVAILABLE RESOURCES
GENERAL FUND
CAPITAL RESOURCES AVAILABLE
Capital Receipts Brought Forward
GF Capital Receipts
Revenue Contributions to Capital Outlay
Disabled Facility Grant
New Homes Bonus
Community Infrastructure Levy
Other - Grants/External Funding/Reserves/S106
Total Resources Available

2021-22
£
3,329,009
282,195
0
572,101
0
1,300,000
2,767,704
8,251,009

2022-23
£

2023-24
£

2024-25
£

3,393,275
89,668
1,483,184
14,647
30,000
12,284,653
17,295,426

0
0
800,000
0
0
160,000
960,000

0
0
800,000
0
0
160,000
960,000

TOTAL
£
3,329,009
3,675,470
89,668
3,655,284
14,647
1,330,000
15,372,357
27,466,435

Page 101

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME
Capital Programme
Overspends/(Savings)
Slippage
Total General Fund

72,329,220
99,555
(55,384,554)
17,044,221

75,798,310

6,891,800

7,350,250

55,384,554
131,182,864

6,891,800

7,350,250

162,369,580
99,555
0
162,469,135

UNCOMMITTED CAPITAL RESOURCES:
Capital Receipts Brought Forward
Resources in Year
Less Capital Receipts used to finance historic debt
Less Capital Receipts to carry forward
Less Spend in Year

3,329,009
4,922,000
(1,000,000)
(2,020,582)
(17,044,221)

2,020,582
17,295,426
0
(4,482,873)
(131,182,864)

4,482,873
960,000
0
(4,228,963)
(6,891,800)

4,228,963
960,000
0
(3,244,867)
(7,350,250)

3,329,009
24,137,426
(1,000,000)
(3,244,867)
(162,469,135)

11,813,794

116,349,729

5,677,890

5,406,154

139,247,567

Borrowing Requirement

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 5 July 2022

REPORT TO COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 19 July 2022
Report of: Director Finance
Title: Overview of General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1.

What is the report about?
To advise Members of the overall financial position of the General Fund Revenue
Budgets for the 2021/22 financial year and to seek approval for the General Fund working
balance, a number of supplementary budgets and the creation of new earmarked
reserves.

2.

Recommendations:
It is recommended that Members of the Executive note the report and Council notes and
approves (where applicable):
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)
7)

3.

That the net transfer of £6,687,965 from Earmarked Reserves as detailed in
paragraph 8.11 is approved;
That the supplementary budgets of £4,304,610 and budget transfers as detailed in
paragraph 8.13 are approved;
That the Earmarked Reserves at 31 March 2022 be noted;
That the Council Tax account and collection rate be noted;
That the outstanding sundry debt, aged debt analysis and debt write-off figures be
noted;
The creditors payments performance be noted; and
By taking into account the overall financial position of the Council, the General
Fund working balance at 31 March 2022 be approved at £5,480,752.

Reasons for the recommendation:
To formally note the Council’s end of year financial position and carry forward any
budgets that were not spent but where the funding is still required.

4.

What are the resource implications including non financial resources?
The impact on the General Fund working balance is set out in section 8.12.

Page 103

5.

Section 151 Officer comments:
There are a number of issues for Members to note:
 Underspends have been caused by difficulties in recruiting staff, and the ability to get
products and services delivered;
 The overall amount being put into General Funds Balances broadly covers the request
for additional budgets in 2022-23 to be funded from General Fund Balances;
 The overall financial position remains unchanged in that the MTFP required a
reduction of £6.6m;
 There are very significant (and unbudgeted) financial pressures facing the Council
(along with the rest of the World) which will likely add further requirements for
reduction in spend.
Council is requested to approve £4.3m of supplementary budgets, the majority of which
are funded from earmarked reserves. These are affordable and in many cases backed by
external grant funding. They do however indicate the challenges the Council is facing in
delivering your expectations.
Members should review the earmarked reserves set out in Appendix 3 to satisfy
themselves that they remain priorities, when not required by statute.

6.

What are the legal aspects?
The Local Government Finance Act 1992 places a legal requirement on Council to
approve not only the budget but also any changes to the budget proposed during the
year. Council has a legal duty to ensure that the budget is balanced and that any
changes to the budget are fully funded.

7.

Monitoring Officer’s comments:
This report raises no issues for the Monitoring Officer
Simon Copper (Deputy Monitoring Officer)

8.

Report details:
Overview of General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/22

8.1

Financial Summary
FUND

General Fund

Planned
Transfer To /
(From) Working
Balance
£

Budget
Variance
Over / (under)

Outturn
Transfer
2021/22

£

£

(732,830)

Page 104

1,17,300

784,470

8.2

General Fund (Appendix 1 & Appendix 2)
The Services show an overall underspend of £5,421,597 against a revised budget of
£21,452,470. Variances of more than +/- £30,000 are detailed below:

8.3

Chief Executive & Growth Director
Budget Heading

Over / (Underspend)

IT Services

(£192,044)

Responsible Officer: Director Finance
This underspend is wholly due to the annual refund from Strata. However, from this
saving, £184,000 is to be moved to an earmarked reserve and will be requested as a
supplementary budget for Strata in 2022/23.
Affordable Housing Development

(£194,439)

Responsible Officer: Director Finance
This underspend is due to the supplementary budget for the Exeter City Living business
cases not being used in full. This outstanding balance will be requested as a
supplementary budget in 2022/23.

8.4

Transformation
Budget Heading

Over / (Underspend)

Active & Healthy People

(£252,582)

Responsible Officer: Active & Healthy People Programme Lead
There was additional unbudgeted in-year income from a Devon County Council annual
Wellbeing Exeter payment (£395k rather than the budget £195k), this will be transferred
into an earmarked reserve and spent in future years
Exeter City Council received grant funding to support the clinically extremely vulnerable,
this grant funded £32k towards staff costs that would usually be paid for from ECC
general fund working balances.
The budget provided for the Playing Pitch strategy was not spent in full, a budget for
£20k is requested for 2022/23.
Exeter Community Grants Programme

(£91,830)

Responsible Officer: Active & Healthy People Programme Lead
Community groups, charities and the voluntary sector have taken time to have the
confidence and capacity to stand back up projects, events and initiatives in communities
following COVID-19 restrictions and uncertainty. The Programme is funded by
Neighbourhood CIL and so the underspend will be available to re-allocate in future
years.

Page 105

8.5

City Development, Housing and Supporting People

Budget Heading

Over / (Underspend)

Housing Needs & Homelessness

(£177,760)

Responsible Officer: Service Lead, Housing Needs & Homelessness
The service received government funding for the Protect & Vaccinate scheme, the
majority of this funding has been spent apart from £29k which will be transferred to an
earmarked reserve and spent in 2022/23. This grant along with the Winter Pressures
grant scheme and savings due to staff recruitment gaps have helped fund costs that
would usually be funded by General Fund working balances.
General Fund Housing - Property

(£46,719)

Responsible Officer: Tenancy Services Lead
There has been little or no movement in EXtralet properties in the past 12 months. This
is as a result of the model that EXtralet operates under. Clients in these properties have
a tendency to remain in situ and conduct their tenancies direct with the landlord of the
property. They do not generally move on to alternative accommodation unless the
Landlord requests that the property is returned to them. As a result of this the number
of voids works and works carried out in order to hand back properties is much reduced.
This is in comparison to PSL properties, which need a regular turnover of clients in
order to maintain a constant supply of temporary accommodation for homeless
households.
Building Control & Land Charges
Planning Services

(£83,703)
(£772,229)

Responsible Officer: Interim Service Lead for City Development
Income from Land Charges was higher than anticipated due to the stamp duty holiday
resulting in increased property sales. Building Control income was also higher than
budgeted levels due to an increase in home improvements and the construction industry
in general. The surplus from these services is transferred to a ring fenced reserve.
There have been a number of vacant posts within the planning service resulting in savings
in pay costs.
Income from planning fees was higher than anticipated, part of this money benefits the
general fund working balances and the remainder is transferred to an earmarked reserve
for future improvements to the service.
As reported at quarter three the local plan budget required re-profiling in accordance with
anticipated spend projections, the 2021/22 underspend of £280k will be required in
2022/23 and a supplementary budget has been requested.
The budget required for CIL charging schedule consultancy work has not yet been spent
and a supplementary budget requested for 2022/23.
Income collected in respect of habitats mitigation contributions from developers will be
transferred to an earmarked reserve.

Page 106

Liveable Exeter Garden City

(£1,589,033)

Responsible Officer: Director of City Development
Further grant funding has been received in respect of Garden Communities and the
Exeter Development Fund, this funding will be transferred to earmarked reserves and
supplementary expenditure budgets requested for 2022/23.
Organisational Change Programme

(£258,461)

Responsible Officer: Deputy Chief Executive
The budget has been re-profiled to reflect a three year programme, the underspend has
been requested as a supplementary budget in 2022/23.

8.6

Communications, Culture and Leisure Facilities

Budget Heading

Over / (Underspend)

Culture

(£212,062)

Responsible Officer: Service Lead Communications, Tourism & Culture
As reported at quarter three, the volume of activity in 2021/22 was reduced in
comparison to a normal year due to the pandemic making planning difficult. The
supplementary budget of £100,000 for a special event will be used when the event is
confirmed by a third party. There was a £67,350 reduction in grants issued and the
remainder of the under-spend is savings made in supplies and services.
Markets & Halls

(£82,076)

Responsible Officer: Facilities & Markets Manager
This favourable out-turn is due to a much better performance than expected by the
Matford/Livestock Centre which returned an extra £177,000 surplus than
expected. This was primarily due to the continued improved performance by the
livestock auctioneers, extra income being secured for the use of the car parks, and
some back-dated rents being received for the tenanted units at the centre. In addition
there was some savings made in employee costs, achieved because posts were left
vacant until the centre’s events programme could start to return to normal after Covid
restrictions.
This was offset to some degree by a worse than anticipated performance from other
Market &Hall activities. In particular, an extra £90,000 (against budget) cost of running
the Corn Exchange because the venue’s programme was very badly affected by the
pandemic.
Museum Service

(£353,531)

Responsible Officer: Service Lead – Museum Manager
The under-spend is almost entirely due to the 2021/22 rates being significantly below
budget. There in an on-going dispute with the Valuation Office regarding the rateable
value of the RAMM museum and resolutions take so long to reach that the final figure is
not agreed by the time budgets are set. This issue is likely to continue into 22/23 as
ECC is disputing the new rateable value. There have also been material savings

Page 107

against staffing and supplies & services; however, these have been reduced by loss of
income, a result of the slow recovery from the pandemic.
Leisure & Sport

£309,961

Responsible Officer: Service Lead Communications, Tourism & Culture
As reported at quarter three, it was assumed that St Sidwells Point would have opened
in September 2021 and the delay in going operational has been a major factor in the
overspend against budget. However, the significant savings across the wider service
have reduced the impact of this loss to the general reserve.
St Sidwells Point

(£59,850)

Responsible Officer: Director Leisure
This budget will not be used this year; however, there may be some additional costs in
regards to St Sidwells Point that may arise next year therefore this supplementary
budget will be requested again
Communications

(£108,742)

Responsible Officer: Service Lead Communications, Tourism & Culture
A purposeful reduction in marketing and communication activity by third parties and an
increase in reliance on council resources and methods has led to the reported
underspend. There has also been increased income due to a single backdated
payment of Clear Channel advertising revenue of almost £50,000. The staff award
ceremony was not held due to the pandemic restrictions, saving a further £10,000.

8.7

Net Zero Exeter and City Management

Budget Heading

Over / (Underspend)

Environmental Protection

(£155,367)

Responsible Officer: Service Lead – Environmental Health and Community Safety
£124,280 of the surplus relates to the balance of the £166,570 Contain Outbreak
Management Fund grant received in year to help reduce the spread of coronavirus and
support local public health. This will be transferred to an earmarked reserve and be
used to cover staff costs of delivery in 2022/23. There have been savings due to
vacancies in year.
Licensing, Food, Health & Safety

(£87,425)

Responsible Officer: Service Lead – Environmental Health and Community Safety
It was anticipated that vehicle licensing would need to draw on reserves this year,
however staff costs have been re-structured to reflect the workload across licensing and
this has generated a £22,590 surplus on vehicle licensing which will be transferred to an
earmarked reserve. £10k of unspent Exeter Business Against Crime partnership
contributions will also be transferred to reserves for future investment.

Page 108

Public Safety

£58,786

Responsible Officer: Service Lead – Engineering, Waterways & Parking
There have been £56k savings in the year due to staff vacancies within the Control
Centre and Home Call service. There was a £98k shortfall in Home Call alarm income
against budget, although the service did still generate a small surplus. There has been
reduced demand as a result of an increasing number of alternatives available. There
was also £14k of unbudgeted emergency repair works to the fibre optic network during
the year.
Parking Services

£1,410,869

Responsible Officer: Service Lead – Engineering, Waterways & Parking
Parking income continues to be affected by Covid and changes in commuter
behaviour. Parking fees and charges achieved 84% of the budget for the year. There
is reduced demand for season tickets, but income from Penalty Charge Notices has
exceeded the expected budget. Overall income was down by £1,450,630. There were
some additional costs from charges for payment by card and RingGo which have been
more than offset by savings in other areas including agency and utilities.
Waterways

£49,709

Responsible Officer: Service Lead – Engineering, Waterways & Parking
Mooring repair work covered the cost of additional resource within the team and made a
small surplus of £6,300, although this is £14,500 less than the target as the service
continues to build its customer base. The River Exe exceeded its income budget by
£41k with additional boat storage charges, however canal income was down by
£36k. There were overspends across both the river and canal, in part due to 5 years’
worth of business rates totalling £14k for the buoy store.
Engineering

(£413,510)

Responsible Officer: Service Lead – Engineering, Waterways & Parking
There were underspends within footpaths, signs and sundries, bridge inspections, land
drainage and the Engineering team, however we will be submitting supplementary
budget requests to carry forward £412,700 into 22/23. This is made up of the North St
footbridge removal, Bull Meadow works with South West Water and various other
projects that either the team have not been able to complete within the year, or are
beyond our control.
Parks & Green Spaces

(£284,737)

Responsible Officer: Service Lead – Public & Green Space
The reported underspend includes £134,700 of work that could not be completed in
year and will be requested as supplementary budgets in 22/23, this includes the
Cathedral Yard bollard, lighting works at the depot, and children’s play areas as a result
of difficulties with getting contractors and equipment in the year. Pay costs within Parks
and Playing Fields are £97k lower than budget due to difficulties in recruitment. There
has been additional income from events during the year, and other savings across a
range of supplies and services due to lack of capacity.

Page 109

Bereavement Services

£33,339

Responsible Officer: Service Lead – Public & Green Space
Cemeteries income was £63k lower than budgeted as a result of the fall in demand for
burials seen in recent years. This was partly offset by operational savings and no
special works being done in year.
Street Cleaning

(£226,496)

Responsible Officer: Service Lead – Public & Green Space
The majority of this underspend is due to street sweeping which have a number of
vacancies and are experiencing difficulties getting sufficient agency staff to cover so pay
is £120k below budget and this has an impact on other direct costs. There have been
£21k savings on litter bins as the focus was on spending the Binfrastructure capital
grant. Graffiti cleaning is £22k underspent due to retirement of one of the officers.
Domestic Refuse

(£283,833)

Responsible Officer: Interim Service Lead - Waste, Recycling & Fleet
The under-spend includes a balance of £147,340 from the £200k funding to support the
roll out of new recycling arrangements. This will be requested to carry forward to 22/23
to continue to support the roll out and fund a Recycling Officer. The service has
struggled during the year to recruit and retain staff, particularly drivers with increasing
competition from other sectors. Pay costs are £76k below budget but this has made it
very difficult to continue to deliver the service throughout the year, and resources have
regularly had to be diverted from other areas of activity. There are also savings across
other categories of expenditure and additional income was received in the year.
£297,065

Waste Chargeable Services
Responsible Officer: Interim Service Lead - Waste, Recycling & Fleet

There was a considerable surplus on green waste which did £150k better than expected
as the service has become increasingly popular with residents since Covid. However
trade waste did make a surplus but was £440k less than budgeted, this is because
there was a shortfall within the waste budget generally which it was hoped could be met
with additional significant contracts within the City.
£36,096

Waste Overheads
Responsible Officer: Interim Service Lead - Waste, Recycling & Fleet

There has been pressure on the premises budgets at Oakwood House with high utilities
and insurance costs, and continued costs of drain clearance at the vehicle wash.
Net Zero & Business

(£570,380)

Responsible Officer: Service Lead – Net Zero & Business
The under-spend is primarily the balance of the £500k earmarked reserve for Net Zero
and this will be used in future years. There is £1m approved in total but plans for
delivery are being confirmed. There are also underspends for Exeter City Futures and
Transformation Fund activity on commercialisation which will be requested as
supplementary budgets in 22/23. There have been savings on salary costs as other
grant funding has been made available to support activity in year.

Page 110

8.8

Finance
Over /
(Underspend)

Budget Heading
Major Projects

(£350,004)

Responsible Officer: City Surveyor
As reported at quarter three, various supplementary budgets have not been fully utilised
in-year. However, these budgets will be requested for 22/23 as there is planned activity
within major projects, including asset valuation work in support of Exeter City Living
Corporate Property – Estates

(£135,090)

Responsible Officer: City Surveyor
The annual loss allowance adjustment improved the year-end out-turn position by
£265,487. However, this has been reduced by the shortfall from properties, such as the
Southgate Hotel (income loss of £151,595), who have been significantly impacted by
the pandemic. The recovery period is still uncertain but an improvement is hoped for in
22/23.
Corporate Property – Assets

(£243,057)

Responsible Officer: City Surveyor
The majority of this underspend is against the property maintenance budget; at quarter
three, this was forecast at £200,000 but this has reduced to just over
£169,000. Elsewhere, there have been material savings in salaries due to a
combination of vacancies and reductions in hours; also £16,000 of staff costs were
capitalised under the ERDF project.
Corporate

£55,044

Responsible Officer: Director Finance
The overspend is due to additional audit costs (partly offset by audit fee grants) and the
inclusion of borrowing fees of £15,400

8.9

Corporate Services

Budget Heading

Over / (Underspend)

Human Resources

(£46,256)

Responsible Officer: Service Lead, Human Resources
The Council’s training budget has been under-utilised this year, giving rise to a saving
of almost £69,000. However, stretched resources has led to an increase in temporary
staff costs and 21/22 has also seen an increase in occupational health services; both of
these have reduced the savings to the reported amount.
Legal Services

(£59,218)

Responsible Officer: Service Lead, Legal Services

Page 111

As reported at quarter three, the Legal team have successfully implemented a new
business plan which has resulted in additional revenue streams and income surplus to
budget. This level of performance is anticipated to continue into 22/23 therefore is
allowing them to recruit additional resources; this includes another legal apprentice to
provide a robust development programme within the team.
Elections & Electoral Registration

(£37,310)

Responsible Officer: Corporate Manager Democratic and Civic Support
The changes in the process of electoral registration has led to material savings across
the election cost centres. The reduction of canvessing staff required and the
subsequent decrease in cost forms the majority of this saving. The reduction in saving
from quarter three is predominantly due to the repayment of grant money, the amount
and timing of which was not known by quarter three reporting.
Corporate Support

£119,758

Responsible Officer: Corporate Manager Democratic and Civic Support
As reported at quarter three, the rental income at the Civic Centre has been adversely
affected, with many units vacant for the entirety of 21/22. However, the loss was not as
much as reported at quarter three (actual loss was £249,000, compared to the
forecasted £260,000). Savings in supplies & services has mitigated the reduction in
income and staff savings due to vacant posts has also helped to reduce the overall loss.
Transportation

(£42,801)

Responsible Officer: Corporate Manager Democratic and Civic Support
This surplus to budget will be transferred to the Green Travel reserve

8.10

Other Financial Variations
Over /
(Underspend)

Budget Heading
Net interest

£620,978

The budgeted interest payable for 2021/22 anticipated that the Council would take out
additional borrowings in the year to finance a further loan to the wholly owned property
development company; ECL. The additional borrowings were not required in 2021/22,
saving £490k of interest payable.
A loan was taken out in December 2021 to finance the purchase of the Guildhall
shopping centre. The interest on this loan for 2021/22 of £210k was not factored in to
the original budget.
The interest receivable for 2021/22 was £905k lower than budget. This is due to two key
factors; the above mentioned loan to ECL will now not take place until 2022/23 and
therefore the related expected interest was not receivable during the year; and the
Council received significantly lower than expected rates of interest on investments
during 2021/22, investment interest rates were at record lows throughout 2021/22
following the economic recession caused by the global pandemic.

Page 112

Covid 19 Grant

(£967)

Further awards of funding from Central Government to support Councils with Covid-19
expenditure pressures.
Sales, Fees & Charges Compensation

(£457,124)

The Sales, Fees & Charges Compensation scheme was extended to cover the first
three months of 2021/22. The scheme compensates local authorities for irrecoverable
and unavoidable income losses as a result of lockdown, government restrictions and
social distancing measures related to the pandemic.

8.11

Earmarked Reserves
During 2021/22 there has been an overall net transfer from Earmarked Reserves of
£6.688m. The details of all Earmarked Reserve movements are shown in Appendix
3.
Movement

8.12

2021/22

Opening Balance, as at 01/04/21

£32,431,103

Net transfer

(£6,687,965)

Balance, as at 31/03/22

£25,743,138

General Fund Balance
During 2021/22 there has been an overall surplus of £784,470. The minimum
requirement for the General Fund working balance was approved by Council in
February 2022 at £3 million.

Movement

2021/22

Opening Balance, as at 01/04/21
Surplus

£784,470

Balance at 31/03/22

8.13

£4,696,282

£5,480,752

Supplementary Budgets & Budget Transfers
There is a requirement for some supplementary budgets in 2022/23 as the Council
has identified at the end of the year a number of revenue budgets that have not been
spent but where a commitment is required in the following financial year.
It is therefore proposed that supplementary budgets totalling £4,304,610 identified in
Appendix 4 are approved and added to the 2022/23 budget. The supplementary
budgets will be financed from Earmarked Reserves (£3,358,830), CIL (£91,630) and
the General Fund working balance (£854,150).

Page 113

Appendix 4 also lists proposed budget transfers which have been identified where
budgets need to be transferred from one service area to another.
8.14

Outstanding Sundry Debt
An aged debt analysis of the Council’s sundry debts is shown in the table below.
Age of Debt

8.15

March
2022

March
2021

Up to 29 days (current)
30 days – 1 Year
1 – 2 years
2 –3 years
3 – 4 years
4 – 5 years
5 + years

£1,154,547
£2,129,058
£387,330
£623,164
£280,899
£180,759
£1,136,701

£2,399,454
£1,530,103
£451,358
£550,482
£276,837
£417,580
£752,772

Total

£5,892,458

£6,378,586

Council Tax
As at 1 April 2022, arrears amounted to £6.533m, the movements during 2021/22
were as follows:
£m
Arrears as at 1 April 2021

£m
6.080

Add:
2021/22 debits raised net of discounts

£76.517

Less:
Payments received

(£76.956)

Refunds and change in pre-payments
Write-offs

£1.144
(£0.252)

Arrears as at 31 March 2022

6.533

Against the arrears of £6.533m, a bad and doubtful debt provision of £2.740m has
been provided, calculated in accordance with the appropriate accounting guidelines.
The ‘In-Year’ collection rate has increased in comparison with the previous year. The
collection rate for 2021/22 was 96.5% compared with 96.0% in 2020/21.
8.16

Debt Write-Offs
The following amounts have been written-off during 2021/22:

Page 114








Council Tax
Business Rates
Sundry Debt
Housing Rents
Non-HRA Rents
HB Overpayments

2020/21

2021/22

£100,805
(£19,497)
£37,336
£61,893
£59,823
£194,205

£251,786
(£4,273)
£36,402
£86,948
£111,991
£150,304

8.17 Creditor Payments Performance
Creditors’ payments continue to be monitored in spite of the withdrawal of statutory
performance indicator BVPI8. The percentage paid within 30 days was 93.04% for
2021/22 compared with 97.44% for 2020/21.

9.

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?
This is a statement of the 2021/22 financial position.

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?
The risks relate to overspending the Council budget and are mitigated by regular
reporting to the Strategic Management Board and Members. Members have a legal
responsibility to take action where balances are projected to reach an unsustainable level
and the Strategic Management Board are working to address the current projected
shortfall in reserves.
Areas of budgetary risk are highlighted in this report. The key areas of budgetary risks
are attached as Appendix 4, for reference.

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)
11.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equalities Duty, decision makers are required to
consider the need to:




eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct;
advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking
account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and
foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting
understanding.

11.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on
equality of decisions, policies and practices. These duties do not prevent the authority
from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals
that consider the impacts on all members of the community.
11.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex
and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and
new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a
decision.

Page 115

11.4 In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people
with protected characteristics as determined by the Act because: because
11.4.1 There are no significant equality and diversity impacts associated with this
decision.

12. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:
There are no direct carbon/environmental impacts arising from the recommendations.

13. Are there any other options?
Not applicable.
Director Finance & S151 Officer, Dave Hodgson
Authors: Nicola Matthews-Morley, Bridget Kendrick and Claire Hodgson

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:
None
Contact for enquires:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 4.36
01392 265275

Page 116

APPENDIX 1
2021/22 GENERAL FUND BUDGET MONITORING - SUMMARY
OUTTURN

Budget

Supplementary
Budgets &
Virements

£

£

Original

Variance

Revised

to Budget

Outturn
Budget
£

£

£

Chief Executive & Growth Director

2,933,980

315,950

3,249,930

2,836,825

(413,105)

Transformation

1,184,020

73,660

1,257,680

913,269

(344,411)

City Development, Housing & Supporting People

4,744,710

2,322,220

7,066,930

4,118,692

(2,948,238)

Communiciations, Culture and Leisure Facilities

5,490,450

8,357,770

13,848,220

13,318,147

(530,073)

Net Zero Exeter and City Management

3,358,890

2,099,280

5,458,170

5,284,844

(173,326)

23,380

313,080

336,460

(381,500)

(717,960)

2,548,880

13,910

2,562,790

2,475,565

(87,225)

0

0

0

(162,681)

(162,681)

less Notional capital charges

(4,238,050)

(8,089,660)

(12,327,710)

(12,327,710)

0

Service Committee Net Expenditure

16,046,260

5,406,210

21,452,470

16,075,450

(5,377,020)

Net Interest
New Homes Bonus
Revenue Contribution to Capital
Minimum Revenue Provision
Voluntary Revenue Provision

150,000
(1,940,880)
0
692,000
0

150,000
(1,940,880)
0
692,000
0

770,978
(1,940,878)
0
293,015
0

620,978
2
0
(398,985)
0

General Fund Expenditure

14,947,380

5,406,210

20,353,590

15,198,565

(5,155,025)

(349,530)
570,000

(383,300)
(4,920,910)

(732,830)
(4,350,910)

784,470
(6,687,965)

1,517,300
(2,337,055)

General Fund Net Expenditure

15,167,850

102,000

Formula Grant
Business Rates Growth / Pooling Gain
Covid 19 Grant
Sales Fees & Charges Compensation
Use of CIL Income
Council Tax

(4,732,030)
(2,334,000)
(760,000)
0
(1,090,000)
(6,251,820)

Finance

Corporate Services

Less Use of Furlough Scheme

Transfer To/(From) Working Balance
Transfer To/(From) Earmarked Reserves

(102,000)

0

Working Balance

March 2021

0

£

4,696,282

Page 117

15,269,850

9,295,069

(5,974,781)

(4,732,030)
(2,334,000)
(760,000)
0
(1,192,000)
(6,251,820)

(4,732,030)
4,132,167
(760,967)
(457,124)
(1,225,294)
(6,251,821)

0
6,466,167
(967)
(457,124)
(33,294)
(1)

0

0

0

£ 5,480,752

March 2022

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 2

YEAR END FIGURES

APPROVED
BUDGET

OUTTURN

£
TOTAL GENERAL FUND NET EXPENDITURE

£

VARIANCE
£

QTR 3
FORECAST
VARIANCE
£

33,780,180

28,565,841

(5,214,339)

(683,253)

1,840,080
820,290
272,950
316,610
3,249,930

1,648,036
796,503
78,511
313,774
2,836,825

(192,044)
(23,787)
(194,439)
(2,836)
(413,105)

0
(11,312)
(173,656)
(3,231)
(188,199)

892,020
365,660
1,257,680

639,438
273,830
913,269

(252,582)
(91,830)
(344,411)

0
(42,000)
(42,000)

1,224,720
92,680
170,920
50,150
1,122,100
2,996,110
1,026,890
383,360
7,066,930

1,046,960
92,680
124,201
(33,553)
349,871
2,975,776
(562,143)
124,899
4,118,692

(177,760)
0
(46,719)
(83,703)
(772,229)
(20,334)
(1,589,033)
(258,461)
(2,948,238)

0
0
(20,000)
(79,000)
(448,560)
(18,900)
(470,000)
(150,000)
(1,186,460)

522,880
126,490
(371,620)
2,486,520
10,418,480
59,850
114,080
491,540
13,848,220

310,818
126,792
(453,696)
2,132,989
10,728,441
0
90,004
382,798
13,318,147

(212,062)
302
(82,076)
(353,531)
309,961
(59,850)
(24,076)
(108,742)
(530,073)

(210,720)
(116)
21,520
(119,889)
270,920
(59,850)
(12,542)
(115,289)
(225,966)

372,240
460,460
315,780
(6,227,050)
353,340
948,280
2,147,460
59,310
1,751,180
547,660
2,464,520
(565,940)
142,050
669,880
2,019,000
5,458,170

216,873
373,035
374,566
(4,816,181)
403,049
534,770
1,862,723
92,649
1,524,684
520,740
2,180,687
(268,875)
178,146
659,358
1,448,620
5,284,844

(155,367)
(87,425)
58,786
1,410,869
49,709
(413,510)
(284,737)
33,339
(226,496)
(26,920)
(283,833)
297,065
36,096
(10,522)
(570,380)
(173,326)

0
0
49,600
1,622,470
0
(249,450)
(25,000)
28,640
(16,100)
(12,350)
0
329,430
18,100
(174,890)
(26,580)
1,543,870

405,660
(3,616,700)
1,132,620
115,350
1,556,370
533,940
102,030
107,190
336,460

55,656
(3,751,790)
889,563
170,394
1,542,081
506,016
98,955
107,625
(381,500)

(350,004)
(135,090)
(243,057)
55,044
(14,289)
(27,924)
(3,075)
435
(717,960)

(350,981)
101,829
(276,848)
44,311
0
0
(4,563)
(6,308)
(492,560)

647,193
176,730
390,070
643,490
296,730
408,577
0
2,562,790

600,937
117,512
352,760
626,509
292,314
528,335
(42,801)
2,475,565

(46,256)
(59,218)
(37,310)
(16,981)
(4,416)
119,758
(42,801)
(87,225)

(87,299)
(65,762)
(49,251)
(22,968)
(22,154)
155,496
0
(91,938)

Chief Executive & Growth Director
IT SERVICES
STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT
AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT
CENTRAL SUPPORT
NET EXPENDITURE

Transformation
ACTIVE & HEALTHY PEOPLE
EXETER COMMUNITY GRANTS PROGRAMME
NET EXPENDITURE
City Development, Housing & Supporting People
HOUSING NEEDS & HOMELESSNESS
SUNDRY LANDS MAINTENANCE
GF HOUSING - PROPERTY
BUILDING CONTROL & LAND CHARGES
PLANNING SERVICES
REVENUES, BENEFITS & CUSTOMER ACCCESS
LIVEABLE EXETER GARDEN CITY
ORGANISATIONAL CHANGE PROGRAMME
NET EXPENDITURE
Communications, Culture and Leisure Facilities
CULTURE
TOURISM
MARKETS & HALLS
MUSEUM SERVICE
LEISURE & SPORT
ST SIDWELLS POINT
VISITOR FACILITIES
COMMUNICATIONS
NET EXPENDITURE
Net Zero Exeter & City Management
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
LICENCING,FOOD,HEALTH & SAFETY
PUBLIC SAFETY
PARKING SERVICES
WATERWAYS
ENGINEERING SERVICES
PARKS & GREEN SPACES
BEREAVEMENT SERVICES
STREET CLEANING
PUBLIC CONVENIENCES
DOMESTIC REFUSE COLLECTION
WASTE CHARGEABLE SERVICES
WASTE OVERHEADS AND FLEET
RECYCLING
NET ZERO & BUSINESS
NET EXPENDITURE
Finance
MAJOR PROJECTS
CORPORATE PROPERTY - ESTATES
CORPORATE PROPERTY - ASSETS
CORPORATE
UNAPPORTIONABLE OVERHEADS
FINANCIAL SERVICES
INTERNAL AUDIT
PROCUREMENT
NET EXPENDITURE
Corporate Services
HUMAN RESOURCES
LEGAL SERVICES
ELECTIONS & ELECTORAL REG
DEMOCRATIC REPRESENTATION
CIVIC CEREMONIALS
CORPORATE SUPPORT
TRANSPORTATION
NET EXPENDITURE

Page 119

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 3
Earmarked Reserves

Cost Centre

Account Account description

44444
09413 CONSERVATION
44444
09416 VEHICLE LICENSING
44444
09417 S 57 GRANTS
44444
09419 SURE START
44444
09420 BUILDING CONTROL
44444
09422 LOCAL DEV FRAMEWORK
44444
09427 MALLINSON
44444
09428 OLD MILL
44444
09434 SHIP
44444
09437 HOUSING ASSESSMENT
44444
09444 Climate Change
44444
09448 DEVON HOME CHOICE
44444
09451 TRANSFORMATION
44444
09455 Habitat Assessment
44444
09456 Green Travel
44444
09457 AFU Archiving
44444
09458 Countryside Grants
44444
09460 Redundancy reserve
44444
09463 EBAC
44444
09464 Museum of the Year
44444
09465 RAMM Legal Costs
44444
09467 Natura 2000
44444
09473 NHB - Local Community Infra
44444
09475 NHB - Active Exeter
44444
09480 NNDR Deficit
44444
09485 Capital Fund
44444
09486 LOCAL WELFARE SUPPORT (T006)
44444
09487 PINHOE COMMUNITY HUB
44444
09489 RIVERSIDE DILAPIDATIONS
44444
09491 IFRS 9
44444
09494 LAND CHARGES
44444
09495 BUSINESS RATE PILOT
44444
09496 PLANNING INCOME
44444
09497 RAMM - NDR REFUND
44444
09498 GESP
44444
09499 LEISURE CONTRACT VARIATIONS
44444
09500 COVID19 GRANT
44444
09501 RAMM INFRASTRUCTURE RESERVE
44444
09502 ECL BUSINESS CASE
44444
09503 GOVERNANCE REVIEW
Covid - Acting as principal:
44444
09504 WELL-BEING SUPPORT FUND
44444
09505 CEV RESPONSE
44444
09506 COMPLIANCE & ENFORCEMENT
44444
09507 ARG DISCRETIONARY GRANTS
44444
09508 ARG WIDER BUSINESS SUPPORT
44444
09509 ARG SPECIAL CASES
44444
09521 Contain Outbreak Management Fund
44444
09522 Protect & Vaccinate
44444
44444
44444
44444
44444
44444
44444
44444
44444
44444
44444
44444
44444

09510
09511
09512
09513
09514
09515
09516
09517
09518
09519
09520
09523
09524

Garden Communities - Grant 2
Development Corporation Comp
Leisure
Budget Volatility
ECL - Corporate Property Support
Net Zero Exeter
Council Tax Deficit support
Business Rates Volatility
Cathedral Yard Bollard
Future events
Bull Meadow culvert
Strata
Wellbeing Exeter

Opening Balance
£
(2,339)
(16,931)
(19,613)
(20,000)
(39,648)
(36,642)
(89,671)
(5,499)
(7,438)
(1,245)
(6,709)
(74,344)
(421,875)
(30,533)
(88,518)
(4,352)
(14,500)
(500,000)
(103,058)
(37,877)
(93,387)
(184,462)
(73,577)
(59,849)
(17,423,576)
(500,000)
(8,527)
(53,756)
(231,043)
(250,000)
(263,193)
(393,257)
(108,950)
(350,000)
(171,891)
0
0
(251,550)
(270,000)
(75,000)
(64,372)
(1,656)
(29,595)
(814,342)
(998,549)
(48,100)
0
0

Transfers In
£
(23,202)

(18,422)

(264,798)

25,161
3,242

(42,801)

(500,000)
(10,007)

62,223
6,195

(17,612)

(11,084,686)

17,409,995
6,100

(67,221)
(750,000)
(61,579)

56,000

95,060
(32,424)
23,023

(5,793)
78,511

50,451
(49,374)
29,595
814,342
998,549
48,100
(124,280)
(29,000)

(475,000)
(380,000)
(50,000)
(4,000,000)
(1,000,000)
(1,000,000)
(61,679)
(1,000,000)
(25,000)
(100,000)
(100,000)
0
0

(153,332)
(431,834)

(32,431,103)

(14,050,366)

Page 121

Transfers Out
£

31,785
1,000,000

(184,000)
(200,000)
20,738,331

Closing Balance
£
(2,339)
(40,133)
(19,613)
(20,000)
(58,070)
(36,642)
(89,671)
(5,499)
(7,438)
(1,245)
(6,709)
(49,184)
(683,431)
(30,533)
(131,320)
(4,352)
(14,500)
(937,777)
(113,065)
(31,682)
(93,387)
(202,074)
(73,577)
(59,849)
(11,098,267)
(500,000)
(2,427)
(53,756)
(242,264)
(1,000,000)
(324,772)
(298,197)
(141,374)
(350,000)
(148,869)
0
0
(257,343)
(191,489)
(75,000)
(13,921)
(51,030)
0
0
0
0
(124,280)
(29,000)
(628,332)
(811,834)
(50,000)
(4,000,000)
(1,000,000)
(968,215)
(61,679)
0
(25,000)
(100,000)
(100,000)
(184,000)
(200,000)
(25,743,137)

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 4

PROPOSED SUPPLEMENTARY BUDGETS & BUDGET TRANSFERS
Supplementary Budgets
Description
Chief Executive & Growth Director
Microsoft 365
Microsoft 365
ECL Business Cases
Strata
Consultancy
City Development
Local Plan
Local Plan
Devon Wildlife Trust contribution
Habitats Mitigation income
CIL Consultancy
Liveable Garden City
Exeter Development Fund
One Public Estate - Marsh Barton
One Public Estate - Marsh Barton - Devon County Council Funding
Housing & Supporting People
Enhanced Housing Options
Enhanced Housing Options
RSAP Revenue Grant Funded Expenditure
RSAP Revenue Grant
Accommodation for Ex-Offenders Expenditure
Accommodation for Ex-Offenders Grant
Respite Rooms Grant Funded Expenditure
Respite Rooms Grant
Rough Sleeping Initiative Grant Funded Expenditure
Rough Sleeping Initiative Grant
Respite Rooms Grant Funded Expenditure
Respite Rooms Grant
Protect & Vaccinate Expenditure
Well Being Support Fund
Organsiational Change Programme
Organsiational Change Programme
Organsiational Change Programme
Communications, Culture and Leisure Facilities
Exeter Grants Programme
Playing Pitch Strategy
Sport England
Sport England
Sport England Pathfinder
Sport England Pathfinder
Custom House - net zero budget
Special Event
SSP Tender
Additional Sport resource
Net Zero Exeter & City Management
OPCC Serious Violence Investment grant income
OPCC Serious Violence Investment expenditure
Empty Homes default works expenditure
Empty Homes default works costs recovered
Additional Contain Outbreak Management Fund grant income
Additional Contain Outbreak Management Fund expenditure
Contain Outbreak Management Fund
Play areas equipment and maintenance unspent in 21/22
Bridge inspections unspent Supplementary Budget in 21/22
Exeter City Futures unspent consultancy budget in 20/21
Cathedral Yard Bollard
Bull Meadow
Transformation funding for ISO accreditation and commercial website not spent in 21/22
Kerbside recycling roll out budget to be spent in future years
Belle Isle lighting works at depot not completed during 21/22
North St footbridge not used in 21/22
Engineering budgets not spent in 21/22 needed to resource and deliver projects in 22/23
Net Zero Exeter 2030 plan funding required
Finance
Corporate Property Support for ECL / Citypoint
Consultancy - Bus site wider options
Maternity cover - Financial Services
Corporate Subscriptions - Key Cities membership
Corporate Asset Challenge
Corporate Services
Green Travel Plan
Queens Jubilee
Total

Budget Transfers
Transfer £750k Wonford Initiative budget to Active & Healthy People from Leisure & Sport

Page 123

£ Funded by:
(50,885)
50,885
190,000
184,000
23,820

Brexit grant carry-forward
Brexit grant carry-forward
Earmarked reserve (ECL)
Earmarked reserve
Earmarked reserve (Business Rates pilot)

106,640
173,200
70,000
(70,000)
51,630
777,200
808,750
35,500
(35,500)

Earmarked reserves
GF Balances
Earmarked reserve
Earmarked reserve
CIL Admin
Earmarked Reserve
Earmarked Reserve
Self-financing
Self-financing

257,080
(257,080)
167,500
(167,500)
47,260
(47,260)
17,510
(17,510)
1,109,330
(1,109,330)
266,800
(266,800)
29,000
13,920
321,390
97,000
(97,000)

Self-financing
Self-financing
Self-financing
Self-financing
Self-financing
Self-financing
Self-financing
Self-financing
Self-financing
Self-financing
Self-financing
Self-financing
Earmarked Reserve
Earmarked Reserve
Earmarked Reserve
Self-financing
New Burdens Grant

40,000
20,000
304,110
(304,110)
420,630
(420,630)
(18,790)
100,000
59,850
50,000

Neighbourhood CIL
GF Balances
Self-financing
Self-financing
Self-financing
Self-financing
Additional income from ECQT
Earmarked reserve
Earmarked reserve
Earmarked reserve

(12,000)
12,000
15,000
(15,000)
(55,000)
55,000
124,280
99,700
124,200
33,380
25,000
100,000
12,840
147,340
10,000
128,750
59,750
50,000

Self-financing
Self-financing
Self-financing
Self-financing
Self-financing
Self-financing
Earmarked reserve
GF Balances
GF Balances
Earmarked reserve
Earmarked reserve
Earmarked reserve
Transformation fund
GF Balances
GF Balances
GF Balances
GF Balances
Earmarked reserve

250,000
81,760
100,000
5,000
60,000

Earmarked Reserve
Earmarked Reserve
GF Balances
GF Balances
Transformation Fund

(43,000) Earmarked Reserve
5,000 GF Balances
4,304,610

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 5 July 2022

REPORT TO COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 19 July 2022
Report of: Director Finance
Title: 2021/22 HRA Budget Monitoring Report – Outturn

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1.

What is the report about?
To advise Board members of any major differences, by management unit, between the
approved budget and the outturn for the financial year up to 31 March 2022 in respect of the
Housing Revenue Account and the Council’s new build schemes.
An outturn update in respect of the HRA Capital Programme is also incorporated into this report
in order to help provide a comprehensive financial update in respect of the Housing Revenue
Account.

2.

Recommendations:
2.1. It is recommended the Executive note the report and Council notes and approves (where
applicable):
(1) The supplementary budgets of £550,500 as detailed in paragraph 8.5;
(2) The HRA financial position for 2021/22 financial year; and
(3) The revision of the HRA Capital Programme to reflect the reported variations detailed in
Appendix 4

3.

Reasons for the recommendation:
3.1. To formally note the HRA’s projected financial position and to approve the reported
variations to the HRA Capital Programme.
The Housing Revenue Account is a statutory account and local housing authorities have a duty
to keep a HRA in accordance with proper accounting practices and to review the account
throughout the year. Board members are presented with a quarterly financial update in respect
of the HRA and this is the final update for 2021-22.

1

Page 125

4.

What are the resource implications including non-financial resources
4.1. The financial resources required to deliver both housing services to Council tenants and to
invest in new and existing housing stock during 2021/22 are set out in the body of this report.
The impact on the HRA’s available financial resources are set out in Appendix 3.

5.

Section 151 Officer comments:
5.1 The report also demonstrates the very real challenges in delivering the planned programme
of works. Similar to the General Fund there are challenges with recruitment and delivery of
projects. This has had a significant impact on the expected spend in the year, but merely
pushes the need for expenditure down the line. Members should note that in the current
financial climate there is a risk that costs will rise significantly at the point they are delivered.

6.

What are the legal aspects?
6.1. The Housing Revenue Account is framed by the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.
Section 74 of the Act sets out the duty to keep a Housing Revenue Account and the obligations
in relation to the HRA. This Act created the ring-fence and the structure within which the HRA
operates and covers the detailed operation of the HRA, including the credits (income) and
debits (expenditure) which make up the account.

7.

Monitoring Officer Comments:

7.1. Members will carefully note the content of this report and the impact on the HRA’s available
financial resources and the challenges in delivering the planned programme of works.
Simon Copper (Deputy Monitoring Officer)

8.

Report Details:
HRA FINAL ACCOUNTS TO 31 MARCH 2022
8.1. Background to the HRA

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) records expenditure and income relating to council
dwellings and the provision of services to tenants. Housing authorities have a statutory duty to
maintain a HRA account, which is primarily a landlord account, in order to account to their tenants
for income and expenditure on council housing separately from other functions and services of the
Council. This includes tenancy management, repairs and maintenance, council house building and
council house retrofits.

2

Page 126

8.2. Projected Surplus/Deficit
£

Approved Budgeted transfer from/ (to) the
working balance

6,647,075*

Supplementary budgets – Council approved 20 July
2021

333,000

Revenue Contribution to Capital deferred from
2020/21 – Council approved 20 April 2021

446,550

Revised Budgeted transfer from/ (to) the working
balance
*2021/22 Approved Budget
Represented By
85A1 MANAGEMENT
85A2 TENANCY SERVICES
85A3 SUNDRY LANDS
MAINTENANCE
85A4 REPAIR & MAINTENANCE
PROGRAMME
85A5 REVENUE CONTRIB TO
CAPITAL

7,426,625

£
1,267,435
1,455,550
604,910
6,393,320
7,950,000

85A6 CAPITAL CHARGES
85A7 HOUSING ASSETS
85A8 RENTS
85B2 INTEREST
85B4 MOVEMENT TO/(FROM)
WORKING BALANCE

3,742,940
2,210,260
(19,236,370)
2,259,030
(6,647,075)

The HRA has built up a considerable working balance of £12.950 million as at 31 March 2021.
This is considerably higher than the £4 million contingency resolved to be retained. The HRA
approved Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) plans to reduce the working balance, largely
through significant revenue contributions to capital. This enables the built-up working balance to
be used to fund the HRA capital programme towards planned works, retrofits and Council
House building developments.
The approved budget was in a deficit position of £7.427m due to a large anticipated revenue
contribution to capital in the year of £8.397m.
8.3. The 2021-22 financial year has ended with an overall net deficit of £1.804m. This
represents a movement of £5.622m compared to the budgeted deficit of £7.427m for 2021-22.
The key reason for the variance to budget is a £5m deferral of revenue contribution to capital for
2021-22 due to delays in the capital programme.
Excluding revenue contribution to capital; the service cost areas, managed by the Service
Leads, spend for 21-22 came out very close to budget at 96% overall.
3

Page 127

A projected under-spend of £22k has previously been reported to the board as part of the
quarterly budget monitoring updates. The variances in the final quarter of the financial year
have therefore resulted in further savings of £5.600m. The reasons for this and the main
deviations from budget for the financial year are set out below. Please also refer to Appendix 1.
Budget Heading

Forecast Outturn Actual Budget
Budget Variance at Variance
Quarter 3
(Under)/Overspend (Under)/Overspend

Management Costs

£30,000

£2,431

Officers Responsible:
Assistant Director of Housing (AP)
Assistant Director of Housing (LB)


£48k overspend in empty property council tax charges. A number of invoices
relating to 2020/21 became payable in Q1 of 2021/22. These properties were empty
longer term due to major works and the pandemic and being unable to let them.
Approximately 35 properties were held empty for major works or redevelopment
opportunities.



£25k overspend in business rates. These are back-dated charges for the mobile
offices provided to remote working housing officers.



(£79k) underspend in tenant participation and liaison. The £79k underspend in the
Resident Involvement budget relates to a number of costs areas. These include
room hire, staff costs, consultants fees and community development projects.
During Covid 19 we held less face to face gatherings and relied on remote meetings
there created some underspend. With regard to consultancy fees we budgeted for
higher costs than was actually tendered. Covid again resulted in some delays in our
community development projects and propose to plan these through our
neighbourhood action plan once the strategy is finalised.
A supplementary budget has been requested to carry forward the £79k underspend
into 2022/23, we are confident that this underspend and the 2022/23 budget will be
spent during 2022/23 delivering our Resident Involvement Action plan.



£8k Amalgamation of various under and overspends.

Tenancy Services

£nil

(£162,515)

Officer Responsible:
Assistant Director of Housing (LB)


(£67k) Savings in employee costs due to recruitment delays.



(£36k) service charge income not budgeted in relation to emergency lighting.
Emergency lighting costs are recoverable under service charges and started being
charged to leaseholders during 2021/22.

4

Page 128



(£12.5k) underspend on shared ownership costs. The 2021/22 budget allowed for
costs in anticipation of shared-ownership arrangements. Shared-ownership is not
expected to be offered during 2021/22 therefore this budget is not due to be spent.



(£12.4k) underspend on downsizing scheme costs. £12k of this saving is being
requested as a supplementary budget for 2022/23, in order to bring focus to this
scheme and review incentive offerings.



£25k overspend on utility bills. This reflects the increasing cost of energy. A review
will be undertaken on the process of managing energy bills to ensure that charges
are accurately based on meter readings and any estimated bills are recalculated to
actual.



(£29k) underspend in recharges to other Council services. These recharges are
calculated at each Year End based on the level of works carried out by other
Council departments on behalf of the HRA.



(£16k) underspend on external property valuation fees. This is due to lower than
expected number of valuations and also some valuations have been undertaken
internally which has proved more cost-effective.



(£15k) Amalgamation of various under and overspends.

Sundry Land Maintenance

(£53,640)

(£372,256)

Officer Responsible:
Assistant Director of Housing (AP)
Assistant Director of Housing (LB)


(£60k) underspend on garden assistance. This is a service provided on a monthly
basis and spend is therefore dependent on how many gardens are expected to
be serviced each month.



(£315k) underspend on trees work. This is the result of two issues faced during
the year; COVID has led to a shortage of contractor labour. Subsequently there
are both delivery delays on Ash Die Back and core Arboriculture works, this has
prevented the Arboriculture team from achieving a higher level of spend on the
budget.
Also Ash Die Back is a triage monitored programme of work whereby removals
are only carried out when disease presents with an urgent (red category) need for
remedial works. At the moment we are monitoring all trees with the disease.
Those in amber will likely move into red in the next 12-18 months requiring urgent
works, however to date, there have not been substantial changes in classification
requiring remedial action, for this reason a supplementary budget will be
requested to carry forward £300k of underspend on this budget into 2022-23.
A future plan will be agreed between the Assistant directors of housing and the
service provider, to ensure that budget is aligned with service delivery needs
going-forward.

Repair & Maintenance Programme

£nil
5

Page 129

£6,995

Officer Responsible: Assistant Director of Housing (AP)


£292k overspend on general reactive repairs. The budgetary impact is consistent
with national trends and is potentially a consequence of the COVID periods with
people spending more time at home, properties exhibiting more ‘wear and tear’,
less/delayed capital investment and increased expectations for repair
completions. Close monitoring continues to be in place to scrutinise activity and
expenditure.



£231k overspend on voids. The recent void analysis indicates that we have had a
larger than usual number of void properties this year returned to us with high void
costs which are not capital repairs. Work by the Voids Review Group continues to
examine reasons for this trend and ways to mitigate and it is hoped that Housing
Officer visits will go some way to reducing this pressure. Additionally, as a priority
action the Voids Review Group are currently reviewing the Recharge Policy to
make it fit for purpose and it is anticipated that this will assist in the management
of voids, and the associated costs, moving forward.



(£105k) underspend on Older Persons’ decoration. This service provision has
been temporarily suspended (2021/22) following the COVID period and risk
assessments relating to non-urgent work. Furthermore, we do not currently have
significant demand from tenants. It is likely that we will review and recommence
this service offer to tenants during the 2022/23 financial year.



(£210k) underspend on gas and central heating servicing and maintenance. This
is largely due to continuing efficiencies emerging from the Liberty contract, that
started in 2019/20 and new boiler installs successfully reducing the number of
call-outs.



£159k overspend on asbestos surveys and removals. This is largely due to the
increased activity in the capital programme which resulted in more works during
the year and increase in the level of surveys and asbestos removal works. There
has been an increase in the number of void properties this year and asbestos
surveys and removals are carried out during the void period in order to ensure
long-term safety of the housing stock.



(£165k) underspend on cyclical decorations. This programme has been running
alongside the retrofit capital works programme, spend is dependent on timing of
when work can be arranged and undertaken but was reduced during the period
as a consequence of more brick treatments being carried out and less painting
required.



(£84k) underspend on fire door inspections and fire risk assessments. The new
fire door inspection regulations that were expecting to result in additional costs
during 2021/22 are not being implemented until 2022/23. Fire risk assessments
have been undertaken during the year to meet regulations, the timing of these
works has resulted in the underspend during the year.



(£82k) underspend on communal decorations due to revisions to the cyclical
programme.



(£27k) amalgamation of other under and overspends.

6

Page 130

Revenue Contribution to Capital

(£nil)

(£5,000,000)

Officer Responsible: Assistant Director of Housing (AP)


The amount of revenue contributions required to finance the HRA Capital
programme in 2020-21 has been reduced by £5m for 2021/22 and deferred to
future years. The contribution is still required in future years, so there is no impact
of this on the Medium-Term Financial Plan.
This is due to deferrals in the capital programme.

Capital Charges

£101,155

£87,687

Officer Responsible: not applicable (statutory accounting charge)
Depreciation charges are higher than budgeted due to a valuation increase of the
properties in the portfolio at 2020/21 year end.
Depreciation is a real cost to the HRA as it represents the amount of money which needs
to be set aside in the Major Repairs Reserve to provide for future capital works or to
repay debt.
Housing Assets

£nil

£18,716

Officer Responsible: Assistant Director of Housing (AP)


(£20k) underspend in employee costs, this is due to the timing of filling vacant
positions.



£30k overspend in consultants fees. This is largely related to low carbon works
which have been accelerated during the year, working towards the Council’s
commitment to carbon neutrality and managing the green energy grants.



£9k amalgamation of various minor forecast over and underspends.

Rents

£nil

£101,969

Officer Responsible: Assistant Director of Housing (LB) & Service Lead Revenues,
Benefits and Customer Access


The rent collected for 2021/22 was largely in line with budget – Variance is under
0.6% of budget.

Interest

(£100,000)

Officer Responsible:
Assistant Director of Housing (AP)
Assistant Director of Housing (LB)

7

Page 131

(£305,807)



The 2021/22 budget included interest cost for additional £3.9m approved borrowing.
This additional borrowing is not likely to be required for 12-18 months.



Interest receivable was higher than anticipated as the HRA had higher reserve
balances at Year End than was expected per the budget. This is largely due to
deferrals in the capital programme.

Total budget
(underspend)/overspend

(£22,485)

2021/22 HRA Deficit/ (Surplus)

(£5,622,292)
1,804,333

8.4. Impact on HRA Working Balance
The total budget variances for 2021-22 have resulted in a deficit of £1,804,333 which will be
transferred from the HRA working balance, as set out below.
The HRA Working Balance represents amounts set aside to help facilitate service
improvements, repay debt or to provide investment in the stock in future financial years.
The balance, as at 31 March 2022, is set out below:
Movement

2021/22

Opening HRA Working Balance, as at 1
April 2021
Deficit for 2021/22

£12,950,277
(£1,804,333)
(£4,000,000)

Balance resolved to be retained (HRA
contingency)

7,145,944

Balance Available, as at 31 March
2022
8.5. Supplementary Budgets

There is a requirement for supplementary budgets in 2022/23 as the HRA has identified at the
end of the year a number of revenue budgets that have not been spent but where a
commitment is required in the following financial year.
It is therefore proposed that supplementary budgets totalling £550,500 identified in Appendix 2
are submitted to Executive for approval and added to the 2022/23 budget.

8.6. Major Repairs Reserve
Under self-financing Councils are expected to set aside some of their income each year into the
Major Repairs Reserve, in order to ensure appropriate provision is made towards financing
future capital works or to repay debt. The balance held in the reserve at the end of the financial
year is set out below:

8

Page 132

Movement

2021/22
£15,133,198

Opening Major Repairs Reserve, as at 1
April 2021
Revenue monies set aside during
2021/22

£3,830,627

Amount used to finance capital
expenditure during 2021/22

(£830,447)

Balance, as at 31 March 2022

£18,133,378

8.7. HRA Available Resources over the Medium Term
The forecast HRA available resources for delivering both housing services and capital
investment are set out in Appendix 3 for the period to 2025/26.
The total available resources is made up of several reserve balances; the HRA working
balance, the Useable Capital Receipts reserve and the Major Repairs Reserve.
The HRA working balance is the movement on revenue budgets, contributions can be made
from this reserve towards financing capital budgets in the form of ‘Revenue Contributions to
Capital’. The useable capital receipts reserve is made up of both the Right-to-Buy (RTB)
receipts reserve and the Non-RTB receipts reserve; these reserves are available to finance
capital spend, some restrictions apply. The Major Repairs Reserve is increased each year by
the HRA depreciation charge to revenue, this reserve is then available to spend on the HRA
capital programme.
The total forecast HRA available resources is impacted by variances in both revenue budgets
detailed in section 8.3 above and variances in capital budgets detailed in section 8.12 below.
The forecast total available resources over the Medium-term-Financial-Plan (MTFP) has
improved by £845k since last reported at quarter 3 stage. This is largely as a result of
additional grant funding received in relation to Vaughan Road enabling costs of £717k,
additional Right-To-Buy receipts of £1.4m, offset by a reduction in expected borrowing of £1.3m,
due to a reduction in the delegated powers development budget.
Total available reserves over the MTFP are now expected to be £2.054 million after deducting
the £4 million balance resolved to be retained (HRA contingency).
Due to the number of current projects proceeding through viability assessments, and in
recognition of new Legislation around Decent homes and Fire Safety due in the next 12 months
it is, at this stage, considered prudent to maintain the total available reserves as stated.
8.8. HRA Debt

In October 2018 the Government formally removed the HRA debt cap, which restricted the
amount of borrowing stock-holding local authorities could have for the purposes of the HRA.
The lifting of the ‘debt cap’ means that local authorities are now able to borrow for housebuilding
in accordance with the Prudential Code.
Executive on 8 October 2019 approved the first Council House Building Programme, which will
deliver 100 new homes into the HRA at a cost of £18 million. On 5 April 2020, the Council took
9

Page 133

out a loan of £15.36 million from the PWLB to support this programme. The remaining £2.64
million will be funded by capital receipts.
As at 31 March 2022, the HRA’s borrowing stood at £73.242 million. The total of the £15.360
million new loan and the former ‘debt cap’ level of £57.882 million.
The HRA currently has approval to borrow a further £5.6 million, this will likely be required in the
next 12 to 24 months.
8.9. HRA Capital Programme
The 2021-22 HRA Capital Programme was last reported to Executive on 5 April 2022. Since
that meeting the following changes have been made that have increased the programme.
Description

2021/22 Approval / Funding

HRA Capital Programme

£24,894,913
£4,129,271 Executive – 5 April 2022

Additional approved budget
Savings/reapportioned budgets

(£2,055,319) Executive – 5 April 2022

Budgets deferred to future
financial years

(£3,777,666) Executive – 5 April 2022

Budgets brought back from future
years

£23,786,083

Revised HRA Capital
Programme

8.10.

£594,884 Executive – 5 April 2022

Performance

HRA Capital expenditure in the year amounted to £19,334,475 which equates to 81% of the
revised approved capital programme (as set out above). The nature of capital investment in the
financial year comprised:
HRA Capital Expenditure

£

Capital investment in existing stock

14,183,561
5,150,914

Capital investment in the provision of
new council homes
Total HRA Capital Expenditure

19,334,475

A detailed list of HRA capital budgets and actual expenditure is set out in Appendix 4.
It is proposed to carry forward a total of £4.716 million budget into future years, whereas £0.260
million budget has been brought forward from future years and spent in 2021/22 (giving a net
budget carry forward of £4.456 million), as indicated in Appendix 4.
10

Page 134

8.11.

HRA Capital Financing

The total HRA capital expenditure for 2021-22 will be financed as follows:
HRA Capital Finance

£

Major Repairs Reserve

897,224

Revenue Contribution to Capital

3,396,550

Capital Receipts

4,182,272

Commuted sums (S106)

708,953

Borrowing

7,239,498

External contributions

592,424

Grants

2,317,555

Total HRA Capital Financing

19,334,475

The impact on the capital resources available to the HRA over the next 4 years is set out in
Appendix 3.
8.12.

Capital Budget Variances

The details of key (greater than +/- £50k) variances from budget are set out below. The
Assistant Director of Housing (AP) will be able to provide further details in respect of these
areas, if required.
Scheme

Overspend / (Underspend)

Communal Doors and Screens

(£116,278)

Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead
The communal doors and screens programme has been revaluated and it is now
expected that the above amount will no longer be required. The 2022-23 and beyond
budgets have been assessed as adequate for the works required in this area.
Energy retrofit

£218,938

Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead
Planned work programmes were refocussed from the start of 2021/22 to reflect the
Council’s carbon neutrality ambitions and deliver affordable warmth for our tenants. This
necessitated a period of budget realignment where some over and under spends will be
reported this year as we transition to the revised capital programme.
Additionally, the Council received Green Energy Grants towards funding carbon
reduction works on the housing stock. These grants have significantly accelerated this
energy retrofit programme of works for 2021/22 which includes; cavity wall insulation,
solar PV panels, loft insulation and heating upgrades. The grant conditions dictate that
a landlord contribution is expected, so the HRA does have to finance a proportion of
each retrofit out of its available resources.
11

Page 135

A number of properties were energy retrofitted but did not meet the criteria for the green
energy grant, so additional properties had to be added to the programme in order to
meet the requirements of the grant before the end of the year. This has resulted in an
additional £218k being spent in 2021/22 over and above what was anticipated.
Fire Risk Assessment works – Planned

(£102,660)

Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead
This budget is for replacement front and internal fire doors. The initial and more urgent
fire door replacements, where the existing door was not adequate, have been installed
during 2021/22 and the next round of replacing existing doors has now commenced.
The MTFP budget has been revaluated and it is now expected that the above amount
will no longer be required. The 2022-23 and beyond budgets have been assessed as
adequate for the works required in this area.
Window replacements

(£51,030)

Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead
Programme rearrangements, and efficiencies via procurement and contractor
management have resulted in savings from the 2021/22 budget.
Energiesprong (Zebcat)

£51,030

Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead
The contractor on this project went into administration in early 2022. A new contractor
has therefore been appointed to undertake the final works in 2022/23 at additional
expected cost of £50k. It was essential for the Council to complete these works which,
for a number of reasons, had been ongoing for a number of years. The works are now
complete.

8.13.

Schemes to be deferred to 2022/23 and beyond

Schemes which have been identified as being wholly or partly deferred to 2022/23 and beyond
are:
Scheme

Budget deferred
to/(brought forward
from) future years

Adaptions

£90,846

Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead
There are some large adaptions projects that have required formal procurement of
contracts due to size. This has resulted in some works that were planned for 2021/22
being deferred into 2022/23.
Bathroom replacements

£71,896

Kitchen replacements

£53,541

12

Page 136

Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead
The contractor in place for these works went into administration in early 2022 which
resulted in a disruption to this programme in quarter 4 of 2021/22. A new contractor
has taken over this contract and works are expected to get underway again in early
2022/23.
Boiler replacements

£82,059

Officer Responsible – Compliance Lead
The boiler replacement programme has accelerated this year due to the need to
replace a number of obsolete models which were unviable to maintain and were
placing additional pressure on repairs budgets. Budget was brought forward from
2022/23 in anticipation of the contractor, Liberty making good progress with this
replacement programme and getting ahead of the expected programme for 2021/22,
not all of the brought forward budget was required in 2021/22 and therefore will be
deferred into 2022/23.
Fire Risk Assessment Works – Planned

£54,757

Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead
This budget is for replacement front and internal fire doors. The initial and more urgent
fire door replacements, where the existing door was not adequate, have been installed
during 2021/22 and the next round of replacing existing doors has now commenced,
this programme will continue into 2022/23.
LAINGS refurbishments

£242,476

Officer Responsible – Assistant Director of Housing (AP)
Following the termination of the Contract with the previous contractor, work has been
carried out to secure an alternative contractor to complete the 6 properties nearest to
completion. The final 6 properties will be fully re-procured later in the year. Initial cost
estimates have been received to evidence this budget requirement for 2022/23.
Reroofing - Flats

£133,285

Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead
There are some large flat re-roofing projects expected in 2022-23 and the deferral of
2021-22 budget will go towards financing these projects.
Reroofing - Houses

(£151,496)

Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead
It has been identified that in order to prepare properties for carbon reduction upgrades,
some roofing works are required. Surveys confirmed that a significant number of roofs
needed renewal including the installation of insulation and ventilation. Additionally, the
roofing programme was accelerated in order to achieve Green Homes Grant full
13

Page 137

allocation and spend and some future budget has been brought back into 2021-22 to
finance.
Rennes House

£96,800

Officer Responsible – Assistant Director of Housing (AP)
With Rennes House tenant engagement now completed it is possible to set out the
timescale for the demolition of the building which is aligned to the development of
alternative housing at Vaughan Road. The Rennes scheme will likely commence in 24
months’ time subject to final confirmation of the financial business by Members later
this year. This budget has therefore been re-profiled accordingly.
Structural repairs

£336,966

Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead
Additional budget was requested for structural repairs in 2021/22 Q3 this was in
relation to anticipated additional structural works required on energy retrofit properties.
The properties undertaking retrofit works in Q4 of 2021/22 required less structural
repairs that anticipated. It is expected that this budget will be required in 2022/23 to
cover retrofit properties that will require structural works.
Window replacements

£218,196

Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead
The window replacement programme is aligned with several other programmes and
the timing of expenditure therefore depends on several factors. The budget will be
required in future years.
Energiesprong (Zebcat)

£50,000

Officer Responsible – Planned Works Lead
The contractor on this project went into administration in early 2022. A new contractor
has therefore been appointed to undertake the final works in 2022/23.
Social Housing Acquisitions - Open Market

£1,023,546

Officer Responsible – Assistant Director of Housing (LB)
The purpose of this budget is to allow the HRA to buy properties on the open market
to increase the stock available for social housing in-line with asset management
strategy.
Properties are identified throughout the year and offers are made, subject to approval
under delegated authority. The timing of spend on this budget is therefore subject to
properties coming on to the market that fall within strategy and the house purchase
process.
14

Page 138

Extra Care Scheme

£331,421

Officer Responsible – Assistant Director of Housing (AP)
Some alterations to the building are being carried out to match the care requirements.
Highways works are substantially complete so some costs can now be reclaimed back
to this budget from the neighbouring private care village owner.
Delegated Powers (DP) development budget

£1,700,000

Officer Responsible – Officer Responsible – Assistant Director of Housing (AP)
The DP budget is available to allow the Assistant director of housing the flexibility to
make decisions that would result in increased housing stock, whether by property
purchase or development. The timing of spend on this budget is therefore subject to
opportunities arising.
Council own build (Phase 3) – 4 Proposed Sites

£88,700

Officer Responsible – Officer Responsible – Assistant Director of Housing (AP)
The budgets were requested to engage Exeter City Living to undertake feasibility
assessments on four sites with a view to delivering the next phase of new, high quality
and low-carbon Council homes. This work will largely be undertaken in 2022/23

9.

Historic Council own build Final Accounts to 31 March 2022
9.1. The Council’s own build properties at Rowan House and Knights Place form part of the
overall Housing Revenue Account, but separate income and expenditure budgets are
maintained in order to ensure that they are self-financing.
As the 21 units were built using HCA funding in conjunction with borrowing (£998k), they are
accounted for separately in order to ensure that they self-financing. A separate COB working
balance and Major Repairs Reserve are maintained until such time as a sufficient balance has
been accumulated to repay the debt attributable to these properties, at which point the units can
be accounted for with the wider HRA stock.
9.2. Key Variances from Budget
The 2021-22 year has ended with an overall net surplus of £4,760, which will be transferred to
the COB working balance. This represents an increase of £30,530, compared to the budgeted
transfer from the working balance of £25,770. Please refer to Appendix 1 for more details.
The variance is largely due to lower than expected repairs and maintenance costs in relation to
the properties.

10.

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?

The Housing Revenue Account contributes to a key purposes, as set out in the Corporate Plan;
Building great neighbourhoods.

11.

What risks are there and how can they be reduced?
15

Page 139

For clarity, these are specific financial risks, alongside the risks captured in the corporate risk
register.
It is not permissible for the HRA to go into an overall financial deficit position, it is therefore
important to ensure that an adequate level of HRA balances is maintained as a contingency
against risks. The HRA resolve to retain a working balance at no less than £4 million to mitigate
against financial risks.
Areas of budgetary risk are highlighted to committee as part of the quarterly budget monitoring
updates.

12.

Equality Act 2010 (The Act)

12.1. Under the Act’s Public Sector Equality Duty, decision makers are required to consider the
need to:




eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct;
advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking account of
disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and
foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting understanding

12.2. In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on equality of
decisions, policies and practices. These duties do not prevent the authority from reducing
services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the
impacts on all members of the community.
12.3. In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex and
gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and new and
breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a decision.
12.4. In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people with
protected characteristics as determined by the Act because there are no significant equality and
diversity impacts associated with this decision.
13.

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:

We are working towards the Council’s commitment to carbon neutral by 2030. The impact of
each scheme is considered prior to approval.

14.

Are there any other options?

None.

Director Finance, David Hodgson
Author: Kayleigh Searle

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:16

Page 140

None
Contact for enquires:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 4.36
01392 265275

17

Page 141

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 1
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
REVENUE OUTTURN
APRIL 2021 TO MARCH 2022

Page 143

85A1
85A2
85A3
85A4
85A5
85A6
85A7
85A8
85B2
85B4

QUARTER 3
FORECAST
OUTTURN

APPROVED
BUDGET

Code

Management
Tenancy Services
Sundry Lands Maintenance
Repairs & Maintenance Programme
Revenue Contribution to Capital
Capital Charges
Housing Assets
Rents
Interest
Movement to/(from) Working Balance

1 April 2021

OVERALL
VARIANCE TO
BUDGET

VARIANCE TO
BUDGET

£

£

£

£

£

%

1,353,435
1,406,550
744,910
6,561,320
8,396,550
3,742,940
2,198,260
(19,236,370)
2,259,030
(7,426,625)

1,344,435
1,445,550
691,270
6,561,320
8,396,550
3,844,095
2,198,260
(19,236,370)
2,159,030
(7,404,140)

1,356,354
1,244,035
372,654
6,568,315
3,396,550
3,830,627
2,216,976
(19,134,401)
1,953,223
(1,804,333)

11,919
(201,515)
(318,616)
6,995
(5,000,000)
(13,468)
18,716
101,969
(205,807)
5,599,807

2,919
(162,515)
(372,256)
6,995
(5,000,000)
87,687
18,716
101,969
(305,807)
5,622,292

0
(12)
(50)
0
(60)
2
1
(1)
(14)

0

0

0

0

0

12,950,277

31 March 2022

11,145,944

Net Expenditure
Working Balance

VARIANCE
SINCE
QUARTER 3

2021-22
OUTTURN

COUNCIL OWN BUILD SITES

H005
H006
H007
H008
H009

QUARTER 3
FORECAST
OUTTURN

APPROVED
BUDGET

Code

Management
Rowan House
Knights Place
Interest
Capital Charges
Movement to/(from) Working Balance
Net Expenditure
Working Balance

1 April 2021

VARIANCE
SINCE
QUARTER 3

2021-22
OUTTURN

OVERALL
VARIANCE TO
BUDGET

VARIANCE TO
BUDGET

£

£

£

£

£

%

74,830
(10,730)
(61,700)
7,590
15,780
(25,770)

74,830
(10,730)
(61,700)
7,590
18,132
(28,122)

64,082
(12,814)
(80,803)
6,643
18,132
4,760

(10,748)
(2,084)
(19,103)
(947)
0
32,882

(10,748)
(2,084)
(19,103)
(947)
2,352
30,530

(14.4)
19.4
31.0
(12.5)
14.9
(118.5)

0

0

0

0

0

317,178 31 March 2022

321,938

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2
Supplementary Budget Requests for 2022/23
Cost centre

Purpose

Amount (£)

H004
H047
H041
H060
H056
H053

Replacement mobile phones for officers
Tenant participation
Downsizing scheme
Estate maintenance - Trees communal
Gas servicing and maintenance
Electrical testing - dwellings

Total for the HRA

5,000
79,000
12,000
300,000
140,000
14,500

550,500

Page 145

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 3

HRA AVAILABLE RESOURCES
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

2021-22
£

2022-23
£

2023-24
£

2024-25
£

2025-26
£

CAPITAL RESOURCES AVAILABLE
Usable Receipts Brought Forward
Major Repairs Reserve Brought Forward

TOTAL
£
9,600,363
15,133,198

Other HRA Sales
RTB sales
Surrender back to DCLG - pending investment in
replacement affordable housing
Major Repairs Reserve
Revenue Contributions to Capital
External contributions
Grant funding - Green Energy
Commuted sums
Borrowing
Land Release Fund grant

1,349,310
3,575,141

150,000
825,000

150,000
825,000

150,000
825,000

200,000
825,000

3,830,627
3,396,550
592,424
1,600,000
708,954
7,239,498
717,555

3,830,620
5,000,000

3,780,620
4,000,000
-

(2,158,229)
3,705,620
3,000,000
-

3,655,620
3,100,000

112,402
4,100,000

750,000

750,000

23,010,059

14,018,022

9,505,620

6,272,391

7,780,620

85,320,273

24,894,913

21,828,854
(2,989,793)
756,467

15,810,560
1,363,221
2,635,021

10,051,220
1,626,572
(208,706)

9,070,573

4,500,861

(72,778)

27,302

(2,750,000)

(909,975)

3,659,975

81,656,120
2,073,952
3,776
-

19,334,474

21,346,389

18,826,049

15,156,363

9,070,573

83,733,848

9,600,363
15,133,198
23,010,059
(19,334,474)

10,342,543
18,066,602
14,018,022
(21,346,389)

7,301,697
13,779,081
9,505,620
(18,826,049)

5,601,108
6,159,241
6,272,391
(15,156,363)

2,117,881
758,497
7,780,620
(9,070,573)

9,600,363
15,133,198
60,586,712
(83,733,848)

28,409,146

21,080,778

11,760,349

2,876,377

1,586,425

1,586,425

Balance Brought Forward

12,950,277

11,145,944

6,522,288

4,444,210

4,327,113

12,950,277

HRA Balance Transfer - to/(from) Working Balance

(7,426,625)

(1,154,130)

(72,405)

114,280

164,311

(8,374,569)

80,974

194,327

268,623

276,465

820,389

(200,000)

(500,000)

(300,000)

(1,000,000)

Total Resources available

1,999,310
6,875,141
(2,158,229)
18,803,107
18,496,550
592,424
1,600,000
821,356
12,839,498
717,555

CAPITAL PROGRAMME
HRA Capital Programme
COB developments re-profiling
Q3 - Slippage / Re-profiling
Q3- Overspends / (Savings)
Q4 - Slippage / Re-profiling
Q4- Overspends / (Savings)
Q4 - COB II reprofiling

(3,182,782)
2,073,952
(4,455,385)
3,776

Total Housing Revenue Account
UNCOMMITTED CAPITAL RESOURCES:
Usable Receipts Brought Forward
Major Repairs Reserve Brought Forward
Resources in Year
Less Estimated Spend
Uncommitted Capital Resources

WORKING BALANCE RESOURCES:

Supplementary budget - Edward's Court net revenue
Revenue Contribution to Capital update
Cumulative under/(over)spend 2021-22

5,622,292

Supplementary budget requests 2021/22

(3,000,000)

(2,000,000)

622,292

(550,500)

(550,500)

Balance Carried Forward

11,145,944

6,522,288

4,444,210

4,327,113

4,467,889

4,467,889

Balance Resolved to be Retained
Uncommitted HRA Working Balance
balance resolved to be retained of £4m)

(4,000,000)

(4,000,000)

(4,000,000)

(4,000,000)

(4,000,000)

(4,000,000)

7,145,944

2,522,288

444,210

327,113

467,889

467,889

35,555,090

23,603,066

12,204,559

3,203,490

2,054,314

2,054,314

(after

TOTAL AVAILABLE CAPITAL RESOURCES (after
balance resolved to be retained of £4m)

Page 147

This page is intentionally left blank

2021-22
CAPITAL MONITORING - OUTTURN
2021-22 Capital
Programme

2021-22 Spend 2021-22 Budget to
be Carried
Forward to Future
Years

TO 2022-23

TO 2023-24

£

£

£

£

560,000
90,000
695,000
855,000
264,340
46,000
450,000
460,000
15,760
136,000
430,000
4,744,440
20,000
400,000
325,000
10,000
2,171
860,000
937,025
0
419,000
1,266,000
28,000
100,000
6,571
940,000
1,350,000
3,469
31,952

469,154
48,796
623,104
772,941
242,694
37,990
333,722
451,357
23,720
166,257
470,014
4,963,378
14,203
411,732
167,583
6,580
7,677
806,459
694,549
0
285,715
1,417,496
27,763
3,200
16,063
603,034
1,080,774
4,624
32,982

90,846
41,204
71,896
82,059
21,646
8,010

90,846
41,204
71,896
82,059
21,646
8,010

8,643
(7,960)
(30,257)
(40,014)

8,643
(7,960)

(11,732)
54,757
3,420

(11,732)
54,757
3,420
0
53,541
242,476
0
133,285
(50,499)
237

TO 2024-25

£

2021-22
Programme
Variances
(Under)/Over
£

£

HRA CAPITAL

Page 149

EVERYONE HAS A HOME
Adaptations
Balcony Walkway Improvements
Bathroom Replacements (inc. Communal)
Boiler Replacement Programme & Central Heating
Common Area Footpath & Wall Improvements
Communal Area Improvements - New Flooring
Communal Door and Screen Replacements
Door Replacements (inc. Outbuildings)
Electrical Central Heating
Electrical Rewires - Communal
Electrical Rewires - Domestic
Energy retrofit
Estate Improvements
Fire Risk Assessment Works - Compliance
Fire Risk Assessment Works - Planned
Fire Safety Storage Facilities
Garage Upgrades
Kitchen Replacements (inc. Communal)
LAINGS Refurbishments
Lift Upgrades
Reroofing - Flats
Reroofing - Houses (outbuildings, chimney, gutters, downpipes, fascia)
Porch Canopies
Rennes House Structural Works
Soil Vent Pipe Replacement
Structural Repairs
Window Replacements
Housing Management system
Zebcat Project

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT TOTAL

15,445,728

14,183,561

53,541
242,476
133,285
(151,496)
237
96,800

(30,257)
(40,014)

(50,499)

(50,499)
96,800

336,966
218,196

336,966
218,196

50,000

50,000

1,272,523

1,346,991

(120,770)

46,301

(116,278)
218,938
(5,797)
(102,660)
5,506
9,492
0
(51,030)
1,155
51,030

10,356

COUNCIL OWN BUILD CAPITAL
Social Housing Acquisitions - Open Market

1,319,281

295,735

1,023,546

1,023,546

-

St Loyes Extracare Scheme

1,513,008

1,181,587

331,421

331,421

-

Council House Building Programme - Bovemoors Lane

105,358

95,155

10,203

10,203

Council House Building Programme - Hamlin Gardens

150,000

102,008

47,992

Council House Building Programme - Vaughan Road

1,000,000

1,019,000

(19,000)

Thornpark Rise

2,458,508

2,451,929

DP budget

1,700,000

Council Own Build (Phase 3)

COUNCIL OWN BUILD TOTAL
OVERALL HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT TOTAL

94,200

5,500

47,992

(19,000)

(6,579)

1,700,000

1,700,000

-

88,700

88,700

-

8,340,355

5,150,914

3,182,862

3,153,870

47,992

(19,000)

(6,579)

23,786,083

19,334,475

4,455,385

4,500,861

(72,778)

27,301

3,777

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 5 July 2022

REPORT TO COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 19 July 2022
Report of: Director Finance
Title: Treasury Management 2021/22

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1.

What is the report about?
To report on the current Treasury Management performance for the 2021/22 financial
year and the position regarding investments and borrowings at 31 March 2022. The
report is a statutory requirement and is for information only with no key decisions
required.

2.

Recommendations:
It is recommended that the Executive and Council note the content of this report.

3.

Reasons for the recommendation:
It is a statutory requirement for the Council to publish regular reports on Treasury
Management to Council. This includes an annual Treasury Management Strategy and
half yearly report and a year-end report as a minimum.

4.

What are the resource implications including non financial resources?
The report is an update on the overall performance in respect of treasury management for
the 2021/22 financial year. Therefore, there are no financial or non-financial resource
implications.

5.

Section 151 Officer comments:
The cost of borrowing is rising (and quickly). This will have a significant, negative impact
on the affordability of our future capital programme, where borrowing has not yet been
undertaken. Interest rates are a full 1% above where they sat at the turn of the year and
as a reminder each 1% adds £10,000 per million borrowed, so as an example, the £37m
condition survey works would cost an extra £370,000 a year in interest costs. Members
need to be mindful of this when considering the capital programme and particularly any
additions.

Page 151

6.

What are the legal aspects?
The CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) Code of Practice on
Treasury Management recommends that members be updated on treasury management
activities regularly. This report, therefore, ensures this Council is implementing best
practice in accordance with the Code. Adoption of the Code is required by regulations
laid under the Local Government Act 2003.

7.

Monitoring Officer’s comments:

This is a treasury update for Members which is required by statute in order to provide an
update on the overall performance of treasury management for the 2021/2022 financial year.
Members must carefully consider the report and note the content.
(Simon Copper – Deputy Monitoring Officer)

8.

Report details:
8.1. Economic Context and Interest Rate forecast
Interest rate forecasts, provided by our Advisors, are set out below

Our advisors forecast that the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) will reluctantly increase
Bank Rate at a much faster pace through 2022 to try and keep inflation in check, with
further rises of 0.25% in June, and then in each of the three subsequent quarters to peak
at 2% by the close of the year. However, those increases in Bank Rate are likely to add to
the considerable headwinds impacting the UK economy and, therefore, tentatively they
anticipate a small reduction in Bank Rate in 2024. As 2022 proceeds they will be in a
better position to judge the overall strength of those economic headwinds and will revise
forecasts as appropriate.
With inflation set to keep rising, households are in for a prolonged period of negative real
wage growth. The surge in CPI inflation to a new 30-year high of 6.2% in February means
that it is now more than three times the Bank of England’s 2% target.
CPI inflation is now forecast to rise to above 10% in Q4 2022. The 54% rise in utility
prices on 1st April added an extra 1.4ppts to CPI inflation in April. And the surge in
agricultural commodity prices triggered by the war in Ukraine means that food price
inflation is expected to soon climb above 6%.
We are seeing an increase in the level of interest rates that can be earned on our
investment portfolio.

Page 152

PWLB borrowing interest rates have increased significantly in the early part of 2022. This
will potentially make future capital plans more expensive and challenging to deliver.

9.

Treasury Management Strategy
The Council approved the 2021/22 Treasury Management Strategy at its meeting on 23
February 2021. The Council’s stated investment strategy was to continue to hold small
surplus funds and to seek to utilise its Call Accounts, Money Market Funds, use the
Government’s Debt Management Office and use short dated deposits which would be
placed with Local Authorities, Banks or Building Societies which are on the Council’s
counterparty list.
The Council’s stated borrowing strategy was to defer borrowing until later years, where
possible, and to reduce the size of the Council’s investment balance instead, however
some targeted long term borrowing will be undertaken, where the costs will be offset
against future income streams.
The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position; so the actual borrowings
of the Council are below the Council’s borrowing requirement, as it has taken advantage
of internal borrowings. This means that the Council’s borrowing need (the Capital
Financing Requirement), has not been fully funded with loan debt, as cash supporting the
Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been used as a temporary measure. This
strategy is prudent as investment returns were low and to mitigate exposure to
counterparty risk.

10. Net Interest Position
10.1. The General Fund shows an improvement against the estimate for net interest
payable, the position is:

£

Actual
Outturn
£

1,557,000

1,272,808

(284,192)

(332,700)
(1,205,000
)
(9,300)
(25,780)
(4,220)

(89,181)

243,519

(448,669)

756,331

(9,485)
(25,779)
(4,293)

(185)
1
(73)

253,427
31,254
1,490
3,511
26

3,427
(63,746)
1,490
(1,389)
(74)

Estimate

Interest paid

Variation
£

Interest earned
Temporary investment interest
ECL Loan
Other interest earned
Science Park Loan
CVS Loan
Less
Interest to HRA
Interest to S106 agreements
Interest to deposits held
Interest to Trust Funds
Lord Mayors Charity

250,000
95,000
0
4,900
100

Page 153

GF interest (received) / paid out

Net Interest
CCLA – LAPF Dividend

(1,227,000
)

(287,699)

939,301

330,000

985,109

655,09

(180,000)

(214,131)

(34,131)

0

0

0

150,000

770,978

620,978

Investment Loss – General
Fund
Net Interest after dividends

Net interest for 2021/22 was £621k higher than budget. An expected overspend of £609k
was reported to Executive in the general fund revenue budget monitoring report on 19
April 2022.
The key reasons for the variance to budget are as follows:
The budgeted interest payable for 2021/22 anticipated that the Council would take out
additional borrowings in the year to finance a further loan to the wholly owned property
development company; ECL. The additional borrowings were not required in 2021/22,
saving £490k of interest payable.
A loan was taken out in December 2021 to finance the purchase of the Guildhall shopping
centre. The interest on this loan for 2021/22 of £210k was not factored in to the original
budget.
The interest receivable for 2021/22 was £931k lower than budget. This is due to two key
factors; the above mentioned loan to ECL will now not take place until 2022/23 and
therefore the related expected interest was not receivable during the year; and the
Council received significantly lower than expected rates of interest on investments during
2021/22, investment interest rates were at record lows throughout 2021/22 following the
economic recession caused by the global pandemic.
10.2.Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
The HRA earned £253,427 interest on its balances. This is calculated on the following:



HRA working balance;
The balance of funds in the Major Repairs Reserve and Useable Capital Receipts

However it has also had to pay interest on borrowing. As members will be aware, the
Council had to borrow £56,884,000 to buy itself out of the HRA subsidy scheme, since
the borrowing cap was lifted in October 2018, the HRA has borrowed a further £15.36m
towards new Council hosing development projects.
Interest of £2,181,363 has been charged to the HRA to cover the interest payment.
Additionally £9,485 has been charged on the borrowing used to fund the Council’s Own
Build properties.

Page 154

11. Investment Interest
A number of Money Market Funds have been set up by the Council, which also allow
immediate access to our funds and spreads risk as it is pooled with investments by other
organisations and invested across a wide range of financial institutions.
11.1
The council has made two investments, totalling £5m, in the CCLA – LAMIT
property fund (April and November 2016). As at 31 March 22 the fund size was
approximately £1,439.1 million, the dividend yield as at the end of March was 3.25%,
which is significantly higher than the returns on other investment options available.
The investment in the property fund is a long term commitment which will mean that
there will be fluctuations in the return over the period of the investment. Details of
the current value of the investment are provided later in the report.
11.2

The Council’s investments as at 31 March 2022 are:

Money Market Funds
Interest
rate*

Amount

Investment

£10,000,000
£nil

Federated Investors
Aberdeen Standard Investments
CCLA - The Public Sector Deposit
Fund

£10,000,000

0.06%
0.07%
0.11%

Black Rock Asset Management
0.04%
£10,000,000
* Interest rate is variable (therefore rates quoted are an average of 2021/22 rates)
Fixed Term Deposits – Current
Amount
£5,000,000
£5,000,000
£5,000,000
£5,000,000

£5,000,000

£3,000,000
£3,000,000
£5,000,000
£3,000,000

Investment
Plymouth City
Council
Blackpool Council
London Borough of
Croydon
Slough Borough
Council
Royal Borough of
Windsor &
Maidenhead
Standard
Chartered
Sustainable
deposit *
Goldman Sachs
Wrexham County
Borough Council
Surrey Heath
Borough Council

Interest
rate

Date
Invested

Maturity
Date

0.10%
0.07%

28/06/2021
24/08/2021

28/06/2022
24/05/2022

365
273

0.10%

18/11/2021

18/05/2022

181

0.08%

12/11/2021

12/05/2022

181

0.03%

17/11/2021

17/05/2022

181

0.29%
0.37%

15/10/2021
15/12/2021

14/04/2022
15/06/2022

181
182

0.06%

22/10/2021

22/04/2022

182

0.10%

14/12/2021

14/06/2022

182

Page 155

No. of
Days

£30,000,00
Debt Management
0
Office
0.54%
31/03/2022
07/04/2022
7
*The Standard Chartered Sustainable deposit guarantees that investment is referenced
against sustainable assets aligned to the United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals
(SDGs).
Property Funds

Amount
£5,000,000

Investment
CCLA – LAMIT Property
Fund

Dividend
Yield
4.28%

The value of the investment as at 31 March 2022 was £5,501,251. At the end of the
financial year the value of the investment in the Property Fund is adjusted to equal the
number of units held multiplied by the published bid price, with the gain or loss taken to
the Available for Sale Reserve. Movements in the unit price therefore have no impact on
the General Fund until the investment is sold or impaired.

12. Borrowings
12.1. The Council’s long term borrowing is currently £167.759 million (£95.515 million
General Fund and £72.244 HRA) and there is currently no short-term borrowings. Details
of loans are set out below.
12.2. The Council made a one-off payment on 28 March 2012, to buy itself out of the
HRA subsidy system. The final settlement figure of £56.884 million was confirmed in
February 2012. The amount was borrowed from the Public Works Loans Board over a 50
year period and in repayable on maturity at the end of the loan term. The interest rate
was 3.48% fixed for the term of the loan.
Existing loans
Amount

Lender

Intere
st
rate

End date

£56,884,000

PWLB maturity (HRA)

3.48%

28/03/2062

£1,998,419

PWLB 25 year annuity

2.34%

11/01/2044

£1,981,517

PWLB 25 year annuity

2.08%

04/04/2044

£4,342,132

PWLB 30 year annuity

1.61%

26/09/2049

£8,330,308

PWLB 35 year annuity

1.71%

26/09/2054

£34,862,247

PWLB 50 year annuity

1.80%

26/09/2069

£15,360,000

PWLB maturity (HRA)

1.31%

14/04/2070

£44,000,000

PWLB 50 year annuity

1.78%

24/12/2071

Page 156

13. Future Position
13.1 The capital financing forecast includes a borrowing requirement of £113.336 million
over the medium-term financial plan (£107.736 million General Fund and £5.6 million
HRA). The decision of whether to take external long-term borrowing will be made in light
of current and forecast interest rates and the decision is delegated to the section 151
Officer and Leader of the Council.
13.2 The Council’s four Money Market Funds which are AAA rated, currently offer rates
which vary from 0.87% to 0.94%, these rates are likely to improve throughout 2022/23.
13.3 The short term investments that are made through the call accounts and money
market funds ensure cash can be accessed immediately. This has an ongoing impact on
returns but increases the security of our cash.
13.4 We will also lend, when possible, to institutions on the Council’s counterparty list
which includes other Local Authorities, UK and Foreign owned banks and the Debt
Management Office. The rates received for Local Authority deposits are currently
between 1.5% and 2.2% per annum, these rates are likely to improve throughout
2022/23.

14. New Investment Opportunities
14.1 Officers meet with the Council’s treasury advisors in order to explore alternative
investment opportunities.
14.2 Officers will continue to liaise to treasury advisors in respect of new investment
opportunities. Any decisions taken will comply with the code of practice that requires the
council to invest its funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its
investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.
14.3 If an amendment to the current treasury management strategy is required, a report
will be presented to committee requesting the necessary amendments.

15. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?
Treasury Management supports the Council in generating additional funds for investing in
Services, whilst minimising the amount of interest paid on borrowings. It does not in itself
contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan.

16. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?
The council uses treasury management advisors who continually provide updates on the
economic situation, interest rates and credit ratings of financial institutions. They also
provide a counterparty list which details the financial institutions which meet the council’s
treasury management strategy.

17. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)
11.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equalities Duty, decision makers are required to
consider the need to:


eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct;

Page 157




advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking
account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and
foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting
understanding.

11.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on
equality of decisions, policies and practices. These duties do not prevent the authority
from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals
that consider the impacts on all members of the community.
11.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex
and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and
new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a
decision.
17.4 In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people
with protected characteristics as determined by the Act because there are no significant
equality and diversity impacts associated with this decision.

18. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:
We are working towards the Council’s commitment to carbon neutral by 2030. The impact
of each new investment is considered prior to approval.

19. Are there any other options?
None

Director Finance, David Hodgson
Author: Kayleigh Searle

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:None
Contact for enquires:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 4.36
01392 265275

Page 158

Agenda Item 11
REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
5 July 2022

REPORT TO COUNCIL
19 July 2022
Report of: Director Net Zero Exeter & City Management
Title: Allocation of the one off Net Zero budget

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1.

What is the report about?
1.1 To confirm and approve the planned spend of the £1m earmarked reserve to support
the delivery of Net Zero for the City Council and delivery of the Net Zero Exeter 2030
plan, covering the next 4 years.

2.

Recommendations:
That Executive recommends and Council approves:
2.1 The allocation of the £1m earmarked reserve to support the delivery of Net Zero for
the City Council and the Net Zero Exeter 2030 plan, covering the next 4 years;
2.2 Of the £1m earmarked reserve, £800,000 is allocated to delivering net zero for the
City Council and £200,000 is allocated to the delivery of the Net Zero Exeter 2030 Plan;
2.3 An additional £50,000 from the underspent supplementary budget in 2021/22 is
allocated to support the delivery of the Net Zero Exeter 20230 Plan.

3.

Reasons for the recommendation:
3.1 To provide a revenue budget to deliver activity to support net zero projects and
initiatives, to reduce City Council carbon emissions.
3.2 To support with the delivery of the goals and actions within the Net Zero Exeter 2030
Plan.
3.3 To enable delivery and progress of one of the main City Council’s corporate priorities,
supporting the Portfolio Holder for Climate Change.

4.

What are the resource implications including non financial resources.
4.1 The following two temporary posts were added to the structure at Executive and
Council July 2021, to support the delivery of Net zero within the City Council:


Sustainability Project Officer

Page 159



Net Zero Data & Support Officer

4.2 Through Delegated Powers, these two posts were extended for a further two years,
resulting in each role being within the structure for four years in total, funded by the one
off temporary budget.
4.3 The temporary Net Zero budget will be used to deliver activity internally within the
City Council to deliver net zero. It will also be used to support the delivery of the Net Zero
Exeter 2030 Plan.
4.4 The type of activity and projects this budget will be used to deliver are listed within
the main body of this report, below is a high level overview of spend:

Net Zero City Council
Salary and on-costs:
 Sustainability Project Officer
 Net Zero Data & Support Officer
Net Zero City Council revenue budget
(led by Victoria Hatfield & Jo Pearce)
Net Zero Exeter revenue budget (led by
Karime Hassan & Jo Yelland)
TOTAL

New temporary budget
£300,000
(costs for 4 years)

£500,000
£200,000
£1,000,000

4.5 Activity listed within this report is from earmarked reserves and will be spread over 4
years, as a minimum.
4.6 The Net Zero & Business team will be seeking external funding to deliver activity and
to expand the team, to enable the temporary one off budget to continue past 4 years.

5.

Section 151 Officer comments:
5.1 The report sets out clearly the breakdown of spend in respect of the £1m allocated
for net zero. Members should note that the first £32k has been spent in 2021-22. The
request for a supplementary budget in 2022-23 has been built into the General Fund
supplementary budget requests appearing elsewhere on this agenda. As Members have
seen in recent scrutiny reports, this amount is insufficient to address the whole challenge
associated with net zero.

6.

What are the legal aspects?
6.1 On the basis that Members approve the recommendations set out above Officers
must ensure that any allocation of funds to third parties follows a legally compliant
procurement process in accordance the Council’s Procurement and Contract Procedures,
the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Subsidy Control regime.

7.

Monitoring Officer’s comments:
7.1 Save for the legal aspects above, the Deputy Monitoring Officer has no additional
comments.
Simon Copper (Deputy Monitoring Officer)

Page 160

8.

Background:
8.1 The setting up a new Net Zero & Business team and allocating a one-off temporary
budget of £1m was agreed by Executive and Council July 2021, which resulted in the
following 4 existing permanent posts being amended:





Growth & Commercialisation Manager, to Service Lead - Net Zero & Business
Skills & Business Manager, to Senior Officer - Skills & City Inclusivity
Corporate Energy Manager, to Senior Officer - Net Zero Project Lead
Energy Officer, to Energy Manager

The following two new posts have been temporarily added to the Net Zero & Business
Team for 4 years:



Sustainability Project Officer
Net Zero Data & Support Officer

8.2 The new team will focus on supporting the Corporate Priority of ‘Delivery of Net Zero
Exeter 2030’ and will cover the following service areas:
Net Zero &
decarbonisation
programme
Business Support
Exeter City
Council Carbon
Plan

9.

Inclusive Growth

Social Mobility

Skills Development
(incl. Low Carbon)

Building Greater
Exeter
Corporate Energy

Green Economy

Commercialisation

Green Accord

City Centre

Temporary budget to deliver Net Zero
9.1 As permanent positions have been Job Evaluated and the two temporary positions
are being recruited to, it’s time to plan activity to deliver net zero.
9.2 Activity and projects listed within the table below are being recommended, to support
the delivery of net zero with the City Council, as well as supporting the delivery of the Net
Zero Exeter 2030 Plan. The City Council’s Carbon Plan and risk register is due to be
presented to Strategic Scrutiny, Executive and Council Autumn 2022, this will inform the
majority of the work programme for the team for the foreseeable future. The table below
covers the temporary budget of £1m, for both streams of work.
Delivering Net Zero within Exeter City Council - £800,000

Page 161

£300,000

£7,000
£393,000

£90,000
(five years’ worth
of membership)
£10,000

Four year contract for two temporary positions: to enable
medium to long term projects to progress, with all Council
services supported in the delivery of net zero
Training: Carbon Literacy training for staff, ambassadors and
elected members
Delivery of the City Council’s carbon plan: a wide range of
projects to assist with the transition to reduce the carbon
output of City Council assets and services – action plan from
the Carbon Baseline report
Full SWEEG Membership: to access expertise from the
Centre for Energy & Environment to complete individual
studies and understanding of actions needed from the Carbon
Plan
Green Accord redesign and launch: to provide for a
sustainable supply chain and to generate income opportunities

Delivering the Net Zero Exeter 2030 Plan - £200,000
£40,000
£10,000
£20,000
£30,000

£50,000
£50,000
£1,000,000

Specialist consultants: to buy-in expertise on a specialist
or technical matter
Conferences & training: to ensure the team are kept up to
date with progress in net zero & climate change
Research & evaluation: to understand into individual
behaviours & local ethnography
Build a carbon model for Exeter, with annual updates:
to understand the carbon baseline for the city and actions
needed to be undertaken to reduce city wide carbon
emissions
Office, IT, finance, legal and HR advice: to support the
work of delivering the Net Zero Exeter 2030 plan
Technical studies in support of programmes: to support
the work of delivering the Net Zero Exeter 2030 plan
TOTAL

9.3 All of the above activity will be programmed in for the next four years and will be
procured through the City Council’s Procurement and Contract Procedures.
9.4 £181,000 is already allocated within the budget for 2022/23, an additional £50,000 for
2022/23 is required from the one off temporary budget of £1m, which will be allocated to
the delivery of the Net Zero Exeter 2030 Plan. The table below shows the full budget
breakdown to deliver net zero for both streams of work for the current financial year:

Page 162

Temporary
Salaries

Revenue
Budget
Delivering Net
Zero within
Exeter City
Council

Revenue
Budget
Delivering the
Net Zero Exeter
2030 Plan

TOTAL

2022 /
2023
£75,000

Spend
breakdown
£75,000

£106,000 £60,000

£50,000

Activity

Output

Two temporary
positions

Additional capacity to
deliver the City
Council’s carbon
reduction plan to
achieve net zero.
Action plan produced
to reduce carbon from
each service area.
Annual monitoring &
evaluating of City
Council carbon
emissions.

Delivery of the City
Council’s carbon
reduction plan

£16,000

Full SWEEG
membership

£10,000

Green Accord
redesign and
launch

£20,000

Decarbonisation
study of the City
Council’s Leisure
sites & RAMM

£10,000

Specialist
Consultants

£20,000

Build carbon model
for Exeter

£10,000

Office, IT, legal and Bought in specialist
HR advice
advice related to
public & private sector
partnerships in
reducing carbon.

£10,000

Technical studies

£232,000 £231,000

Page 163

Specialist advice (40
days) provided by
SWEEG on reducing
carbon.
Increase in
businesses being
accredited. Improved
supply chain.
Reduction in Scope 3
emissions.
Study produced to
provide road map to
reduce carbon
emissions within City
Council Leisure sites
& RAMM.
Specialist advice
provided on reducing
carbon across Exeter.

Digital model
produced to
demonstrate changes
requited to reduce
carbon across Exeter.

Study on
infrastructure changes
required to reduce
carbon.

10. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?
10.1 This report and its recommendations links directly to the Exeter Vision and a number
of corporate priorities. Work has to be delivered in partnership with a number of City
Council service areas, as well as working externally with other public sector bodies and
the business community across the city:
Exeter
Vision

Innovative & Analytical
City
Healthy & Inclusive

The Most active city in
the UK
Accessible world class
educations

Liveable & connected
A leading sustainable
city
Corporate
Plan

Delivering Net Zero
Exeter 2030
Promoting active &
healthy lifestyles
Building Great
Neighbourhoods

The team will work with anchor institutions
within the city to deliver Net Zero, using
data to inform decisions and project delivery
Ensure homes can access clean and
affordable energy and that neighbourhoods
are connected through active/sustainable
transport options
Delivery of new and improved routes for
active travel
Collaborating with educational institutions in
delivering world class education to
residents and businesses, giving
opportunities to all
Development of a clean and inclusive
growth agenda
Developing a team to deliver net zero for
the city Council, as a business, and to
deliver the Net Zero Exeter Plan 2030
Developing a team to deliver net zero for
the city Council, as a business, and to
deliver the Net Zero Exeter Plan 2030
Working in partnership with Live & Move in
developing sustainable travel options and
low traffic neighbourhoods
Working with Building Greater Exeter,
Liveable Exeter, Exeter City Living and
other developers in developing sustainable
and accessible neighbourhoods and new
homes, using sustainable constructions
methods

11. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?
11.1 The development of the City Council Carbon Plan, risk register, and supporting
action plan, is being finalised and will be presented to Strategic Scrutiny, Executive and
Council Autumn 2022. The Carbon Plan will inform the ongoing work programme of the
net zero team and subsequent budget spend.
11.2 The development of the new Net Zero & Business team and Net Zero Champions will
speed up progress of engaging with all services in the delivery of net zero within the City
Council. This will also be the same, with the Chief Executive & Growth Director and
Director supporting and working with Exeter City Futures on delivering the Net Zero
Exeter 2030 Plan for the city.

Page 164

12. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)
12.1 When making decisions on future net zero projects and initiatives, the Net Zero &
Business team will take into account the potential impact of the project in relation to age,
disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex and gender, gender
identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and new and
breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a decision. An
EQIA will be undertaken for each project and initiative being developed.
12.2 An EQIA was undertaken in developing the new Net Zero & Business team and
remains the same for this report.

13. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:
13.1 The development of the new Net Zero team will make a positive impact on the City
Council’s carbon footprint, with a team focused on leading projects to reduce our carbon
emissions. The new team will work with service leads and officers to change how we
work and how we deliver services, through the Net Zero Ambassadors and OMB.
13.2 The new Carbon Plan for the City Council, will be our own road map to net zero. An
action plan will be developed as part of this work, and will be used with service leads and
Portfolio Holders to work on carbon reducing projects within each service area.

14. Are there any other options?
14.1 There is the option of not committing budget to the delivering Net Zero, which is not
possible, if the City Council and the city want to work to and achieve net zero. On a
regular basis, the Net Zero & Business team will be sourcing and applying for external
funding to enable delivery of the City Council’s own carbon plan, working towards net
zero within the City Council.

Director Net Zero & City Management, David Bartram
Author: Service Lead – Net Zero, Commercialisation, Skills, Business and City Centre

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:Delivery of Net Zero Executive, July 2021
Contact for enquires:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 4.36
01392 265275

Page 165

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality Impact Assessment: Allocation of the one off Net Zero budget
The Equality Act 2010 includes a general duty which requires public authorities, in the exercise of their functions, to have due regard to the need to:
Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act.
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and people who do not share it.
Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not
In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on equality of decisions, policies and practices. These duties do not
prevent the authority from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the impacts on all members
of the community.
Authorities which fail to carry out equality impact assessments risk making poor and unfair decisions which may discriminate against particular groups
and worsen inequality.

Page 167

Committee name and
date:

Report Title

Executive
5 July 2022

Allocation of the one To recommend to Council, the planned spend
off Net Zero budget
of the £1m earmarked reserve to support the
delivery of Net Zero for the City Council and
the Net Zero Exeter 2030 plan, covering the
next 4 years

COUNCIL
19 July 2022

Decisions being recommended:

Of the £1m temporary one off budget,
£800,000 is allocated to delivering net zero
for the City Council and £200,000 is allocated
to the delivery of the Net Zero Exeter 2030
Plan.
An additional £50,000 from the underspent
supplementary budget in 2021/22 is required
to support the delivery of the Net Zero Exeter

People with protected
characteristics potentially
impacted by the
decisions to be made:
At present none, but this will be
reviewed for each project in the
future.

20230 Plan.
Factors to consider in the assessment: For each of the groups below, an assessment has been made on whether the proposed decision
will have a positive, negative or neutral impact. This is must be noted in the table below alongside brief details of why this conclusion has
been reached and notes of any mitigation proposed. Where the impact is negative, a high, medium or low assessment is given. The
assessment rates the impact of the policy based on the current situation (i.e. disregarding any actions planned to be carried out in future).
High impact – a significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no mitigating measures in place etc.
Medium impact –some potential impact exists, some mitigating measures are in place, poor evidence
Low impact – almost no relevancy to the process, e.g. an area that is very much legislation led and where the Council has very little
discretion
Protected characteristic/ area of
interest

Page 168

Positive
or
Negative
Impact
Negative

High,
Medium or
Low
Impact
Medium

Reason

Positive

High

Positive

High

There could be the potential for jobs for migrant workers within
construction sector and others that support net zero and clean growth
The building of new sustainable and active travel routes, would support
positive mental health and wellbeing and increase accessibility for those
less able

Positive

High

Buildings built to passivhaus standard, would support mental health &
wellbeing for individuals.

Negative

High

Sex/Gender

Neutral

Low

If city car parks are used for alternative means, those less able may not
be able to access city centre parking and use a car park not at their
desired location, or to using park & ride.
N/A

Gender reassignment

Neutral

Low

N/A

Race and ethnicity (including
Gypsies and Travellers; migrant
workers; asylum seekers).
Disability as defined by the Equality
Act – a person has a disability if they
have a physical or mental impairment
that has a substantial and long-term
adverse impact on their ability to carry
out normal day-to-day activities.

There could be the potential of land that gypsies and travellers use for
temporarily means, not being available.

Page 169

Religion and belief (includes no
belief, some philosophical beliefs such
as Buddhism and sects within
religions).
Sexual orientation (including
heterosexual, lesbian, gay, bisexual).
Age (children and young people aged
0-24; adults aged 25-50; younger
older people aged 51-75/80; older
people 81+; frail older people; people
living with age related conditions. The
age categories are for illustration only
as overriding consideration should be
given to needs).
Pregnancy and maternity including
new and breast feeding mothers
Marriage and civil partnership
status

Negative

Low

Some religions may potentially be against retrofitting buildings to be Net
Zero or Carbon Neutral

Neutral

Low

N/A

Positive

High

Delivering Net Zero across the city is likely to be embraced by younger
people who live, study, work and socialise in Exeter.

Negative

Medium

Some age categories may not engage with the aims and aspirations of
Net Zero, and projects to deliver net zero.

Positive

Medium

Neutral

Low

As a result of net zero there will be a healthier environment for expectant
mothers, as well as the ability to walk/exercise in a safe environment.
N/A

Actions identified that will mitigate any negative impacts and/or promote inclusion
For each project the Net Zero team develops, an EQIA will be undertaken to ensure no project discriminates against any
characteristic.
The Net Zero team will consult with the Policy team on each project.

Officer:

Victoria Hatfield

Date:

5 June 2022

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 5 July 2022

REPORT TO COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 19 July 2022
Report of: Net Zero Exeter & City Management
Title: UK Shared Prosperity Fund, Exeter allocation

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1.

What is the report about?
1.1 To provide members with an overview of the aims of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund
(UKSPF), what the fund can be used for, how the City Council can access Exeter’s
allocation, how the City Council will manage our allocation and proposals for Exeter.

2.

Recommendations:
That Executive recommends and Council approves:
2.1 That officers develop an investment plan to deliver the aims of the UKSPF, which will
release Exeter’s UKSPF allocation of £1,403,000;
2.2 That approval of the Investment Plan is delegated to the City Council’s internal
UKSPF Management group;
2.2 The appointment of a Project Manager to support the management and monitoring of
the Exeter UKSPF following the receipt of the offer letter from the Department for
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC);
2.3 The £20,000 administration payment is earmarked to develop Exeter’s investment
plan and consultation process, with any surplus for project administration.
AND that Executive notes that:
2.4 in order to meet the requirements of the UKSPF, consultation on Exeter interventions
will take place with a number of organisations who have an interest in the delivery of
UKSPF in Exeter, as well as the Liveable Exeter Place Board.
2.5 An internal officer working group (UKSPF Working Group) will be established in order
to ensure the effective management & monitoring of the UKSPF, and that this Group
will report to Strategic Scrutiny on a regular basis.

Page 171

3.

Reasons for the recommendation:
3.1 To ensure the City Council is able to access our allocation of the UKSPF, through
proper consultation, management and monitoring of our Investment Plan.

4.

What are the resource implications including non-financial?
Non-Financial
4.1 The overall management of Exeter’s UKSPF will be managed by the Service Lead for
Net Zero & Business, who will report to Strategic Scrutiny on a regular basis on the
management, delivery and outcomes and outputs of the Exeter Investment Plan.
4.2 It is proposed to set up an internal working group (UKSPF Working Group) of
relevant officers, to ensure the effective management & monitoring of the UKSPF.
Further information on this group is within section 10.
4.3 To access Exeter UKSPF allocation, the City Council is required to develop an
investment plan, with measureable outcomes and outputs, and submit this to the
Department for Levelling up, Housing and Communities for approval by 1 August
2022. This will be developed and written by the Service Lead Net Zero & Business
and approved by the City Council’s internal UKSPF Management group. More
information on the type of interventions that could be developed for Exeter are listed
in Appendix Two.
Financial
4.4 Exeter’s 3 year allocation is £1,403,000 and is split across 3 financial years, with a
required minimum spend per year on capital expenditure. Funding for 2022/23 will be
paid once our investment plan has been signed off. Funding for 2023/24 and
2024/25 will be paid at the start of each financial year.

2022-23
2023-24
2024-25

Revenue
90%
87%
80%

Capital
10%
13%
20%

4.5 Local authorities will receive an allocation to manage UKSPK, to include project
assessment, contracting, monitoring and evaluation and ongoing stakeholder
engagement. This is 4% of your overall UKSPF allocation, for Exeter this equates to
£56,120.
4.6 It is recommended to use Exeter’s £56,120 allocation to appoint a temporary Project
Manager, to manage some of the UKSPF projects.
4.7 £20,000 is made available to Local Authorities to undertake initial preparatory work in
developing our Investment Plan. It is proposed to use the £20,000 in gaining data,
evidence and specific expertise to support Exeter’s Investment Plan. This funding
will be paid on sign-off of our Investment Plan.
4.8 Interventions included within our Investment Plan, additional funding will be sought to
increase the intervention impact.

Page 172

5.

Section 151 Officer comments:
5.1 Members should note that a small percentage of the funds are allocated for capital
purposes only. It is important that eligible expenditure is therefore identified otherwise it
is likely that the Government will claw back the funding and the Council will have to fund
the shortfall. The Section 151 Officer sits on the Working Group and will seek to ensure
that all expenditure is eligible to maximise the funding received from the Government.

6.

What are the legal aspects?
6.1 On the basis that Members approve the recommendations set out above, that Officers
must ensure that any allocation of funds to third parties follows a legally compliant
procurement process in accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and/or
the statutory regime for the allocation of grant monies.

7.

Monitoring Officer’s comments:
7.1 Save for the legal aspects set out above, the Deputy Monitoring Officer has no
additional comments.
Simon Copper (Deputy Monitoring Officer)

8.

UK Shared Prosperity Fund
8.1 UKSPF is a central pillar of the UK government’s Levelling Up agenda and a
significant component of its support for places across the UK to level up. UKSPF is a
replacement of all European Union funding, including the European Regional
Development Fund (ERDF), The European Social Fund (ESF), the European
Agricultural Fund for Rural Development (EAFRD) and the European Maritime and
Fisheries Fund (EMFF). Details of UKSPF could be found on the Government
website
8.2 UKSPF enables local decision making and to address challenges and issues within
our own locality. Places, like Exeter, will be able to use UKSPF to complement other
funding streams such as Levelling Up Fund, mainstream employment and skills
provision and others.
8.3 The primary goal of UKSPF is to build pride in place and increase life chances, which
aligns with Levelling Up White Paper missions, particularly: ‘By 2030, pride in place,
such as people’s satisfaction with their town centre and engagement in local culture
and community, will have risen in every area of the UK, with the gap between the top
performing and other areas closing.’ This vision fits neatly with the Exeter 2040
vision.
8.4 UKSPF is there to recognise the challenges city centres and communities have faced
during the pandemic. UKSPF is there to improve the places people live and work in,
and support individuals and businesses. It is there to drive improvements that matter
to local communities, to foster local pride in place and increase life chances including
health outcomes.
8.5 The UKSPF objectives are:

Page 173






Boost productivity, pay, jobs and living standards by growing the private sector,
especially in those places where they are lagging
Spread opportunities and improve public services, especially in those places
where they are weakest
Restore a sense of community, local pride and belonging, especially in those
places where they have been lost
Empower local leaders and communities, especially in those places lacking local
agency aims of UKSPF

8.6 Underneath the overarching aim of building pride in place and increasing life
chances, there are three UKSPF investment priorities: communities and place;
supporting local business; and people and skills. The image below shows how
they all link together.

8.7 There is diary of important dates to adhere to, these are:
Funding Period
Fund launched
Consultation Period
Exeter Place Board meeting
Investment Plan submission window
Report to Executive & Council
Guidance published including on monitoring benefits
and evaluation, assurance, subsidy control, branding
and publicity
Update Report to Strategic Scrutiny
First Payments expected

Page 174

April 2022 – March 2025
13 April 2022
20, 21 & 27 June
11 July
30 June – 1 August 2022
5 & 19 July 2022
Summer 2022

22 September 2022
From October 2022

8.8 Within the UKSPF guidance it is strongly encourage lead local authorities (such as
Exeter) work with other authorities to commission people and skills activity, or
business support activity, where it meets the needs of place, and achieves value for
money or better outcomes for local people or businesses.
8.9 County wide discussions have started and are ongoing with other District Council’s,
as well as Torbay and Plymouth, on addressing similar challenges and issues and
how these can be jointly procured to achieve economies of scale.
8.10 It is anticipated that the responsibility of managing UKSPF will align to proposed
Devolution Deals. This will take effect at the end of the current funding programme –
March 2025.
8.11 In developing the Exeter Investment Plan, the City Council needs to consider other
national policies and priorities, such as net zero and the 25 Year Environmental Plan,
as well as local policies and strategies.

9.

Local Partnership Group and Investment Plan
9.1 In developing our investment plan, we are required to work with a diverse range of
local and regional stakeholders. They will provide advice on strategic fit and
deliverability, to ensure the UKSPF complements other activities in Exeter and
UKSPF and local objectives.
9.2 Below is a guide to the types of groups that should be represented on local
partnership groups.
















Representatives from the lead local authority (this may also include neighbouring
authorities or constituent authorities where relevant and to maximise alignment)
Local businesses and investors (large employers and small and medium sized
employers)
Business support providers or representatives, including sectoral representatives
relevant to the place (for example – cluster bodies, tourism organisations)
Local partnership boards and strategic bodies where relevant (for example, Local
Enterprise Partnerships or Local Skills Improvement Partnerships in England, City
and Growth Deal partners in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland)
Regional representatives of arms-length bodies of government where appropriate
Prominent local community & faith organisations
Voluntary, sector social enterprise and civil society organisations
Rural representatives unless there are no rural communities within the area
Education and skills providers – for example higher education institutions and
further education colleges, adult learning providers
Employment experts and providers – for example Jobcentre Plus representatives
and employment related service providers
Nature, environmental or associated representatives
Public health representatives
Police and crime representatives (such as Police and Crime Commissioners
where relevant)
Members of Parliament

Page 175



Representatives of the UK government may also attend and can provide access
to specific expertise where this is needed.

9.3 Within the UKSPF Guidance it advises where a group is already established, that
group can be designated for UKSPF consultation purposes (not decision making). It
is proposed that the Liveable Exeter Place Board is the nominated group for
consultation on Exeter interventions. The Terms of Reference for the Liveable
Exeter Place Board are being amended to enable this to happen.
9.4 The Service Lead Net & Business has organised 3 online consultation workshops
around the three themes of Community & Place, Supporting Local Business and
People & Skills. A list of those who will be consulted with are included in Appendix
One.
9.5 To release Exeter’s UKSPF allocation, we are required to develop and write an
Investment Plan, which will set out how we intend to use and deliver UKSPF funding.
An online UKSPF portal has been established, where our Investment Plan will be
submitted to.
9.6 UKSP has developed a broad set of interventions which can be used addressing
local challenges and issues. These are also listed in Appendix Two.
9.7 Investment Plans will be assessed against three areas:




Local context – including challenges and opportunities
Selection of outcomes, outputs and proposed interventions
Delivery

9.8 UKSPF can be used to support interventions via:





grant to public or private organisations
commissioning third party organisations
procurement of service provision
in-house provision

9.9 Match funding is not required to unlock our UKSPF allocation. But we are strongly
encouraged to consider match funding from the private, public and third sectors and
leverage options when selecting communities and place and supporting local
business interventions to fund.

10. Monitoring & Evaluation
10.1The City Council will be required to report data back to the UKSP team to ensure that
allocations are being spent to agreed timescales and milestones, including
achievement of outputs and outcomes at the project level. We will also be required
to report individual project outputs and outcomes at UK Parliament constituency
level.
10.2There will be a formal reporting request every six months, as well as prior to each
annual payment. Support will be provided by the Department for Levelling Up,
Housing and Communities if we are unable to meet milestones.

Page 176

10.3It is recommended that an internal UKSPF Management Group is established, to
support the delivery and monitoring or Exeter interventions. The group would consist
of representatives from:








Service Lead Net Zero & Business
New temporary Project Manager
Legal
Finance
Parks & Open Spaces
Business & City Inclusivity
Relevant Director(s)

10.4The group would meet monthly and report into Strategic Scrutiny with updates on
progress.

11. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?
11.1This report and its recommendations links directly to the Exeter Vision and a number
of corporate priorities.
Corporate
Plan

Delivering Net Zero
Exeter 2030
Promoting active &
healthy lifestyles
Building Great
Neighbourhoods

Exeter Vision

Innovative &
Analytical City

Healthy & Inclusive

The Most active city
in the UK
Accessible world
class educations

Liveable &
connected
A leading
sustainable city
Culture

A number of interventions will support the
delivery of the Exeter Net Zero 2030 Plan.
Some of the interventions will be developed to
encourage people to travel into the city centre
by bike and to walk around the city
One of the main interventions is bringing forward
activity on City Point to support new business
start-ups, innovation and the cultural activity
Interventions support high growth potential
businesses, as well as the commercialisation of
research from the University of Exeter. Skills
and learning interventions will be developed to
support residents to improve their learning
opportunities
Interventions will be developed to encourage
people to travel into the city centre by bike and
to walk around the city
Interventions will be developed to encourage
people to travel into the city centre by bike
Interventions Collaborating with educational
institutions in delivering world class education to
residents and businesses, giving opportunities
to all
Interventions support a thriving city centre
A number of interventions will support the
delivery of the Exeter Net Zero 2030 Plan.
Interventions support Creative Arc

Page 177

12. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?
12.1In setting up the internal UKSPF Management Group, this will ensure that timeframes
are adhered to, as well as ongoing monitoring of interventions and their respective
outputs and outcomes.
12.2The requirement to report back to Department for Levelling Up, Housing and
Communities will reduce risks associated with the delivery of interventions.
12.3 Reporting to Strategic Scrutiny will reduce risks associated with the delivery of
interventions.

13. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)
13.1 In recommending this report, potential impacts have been identified on people with
protected characteristics as determined by the Act and an Equalities Impact
Assessment has been included in the background papers for Member’s attention
13.2 UKSPF is about levelling up opportunities and prosperity and overcoming deepseated inequalities. In developing interventions for Exeter, they will support the
overall objective of UKSPF in Building Pride in Place and increasing life chances.
13.2 An EQIA has been developed in considering the impact of UKSPF on Exeter. The
EQIA will be further developed for the Investment Plan and will be reported on at
Strategic Scrutiny.

14. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:
14.1 A number interventions will support Exeter’s Net Zero 2030 Plan, in supporting
businesses to reduce their carbon emissions and providing infrastructure for people
to cycle into the city centre (Bike store, storage and showers).
14.2 Elements of the People & Skills theme will focus on green skills. Larger projects will
be reviewed to keep carbon emissions to a minimum or to net zero.

15. Are there any other options?
14.1 Within the guidance for UKSPF, Exeter City Council is a ‘Lead Authority’, so there is
a requirement to manage Exeter’s UKSPF allocation and develop an Investment
Plan.
14.2 There is an option of not appointing a Project Manager to manage a number of the
major projects. The decision was taken to appoint a temporary position, due to
limited capacity within the team and the City Council.

Director: Net Zero & City Management, David Bartram
Author: Service Lead: Net Zero & Business

Page 178

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:None
Contact for enquires:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 4.36
01392 265275

Page 179

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX ONE – Local Partnership Group

Organisation
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board
Place Board

membership orgs
membership orgs
membership orgs
membership orgs
membership orgs
membership orgs

Exeter Chamber of Commerce
Devon County Council
Exeter College
University of Exeter
Ben Bradshaw MP
Simon Jupp MP
Powderham Castle
Stagecoach
GWR
Royal Devon & Exeter Hospital
DWP (Exeter Job Centre)
University of Exeter
Sport England
Exeter Rugby Club
Arts Council England
Devon Community Foundation
Oxygen House
Exeter City Community Trust
Exeter City Council
UK Government Int Education Champion
Exeter Cathedral
Network Rail
TEDx Exeter
Exeter Cathedral
Met Office
Sancho's
Live West
Exeter City Council
Devon & Cornwall Police
Exeter Northcott Theatre
InExeter (GM)

Building Greater Exeter
InExeter (chair)
Exeter FSB
Visit Exeter / Exeter City Council
Devon & Cornwall Training Providers Network
Exeter Skills Advisory Panel

Page 181

membership orgs
membership orgs

Tech Exeter
Tech SW

Business Support
Business Support
Business Support
Business Support

Exeter Library / BIPC
HOSW Growth Hub
Exeter Chamber
Michelmores

Disability

Living Options Devon

Land owner
Land owner
Land owner
Faith
Faith
Faith
Culture
Culture
Culture
Culture
Culture
Public Sector
Public Sector
Public Sector
Public Sector
Public Sector
Public Sector
Academia
Academia
Academia
Climate
Climate
Crime
Crime
Crime
Young People
Young People
Inclusivity

Devon Wildlife Trust
Princesshay Shopping Centre
Crown Estate
Devon Faith and Belief Forum
CTaX (Christians Together Across Exeter).
Exeter Cathedral
Exeter Culture
Positive Lights
CoCreate
Arts Council England
Heritage Fund
Exeter City Council
East Devon District Council
Mid Devon District Council
Teignbridge District Council
Devon County Council
HOSW Local Enterprise Partnership
University of Exeter
Ted Wragg Trust
Exeter College
Devon Climate Emergency
Exeter City Futures
Exeter Community Safety Partnership (chair)
Devon & Cornwall Police
Devon & Cornwall Police Crime Commissioner
Exeter YMCA
Young Devon
Exeter Community Initiatives

Page 182

Inclusivity
Inclusivity
Inclusivity
Inclusivity
Inclusivity
Inclusivity
Inclusivity
Inclusivity
Local investors

Exeter Communities Together
Inclusive Exeter
Age UK Exeter
CoLab
Exeter Citizens Advice
Wellbeing Exeter
DWP (Exeter Job Centre)
Exeter City Community Trust
Prydis

Page 183

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX TWO Interventions to support Exeter’s Investment Plan
Communities and place
Objectives:
Strengthening our social fabric and fostering a sense of local pride and belonging,
through investment in activities that enhance physical, cultural and social ties and
amenities, such as community infrastructure and local green space, and
community-led projects.
Building resilient, safe and healthy neighbourhoods, through investment in quality
places that people want to live, work, play and learn in, through targeted
improvements to the built environment and innovative approaches to crime
prevention.
Interventions
E1: Funding for improvements to town centres and high streets, including better
accessibility for disabled people, including capital spend and running costs.
E2: Funding for new, or improvements to existing, community and neighbourhood
infrastructure projects including those that increase communities’ resilience to natural
hazards, such as flooding. This could cover capital spend and running costs.
E3: Creation of and improvements to local green spaces, community gardens,
watercourses and embankments, along with incorporating natural features into wider
public spaces.
E4: Enhanced support for existing cultural, historic and heritage institutions that make up
the local cultural heritage offer.
E5: Design and management of the built and landscaped environment to ‘design out
crime’.
E6: Support for local arts, cultural, heritage and creative activities.
E7: Support for active travel enhancements in the local area.
E8: Funding for the development and promotion of wider campaigns which encourage
people to visit and explore the local area.
E9: Funding for impactful volunteering and/or social action projects to develop social and
human capital in local places.
E10: Funding for local sports facilities, tournaments, teams and leagues; to bring people
together.
E11: Investment in capacity building and infrastructure support for local civil society and
community groups.
E12: Investment in community engagement schemes to support community involvement
in decision making in local regeneration.

Page 185

E13: Community measures to reduce the cost of living, including through measures to
improve energy efficiency, and combat fuel poverty and climate change.
E14: Funding to support relevant feasibility studies.
E15: Investment and support for digital infrastructure for local community facilities.

Supporting local business
Objectives:
Creating jobs and boosting community cohesion, through investments that build
on existing industries and institutions, and range from support for starting
businesses to visible improvements to local retail, hospitality and leisure sector
facilities.
Promoting networking and collaboration, through interventions that bring together
businesses and partners within and across sectors to share knowledge, expertise
and resources, and stimulate innovation and growth.
Increasing private sector investment in growth-enhancing activities, through
targeted support for small and medium-sized businesses to undertake new-to-firm
innovation, adopt productivity-enhancing, energy efficient and low carbon
technologies and techniques, and start or grow their exports.
Interventions
E16: Investment in open markets and improvements to town centre retail and service
sector infrastructure, with wrap around support for small businesses.
E17: Funding for the development and promotion (both trade and consumer) of the visitor
economy, such as local attractions, trails, tours and tourism products more generally.
E18: Supporting Made Smarter Adoption: Providing tailored expert advice, matched
grants and leadership training to enable manufacturing SMEs to adopt industrial digital
technology solutions including artificial intelligence; robotics and autonomous systems;
additive manufacturing; industrial internet of things; virtual reality; data analytics. The
support is proven to leverage high levels of private investment into technologies that drive
growth, productivity, efficiency and resilience in manufacturing.
E19: Increasing investment in research and development at the local level. Investment to
support the diffusion of innovation knowledge and activities. Support the
commercialisation of ideas, encouraging collaboration and accelerating the path to
market so that more ideas translate into industrial and commercial practices.
E20: Research and development grants supporting the development of innovative
products and services.
E21: Funding for the development and support of appropriate innovation infrastructure at
the local level.

Page 186

E22: Investing in enterprise infrastructure and employment/innovation site development
projects. This can help to unlock site development projects which will support growth in
places.
E23: Strengthening local entrepreneurial ecosystems, and supporting businesses at all
stages of their development to start, sustain, grow and innovate, including through local
networks.
E24: Funding for new and improvements to existing training hubs, business support
offers, ‘incubators’ and ‘accelerators’ for local enterprise (including social enterprise)
which can support entrepreneurs and start-ups through the early stages of development
and growth by offering a combination of services including account management, advice,
resources, training, coaching, mentorship and access to workspace.
E25: Grants to help places bid for and host international business events and
conferences that support wider local growth sectors.
E26: Support for growing the local social economy, including community businesses,
cooperatives and social enterprises.
E27: Funding to develop angel investor networks nationwide.
E28: Export Grants to support businesses to grow their overseas trading, supporting local
employment.
E29: Supporting decarbonisation and improving the natural environment whilst growing
the local economy. Taking a whole systems approach to invest in infrastructure to deliver
effective decarbonisation across energy, buildings and transport and beyond, in line with
our legally binding climate target. Maximising existing or emerging local strengths in low
carbon technologies, goods and services to take advantage of the growing global
opportunity.
E30: Business support measures to drive employment growth, particularly in areas of
higher unemployment.
E31: Funding to support relevant feasibility studies.
E32: Investment in resilience infrastructure and nature based solutions that protect local
businesses and community areas from natural hazards including flooding and coastal
erosion.
People and skills
Lead local authorities and partners must note that the Fund will focus on communities
and place and local business interventions in 2022-23 and 2023-24, alongside support for
people through the Multiply adult numeracy programme. UKSPF investment to support
people and skills will follow from 2024-25, when the funding pot reaches its full extent.
This means that places will be able to select people and skills interventions from 20242025 onwards, unless they meet the voluntary sector considerations outlined below.

Page 187

Alignment with current provision
UKSPF will be the main source of funding to support employment provision for
economically inactive people. To reduce levels of economic inactivity, local areas should
ensure investment in employment support is tailored to local needs. This should facilitate
the join-up of mainstream provision and local services, through the use of keyworker
support and community interventions to improve employment outcomes for economically
inactive people, including engagement with integrated care systems where appropriate.
To maximise outcomes and avoid duplication local areas should collaborate with a range
of local partners to consider the provision already available locally as well as through the
Jobcentre Plus network and the Adult Education Budget.
Lead local authorities should consider current European Social Fund interventions for
people and skills, emerging people and skills needs and proposed Multiply interventions,
when developing a local investment plan. This will then inform proposed people and skills
support from 2024-25 onwards.
Alignment with Multiply
Each place should also read the Multiply prospectus for England which seeks proposals
for adult numeracy interventions for 2022-23, 2023-24 and 2024-25, operating at uppertier or Mayoral Combined Authority/London scale. They should take account of the aims,
objective and priorities of Multiply when developing local plans for people and skills
interventions.
Voluntary and community sector provision
Lead local authorities have the flexibility to fund targeted people and skills provision in
2022-23 and 2023-24 where this is a continuing priority for 2024-25 and may be at
significant risk of ending due to the tail off of EU funds. This flexibility may only be used
where provision is currently delivered by voluntary and community organisations, having
regard for the focus of the Fund and available funding.
Objectives:
Boosting core skills and support adults to progress in work, by targeting adults with
no or low level qualifications and skills in maths, and upskill the working population,
yielding personal and societal economic impact, and by encouraging innovative
approaches to reducing adult learning barriers.
Reducing levels of economic inactivity [footnote 1] through investment in bespoke
intensive life and employment support tailored to local need. Investment should
facilitate the join-up of mainstream provision and local services within an area for
participants, through the use of one-to-one keyworker support, improving
employment outcomes for specific cohorts who face labour market barriers.
Expected cohorts include, but are not limited to people aged over 50, people with a
disability and health condition, women, people from an ethnic minority, young people
not in education, employment or training and people with multiple complex needs
(homeless, care leavers, ex/ offenders, people with substance abuse problems and
victims of domestic violence).

Page 188

Supporting people furthest from the labour market to overcome barriers to work by
providing cohesive, locally tailored support, including access to basic skills.
Supporting local areas to fund gaps in local skills provision to support people to
progress in work, and supplement local adult skills provision e.g. by providing
additional volumes; delivering provision through wider range of routes or enabling
more intensive/innovative provision, both qualification based and non-qualification
based. This should be supplementary to provision available through national
employment and skills programmes.
Interventions
Supporting economically inactive people to overcome barriers to work by providing
cohesive, locally tailored support including access to basic skills
E33: Employment support for economically inactive people: Intensive and wraparound one-to-one support to move people closer towards mainstream provision and
employment, supplemented by additional and/or specialist life and basic skills (digital,
English, maths* and ESOL) support where there are local provision gaps.
This provision can include project promoting the importance of work to help people to
live healthier and more independent lives, alongside building future financial
resilience and wellbeing. Beyond that, this intervention will also contribute to building
community cohesion and facilitate greater shared civil pride, leading to better
integration for those benefitting from ESOL support.
Expected cohorts include, but are not limited to people aged over 50, people with a
disability and health condition, women, people from an ethnic minority, young people not
in education, employment or training and people with multiple complex needs (homeless,
care leavers, ex/offenders, people with substance abuse problems and victims of
domestic violence).
Supporting people furthest from the labour market through access to basic skills
E34: Courses including basic skills (digital, English, maths (via multiply) and ESOL),
and life skills and career skills** provision for people who are unable to access
training through the adult education budget or wrap around support detailed above.
Supplemented by financial support for learners to enrol onto courses and complete
qualifications.
Beyond that, this intervention will also contribute to building community cohesion and
facilitate greater shared civil pride, leading to better integration for those benefitting from
ESOL support.
E35: Activities such as enrichment and volunteering to improve opportunities and
promote wellbeing.
E36: Intervention to increase levels of digital inclusion, with a focus on essential
digital skills, communicating the benefits of getting (safely) online, and in-community
support to provide users with the confidence and trust to stay online.
Skills to progress in work and to fund local skills needs

Page 189

E37: Tailored support to help people in employment, who are not supported by
mainstream provision to address barriers to accessing education and training
courses. This includes supporting the retention of groups who are likely to leave
the labour market early.
E38: Support for local areas to fund local skills needs. This includes technical and
vocational qualifications and courses up to level 2 and training for vocational
licences relevant to local area needs and high-value qualifications where there is
a need for additional skills capacity that is not being met through other provision.
E39: Green skills courses targeted around ensuring we have the skilled workforce
to achieve the government’s net zero and wider environmental ambitions.
E40: Retraining support for those in high carbon sectors.
E41: Funding to support local digital skills.

Page 190

Equality Impact Assessment: UK Shared Prosperity Fund, Exeter allocation
The Equality Act 2010 includes a general duty which requires public authorities, in the exercise of their functions, to have due regard to the
need to:
Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act.
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and people who do not share it.
Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not

Page 191

In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on equality of decisions, policies and practices. These duties do
not prevent the authority from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the impacts on all
members of the community.
Authorities which fail to carry out equality impact assessments risk making poor and unfair decisions which may discriminate against particular
groups and worsen inequality.
Committee name and
date:

REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 5 July 2022
REPORT TO COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 19 July 2022

Report Title

UK Shared Prosperity Fund,
Exeter allocation

Decisions being
recommended:

2.1 To recommend to Council,
develop an investment plan to
deliver the aims of UKSPF, which
will release Exeter’s UKSPF
allocation of £1,403,000 and
delegate approval of the
Investment Plan to the City

People with protected
characteristics potentially
impacted by the decisions
to be made:

Committee name and
date:

Report Title

Decisions being
recommended:

Council’s internal UKSPF
Management group.
2.2 To support the management
and monitoring of Exeter UKSPF
allocation, a Project Manager is
appointed, once the offer letter is
received from DLUC, due
autumn 2022.

Page 192

2.3 The £20,000 administration
payment is used to develop
Exeter’s investment plan and
consultation.
2.4 Consultation on Exeter
interventions will be with a
number of organisations with an
interest in the delivery of UKSPF
in Exeter, as well as the Exeter
Place Board.
2.5 An internal working group
(UKSPF Working Group) is
established of relevant officers,
to ensure the effective
management & monitoring of the
UKSPF, which reports to
Strategic Scrutiny on a regular
basis.

People with protected
characteristics potentially
impacted by the decisions
to be made:

Factors to consider in the assessment: For each of the groups below, an assessment has been made on whether the proposed
decision will have a positive, negative or neutral impact. This is must be noted in the table below alongside brief details of why this
conclusion has been reached and notes of any mitigation proposed. Where the impact is negative, a high, medium or low
assessment is given. The assessment rates the impact of the policy based on the current situation (i.e. disregarding any actions
planned to be carried out in future).
High impact – a significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no mitigating measures in place etc.
Medium impact –some potential impact exists, some mitigating measures are in place, poor evidence
Low impact – almost no relevancy to the process, e.g. an area that is very much legislation led and where the Council has very
little discretion
Protected characteristic/ area of
interest

Page 193

Positive
or
Negative
Impact
Positive

High,
Medium or
Low
Impact
High

Reason

Disability: as defined by the Equality
Act – a person has a disability if they
have a physical or mental impairment
that has a substantial and long-term
adverse impact on their ability to carry
out normal day-to-day activities.
Sex/Gender

Positive

High

Interventions could be developed to support those with a disability into
work or training. There is potential to engage more and varied
businesses across the city in supporting those with disabilities in to
work. In particular encouraging the use of the ‘Disability Confident’

Neutral

Low

Gender reassignment

Neutral

Low

Religion and belief (includes no
belief, some philosophical beliefs such
as Buddhism and sects within
religions).
Sexual orientation (including
heterosexual, lesbian, gay, bisexual).

Neutral

Low

Through consultation, interventions will be investigated to support
sex/gender
Through consultation, interventions will be investigated to support
gender reassignment
N/A

Neutral

Low

Race and ethnicity (including
Gypsies and Travellers; migrant
workers; asylum seekers).

Interventions could be developed to support migrant workers and
asylum seekers into training and or work.

Through consultation, interventions will be investigated to in how they
support sexual orientation

Protected characteristic/ area of
interest

Page 194

Age (children and young people aged
0-24; adults aged 25-50; younger
older people aged 51-75/80; older
people 81+; frail older people; people
living with age related conditions. The
age categories are for illustration only
as overriding consideration should be
given to needs).
Pregnancy and maternity including
new and breast feeding mothers
Marriage and civil partnership
status

Positive
or
Negative
Impact
Positive

High,
Medium or
Low
Impact
High

Reason

Positive

Medium

Neutral

Low

Interventions will be consulted on to attract and retain the workforce
those back into training and or work.
N/A

The primary goal of UKSPF is to build pride in place and increase life
chances. Interventions will be developed to support all age ranges into
training and work, as well as those leaving education and those currently
claiming Universal Credit.

Actions identified that will mitigate any negative impacts and/or promote inclusion
Consultation with the Exeter Place Board and a wide range of organisation located in Exeter on possible interventions.
The Net Zero & Business team will consult with the Policy team on the development of the Exeter Investment Plan.

Officer: Victoria Hatfield
Date: 7 June 2022

Agenda Item 13
REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 5 July 2022
Report of: Director of City Development
Title: Local Validation List

Is this a Key Decision?
Yes

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Executive

1.

What is the report about?
1.1 Planning legislation allows local planning authorities to adopt Local Lists, documents
which set out the supporting information they require for applications for planning
permission, in addition to the standard national requirements of: application
form/ownership certificate, location plan, other plans/drawings, fee, etc. If all or some
of the supporting information on the adopted Local List is not provided, then local
planning authorities can delay validating the application until the information has
been provided. However, in order to carry statutory weight, Local Lists must be
published or republished, following a review of the local requirements, every two
years.
1.2 The Council’s adopted Local List documents, which are on the Council’s website,
were published in 2010 and 2011, and therefore are out-of-date and no longer carry
statutory weight. A 6-week consultation on a new Local List was carried out between
17 June and 29 July 2021. The comments received have been taken into account in
a final Local List, which has been brought to Executive to be formally adopted.

2.

Recommendations:

It is recommended that Executive:(1)
(2)

Formally adopts the final Local List; and
grants delegated authority to the Director of City Development to amend the Local List
from time to time to ensure that the national requirements are kept up to date in
accordance with any new planning legislation or amendments to existing legislation,
and the technical guidance in section 4.0 of Appendix C remains up to date.
Executive is asked to note that:
Any amendments to the list of local requirements in Section 3.0 of Appendix C will require
consultation before they can be carried out. The Local List would be brought back to
Executive for re-adoption in these circumstances.

Page 195

3.

Reasons for the recommendation:
3.1 To request supporting information with planning applications, a local planning
authority must publish on its website its requirements on a formally adopted local list
less than 2 years before the application is submitted. Local information requirements
have no bearing on whether a planning application is valid unless they are set out on
such a list.

4.

What are the resource implications including non financial resources?
4.1 The drafting and consultation on the Local List have already taken place. The Local List
should lead to better quality planning applications that can be dealt with more efficiently
by the Council, although some further administrative work will arise should applicants
not provide the required information.
4.2 The Local List might reduce the number of speculative planning applications received
and corresponding planning fee income. At the same time they can be a tool to
encourage new growth and development to come forward in accordance with the
Council’s corporate priorities.

5.

Section 151 Officer comments:
5.1 There are no direct financial implications for Council to consider arising from the
report. However, Members should note the potential consequences set out in section 4.2
above.

6.

What are the legal aspects?
6.1 Section 62 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows local planning
authorities to require that an application for planning permission must include:


Such particulars as they think necessary; and



Such evidence in support of anything in or relating to the application as they think
necessary.

6.2 Article 11 of The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended) states that the provisions of section 62 only
apply if the local planning authority has published or republished a list of
requirements on its website during the 2 year period immediately before the date on
which the application is made, and the particulars or evidence fall within that list and
they are:
 Reasonable having regard, in particular, to the nature and scale of the proposed
development; and
 About a matter which it is reasonable to think will be a material consideration in
the determination of the application.

7.

Monitoring Officer’s comments:
7.1 The Deputy Monitoring Officer has no additional comments.
Simon Copper (Deputy Monitoring Officer)

Page 196

8.

Report details:
Background
8.1 Local lists are technical planning documents which primarily serve to allow local
planning authorities to invalidate planning applications that do not include all the
necessary information required to determine them. This means that the statutory time
period (normally 8, 13 or 16 weeks) will not begin as soon as the application has been
received by the Council (provided the basic national requirements have been
submitted), and at least part of this period will not be spent by officers negotiating with
applicants to submit the further information required, which puts the Council at a
disadvantage in meeting the statutory time periods – increasing the risk of nondetermination appeals – and fulfilling the ‘planning guarantee’, i.e. the Government’s
policy that all planning applications should be decided within 26 weeks, or a year
including any appeal. It should also reduce the need for reconsultation when additional
information is provided during the course of an application and the extra time/costs
associated with this.
8.2 However, local lists are also useful documents in setting out a framework to base preapplication discussions on with developers. In addition, as is the case with the revised
Local List, they can include guidance on how to prepare the supporting information, with
links to relevant technical guidance and key contacts, which helps to reduce some of
the workload placed on officers. They can also be used as a checklist by officers when
validating applications, helping to speed this process up and improving team
consistency.
8.3 It should be noted that whilst local lists provide the statutory authority to invalidate
applications when this is considered necessary, the Council still has the discretion to
validate applications even if they do not include all the local requirements on the list.
The reasons for this maybe unique to the site or the proposal concerned, or where it
has been agreed with the developer to validate an application early in order to help
them to deliver the project, on the understanding that the necessary information will be
submitted during the course of the application at a later date. This would most likely
require an extension of time being agreed or a Planning Performance Agreement.
8.4 There is a formal mechanism that applicants can use if they do not agree that
insufficient information has been submitted in order to validate their application. The
applicant can submit an article 12 notice setting out the reasons why the information
requested does not meet the statutory tests in article 34(6)(c) of the Town and Country
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended)
(see 6.2 above). Officers will consider the merits of this and either validate the
application or issue a non-validation notice. In the case of the latter, if the application
has not been determined within the relevant statutory time period, the applicant can
appeal to the Planning Inspectorate against non-determination. However, officers will
endeavour to resolve any validation disputes informally with the applicant. Preapplication discussions will mean that most validation disputes should be avoided.
8.5 Whilst officers have been operating without an up-to-date local list for several years and
have therefore needed to validate planning applications on the basis of the national
requirements alone, the Council’s positive approach to pre-application discussions with

Page 197

developers has helped to ensure that in the main applications have been submitted with
the necessary supporting information to determine them. However, this has not always
been the case. The revised Local List has been prepared taking into account the key
legislative/policy drivers since the current Local List documents were published,
including: new/amended legislation, the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), the
Core Strategy (2012) and the Devon Waste Plan (2014). It has also taken into account
that the Council declared a climate emergency in July 2019. The intention will be to
review the Local List as required when the ‘drivers’ for the items on it are changed and
at least once every two years to ensure that it remains up-to-date and can be used to
validate planning applications going forward.
Consultation
8.6 The Consultation Draft of the Local List that was consulted on between 17 June and 29
July 2021 is attached at Appendix A. The consultation was for 6 weeks in accordance
with the consultations charter. The Consultation Draft was published on the Council’s
website during this period. Electronic copies were sent to statutory and non-statutory
consultees, and agents and developers who regularly submit applications in the City.
The responses to the consultation and officer’s comments are shown in the table at
Appendix B.
Final Local List
8.7 The comments received were taken into account in the final Local List, which is
attached at Appendix C. This version also included national and legislative updates
since the Consultation Draft was published.

9.

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?
9.1 The decision to adopt the final Local List at Appendix C will support all the corporate
priorities:






Delivering Net Zero Exeter 2030
Promoting active and healthy lifestyles
Building great neighbourhoods
Providing value for money services
Leading a well-run council

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?
(1)

There are minimal risks. Most local planning authorities have adopted local lists.
The Local List must be reviewed and republished at least every 2 years to maintain
its statutory weight. Therefore, it can be updated over time in order to take into
account new statutory and policy/guidance ‘drivers’, such as the emerging Exeter
Plan.

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)
11.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equalities Duty, decision makers are required to
consider the need to:

Page 198





eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited
conduct;
advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking
account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and
foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting
understanding.

11.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on
equality of decisions, policies and practices. These duties do not prevent the
authority from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of
developing proposals that consider the impacts on all members of the community.
11.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and
Travellers), sex and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation,
pregnant women and new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil
partnership status in coming to a decision.
11.4 In recommending this proposal potential impact has been identified on people with
protected characteristics as determined by the Act and an Equalities Impact
Assessment has been included in the background papers for Member’s attention.

12. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:
12.1 There are no direct carbon/environmental impacts arising from the
recommendations. However, the Local List includes a requirement for
Sustainability/Net Zero Carbon Statements for major development proposals in
order to minimise carbon emissions from these developments.

13. Are there any other options?
13.1 The other option is to not adopt the Local List and continue to validate planning
applications based on the national requirements only. However, this will mean that
the benefits outlined in this report will not be met.

Director of City Development, Ian Collinson
Author: Matthew Diamond, Assistant Service Lead – Development Management (Major
Projects)

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:Equalities Impact Assessment – Local Validation List
Contact for enquires:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 4.36
01392 265275

Page 199

This page is intentionally left blank

Exeter City Council
City Development

Consultation Draft Local List
Page 201

Information Requirements for Planning and
Associated Applications

June 2021

Document Control Sheet
Version
Date
Amendments
Consultation 03.06.2021 Existing local list documents reviewed and revised local list drafted, taking into account new drivers for the
Draft
information requirements since the previous documents were published, including: new/amended legislation, the
National Planning Policy Framework (2019), the Core Strategy (2012) and the Devon Waste Plan (2014).

Page 202
1

Contents
1.0

Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................................................... 5

2.0

Guidance for Applicants and Agents .......................................................................................................................................................... 5

2.1

Pre-application advice .................................................................................................................................................................................. 5

2.2

What is validation? ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 5

2.3

Extra information requested after validation ................................................................................................................................................. 6

2.4

Validation disputes ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 6

2.5

Preferred method for submitting applications and information ..................................................................................................................... 6

2.6

Fees ............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 6

2.7

Data protection ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 6

3.0

Information Requirements for Different Types of Planning Application .................................................................................................. 7

Page 203

3.1

Householder Application .............................................................................................................................................................................. 8

3.2

Applications for Outline or Full Planning Permission .................................................................................................................................. 10
Applications for Technical Details Consent following a Grant of Permission in Principle ........................................................................... 10

3.3

Applications for Approval of Reserved Matters .......................................................................................................................................... 15

3.4

Applications for Removal or Variation of a Condition Following a Grant of Planning Permission ............................................................... 15

3.5

Applications for Approval of Details Reserved by Condition ....................................................................................................................... 16

3.6

Application for Non-material Amendment Following a Grant of Planning Permission ................................................................................ 16

3.7

Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for an Existing/Proposed Use or Operation ................................................................... 17

3.8

Application for a Certificate of Lawfulness of Proposed Works to a Listed Building ................................................................................... 17

3.9

Prior Approval: Larger Home Extension ..................................................................................................................................................... 18

3.10 Prior Approval: Enlargement of a Dwellinghouse by Construction of Additional Storeys............................................................................ 19
3.11 Prior Approval: Changes of Use ................................................................................................................................................................. 19
Prior Approval: Temporary School on Previously Vacant Commercial Land .............................................................................................. 19
3.12 Prior Approval: Temporary Use for Commercial Film-making .................................................................................................................... 20
3.13 Prior Approval: Building for Agricultural/Forestry Use ................................................................................................................................ 21
Prior Approval: Private Road for Agricultural/Forestry Use ........................................................................................................................ 21
2

Prior Approval: Excavation/Deposit Waste for Agriculture .......................................................................................................................... 21
Prior Approval: Tank/Cage/Structure for Use in Fish Farming ................................................................................................................... 21
3.14 Prior Approval: Collection Facility for a Shop ............................................................................................................................................. 22
3.15 Prior Approval: Demolition of Building ........................................................................................................................................................ 22
3.16 Prior Approval: Roof Mounted Solar PV on Non-domestic Building ........................................................................................................... 23
3.17 Prior Approval: Development for Electronic Communications Network ...................................................................................................... 24
3.18 Prior Approval: Demolition of Buildings and Construction of New Dwellinghouses in their Place (ZA)....................................................... 25
3.19 Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Detached Blocks of Flats (A) ...................................................................................................... 26
Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Detached Buildings in Commercial or Mixed Use (AA) ............................................................... 26
Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Terrace Buildings in Commercial or Mixed Use (AB) .................................................................. 26
Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Terrace Buildings in Use as Dwellinghouses (AC) ..................................................................... 26

Page 204

Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Detached Buildings in Use as Dwellinghouses (AD) .................................................................. 26
3.20 Application for Permission in Principle ....................................................................................................................................................... 28
3.21 Application for Listed Building Consent ...................................................................................................................................................... 29
3.22 Application for Planning Permission for Relevant Demolition in a Conservation Area (applies to the demolition of unlisted buildings, gates,
walls or other means of enclosure in conservation areas) .......................................................................................................................... 29
3.23 Application for Consent to Display an Advertisement ................................................................................................................................. 30
3.24 Tree Works: Trees in Conservation Areas/Subject to Tree Preservation Orders ....................................................................................... 31
3.25 Application for Hedgerow Removal Notice ................................................................................................................................................. 32
3.26 Application to Modify or Discharge a Planning Obligation Agreed under S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act ............................. 33

4.0

Information Requirements Guidance ........................................................................................................................................................ 33

4.1

Application Form and Fee .......................................................................................................................................................................... 33

4.2

Plans Required – depending on the type of application ............................................................................................................................. 34

4.3

Air Quality Assessment .............................................................................................................................................................................. 38

4.4

Archaeological Report ................................................................................................................................................................................ 38

4.5

Community Infrastructure Levy .................................................................................................................................................................. 39

4.6

Construction Management Report.............................................................................................................................................................. 40

4.7

Contaminated Land Risk Assessment........................................................................................................................................................ 41
3

4.8

Daylight and Sunlight Report ...................................................................................................................................................................... 41

4.9

Design and Access Statement ................................................................................................................................................................... 42

4.10 Ecology Report ........................................................................................................................................................................................... 43
4.11 Ecology Report – Bats and Birds................................................................................................................................................................ 44
4.12 Electronic Communications Network Development .................................................................................................................................... 45
4.13 Environmental Statement ........................................................................................................................................................................... 45
4.14 Flood Risk Assessment .............................................................................................................................................................................. 46
4.15 Green Infrastructure Statement .................................................................................................................................................................. 47
4.16 Heritage Statement .................................................................................................................................................................................... 48
4.17 Land/Slope Stability Risk Assessment ....................................................................................................................................................... 49
4.18 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) ..................................................................................................................................... 50
4.19 Lighting Assessment .................................................................................................................................................................................. 50

Page 205

4.20 Noise Impact Assessment .......................................................................................................................................................................... 51
4.21 Open Space/Recreation Assessment......................................................................................................................................................... 51
4.22 Planning Statement .................................................................................................................................................................................... 52
4.23 Retail/Leisure Impact Assessment ............................................................................................................................................................. 53
4.24 Sequential Test Assessment ...................................................................................................................................................................... 54
4.25 Statement of Community Involvement........................................................................................................................................................ 54
4.26 Structural Survey ........................................................................................................................................................................................ 55
4.27 Sustainability/Net Zero Carbon Statement ................................................................................................................................................. 55
4.28 Topographical Survey ................................................................................................................................................................................ 56
4.29 Transport Statement/Assessment and Framework Travel Plan ................................................................................................................. 56
4.30 Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact Assessment................................................................................................................................... 57
4.31 Ventilation and Extraction Equipment Details ............................................................................................................................................. 57
4.32 Viability Assessment .................................................................................................................................................................................. 58
4.33 Waste Audit Statement............................................................................................................................................................................... 58

4

1.0 Introduction
This guide has been produced to assist applicants/agents when submitting applications for planning permission and other similar consents. It
gives advice on the types of information required and when they must be provided. The information includes national and local requirements. The
former are required for applications anywhere in England, whereas the latter only apply to Exeter. If any of the information is not provided then
the application may not be validated by the Council and progressed. The national requirements must always be provided, however in accordance
with legislation the list of local requirements must be published or republished on the Council’s website during the two year period immediately
before the date on which an application is made, for them to have any bearing on whether a planning application is valid or not. If this is not the
case and some or all of the local requirements are not provided then applicants/agents should bear in mind that it may take longer to process
their applications and there may also be a greater chance of planning permission being refused.
If you consider that a required item is not applicable to your particular application, please contact the planning applications team for advice on
01392 265223 or planning@exeter.gov.uk.

2.0 Guidance for Applicants and Agents

Page 206

2.1

Pre-application advice

We encourage all applicants to take advantage of our pre-application service before making a formal application. In order to help us give you the
best advice, we suggest that the following information is provided as part of your pre-application enquiry:






Contact details – your name, address, email and telephone number. If you are submitting on behalf of a client, please also include your
client’s details.
Interest in the site – owner, occupier, lessee, prospective purchaser or agent.
Site location – full address, including postcode.
Description of the proposed development/planning enquiry – an outline of your proposal and any important aims or issues.
Illustrative material – this can be in the form of photographs, sketches with dimensions or architectural plans.

Pre-application enquiries should be submitted by email to planning@exeter.gov.uk, or by post or by hand to the Civic Centre. Officers will be able
to advise whether planning permission is likely to be granted for your proposal, what changes may be necessary and what information will be
required for the formal application.

2.2

What is validation?

Once an application has been submitted to the Council, one of the planning officers will check that all the relevant information has been provided
to then be able to process and determine it. This is called the validation stage. If all the necessary information has been provided, including the
fee, then the planning officer will validate the application and start publicity and consultation with any relevant consultees. If, however, some of
the information required has not been provided, or it contains clear inaccuracies, then the application will be registered as invalid. Once this
process has finished, the planning officer will contact the applicant/agent to confirm whether the application is valid or invalid and in the case of
5

the latter provide guidance as to what further information is required in order to validate the application. The validation date is the date when all
the necessary information, including the fee, have been received by the Council. The statutory timescales for determining the application start on
this date.

2.3

Extra information requested after validation

The list of requirements is not exhaustive and the Council can request further or more detailed information after validation to resolve any
particular issues that arise. Any additional information not required by the Local List, but which the Council needs to determine the application,
will be requested during the course of the application and should be provided as soon as possible.

2.4

Validation disputes

If you disagree with our reasons for invalidating an application and negotiation with us has failed, you may send a notice to us setting out your
reasons for refusing to supply the information, under Section 12 of the Development Management Procedure Order 2015 (as amended) (DMPO).
You must have submitted all the other information needed to validate the application together with the fee. We will then either agree and validate
the application or disagree and issue a Non Validation Notice against which you may then appeal under Section 78 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 after the statutory time period has elapsed.

Page 207

You also have the right to complain to the Local Government Ombudsman on the grounds of maladministration provided you have been through
our complaints process. However, we will endeavour to reach agreement to resolve disputes.

2.5

Preferred method for submitting applications and information

Please use the Planning Portal to submit applications, plans and documents to us. The information is automatically uploaded to our IT system,
therefore it saves us significant time and resources needing to scan drawings and documents which are submitted by email or by post, or that
are hand delivered. We understand however that not everyone is confident at using computers, therefore we will still accept applications by these
other methods, but bear in mind that they may take us longer to process.

2.6

Fees

The Planning Portal includes a fee calculator that can be used to calculate the correct fee for your application. If you are submitting your
application using the Planning Portal, then you will be required to pay the fee at the same time using their online payment system. If you decide
to submit via a different method, then you can still use the Planning Portal to help you calculate the fee, but you can pay the Council by debit
card or by BACS instead – please call the planning applications team on 01392 265223. Payments by cheque are no longer accepted.

2.7

Data protection

All applications and supporting information will be published on our website. Private telephone numbers, private email addresses and signatures
will be removed prior to publication. We are committed to ensuring that your privacy is protected by adhering to the UK General Data Protection
Regulation (UK GDPR). Any personal information provided will be used by us for the purpose of processing your application and contacting you
regarding this. The data will be processed in accordance with the Council’s full privacy policy.
6

3.0 Information Requirements for Different Types of Planning Application
The tables on the following pages list the information requirements for different types of planning application, the statutory and planning
policy/guidance ‘drivers’ for seeking the information, and the circumstances when the information is required. Section 4.0 describes the
information and where further guidance can be found. Applications for proposals to alter or enlarge a single house, including works within the
boundary/garden, are known as Householder applications. These include: extensions, conservatories, loft conversions, dormer windows,
garages, car ports and outbuildings. However, some of these may also be possible by submitting a Prior approval application. Anything larger is
likely to require a Full/Outline application. Guidance on the different application types can be found on the Planning Portal. Otherwise please
contact the planning applications team on 01392 265223 or planning@exeter.gov.uk for advice.
For information, the definition of “major development” is as follows:

Page 208

a) the winning and working of minerals or the use of land for mineral-working deposits;
b) waste development;
c) the provision of dwellinghouses where:
i.
the number of dwellinghouses to be provided is 10 or more; or
ii.
the development is to be carried out on a site having an area of 0.5 hectares or more and it is not known whether the development
falls within sub-paragraph c)i;
d) the provision of a building or buildings where the floor space to be created by the development is 1,000 square metres or more; or
e) development carried out on a site having an area of 1 hectare or more.

You can check to see if your site or property is within a Conservation Area or whether there are any trees on or near your site/property that are
protected by Tree Preservation Orders using the interactive ‘Map of Tree Preservation Orders and Conservation Area’ on the Council’s website:
Conservation areas - Map of Conservation Areas - Exeter City Council.
To find out whether your property or any properties nearby are listed or locally listed, please refer to the ‘Listed Buildings Quick List’ on the
Council’s website: Listed buildings - Listed buildings in Exeter - Exeter City Council. This also includes a list of Scheduled Ancient Monuments.
You can check to see which Flood Zone your site or property is in using the ‘Flood map for planning’ on the GOV.UK website: Flood map for
planning - GOV.UK (flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk).
The Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) is shown on page 48 of the Core Strategy (2012) and the Area of Archaeological Importance is
shown on the Local Plan First Review Proposals Maps: Local Plan - Exeter City Council.
You can use the Wildlife assessment check - Exeter City Council to see if your development is likely to have an impact on any protected and
priority wildlife species and designated sites. You can also use the Devon County Council Environment Viewer to check to see whether your site
or property is within or close to an environmentally sensitive area, such as a: Special Protection Area (SPA), Site of Special Scientific Interest
(SSSI), County Wildlife Site (CWS), Special Verge, Devon Wildlife Trust Nature Reserve, or Exeter Valley Park.
7

3.1

Householder Application (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form, including signed Ownership
Certificate and Agricultural Land Declaration

Page 209

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
Location Plan drawn to an identified scale and The Town and Country Planning
showing the direction of North
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
Any other plans, drawings and information
The Town and Country Planning
necessary to describe the development,
(Development Management Procedure)
where plans and drawings are to be drawn to (England) Order 2015 (as amended)
an identified scale and plans shall show the
direction of North
Design and Access Statement
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
Fee
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

When Required?
All

All

All

Only if any part of the development is within a
conservation area and the floorspace created
by the development is 100 sq m or more.
All, except:
 An application to provide a means of
access or facilities to benefit a disabled
person who is resident within the
dwellinghouse.
 If the application is the first revision of
an application for development of the
same character or description on the
same site by the same applicant:
o For a withdrawn application:
Within 12 months of the date the
application was received;
o For a determined application:
Within 12 months of the date the
application was granted, refused
or an appeal dismissed;
o For an application where an
appeal was made for nondetermination: Within 12 months
8

Document / Plan etc.

Local Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Archaeological Report (incorporating deskbased assessment and field evaluation where
necessary)
Community Infrastructure Levy – Form 1: CIL
Additional Information
Community Infrastructure Levy – Form 2:
Assumption of Liability
Ecology Report – Bats and Birds

Page 210

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’

When Required?
of the period when the giving of
notice of a decision on the
earlier valid application expired.

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
National Planning Policy Framework 189
Local Plan First Review Policy C5
Archaeology and Development SPD
The Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010 (as amended)
The Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010 (as amended)
National Planning Policy Framework 175
Local Plan First Review Policy LS4

When Required?
Applications for development involving ground
works in the Area of Archaeological
Importance
All

Flood Risk Assessment

National Planning Policy Framework 164
Local Plan First Review Policy EN4

Heritage Statement

National Planning Policy Framework 189
Local Plan First Review Policies C1, C2, C3,
C4 and C5

Tree Survey and Tree Protection Plan

National Planning Policy Framework 127 and
170

If you know when submitting the application
who will pay the CIL liability.
Applications involving:
 Demolitions
 Extensive works to roofs including:
o Loft conversions
o Roof raising
o New window or other accesses
into roofs
o Extensions adjoining existing
roofs
 Solar panels
 Wind turbines
Required if any part of the development is
located within Flood Zones 2 or 3, or if the site
is 1 hectare or more and in Flood Zone 1.
Applications for development that physically
affect or affect the setting of:
 a listed building
 a conservation area
 a scheduled ancient monument
 a registered park and garden
 a locally listed building
If either of the ‘Trees and Hedges’ questions
on the application form are answered ‘Yes’.
9

Document / Plan etc.

3.2

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
Local Plan First Review Policy DG1
Trees and Development SPD

When Required?

Applications for Outline or Full Planning Permission
Applications for Technical Details Consent following a Grant of Permission in Principle (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form, including signed Ownership
Certificate and Agricultural Land Declaration
Location Plan drawn to an identified scale and
showing the direction of North

Page 211

Any other plans, drawings and information
necessary to describe the development, where
plans and drawings are to be drawn to an
identified scale and plans shall show the
direction of North
Design and Access Statement

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)

Proposals for:
 Development which is major
development (except engineering or
mining operations, material changes in
use, or waste development)
 1 or more dwellinghouses in a
conservation area
 Building(s) of 100 sq m or more in a
conservation area
Proposals for:
 Schedule 1 development
 Schedule 2 development likely to have
significant effects on the environment
by virtue of factors such as its nature,
size or location
All, except:

Environmental Statement

The Town and Country Planning
(Environmental Impact Assessment)
Regulations 2017 (as amended)

Fee

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests

All

All

10

Document / Plan etc.

When Required?
 An application solely for the carrying out
of the operations for the purpose or
providing a means of access for
disabled persons to or within a building
or premises which members of the
public are admitted.
 If the application is the first revision of
an application for development of the
same character or description on the
same site by the same applicant:
o For a withdrawn application:
Within 12 months of the date the
application was received
o For a determined application:
Within 12 months of the date the
application was granted, refused
or an appeal dismissed
o For an application where an
appeal was made for nondetermination: Within 12 months
of the period when the giving of
notice of a decision on the earlier
valid application expired

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
National Planning Policy Framework 181
Core Strategy Policy CP11
Local Plan First Review Policy EN3

When Required?
Applications for:
 Major development, except car-free
residential development
 Development that significantly
increases traffic flows or changes traffic
flows to high polluting vehicles
 Development on sites within 20 metres
of the Air Quality Management Area
(AQMA), unless Environmental Health
has already agreed it is not needed

Page 212

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

Local Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Air Quality Assessment

11

Document / Plan etc.
Archaeological Report (incorporating deskbased assessment and field evaluation where
necessary)

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
National Planning Policy Framework 189
Local Plan First Review Policy C5
Archaeology and Development SPD

Community Infrastructure Levy – Form 1: CIL
Additional Information
Community Infrastructure Levy – Form 2:
Assumption of Liability
Contaminated Land Risk Assessment

The Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010 (as amended)
The Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010 (as amended)
National Planning Policy Framework 178
Local Plan First Review Policy EN2
National Planning Policy Framework 123
Local Plan First Review Policy DG4
Residential Design SPD

Daylight and Sunlight Report

Page 213

Ecology Report

National Planning Policy Framework 175
Local Plan First Review Policy LS4

Ecology Report – Bats and Birds

National Planning Policy Framework 175
Local Plan First Review Policy LS4

When Required?
Applications for:
 Development involving ground works in
the Area of Archaeological Importance
 Major development on greenfield sites
All
If you know when submitting the application
who will pay the CIL liability.
If any of the contamination questions on the
application form are answered ‘Yes’
Applications for:
 Residential development with limited
daylight/sunlight
 Development that will reduce
daylight/sunlight to neighbouring
residential properties or public buildings
and land
Applications for:
 EIA development
 Development on sites within or
adjoining an environmentally sensitive
area (see page 7)
 Development on sites, or adjoining
sites, with natural features/habitats –
woodland, trees, hedges, grass, scrub,
banks, rivers, streams, ponds, etc.
 Development requiring input from a
consultant ecologist according to the
results of a Wildlife Assessment Check
(see page 7)
Applications involving:
 Barn conversions
 Demolitions

12

Page 214

Document / Plan etc.

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’

Flood Risk Assessment

National Planning Policy Framework 164
Local Plan First Review Policy EN4

Green Infrastructure Statement

National Planning Policy Framework 170
Core Strategy Policy CP16

Heritage Statement

National Planning Policy Framework 189
Local Plan First Review Policies C1, C2, C3,
C4 and C5

Land/Slope Stability Risk Assessment

National Planning Policy Framework 178

Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment

National Planning Policy Framework 127 and
170
Core Strategy Policies CP16 and CP19
Local Plan First Review Policies LS1 and DG1

Lighting Assessment

National Planning Policy Framework 180
Local Plan First Review Policies LS4, DG1,
DG4 and DG7
National Planning Policy Framework 180
Local Plan First Review Policy EN5

Noise Impact Assessment

When Required?
 Redevelopment of existing buildings
that involves works to roofs, roof
spaces, external cladding or cellars
 Works to underground structures other
than drains/sewers
 Wind turbines or solar panels
 Floodlighting
Required if any part of the development is
located within Flood Zones 2 or 3, or if the site
is 1 hectare or more and in Flood Zone 1
All applications for major development and any
application that will have a significant impact
on the strategic green infrastructure network
(as shown on the Core Strategy Key Diagram)
Applications for development that physically
affect or affect the setting of:
 a listed building
 a conservation area
 a scheduled ancient monument
 a registered park and garden
 a locally listed building
For applications where land/slope stability is
expected to be an issue on the site
Applications for:
 Development located in the Landscape
Setting area, unless the site is within a
strategic allocation
 Tall buildings compared to surrounding
development
Applications involving significant external
lighting, or lighting within or adjoining an
environmentally sensitive area (see page 7)
Applications for:
 Potentially noise generating
developments near sensitive locations
13

Document / Plan etc.

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’

Open Space/Recreation Assessment

National Planning Policy Framework 97
Local Plan First Review Policy L3
Public Open Space SPD

Planning Statement
Retail/Leisure Impact Assessment

National Planning Policy Framework 47
National Planning Policy Framework 89
Core Strategy Policy CP8
Local Plan First Review Policy S1
National Planning Policy Framework 86-88
Core Strategy Policy CP8
Local Plan First Review Policy S1

Sequential Test Assessment

Page 215

Statement of Community Involvement
Sustainability/Net Zero Carbon Statement

Topographical Survey
Transport Statement/Assessment and
Framework Travel Plan

Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact
Assessment

Ventilation and Extraction Equipment Details
Viability Assessment

Waste Audit Statement

National Planning Policy Framework 40
National Planning Policy Framework 150 and
153
Core Strategy Policies CP13, CP14 and CP15
Residential Design SPD
Local Plan First Review Policy DG1

When Required?
 Noise sensitive development near
existing noise generating uses
Applications for development on existing open
space (public or private), sports and
recreational buildings and land, including
playing fields
All applications for major development
Applications for retail and/or leisure
development not in a defined centre above
2,500 sq m floorspace
Applications for main town centre uses, as
defined in Annex 2 of the NPPF (2019), which
are not in a defined centre nor in accordance
with the Local Plan
All applications for major development
All applications for major development

Applications on sloping land or where there
are changes in levels
National Planning Policy Framework 111
Schemes with significant transport implications
Core Strategy Policy CP9
(see thresholds in Appendix B of Guidance on
Local Plan First Review Policies T1, T2 and T3 Transport Assessment (DfT, 2007))
Sustainable Transport SPD
National Planning Policy Framework 127 and
If either of the ‘Trees and Hedges’ questions
170
on the application form are answered ‘Yes’
Local Plan First Review Policy DG1
Trees and Development SPD
Local Plan First Review Policy S5
Applications for or including such equipment,
and for the uses in section 4.31 of this guide
Core Strategy Policy CP7
Applications for major residential development
Planning Obligations SPD
that do not meet the affordable housing
requirements of Policy CP7
Devon Waste Plan Policy W4
All applications for major development
14

3.3

Applications for Approval of Reserved Matters (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application in writing

Such particulars, plans and drawings
necessary to deal with the matters reserved
Fee

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

When Required?
All

All
All – Full fee due or if full feel already paid
then £462 due

Local Requirements – None

Page 216

3.4

Applications for Removal or Variation of a Condition Following a Grant of Planning Permission (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form, including signed Ownership
Certificate and Agricultural Land Declaration
Fee

Local Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Revised plans/drawings drawn to an identified
scale showing minor material amendments

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

When Required?
All

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
Core Strategy Policy CP17
Local Plan First Review Policy DG1
Planning Practice Guidance – Flexible options
for planning permissions

When Required?
Where the application seeks minor material
amendments to the design of a development
with planning permission by replacing an
approved plan or plans listed in a condition
with revised plans

All

15

3.5

Applications for Approval of Details Reserved by Condition (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application in writing

Such particulars, plans and drawings
necessary to deal with the application (the
condition numbers should be written on the
plans/documents they relate to)
Fee

Page 217

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
The Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990 (as
amended)
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

All, except where the condition is attached to
a Listed Building Consent or planning
permission for relevant demolition in a
conservation area

All

Local Requirements – None

3.6

Application for Non-material Amendment Following a Grant of Planning Permission (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

Fee

Local Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Revised plans/drawings drawn to an identified
scale showing the non-material amendments

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

When Required?
All

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
Core Strategy Policy CP17
Local Plan First Review Policy DG1

When Required?
Where the application seeks non-material
amendments to the design of a development
with planning permission

All

16

Document / Plan etc.

3.7

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
When Required?
Planning Practice Guidance – Flexible options
for planning permissions

Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for an Existing/Proposed Use or Operation (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

Page 218

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
Location Plan drawn to an identified scale and The Town and Country Planning
showing the direction of North
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
Such evidence verifying the information
The Town and Country Planning
included in the application as the applicant
(Development Management Procedure)
can provide
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
Fee
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

Local Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Existing / Proposed Floor Plans

3.8

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

All

All

All, unless for a lawful development certificate
for an existing use and the fee for a planning
application for the same development would
be exempt
When Required?
For applications relating to dwellings in order
to verify them

Application for a Certificate of Lawfulness of Proposed Works to a Listed Building (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

A plan identifying the listed building(s) drawn
to an identified scale and showing the
direction of North

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Planning (Listed Buildings) (Certificates
of Lawfulness of Proposed Works)
Regulations 2014
The Planning (Listed Buildings) (Certificates
of Lawfulness of Proposed Works)
Regulations 2014

When Required?
All

All

17

Document / Plan etc.
Such plans, drawings and information as are
necessary to describe the proposed works
Such evidence verifying the information
included in the application as the applicant
can provide

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Planning (Listed Buildings) (Certificates
of Lawfulness of Proposed Works)
Regulations 2014
The Planning (Listed Buildings) (Certificates
of Lawfulness of Proposed Works)
Regulations 2014

When Required?
All

All

Local Requirements – None

3.9

Prior Approval: Larger Home Extension (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

Page 219

A plan indicating the site and showing the
proposed development and any existing
enlargement of the original dwellinghouse to
which the enlarged part will be joined
Fee

If an adjoining owner or occupier objects
following notification, such further information
regarding the proposed development as the
authority may reasonably require in order to
determine the application, e.g. elevations of
the proposed development

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

All

All

When requested by the planning case officer
to assess the impact of the proposed
development on the amenity of adjoining
premises

Local Requirements – None

18

3.10 Prior Approval: Enlargement of a Dwellinghouse by Construction of Additional Storeys (Contents page)

Page 220

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Written description of the proposed
development, including details of any works
proposed
A plan indicating the site and showing the
proposed development drawn to an identified
scale and showing the direction of North
A plan drawn to an identified scale showing:
 The existing and proposed elevations
of the dwellinghouse
 The position and dimensions of the
proposed windows
Such information as the authority may
reasonably require in order to determine the
application, which may include:
 assessments of impacts or risks;
 impact/risk mitigation statement(s),
having regard to the NPPF (2019)
 details of proposed building or other
operations
Construction Management Report

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to Schedule 2 Part 1 Class AA of the GPDO,
or to ensure there will be no harm to
protected species, such as bats, in
accordance with the public authority duty to
conserve biodiversity

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

Before beginning the development

All

All

Local Requirements – None

3.11 Prior Approval: Changes of Use
Prior Approval: Temporary School on Previously Vacant Commercial Land (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

19

Document / Plan etc.
A plan indicating the site and showing the
proposed development
Floor plan indicating dimensions and
proposed use of each room, the position and
dimensions of windows, doors and walls, and
the elevations of the dwellinghouses
Flood Risk Assessment

Fee

Page 221

Such information as the authority may
reasonably require in order to determine the
application, which may include:
 assessments of impacts or risks;
 impact/risk mitigation statement(s)
 details of proposed building or other
operations

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

For applications relating to prior approval as
to flooding risks on the site and the
Environment Agency must be consulted
All

Applications for development in Classes M,
MA, N, O, PA or Q

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to the relevant Class in Schedule 2 Part 3 and
Class CA in Schedule 2 Part 4 of the GPDO,
or to ensure there will be no harm to
protected species, such as bats, in
accordance with the public authority duty to
conserve biodiversity

Local Requirements – None

3.12 Prior Approval: Temporary Use for Commercial Film-making (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

A plan indicating the site and showing the
proposed development

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

All

20

Document / Plan etc.
Flood Risk Assessment

Fee

Such information as the authority may
reasonably require in order to determine the
application, which may include:
 assessments of impacts or risks;
 impact/risk mitigation statement(s)

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
Required if any part of the development is
located within Flood Zones 2 or 3, or if the
site is 1 hectare or more and in Flood Zone 1
All

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to Schedule 2 Part 4 Class E of the GPDO, or
to ensure there will be no harm to protected
species, such as bats, in accordance with the
public authority duty to conserve biodiversity

Page 222

Local Requirements – None

3.13 Prior Approval: Building for Agricultural/Forestry Use
Prior Approval: Private Road for Agricultural/Forestry Use
Prior Approval: Excavation/Deposit Waste for Agriculture
Prior Approval: Tank/Cage/Structure for Use in Fish Farming (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

A plan indicating the site

Fee

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

When Required?
All

All

All

Local Requirements – None

21

3.14 Prior Approval: Collection Facility for a Shop (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

A plan indicating the site and showing the
proposed development
Fee

Such information as the authority may
reasonably require in order to determine the
application

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

All

All

Page 223

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to Schedule 2 Part 7 Class C of the GPDO, or
to ensure there will be no harm to protected
species, such as bats, in accordance with the
public authority duty to conserve biodiversity

Local Requirements – None

3.15 Prior Approval: Demolition of Building (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

Statement that a signed and dated site notice
has been posted on or near the land by the
applicant containing the name of the applicant
 a description, including the address, of
the building(s) proposed to be
demolished

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

All

22

Document / Plan etc.
 a statement that the applicant has
applied to Exeter City Council for a
determination as to whether the prior
approval of the authority will be
required as to the method of demolition
and any proposed restoration of the
site
 the date on which the applicant
proposes to carry out the demolition
 the name and address of the local
planning authority
Fee

Page 224

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’

When Required?

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

All

Local Requirements – None

3.16 Prior Approval: Roof Mounted Solar PV on Non-domestic Building (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

A plan indicating the site and showing the
proposed development
Fee

Such information as the authority may
reasonably require in order to determine the
application

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

All

All

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to Schedule 2 Part 14 Class J of the GPDO,
or to ensure there will be no harm to protected
23

Document / Plan etc.

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’

When Required?
species, such as bats, in accordance with the
public authority duty to conserve biodiversity

Local Requirements – None

3.17 Prior Approval: Development for Electronic Communications Network (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

A plan indicating proposed location

Page 225

Evidence the developer has given notice of
the proposed development to:
 any person (other than the developer)
who is the owner of the land; or
 a tenant of an agricultural holding any
part of which is comprised in the land
Evidence that Exeter Airport has been notified
of the proposal

Fee

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

Where the proposed development consists of
the installation, alteration or replacement of a
mast within 3km of the perimeter of an
aerodrome (Exeter Airport)
All

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

All

All

Local Requirements – None

24

3.18 Prior Approval: Demolition of Buildings and Construction of New Dwellinghouses in their Place (ZA) (Contents
page)

Page 226

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
A written description of the proposed
development, which must include details of
the building proposed for demolition, the
building proposed as replacement and the
demolition/construction operations proposed
A plan drawn to an identified scale and
showing the direction of North indicating the
site of the proposed development
Drawings prepared to an identified scale and
showing external dimensions and elevations
of:
 the building proposed for demolition
 the building scheduled as replacement
 the position of each in the direction of
North
 the position and dimensions of
windows, doors and walls in the
block/each
dwellinghouse/dwellinghouse as
applicable
 the dimensions and use of all habitable
and other rooms in each dwellinghouse
proposed
A written statement specifying:
 the number of dwellinghouses in the
building proposed for demolition
 the number of new dwellinghouses
proposed in the replacement building
Flood Risk Assessment

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

Required if any part of the development is
located within Flood Zones 2 or 3

All

25

Document / Plan etc.
A written statement in respect of heritage and
archaeological considerations of the
development
Developer’s contact address and email
address if the developer is content to receive
communications electronically
Fee

Page 227

Such information as the authority may
reasonably require in order to determine the
application, which may include:
 assessments of impacts or risks;
 impact/risk mitigation statement(s),
having regard to the NPPF (2019); or
 details of proposed building or other
operations
Construction Management Report (including
proposed use of materials and the plans for
the disposal and recycling of waste generated
by the development)

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

Before beginning the development

All

All

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to Schedule 2 Part 20 Class ZA of the GPDO,
or to ensure there will be no harm to
protected species, such as bats, in
accordance with the public authority duty to
conserve biodiversity

Local Requirements – None

3.19 Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Detached Blocks of Flats (A)
Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Detached Buildings in Commercial or Mixed Use (AA)
Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Terrace Buildings in Commercial or Mixed Use (AB)
Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Terrace Buildings in Use as Dwellinghouses (AC)
Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Detached Buildings in Use as Dwellinghouses (AD) (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
A written description of the proposed
development, including details of any
dwellinghouse and other works proposed

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

26

Page 228

Document / Plan etc.
A plan drawn to an identified scale and
showing the direction of North indicating the
site and showing the proposed development
Floor plans drawn to an identified scale and
showing the direction of North indicating the
dimensions and proposed use of each room,
the position and dimensions of windows,
doors and walls, and the existing and
proposed elevations of the building
A written statement specifying the number of
new dwellinghouses proposed (additional to
any existing dwellinghouses in the existing
building)
A list of all addresses of any flats and any
other premises in the existing building
Developer’s contact address and email
address if the developer is content to receive
communications electronically
Flood Risk Assessment

A report by a chartered engineer/other
competent professional confirming the
external wall construction of the existing
building complies with paragraph B4(1) of
Schedule 1 to the Building Regulations 2010
Fee

Such information as the authority may
reasonably require in order to determine the
application, which may include:
 assessments of impacts or risks;

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

All if relevant

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

All

All

All

Required if any part of the development is
located within Flood Zones 2 or 3
Where the existing building is 18 metres or
more in height

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to the relevant Class in Schedule 2 Part 20 of
the GPDO, or to ensure there will be no harm
to protected species, such as bats, in
27

Document / Plan etc.
 impact/risk mitigation statement(s),
having regard to the NPPF (2019); or
 details of proposed building or other
operations
Construction Management Report

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’

When Required?
accordance with the public authority duty to
conserve biodiversity

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

Before beginning the development – does not
apply to AD

Local Requirements – None

3.20 Application for Permission in Principle (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

Page 229

A plan drawn to an identified scale and
showing the direction of North which identifies
the land to which the application relates
Particulars of: how the applicant complied with
section 61W(1) of the TCP 1990 Act
(pre-application consultation);
 any responses to the consultation that
were received by the applicant; and
 the account taken of those responses
by the applicant.
Fee

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country (Permission in
Principle) Order 2017 (as amended)
The Town and Country (Permission in
Principle) Order 2017 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country (Permission in
Principle) Order 2017 (as amended)

For permission in principle for any residential
development involving an installation for the
harnessing of wind power for energy
production where:
 the development involves the
installation of more than 2 turbines; or
 the hub height of any turbine exceeds
15 metres
All

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

All

Local Requirements – None

28

3.21 Application for Listed Building Consent (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form, including signed Ownership
Certificate

Page 230

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990 (as
amended)
Location Plan drawn to an identified scale and The Planning (Listed Buildings and
showing the direction of North
Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990 (as
amended)
Any other plans, drawings and information
The Planning (Listed Buildings and
necessary to describe the works, where plans Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990 (as
and drawings are to be drawn to an identified amended)
scale and plans shall show the direction of
North
Design and Access Statement
The Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990 (as
amended)

When Required?
All

All

All

All – Access issues not required for works
affecting only the interior of the building

Local Requirements (as separate legislation relates to listed buildings, the application will be validated if the information below is not
provided, however applicants/agents should provide this information where relevant)
Document / Plan etc.
Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
When Required?
Heritage Statement
National Planning Policy Framework 189
All
Local Plan First Review Policy C2
Structural Survey
National Planning Policy Framework 189
Where the application proposes demolition,
Local Plan First Review Policy C2
significant alterations to the structure of the
building or heavier floor loading

3.22 Application for Planning Permission for Relevant Demolition in a Conservation Area (applies to the demolition
of unlisted buildings, gates, walls or other means of enclosure in conservation areas) (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form, including signed Ownership
Certificate and Agricultural Land Declaration

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

29

Document / Plan etc.
Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
Location Plan drawn to an identified scale and The Town and Country Planning
showing the direction of North
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
Any other plans, drawings and information
The Town and Country Planning
necessary to describe the development,
(Development Management Procedure)
where plans and drawings are to be drawn to (England) Order 2015 (as amended)
an identified scale and plans shall show the
direction of North
Local Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Ecology Report – Bats and Birds
Flood Risk Assessment

Page 231

Heritage Statement
Waste Audit Statement

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
National Planning Policy Framework 175
Local Plan First Review Policy LS4
National Planning Policy Framework 164
Local Plan First Review Policy EN4
National Planning Policy Framework 189
Local Plan First Review Policy C1
Devon Waste Plan Policy W4

When Required?
All

All

When Required?
All
Required if any part of the development is
located within Flood Zones 2 or 3, or if the site
is 1 hectare or more and in Flood Zone 1
All
Applications for the demolition of buildings
with floorspace of 1,000 sq m or more

3.23 Application for Consent to Display an Advertisement (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

Particulars specified in the form: Elevation drawing or photo of the
advertisement if already in place
 Elevation drawing or photo of existing
sign to be removed and replaced
 Coloured drawing(s) of proposed
advertisement if not already in place

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007
(as amended)

When Required?
All

All

30

Document / Plan etc.
showing dimensions and position on
land or building
 Other plans, drawings or information
necessary to describe the proposal
Location Plan drawn to an identified scale and
showing the direction of North
Fee

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’

When Required?

The Town and Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

All

All, except following the withdrawal/refusal of
an earlier application and the same applicant

Local Requirements – None

Page 232

3.24 Tree Works: Trees in Conservation Areas/Subject to Tree Preservation Orders (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

Particulars specified in the form: Sketch Plan showing the location of all
trees affected
 Identification of tree(s) affected
 Specification of proposed works to
tree(s)
 Reason for work where trees protected
by TPO
 Arboricultural evidence if TPO tree is
diseased/might break or fall
 Engineer/Surveyor report and
Arboricultural report if TPO tree is
causing subsidence

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (Tree
Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012 (as
amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Tree
Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012 (as
amended)

When Required?
All

All

31

Document / Plan etc.
 Written technical evidence from an
appropriate expert where TPO tree is
causing other structural damage

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’

When Required?

Local Requirements – None

3.25 Application for Hedgerow Removal Notice (Contents page)

Page 233

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form
Plan showing the location and length of
hedgerow or hedgerows proposed to be
removed drawn to an identified scale
(preferably 1:2500) and showing the direction
of North (mark stretches of hedgerow planted
less than 30 years ago on the plan with an
“X”)
Evidence of the date of planting of stretches
of hedgerow indicated to be removed that are
less than 30 years old

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Hedgerows Regulations 1997
The Hedgerows Regulations 1997

When Required?
All
All

The Hedgerows Regulations 1997

Applications involving the removal of
hedgerows less than 30 years old

Local Requirements (as separate legislation relates to hedgerows, the application will be validated if the information below is not
provided, however applicants/agents should provide this information where relevant)
Document / Plan etc.
Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
When Required?
Ecology Report
National Planning Policy Framework 175
All
Local Plan First Review Policy LS4
Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact
National Planning Policy Framework 127 and Where trees would be removed as part of the
Assessment
170
works
Local Plan First Review Policy DG1
Trees and Development SPD

32

3.26 Application to Modify or Discharge a Planning Obligation Agreed under S106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act (Contents page)

Page 234

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form, including:
 Name and address of applicant
 Address or location of the land to which
the application relates and the nature
of the applicant’s interest in the land
 Identification of the planning obligation
concerned
 Applicant’s reasons for applying to
modify or discharge the obligation
 Such other information as the authority
consider necessary to enable them to
determine the application
Map identifying the land to which the
obligation relates
Such other information as the applicant
considers relevant to the determination of the
application

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (Modification
and Discharge of Planning Obligations)
Regulations 1992 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (Modification
and Discharge of Planning Obligations)
Regulations 1992 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Modification
and Discharge of Planning Obligations)
Regulations 1992 (as amended)

All

When the applicant considers additional
information is relevant

Local Requirements – None

4.0 Information Requirements Guidance
4.1

Application Form and Fee (Contents page)

All applications must be submitted using the appropriate application form. For further details see Apply for planning permission - Exeter City
Council.
Our preference is for applications to be submitted electronically using the Planning Portal. For paper applications, please provide the following
number of complete sets of application form, plans and documents:



one set for most applications
two sets for combined applications (e.g. Full and Listed Building Consent)
33

Ownership Certificate A, B, C or D on the application form must be completed stating the ownership of the application site. This also incorporates
the Agricultural Land Declaration.



Complete Certificate A if you own all of the land (freehold or leasehold of 7 years or more) and do not have agricultural tenants; or
Complete Certificate B, C or D if you do not own all the land or if you have agricultural tenants on the land. This includes situations where
the development overhangs the boundary with the adjoining property/land.
o Certificate B – Complete this if you know who the owners/agricultural tenants are on the day 21 days before the date of the application.
State the names and addresses of these people on the application form. Before you submit the application, you will need to serve a
notice of the application on these people.
o Certificate C – Complete this if you know some of the owners/agricultural tenants. This is a combination of the circumstances
described in Certificates B and D and should be completed accordingly.
o Certificate D – Complete this if you do not know any of the owners/agricultural tenants. Specify the steps you have taken to find the
owners e.g. land registry search. You must advertise the application in a local newspaper at least 21 days before submission.

The application form must be signed and dated and all questions on the form must be answered fully and accurately.

Page 235

The correct full fee must be submitted with the application. A schedule of fees is available at How much does an application cost? - Exeter City
Council.

4.2

Plans Required – depending on the type of application (Contents page)

All plans must:










be to a recognised metric scale (e.g. 1:50, 1:100) which is marked clearly on the plan
have a scale bar or at least one measurement marked on the plan
be clearly marked with the direction of North
have the size of the plan (A3, A2 etc.) marked on the plan
have a unique drawing number which is also used in the file name
belong to you/your client as copyrighted plans cannot be accepted
preferably contain a single type of drawing per document, e.g. location plan, site layout plan, existing elevations, proposed elevations,
existing floor plans, proposed floor plans
be in black and white, except the red and blue outlines for location plans and coloured elevations/streetscenes
be of a quality and resolution that will be clear to view by the public when uploaded onto the website

Additional electronic requirements:

34








maximum file size 5Mb
no .zip or .exe files
preferably submit as PDF
minimum resolution of 200 dpi
drawings correctly orientated for on-screen display
file names reflect content

Location Plan
Location plans are required for most applications. They must:





Page 236

be up-to-date
normally be at a scale of 1:1250 (or 1:2500 if appropriate)
show the full site, including all site boundaries, adjoining properties and, where possible, at least two named roads
show the site outlined in red and any adjoining land owned by the applicant outlined in blue – the site should include all land necessary to
carry out the proposed development, including access, which is normally to the boundary

Location plans can be purchased online at Buy a planning map | Planning Portal.
Site Layout Plan (existing and proposed)
Site layout plans (sometimes referred to as Block Plans) are required for applications for new buildings, building extensions, changes of use and
other development where physical changes to the site layout are proposed. They must be drawn to a recognisable scale (e.g. 1:1000, 1:500,
1:200 or 1:100, depending on the size of the site) and show:










the proposed development
all site boundaries, existing buildings, roads, tracks, footpaths and access arrangements on the site
any buildings to be demolished
all buildings, roads, tracks, footpaths and access arrangements on land adjoining the site
all public rights of way crossing or adjoining the site
existing and proposed parking provision
the position of all trees on the site, including those on adjacent land that could influence or be affected by the development, with proposals
for removal/retention/new planting indicated
the position of all hedges on the site, including boundary hedges, other vegetation, ponds, watercourses, walls, banks and historic
features with proposals for removal/retention/new planting indicated
the extent and type of any hard surfacing
35




boundary treatments including walls or fencing where this is proposed
ground/floor levels across the site, including any retaining walls

Floor Plans (existing and proposed)
Floor plans are required for all applications for new, altered, replacement or extended buildings, and changes of use. They must be drawn to a
recognisable scale (e.g. 1:50 or 1:100) and show:

Page 237












all floors in the building
the entire floor area
all rooms, with an indication of their use
number of bedspaces (residential)
integral garages (residential)
built-in storage – must have minimum headroom of 900mm (residential)
internal bin stores
internal cycle stores
stairs/lifts
plant rooms

Roof Plans
Roof plans are required for all applications for new, replacement or extended buildings, or where there are alterations to existing roofs. They
must be drawn to a recognisable scale (e.g. 1:50 or 1:100), and show the shape of the roof and roofing materials. In the case of roofs involving
‘green’, ‘brown’ or ‘blue’ roofing systems, a detailed section of the roof should be included on the plan or separately.
Elevation Drawings (existing and proposed)
Elevation drawings are required for applications for new, altered, replacement or extended buildings. They must be drawn to a recognisable
scale (e.g. 1:50 or 1:100) and show:





all affected elevations in full
proposed building materials, style and finish of the building and windows and doors
any other buildings that are attached to the elevation and where possible the main features of that adjoining building (e.g. details of doors,
windows on the same elevation of an adjoining terraced or semi-detached dwelling)
the size and location of any ventilation/extraction equipment

36

Site Sections (existing and proposed)
Site sections are required for applications for new buildings on sloping sites, or where there are changes in levels on the site or between the site
and surrounding properties. They must be drawn to a recognisable scale (e.g. 1:50 or 1:100) and show the proposed development in relation to
buildings on adjoining land. Existing and finished levels should be marked on the drawings, fixed to a datum point off site.
Building Sections (existing and proposed)
Building sections are required for applications for new buildings. They must be drawn to a recognisable scale (e.g. 1:50 or 1:100) and show each
floor in the building and the position of external windows.
Streetscenes

Page 238

Streetscenes are required for residential applications with new road/streets providing access to the dwellings. They may also be required for
new, altered, replacement or extended buildings that will change the character of existing streets, e.g. larger scale, different architecture or
smaller gaps between buildings. They must be drawn to a recognisable scale (e.g. 1:100 or 1:200) and are usually in colour.
Specialist Plans
Specialist plans may be required to show specific details in a larger scale (e.g. 1:5, 1:10 or 1:20), where certain issues such as the detail of
window joinery is required, e.g. for Listed Buildings.
Photos
Photographs of the site/existing building(s) help to provide an understanding of the site and development, and are encouraged.
Advertisement Consent Plans
Detailed plans are required for applications for consent to display an advertisement. They must be drawn to a recognisable scale (e.g. 1:20 or
1:50) and show:







the size of the advertisement (including dimensions)
its position on the land or the building in question
the materials and colours to be used
the height above ground level
the extent of projection from any building
details of the method and colour of any illumination
37

4.3

Air Quality Assessment (Contents page)
All applications for major development, except car-free residential development, must be supported by an Air Quality Assessment (AQA),
addressing the air quality impacts of both the construction and operational phases of the development. Impacts may arise from dust generated
during demolition and/or construction works, emissions from plant or from the traffic generated by the proposal. The latter will need to take into
account the information contained within the Transport Statement/Assessment submitted with the application. Where impacts are identified, the
assessment must include appropriate mitigation measures to be secured through either planning condition or s106 legal agreement.
An AQA is also required for proposals that significantly increase traffic flows to/from the site or that change traffic flows to high polluting vehicles,
e.g. bus stations, car parks (>10 spaces), coach/lorry parks, etc.
An AQA will also be required for any applications within 20 metres of the Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) to ensure that the proposal will
not be adversely affected by traffic pollution – particularly vulnerable uses such as residential and schools/nurseries, or will increase nitrogen
dioxide emissions within the AQMA through traffic generation. Please contact the Council’s Environmental Health team to confirm if this is
needed for your proposal.
An Air Quality Assessment should be prepared by a suitably qualified expert. It should indicate the change in air quality or exposure resulting
from the proposed development and outline appropriate mitigation measures, as necessary.

Page 239

Further information:




Air quality - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Guidance – IAQM
Clean, safe city - Exeter City Council

Exeter City Council contacts: environmental.health@exeter.gov.uk

4.4

Archaeological Report (Contents page)
An archaeological report will be required for all applications within the Area of Archaeological Importance, as shown on the Local Plan First
Review Proposals Map, involving ground works, and for all applications for major development on greenfield sites. This should comprise a deskbased assessment and field evaluation where necessary. The scope of the report should be discussed and agreed with the Council’s Heritage
Officer at pre-application stage. Information on the recording of archaeological remains should be made publicly available. This normally involves
adding the information to the historic environment record and the appropriate museum or other repository.
Further information:



Historic environment - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
CIfA regulations, standards and guidance | Chartered Institute for Archaeologists
38

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.5

Community Infrastructure Levy (Contents page)

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is charged on residential development (excluding Use Class C2) and student housing anywhere in the
city, and retail development (Use Classes F.2, E and some sui-generis uses – A1-A5 before 1 September 2020) outside the City Centre; the City
Centre is shown in the CIL Charging Schedule at: cil-charging-schedule-oct-13.pdf (exeter.gov.uk). CIL receipts are used to fund infrastructure
made necessary by development, either in whole or in part, and CIL is levied on owners or developers of land when development takes place,
with payments typically being phased in accordance with the Council’s CIL Instalments Policy.
CIL cannot be used to fund Affordable Housing – this will continue to be delivered through planning obligations agreed under Section 106 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as will other (usually site-specific) infrastructure which meets the tests in CIL regulation 122 (2).

Page 240

It is a local validation requirement that a ‘CIL Additional Information’ form is submitted with all planning applications. It is also a local validation
requirement to submit an ‘Assumption of Liability’ form with applications if the person who will pay the CIL liability is known. If not, the Council’s
preference is that it is submitted before the application is determined. These forms are available on the Planning Portal: Download the forms |
Community Infrastructure Levy | Planning Portal.
Note that most household extensions are exempt from paying CIL (if less than 100m 2 additional floor space is proposed). If this is the case,
please fill in section 1, tick the ‘No’ box in question 2.a), and tick the ‘Yes’ box in question 4.d) of the ‘CIL Additional Information’ form. Put your
name and the date at the end of the form.
If an application is approved with a CIL liability, it is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure the correct forms are submitted and that the correct
procedures are followed, particularly prior to commencement of development (including demolition). If, for example, a ‘Commencement Notice’ is
not submitted prior to the commencement of development, the applicant forfeits any right to pay CIL in instalments. It can also be the case that
exemptions from CIL are lost if the correct procedure is not followed, or that surcharges can be applied. The penalties can be significant.
Sometimes the Council has no discretion as to the course of action it is required to take in imposing surcharges or penalties.
Planning obligations, also known as Section 106 agreements (based on that section of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990), are private legal
agreements made between local authorities and developers and can be attached to a planning permission to make development acceptable
(which would otherwise be unacceptable in planning terms). Applicants and agents should clarify the Council’s requirements in pre-application
discussions and confirm any planning obligations that they agree to provide as part of the Planning Statement submitted with the application.
Further information:



Community infrastructure levy (CIL) - Exeter City Council
Conditions and obligations | The decision-making process | Planning Portal
39



Section 106 agreements (s106) - Exeter City Council

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk; for CIL specific enquiries email CIL@exeter.gov.uk.

4.6

Construction Management Report (Contents page)
A Construction Management Report, sometimes referred to as a Construction Method Statement, is normally a requirement for major
developments that have been granted planning permission, under a planning condition. However, they are a national requirement for some prior
approval applications, which state that:
“before beginning the development, the developer must provide the local planning authority with a report for the management of the
construction of the development, which sets out the proposed development hours of operation and how any adverse impact of noise, dust,
vibration and traffic on adjoining owners or occupiers will be mitigated”
In the case of prior approvals for ‘Demolition of Buildings and Construction of New Dwellinghouses in their Place’ (Class ZA), this is expanded as
follows:

Page 241

“before beginning the development, the developer must provide the local planning authority with a report for the management of the
construction of the development, which is acceptable to the authority and sets out the method of demolition, the proposed development
hours of operation and how any adverse impact of noise, dust and vibration and traffic on occupiers of the new building and adjoining
owners or occupiers will be mitigated, the proposed use of materials, and the plans for the disposal and recycling of waste generated by
the development and that in carrying out the development the developer must comply with the report.”

Therefore, a Construction Management Report can be submitted either with the application or after prior approval has been granted, but it must
be provided before the development is begun.
The information that is normally required by the Council in a Construction Method Statement is:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)

The site access point(s) of all vehicles during the construction period.
The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors.
The areas for loading and unloading plant and materials.
Storage areas of plant and materials used in constructing the development within the phase.
The erection and maintenance of securing hoarding, if appropriate.
Wheel washing facilities.
Measures to monitor and control the emission of dust and dirt during construction.
No burning on site during construction or site preparation works.
Measures to monitor and control noise and vibration nuisance to neighbours from plant and machinery.
40

j) Construction working hours and deliveries from 8:00 to 18:00 Monday to Friday, 8:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or
Bank Holidays.
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.7

Contaminated Land Risk Assessment (Contents page)

A Contaminated Land Risk Assessment is required for all applications where the answer to any of the contamination questions under ‘Existing
Use’ on the application form is ‘Yes’. This means whenever contamination is known or suspected, or where the application is for a use which is
‘particularly vulnerable’. ‘Particularly vulnerable’ uses include: dwellings, schools, nurseries, allotments and playing fields, among others.
The risk assessment must be completed by a competent person. They are required to determine the existence or otherwise of contamination, its
nature, the risks it may pose, and whether these can be reduced to an acceptable level. Contamination is likely to be present if previous uses on
or around the site comprised industrial buildings or land, or petrol stations/garages where fuels and chemicals were in regular use. However, it
may also be present in other locations, including the countryside, e.g. by inappropriate spreading of materials. Please contact the planning
applications team, which has a GIS layer indicating potential contaminated land.

Page 242

To ease the burden on small developers, the Council will not normally require an assessment:



Where there is a current approval or where a contaminated land report has already been submitted as part of a previous application
Where the application is clearly not a risk, e.g. a minor change with no ground disturbance

If the proposed development is situated within 250 metres of a former landfill site, there will be a requirement to specifically consider whether
there are issues relating to ground gas.
Further information:



Land affected by contamination - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Pollution control - Contaminated land - Exeter City Council

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk
Exeter City Council contacts: environmental.health@exeter.gov.uk

4.8

Daylight and Sunlight Report (Contents page)
It is important that homes have adequate access to natural light and sunlight to provide a healthy environment to the occupier. The Government
has recently amended the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 to highlight the importance of
this issue for new dwellings created through the Order, stating:
41

“Where the application relates to prior approval as to adequate natural light, the local planning authority must refuse prior approval if
adequate natural light is not provided in all the habitable rooms of the dwellinghouses.”
At the same time, in encouraging higher densities, the Government states:
“local planning authorities should refuse applications which they consider fail to make efficient use of land, taking into account the policies
in this Framework. In this context, when considering applications for housing, authorities should take a flexible approach in applying
policies or guidance relating to daylight and sunlight, where they would otherwise inhibit making efficient use of a site (as long as the
resulting scheme would provide acceptable living standards).” (NPPF paragraph 123 c))
Detailed guidance on this issue can be found in the BRE guide ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight – A guide to good practice’ (2nd
edition).
It is also important that new development does not result in the loss of light to surrounding properties to an unacceptable degree. For some
development proposals for new or extended buildings, it may be helpful to include before and after shadow plans to show the difference that the
proposed development makes on overshadowing of surrounding properties at different times of day and year.

Page 243

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.9

Design and Access Statement (Contents page)

Design and Access Statements explain the design logic behind a planning application and should show that the applicant has thought carefully
about the context of the development and how everyone, including disabled people, older people and very young children, will be able to use or
be affected by the place or development that they want to build.
The length of the statement will vary depending on the complexity of the proposal. Relatively simple proposals can be quite short whereas
complex developments that may be affected by a greater range of influences will need to be more comprehensive and detailed. The latter should
explain the evolution of the design, including sketches of the early iterations that led to the final design proposal.
In accordance with the DMPO, a Design and Access Statement must:





Explain the design principles and concepts that have been applied to the development.
Demonstrate the steps taken to appraise the context of the development and how the design of the development takes that context into
account.
Explain the policy adopted as to access, and how policies relating to access in relevant local development plan documents have been
taken into account.
State what, if any, consultation has been undertaken on issues relating to access to the development and what account has been taken of
the outcome of any such consultation.
42



Explain how any specific issues which might affect access to the development have been addressed.

In accordance with the Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Regulations, a Design and Access Statement accompanying an application for
Listed Building Consent shall explain:





Page 244

the design principles and concepts that have been applied to the works.
how the design principles and concepts that have been applied to the works take account of–
o the special architectural or historic importance of the building;
o the particular physical features of the building that justify its designation as a listed building; and
o the building’s setting.
Unless the proposed works only affect the interior of the building, how issues relating to access to the building have been dealt with,
including–
o Explain the policy adopted as to access, including what alternative means of access have been considered, and how policies
relating to access in relevant local development documents have been taken into account.
o Explain how the policy as to access takes account of:
 the special architectural or historic importance of the building;
 the particular physical features of the building that justify its designation as a listed building; and
 the building’s setting.
o State what, if any, consultation has been undertaken and what account has been taken of the outcome of any such consultation;
and
o Explain how any specific issues which might affect access to the building have been addressed.

Further information:




Planning portal advice
Design Council advice
Easy Access to Historic Buildings | Historic England

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.10 Ecology Report (Contents page)
Applications for development that will adversely affect biodiversity must be accompanied by an Ecology Report, which must appraise the site
itself and adjacent land. It must be produced by a suitably qualified and licensed ecological consultant and include:




Desk study
Extended phase 1 habitat survey
Protected species surveys (when advised by the ecologist)
43








Assessment of importance of biodiversity features
Assessment of impacts (including on European sites)
Suite of measures to avoid/mitigate/compensate impacts
Details of how these will be delivered
Details of biodiversity enhancements/net gain that will be provided
A scheme for monitoring the effectiveness of mitigation/compensation measures

Protected species surveys may need to be undertaken over an extended period and the results used to inform the design of the development, as
well as mitigation/compensation measures. Applicants and agents will need to comply with all relevant legislation relating to protected species.
All reports must be up-to-date and produced by a suitably qualified and licensed professional ecological consultant. If your professional
ecological consultant considers that a report is not required, you may submit a letter from them justifying why this is the case.
Further information:

Page 245





Planning and development: Protected sites and species - detailed information - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Natural environment - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Habitats Mitigation - Exeter City Council

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.11 Ecology Report – Bats and Birds (Contents page)
Bat and bird reports are required for the applications listed, unless:



The entire roof space has already been converted to living space
Works are to a flat roof or a single layer sheet metal roof

Bat and bird survey reports must include: date of survey, methodology used, evidence found, assessment of impacts on protected species,
mitigation/compensation for impacts, details on how these will be delivered and a scheme for monitoring effectiveness of
mitigation/compensation. The necessary surveys may need to be undertaken over an extended period prior to submission of any application.
All reports must be up-to-date and produced by a suitably qualified and licensed professional ecological consultant. If your professional
ecological consultant considers that a report is not required, you may submit a letter from them justifying why this is the case.
Further information:


Bats: surveys and mitigation for development projects - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
44



Wild birds: surveys and mitigation for development projects - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.12 Electronic Communications Network Development (Contents page)
Planning applications for mast and antenna development by mobile phone network operators should be accompanied by a range of
supplementary information including the area of search, details of any consultation undertaken, details of the proposed structure, technical
justification, and information about the proposed development along with evidence that all relevant masts-sharing and site-sharing opportunities
have been investigated.
Planning applications should also be accompanied by a signed declaration that the equipment and installation has been designed to be in full
compliance with the requirements of the radio-frequency public exposure guidelines of the International Commission on Non-Ionising Radiation
Protection (ICNIRP).
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

Page 246

4.13 Environmental Statement (Contents page)
An Environmental Statement (and non-technical summary) must be provided for any development that falls within Schedule 1 of the Town and
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (as amended), and for Schedule 2 projects that are likely to have
significant environmental effects. The Environmental Statement must be prepared by persons who, in the opinion of the Council, have sufficient
expertise to ensure the completeness and quality of the statement. The Environmental Statement must be accompanied by a statement setting
out how the requirement for sufficient expertise has been met.
Applicants/agents can seek a ‘screening opinion’ from the Council as to whether an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) is required. This is
best done at the pre-application stage. If an EIA is required, the Council can then carry out a ‘scoping opinion’ to identify the matters that the EIA
will need to address. The Environmental Statement must then be submitted with the application. If an EIA is not required, there is no further
action needed.
If a screening opinion is not sought before an application is submitted and it appears that the application is a Schedule 1 or 2 application, it will
still be validated and the planning case officer will undertake a screening opinion early in the application process. If the application requires an
EIA, the planning application process will stop until the Environmental Statement is provided.
In cases where an EIA is not required, environmental information may still need to be provided. See other sections of this guide.
Further information: Environmental Impact Assessment - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk
45

4.14 Flood Risk Assessment (Contents page)
A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) will be required if the proposed development falls within Flood Zones 2 or 3, or if the site is in Flood Zone 1 and
1 hectare or more.
The FRA should be produced using the Flood map for planning and Flood risk assessment for planning applications advice from the Environment
Agency, and the City Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA).
Within each flood zone, new development should be directed to sites with the lowest probability of flooding, as indicated by the SFRA.
New development should ideally be located within Flood Zone 1. However, if there is no reasonably available land within Flood Zone 1, and
development is proposed within Flood Zones 2 or 3, a Sequential Test shall be undertaken by the Council, using evidence provided by the
applicant and taking into account the flood vulnerability of the proposed development.
The FRA should identify and asses the risks of all forms of flooding to and from the development, and demonstrate how these flood risks will be
managed, taking climate change into account. The FRA should identify opportunities to reduce the probability and consequences of flooding. The
FRA should include the design of surface water management systems including Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS), and address the
requirement for safe access to and from the development in areas at risk of flooding.

Page 247

Surface Water Management
All new developments must have an effective and robust surface water system which should not increase flood risk to adjacent properties or
land, and where possible should make improvements to reduce the risk of flooding.
When submitting and application, applicants must provide a surface water management plan, which demonstrates how surface water from the
development will be disposed of in a manner that does not increase flood risk elsewhere, in accordance with Sustainable Drainage Systems
(SuDS) principles. SuDS systems should be designed in accordance with local and national standards. Devon County Council, as the Lead Local
Flood Authority, is the statutory consultee for major developments with surface water drainage.
Devon County Council has a requirement for monitoring of the groundwater for a period of 12 months when infiltration is proposed at a site. Due
to the longevity of this requirement, it is recommended that monitoring is commenced as early as possible. Further information can be found in
SuDS guidance - Flood Risk Management (devon.gov.uk).
Further information:




Flood risk assessments if you're applying for planning permission - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Preparing a flood risk assessment: standing advice - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Flood risk and coastal change - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
46





Flood map for planning - GOV.UK (flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk)
Home - Flood Risk Management (devon.gov.uk)
Exeter City Council Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA)

Environment Agency contact: enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk
Devon County Council contact: floodrisk@devon.gov.uk
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.15 Green Infrastructure Statement (Contents page)
A Green Infrastructure Study (Phase 1) and a Green Infrastructure Strategy (Phase 2) were commissioned by East Devon District Council,
Exeter City Council, Teignbridge District Council and Natural England as part of their ongoing commitment to meeting the needs of new and
future communities and to general environmental protection and enhancement.
This Green Infrastructure work provides a framework for green infrastructure to be taken into account in planning for the significant amount of
new growth in the area.

Page 248

Proposals should not harm the integrity of the strategic and local Green Infrastructure (GI) network, or diminish the value of existing key GI
assets. Where appropriate, the value of existing GI assets shall be enhanced, new assets created and connectivity improved between individual
assets. Particular emphasis should be placed on delivering high quality assets that provide multiple functions and benefits.
A Green Infrastructure Context Plan is required to identify the key GI opportunities for the development site and how they relate to the
surrounding area and the GI network. This plan presents the evidence base for the Green Infrastructure Masterplan and is informed by an
evaluation of the existing and potential assets and their roles and benefits.
A Green Infrastructure Masterplan is required to identify and define green infrastructure provision within the proposed development and how
these proposed GI assets connect to the wider GI network.
A Green Infrastructure Statement is required to explain how the proposal contributes to achieving the aims of the Green Infrastructure Strategy.
Further information:




Natural environment - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Green Infrastructure Study
Green Infrastructure Strategy

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk
47

4.16 Heritage Statement (Contents page)
A Heritage Statement is required for all development affecting heritage assets. The NPPF (2019) defines heritage asset as:
“A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning
decisions, because of its heritage interest. It includes designated heritage assets and assets identified by the local planning authority
(including local listing).”
Paragraph 189 of the NPPF (2019 states:
“In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets
affected, including any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and no
more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance. As a minimum the relevant historic
environment record should have been consulted and the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise where necessary. Where a
site on which development is proposed includes, or has the potential to include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, local planning
authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.”

Page 249

Heritage Statements must therefore provide a description of the significance of the heritage assets affected, including the contribution made by
their setting. Any information gained from the Devon Historic Environment Record, together with the impact of the proposal, should be set out to
explain the design concept, in conjunction with the Design and Access Statement. It should detail the sources that have been considered and the
expertise that has been consulted.
For listed building consent applications, a Heritage Statement should outline the historic importance of the building, and include:





the schedule of works;
an analysis of the significance of archaeology, history and character of the building/structure;
the principles of and justification for the proposed works; and
the impact of the proposed works on the historic fabric, the special character of the listed building or structure, its setting or the setting of
any adjacent listed buildings.

A structural survey may also be required.
Where the proposal includes total or substantial demolition of a listed building the statement should include:




condition of the building and cost of repair/maintenance in relation to the importance of the building and the value derived from continued
use;
efforts made to retain the building in use including open marketing at a realistic price; and
merits of alternative proposals for the site.
48

For substantial or total demolition in a conservation area, where a building or structure is positively contributing towards the character of a
conservation area, a Heritage Statement should include:




a structural survey outlining the condition of the building;
a written analysis of the character and appearance of the building/structure and the contribution it makes to the conservation area; and
justification for the proposed demolition and its impact on the special character of the area.

For applications either related to or impacting on the setting of heritage assets, depending on the scale of the application, it should include:




plans showing historic assets that may exist on or adjacent to the application site including listed buildings and structures, historic parks
and gardens, scheduled monuments and locally listed buildings;
an analysis of the significance of archaeology, history and character of the building/structure;
the principles of and justification for the proposed works, and their impact on the special character and setting of the heritage asset.

Page 250

If previously unidentified heritage assets are found that are considered to be of architectural, artistic, archaeological or historic interest, their
significance will need to be judged. Information on the heritage assets will need to be sought from the historic environment record and the effect
of proposals on identified assets will need to be considered.
For applications within or adjacent to a conservation area, the Heritage Statement should include an assessment of the impact of the
development on the character, appearance or setting of the area. Conservation area appraisals have been prepared by the Council and should
be referenced. New development will need to demonstrate that it preserves those aspects of the heritage setting that either enhance or make a
positive contribution towards the character or appearance of the conservation area.
Further information:






Government Guidance - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
Part 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework
Exeter City Council – listed buildings
Exeter City Council – conservation areas
Exeter City Council – Historic Environment Record

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.17 Land/Slope Stability Risk Assessment (Contents page)
Where any land instability is suspected or may occur in estuary areas or due to steep slopes, etc. a Land/Slope Stability Risk Assessment must
be undertaken for the development, which should be produced by a suitably qualified geotechnical, civil or structural engineer. The report may
49

assess local geology, the history of landslides, consider ground investigation, soil testing, slope stability analysis and reporting depending upon
the level of assessment needed.
Further information: Land stability - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.18 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) (Contents page)
A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) is required for development located within the Landscape Setting area, as shown on the
Local Plan First Review Proposals Map, unless the site is within a strategic allocation (Core Strategy Policy CP19), and for tall buildings, i.e. that
are significantly taller than the surrounding built environment. The former must take into account the Monitoring and evidence base - Exeter
Fringes Landscape Sensitivity and Capacity Study (2007) - Exeter City Council. The latter should be combined with the Heritage Statement,
where the proposal will have an impact on the setting of designated and/or non-designated heritage assets. The LVIA should take account of the
distance from the development, magnitude of impact, sensitivity of the viewers (e.g. a notable public viewpoint) and seasonal effects of screening
vegetation.

Page 251

Whilst major developments will require a full LVIA, a landscape and visual appraisal or technical note with photographs may be adequate for
smaller schemes.
Landscape design should be considered at the outset as part of the overall scheme siting and design. It should successfully integrate a
sympathetic development with its surroundings and not be designed to screen a poor development. Hard and soft landscaping and building
design should be complementary. The design should allow sufficient space for the long-term retention of existing mature trees and hedgerows,
and for the planting of trees and hedges of appropriate size, allowing for their long-term growth.
Further information: Natural environment - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.19 Lighting Assessment (Contents page)
Proposals involving significant external lighting or that are within or adjoining an environmentally sensitive area require:





Details of lighting, including isoline drawings of lighting levels (in lux) and proposed mitigation
Proposed hours of lighting and means of control of lighting, e.g. timer, motion sensors, etc.
Layout plan with beam orientation
Schedule of the equipment used in the design

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk
50

4.20 Noise Impact Assessment (Contents page)
Examples of applications which require a Noise Impact Assessment:



A demonstrably noisy form of development is proposed which has the potential to cause significant adverse noise impact, e.g. a proposed
new road or heavy industry.
A new development is proposed which would create significant potential for adverse noise impacts, either due to the proposed introduction
of noise sensitive development in a noisy location, or a potentially noisy use or activity in an area with noise sensitive development
nearby.

Noise Impact Assessments should be based on physical measurement surveys rather than predictive modelling. It will normally be necessary to
confirm the noise emissions of proposed new plant and equipment, either from reliable manufacturers’ data or by undertaking measurements of
existing facilities elsewhere, rather than relying on the scene noise emissions.

Page 252

Where the development involves residential uses affected by external noise, the assessment should include discussion of overheating
conditions. It should demonstrate good acoustic design, including achieving both sustainable acoustic comfort and sustainable thermal comfort.
The ANC/IoA guidance ‘Acoustics Ventilation and Overheating: Residential Design Guide’ Version 1.1 (January 2020) provides methods by
which the overheating assessment can be conducted (15126 ANC AVO Residential Design Guide_PRINT3.indd (association-of-noiseconsultants.co.uk)).
For the assessment of noise wholly or primarily from transport sources, the assessment should follow the ‘ProPG: Planning and Noise –
Professional Practice Guidance on Planning & Noise, New Residential Development’ (May 2017) (14720 ProPG Main Document.pdf
(ioa.org.uk)).
A Noise Impact Assessment should be prepared by a suitably qualified acoustician. The Institute of acoustics have a Find-A-Specialist service,
as do The Association of Noise Consultants | ANC (association-of-noise-consultants.co.uk).
Further information: Noise - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk
Exeter City Council contacts: environmental.health@exeter.gov.uk

4.21 Open Space/Recreation Assessment (Contents page)
Local Plan First Review saved Policy L3 protects open space from development, unless:




the loss of open space would not harm the character of the area; and
the open space does not fulfil a valuable recreational, community, ecological or amenity role; and
there is adequate open space in the area; or
51



the loss of open space is outweighed by its replacement in the area by open space of at least equivalent recreational, community,
ecological or amenity value (including in particular, the provision and enhancement of equipped play space).

This is consistent with paragraph 97 of the NPPF (2019):
Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless:
a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or
b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and
quality in a suitable location; or
c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or
former use.
Accordingly, an Open Space/Recreation Assessment is required for applications for development on existing open space (public or private),
sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, to determine if the proposal complies with the above policies.
Further information:

Page 253




Open space, sports and recreation facilities, public rights of way and local green space - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
156780.pdf (publishing.service.gov.uk) – Assessing needs and opportunities: a companion guide to PPG17

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.22 Planning Statement (Contents page)
A planning statement identifies the context and need for a proposed development and includes an assessment of how the proposed
development accords with relevant national and local planning policies. It may also include details of consultations with the local planning
authority and wider community/statutory consultees undertaken prior to submission. Alternatively, a separate statement of community
involvement may be appropriate.
Where the application includes an element of affordable housing, the following information is required:





Number of residential units
Mix of units with numbers of habitable rooms and/or bedrooms and/or floor space
Plans showing the location of each such unit
If different levels or types affordability or tenure are proposed for different units, this should be clearly and fully explained

Any regeneration benefits of the proposed development should be included, such as:
52







Details of any new jobs that might be created or supported
Economic impacts (construction and occupation)
The relative floor space totals for each proposed use (where known)
Any community benefits
Reference to any regeneration strategies that might lie behind or be supported by the proposal

Further information:







National Planning Policy Framework - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Local Plan - Exeter City Council
Supplementary planning documents - Exeter City Council
Neighbourhood Planning - Exeter City Council
Devon Minerals Plan - Planning
Devon Waste Plan - Planning

Page 254

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.23 Retail/Leisure Impact Assessment (Contents page)
Applications for retail or leisure developments outside the City Centre or the District and Local Centres listed in Appendix 6 of the Core Strategy
above the national threshold of 2,500 sq m gross floorspace must be accompanied by an impact assessment including an assessment of the
following:



Impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and private investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of
the proposal.
Impact of the proposal on city, district and local centre vitality and viability, including local consumer choice and trade in the centres.

The level and type of evidence and analysis required to address the key considerations should be proportionate to the scale and of the nature of
the proposal.
Further information:




Town centres and retail - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter Core Strategy
Exeter Local Plan First Review (Saved Policies)

53

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.24 Sequential Test Assessment (Contents page)
Applications for the following main town centre uses outside the City Centre or the District and Local Centres listed in Appendix 6 of the Core
Strategy that are not in accordance with the adopted development plan must be accompanied by a sequential test assessment:





Retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory outlet centres)
Leisure, entertainment and more intensive sport and recreation uses (including cinemas, restaurants, drive-throughs, bars, pubs,
nightclubs, casinos, health and fitness centres, indoor bowling centres and bingo halls)
Offices
Arts, culture and tourism development (including theatres, museums, galleries and concert halls, hotels and conference facilities)

The assessment should identify any available sites (or sites expected to become available within a reasonable period) within the catchment of
the proposal located within or on the edge of a defined centre and assess their suitability for the proposal allowing for reasonable flexibility.
Where a suitable alternative site is available or expected to become available within a reasonable period, the application will be refused unless
there are other material considerations.

Page 255

The scope of the assessment should be agreed with planning officers before submission.
Further information:




Town centres and retail - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter Core Strategy
Exeter Local Plan First Review (Saved Policies)

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.25 Statement of Community Involvement (Contents page)
Applications may need to be supported by a statement setting out how the views of the local community have been sought and taken into
account in the formulation of development proposals.
Further information: Before submitting an application - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

54

4.26 Structural Survey (Contents page)
A structural survey, carried out by a suitably qualified structural engineer, should be provided with listed building consent applications where the
application proposes partial demolition, significant alterations to the structure of the building or heavier floor loading, to ensure the structural
integrity of the building.
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.27 Sustainability/Net Zero Carbon Statement (Contents page)
Applications for major development must be supported by a Sustainability/Net Zero Carbon Statement addressing Core Strategy Polices CP13,
CP14 and CP15, and the following paragraphs of the NPPF (2019):
“150. New development should be planned for in ways that:

Page 256

a) avoid increased vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from climate change. When new development is brought forward in areas
which are vulnerable, care should be taken to ensure that risks can be managed through suitable adaptation measures, including
through the planning of green infrastructure; and
b) can help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as through its location, orientation and design. Any local requirements for the
sustainability of buildings should reflect the Government’s policy for national technical standards.
153. In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should expect new development to:
a) comply with any development plan policies on local requirements for decentralised energy supply unless it can be demonstrated by the
applicant, having regard to the type of development involved and its design, that this is not feasible or viable; and
b) take account of landform, layout, building orientation, massing and landscaping to minimise energy consumption.”

Policy CP13 deals with decentralised energy supply in the City. The areas where there are existing/proposed local energy networks are shown
on the Proposals Map to the Publication Version of the Development Delivery DPD (Emerging plans and guidance - Exeter City Council). In
these areas, major development must be designed and constructed to be able to connect to the decentralised energy network either now or in
the future if the network has not been completed.
Exeter City Council declared a climate emergency in July 2019. It aims to be a carbon neutral city by 2030. In response, Exeter City Futures
created a clear roadmap to carbon neutrality: the Net Zero Exeter 2030 Plan, which has been officially adopted by the Council. This document is
a material consideration for planning applications in the city.
Further information:


Climate change - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
55






Local Plan - Core Strategy Development Plan Document - Exeter City Council
Emerging plans and guidance - Exeter City Council
Net Zero Exeter - Exeter City Futures
Net-Zero-Exeter-2030-Plan.pdf (exetercityfutures.com)

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk
Exeter City Futures: info@exetercityfutures.com

4.28 Topographical Survey (Contents page)
Applications for development on sites with sloping land or with changes in levels will require a topographical survey to confirm the levels on and
around the site.
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.29 Transport Statement/Assessment and Framework Travel Plan (Contents page)

Page 257

The coverage and detail of the Transport Statement/Assessment should reflect the scale of the development and the extent of the transport
implications of the proposal. For major proposals, it should illustrate accessibility to the site by all modes of transport, and the likely modal split of
journeys to and from the site. It should also give details of proposed measures to improve access by public transport, walking and cycling, to
reduce the need for parking associated with the proposal, and to mitigate transport impacts.
A Framework Travel Plan is also required outlining the way in which the transport implications of the new development will be managed in order
to minimise environmental, social and economic impacts. For schemes with a relatively small transport impact, a Transport Statement can be
submitted instead of a Transport Assessment and Framework Travel Plan, outlining the transport aspects of the application, assessing the
existing and proposed conditions, but without the detailed analysis of impact on the wider network.
Where a Transport Statement/Assessment is submitted, it must include Annual Average Daily Traffic flow (AADT) as well as peaks.
The scope of the Transport Statement/Assessment should be agreed with Devon County Council highways officers before submission.
Further information:





Travel Plans, Transport Assessments and Statements - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
[Withdrawn] Guidance on transport assessment - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter Transport Strategy 2020-2030 & InnovaSUMP - Roads and transport (devon.gov.uk)
Supplementary planning documents - Sustainable Transport SPD - Exeter City Council

Devon County Council contact: Brian.Hensley@devon.gov.uk and alex.a.thomas@devon.gov.uk
56

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.30 Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact Assessment (Contents page)
An arboriculturalist should undertake a survey and appraisal of trees on the application site and adjoining land and produce the following
information, consistent with standards set out in British Standard 5837:2012:





Trees to be felled and trees to be retained should be clearly marked out on a plan. An accompanying schedule should provide full
information on the amenity value of each tree together with details of species, size, age and condition.
A tree constraints plan should show root protection areas and the canopy spread of the tree(s) on the application site and adjoining land.
As well as trees, the survey must indicate key landscape features such as ponds, hedges and wildlife corridors that may be affected by
the proposed development. Trees to be felled and trees to be retained should be clearly marked. For larger applications it will also be
appropriate to provide details of the landscape strategy for the site, including indications of new planting.
An arboricultural method statement should be provided detailing measures to be taken to protect trees shown to be retained on the
submitted drawings, accompanied by schedules of any necessary tree work and proposals for long-term maintenance.

Page 258

If you are granted full planning permission, you will not need separate consent for tree works which are required to implement the planning
permission. However, to undertake any works which are not required to implement the planning permission, to protected trees or trees within a
conservation area, a tree works application must be made.
Further information:



Exeter City Council Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document
BS 5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.31 Ventilation and Extraction Equipment Details (Contents page)
Details of the position and design of the ventilation and extraction equipment, including odour abatement techniques and acoustic noise
characteristics, will be required to accompany all applications for the following uses:







restaurants and cafes – use for the sale of food and drink for consumption on the premises (Class E)
drinking establishments – use as a public house, wine bar or other drinking establishment (sui-generis)
hot food takeaways – use for the sale of hot food for consumption off the premises (sui-generis)
Offices, research and development, light industry (Class E)
General industry (Class B2)
Other development where substantial ventilation or extraction equipment is proposed to be installed
57

Any ventilation or extraction systems should be marked on the relevant elevation drawings.
For commercial kitchens, a risk assessment should be completed and submitted with the application demonstrating the potential impact of the
proposal and the mitigation that will be used.
An Air Quality Assessment is likely to be required for non-kitchen emissions.
Further information: Nuisance smells: how councils deal with complaints - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk
Exeter City Council contacts: environmental.health@exeter.gov.uk

4.32 Viability Assessment (Contents page)
If an application does not offer the appropriate level of affordable housing as set out in Policy CP7 of the Core Strategy, a viability assessment is
required to show that meeting the policy requirement would make the development unviable. The assessment itself will be subject to a separate
appraisal by an assessor approved by the Council and paid for by the developer.

Page 259

Further information:



Exeter City Council Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document
Exeter Core Strategy Development Plan Document

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.33 Waste Audit Statement (Contents page)
Waste Audit Statements are required in accordance with Policy W4 of the adopted Devon Waste Plan for major development proposals. A
template for carrying out a waste audit statement is contained within the SPD below at Appendix B.
Further Information:



Devon Waste Plan - Planning
Waste Management and Infrastructure SPD - Planning (devon.gov.uk)

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

58

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B: Table of Consultation Responses and Officer Comments
Person/Organisation Date
Rob Hilton, Hilton
21.06.21
Barnfield Architects

Page 261

Simon Spencer
MCIAT
Sport England

21.06.21

Jon Burgess, Local
Partnership Adviser,
Forestry Commission

24.06.21

22.06.21

Response
It looks good and is good to see it being updated.
One fairly minor thing I noticed is there is no
mention of scale bars on the drawing requirements
though this is often requested. Also we are
sometimes asked to provide copyright details for
site location plans but again no reference is made to
this.
All received and noted.

Officer Comments
This is referred to in section 4.2.

Attached Sport England’s Validation Checklist
Requirements for planning applications affecting
playing field land and provided a link to information
on its website.
Re 4.30 Tree Survey, would it be possible to include
a note in this paragraph to draw attention to the
need to obtain a Felling License from the Forestry
Commission if the tree is not specifically mentioned
within the Planning Permission. Paragraph 2.7 of
Felling - Getting Permission may be helpful to
clarify. It would also be a very positive step to
highlight the extra care that should be given to
Veteran Trees. They are specifically identified in the
NPPF as ‘irreplaceable’. These trees will not
necessarily be dedicated under a Tree Preservation
Order and it is only ‘best practise’ that helps to keep
them in good condition. Some of this best practise is
identified here:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-andveteran-trees-protection-surveys-licences

The website link has been added to
section 4.23.

-

A note and the website links have
been added to section 4.32.

Sally Parish, Planning 24.06.21
Manager (Highways
Development
management),
Operations, Highways
England

3.0. Definition of ‘Major Development’
We would remind the Local Planning Authority of
the requirement to consult Highways England on all
major applications, and/or those with the potential to
impact on the safe and efficient operation of the
strategic road network and its assets, as set out in
the Town and Country Planning (Development
Management Procedure) Order 2015. In addition to
the transport impact of any proposals, Highways
England will need to consider the impact on our
assets including (but is not limited to), drainage, soft
estate, technology, geotechnical and structures.

Page 262

4.29. Transport Statement/Assessment and
Framework Travel Plan
The draft documents states that scope of the
Transport Statement/Assessment should be agreed
with the Local Highway Authority, Devon County
Council prior to submission. We strongly encourage
applicants to engage in pre-application discussions
with Highways England to establish the scope of
any statement/assessment necessary to determine
the impact of development on the safe operation of
the strategic road network. We are happy to review
draft documents ahead of the submission of any
formal application.
In respect of the submission of transport statements
and assessments for the purposes of validating a
planning application, we would like to remind the

The requirement to agree the scope
of the Transport
Statement/Assessment where
applicable with Highways England
(now National Highways) has been
added to section 4.31.
Other comments are noted.

Andrew Rowe, AR
Land & Planning

28.06.21

Local Planning Authority of the need to ensure that
appropriate assessment of the impact of
development on the strategic road network has
been provided by applications with the potential to
impact on our network, prior to the validation of the
application. We are happy to provide advice to the
Authority on the requirement for, or acceptability of,
any transport statement/assessment, at preapplication or validation stage.
The list doesn’t include a ‘Affordable Housing
Statement’.
I would normally expect that to be included with all
‘major’ applications.

It is intended this will be included in
the Planning Statement – section
4.24 has been amended to make
this clearer.

Page 263

So, unless it is assumed that it will be covered in the
planning statement, I think this needs to be added.

Chris Davey, Deputy
Airfield Operations
Duty Manager, Exeter
International Airport
Mike Walton, Exeter
Cycling Campaign

29.06.21

05.07.21

I know that other LPAs include this in their Local
List, as makes sure that it is covered as part of the
submission.
Thank you for sending that draft local list, and
having reviewed it there is nothing Exeter Airport
would comment on.
Design and Access Statement and Transport
Statement/assessment statement
Our expectation is that any application will have due
regard for and demonstrate how they meet the
design principles laid out in the Wheels for
Wellbeing 'A guide to inclusive cycling'

-

The website links have been added
to sections 4.9 and 4.31
respectively.
The Local List does not set new
policy or detailed guidance on
existing policies; the Council’s

Transport Statement/assessment statement
We would expect that any applicant will be asked to
demonstrate adherence to the extant design
standards for cycle infrastructure (currently Local
Transport Note 1/20)

current cycle parking standards are
set out in the Sustainable Transport
Supplementary Planning Document
(2013).

We would suggest that additional cycle parking
standards are included too. Our suggestion would
be the soon-to-be government endorsed 'Standards
for public cycle parking'

Page 264

Harriet Fuller,
Planning Adviser,
Sustainable Places,
Environment Agency

05.07.21

There are particular paragraphs in the current NPPF
which we would want applicants to explicitly
demonstrate how they are being met. In particular,
paragraph 91,102, 103, 104 & 110.
4.2 Plans required
We would advise that the guidance also indicates
that, for proposals in flood zones 2 and 3, plans
should display levels to metres Above Ordinance
Datum (mAOD). This is especially important and
indeed useful for establishing flood levels and
appropriate floor levels.
4.6 Construction Management Report
We recognise that a construction management
report may aim cover matters relating to
environmental health and disturbance. However, in
line with our frequent recommendations for
Construction Environment Management Plans
(CEMPs), we would suggest that information
relating to management of runoff to prevent the
pollution of watercourses is also a requirement of a

Section 4.2 has been amended
accordingly.

Construction Management Reports
are referenced because they are a
statutory requirement for some prior
approval applications. The Council
secures Construction Method
Statements, Construction
Environment Management Plans
(CEMPs) and information relating to
management of runoff to prevent the

Construction Method Plan. Alternatively, you may
consider including a separate section relating to
CEMPs (see below for further advice).

Page 265

4.7 Contaminated Land Risk Assessment
We note the council’s intention to not burden small
developers to produce an assessment in certain
circumstances, notably where there is a current
approval of where a contaminated land report has
already been submitted as part of a previous
application. Whilst we do not disagree with this
approach, we recommend that the report, whether
old or recently written, should still be submitted as
part of the live application for review. In some
cases, the results of such an assessment or report
informs the requirement of planning conditions and
further work.

pollution of watercourses during
construction via planning conditions
on appropriate applications. They
are not considered a validation
requirement.
Section 4.7 has been amended
accordingly.

4.10 Ecology Report
We are pleased to see that details relating to net
gain and monitoring are requested to be included in
an Ecology Report. We also support the indication
of when a report is required on page 12.

Noted.

4.14 Flood Risk Assessment
In conjunction with the guidance relating to the
Sequential Test, we recommend that the Exception
Test is also highlighted to encompass the national
planning policy requirement for proposals to be safe
for their lifetime taking account of the vulnerability of
its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere,
and, where possible, reducing flood risk overall.

It is not considered necessary to
refer to the Exception Test in section
4.14 (now 4.16) – the detailed
guidance in this respect can be
found by clicking on the website links
provided.

This sets out the requirement for flood mitigation
measures, and the consideration of the most recent
climate change allowance requirements.
In addition, we advise that the FRA should not only
“identify and assess the risks of all forms of flooding
to and from the development”, but also establish the
appropriate design flood level (i.e. the 1 in 100, 1 in
200 or 1 in 1000 year event plus climate change) in
order to “demonstrate how these flood risks will be
managed, taking into account the climate change
allowances” (i.e. Finished floor levels or other flood
resilience or resistance measures).

The website link to the GOV.UK
page on environmental permits has
been added.
The email address has been
amended accordingly.

Page 266

Under the section of Flood Risk Assessment, we
would also advise that guidance is provided relating
to Main Rivers and the requirement for and EA
permit (Flood Risk Activity Permit) for proposals
within 8metres of the river bank. There is often a
requirement for easement of a certain distance due
to the requirement for maintenance and access.
Further advice is here:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activitiesenvironmental-permits .
We also advise that it may be better to include the
Devon, Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Local Enquiries
team’s email on page 47 in order to reduce delay.
The recommended email address to use is:
DCISEnquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk .
3.13 Prior Approval
Under the various Prior Approval applications on
page 21, we would advise that a flood risk

Flood risk is not a prior approval
issue for the agricultural classes of

Page 267

assessment is required for development within
Flood zones 2 and 3.

development on page 21 (now page
24).

Fish
Section 4.11 focusses on Bats and Birds in relation
to the ecology report. We suggest that your
authority considers whether additional requirements
relating to fish habitat and migration should be a
requirement of ecology reports where appropriate.

This issue can be addressed in
Ecology Reports (section 4.11).

Foul Drainage
Whilst we recognise that it may be fairly unusual to
receive proposals involving non-mains connection
for foul drainage within Exeter city, it may be
prudent to include advice regarding non-mains
drainage. A Foul Drainage Assessment (FDA)
should be submitted with all development involving
a non-mains foul drainage system to justify the use,
and consider whether it is appropriate in that
location. The FDA form is available online at
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fouldrainage-assessment-form-fda1 .

There is no statutory,
policy/guidance ‘driver’ for making
this a validation requirement. It can
be requested as extra information
where necessary – see section 2.3.

Construction Environment Management Plan
(CEMP)
We note that CEMPs are not a statutory
requirement, however it would be beneficial to the
environment if you could recommend that one is
submitted with certain size developments. A CEMP
aims to pull together and manage the pollution
control and waste management requirements during
the construction phase, considering: soil/sediment

This is not considered to be a
validation requirement, however they
are regularly secured by condition
(see above). Some of these issues
will be covered in the Waste Audit
Statement.

Kris Calderhead,
Designing Out Crime
Officer, Exeter Police
Station

08.07.21

19.07.21

runoff, watercourse pollution prevention measures,
waste management, vehicle washing and cleaning,
plant management and any necessary permitting
requirements. (Note, this is not an exhaustive list).
Is it appropriate to include something on Designing
out Crime within the Validation List? I think some
areas ask for a statement in relation to designing
out crime for certain planning applications and some
don’t include anything as presumably it is
referenced elsewhere. I’d be grateful for and be led
by your thoughts.

Page 268

I’ve put together the below as a simple outline for
something that could be included in the Validation
List if you see fit.
Designing out Crime Statement
Where or when this item is required:
 All Major developments
 Educational Buildings
 New neighbourhood community facilities
 Premises where the intended occupants are
particularly vulnerable and require higher
standards of security to ensure their personal
safety, i.e. care homes, drug rehabilitation
centres etc.
 ATM/ cash machines
Guidance

A Designing Out Crime Statement
has been added to the list of local
requirements – see sections 3.2 and
4.10.

Page 269
Carly Ireland MSc.
MCIEEM, Devon
Wildlife Trust

13.07.21

The statement should detail how Crime Prevention
Through Environmental Design principles are to be
incorporated into the development. This includes:
 Access and Movement - places with quality
connections and well-defined routes, that
provide convenient movement without
compromising security
 Structure – encouraging ‘active frontages’
and limiting access to private space
 Surveillance – encouraging overlooking of
public spaces by those who will take action
should a crime be committed
 Ownership – clearly defining where public
space ends and private space begins and
encouraging people to take ownership of
their environment
 Physical Protection – ensuring buildings
include appropriate physical measures to
prevent crime
 Activity – ensuring the level of human activity
is appropriate to the location to reduce the
risk of crime and increase perceptions of
public safety
 Management and Maintenance –
discouraging disorder by creating places that
are well looked after with minimum cost
implications.
P12 Ecology Report – Bats and Birds
Redevelopment of existing buildings that involves
works to roofs, roof spaces, external cladding* or
cellars Please add in *, cracks/crevices within walls

Section 3.2 amended accordingly.

Page 270

3.15 Prior Approval: Demolition of Building
In ‘When required’ section, please include standard
text relating to biodiversity (as in 3.14)

Not relevant to section 3.15 (now
3.17) – no change.

4.10 Ecology Report
We would recommend that you stipulate the
ecologist carrying out the work is a member of
CIEEM and that work is carried out according with
CIEEM best practice guidelines and within CIEEM
Codes of Conduct. This will provide a level of
assurance that the work is being undertaken to an
appropriate standard.

Section 4.10 (now 4.11) amended
accordingly.

Extended phase 1 habitat survey should be
replaced with Preliminary Ecological Appraisal.

Section 4.10 (now 4.11) amended
accordingly.

Suite of measures * to avoid/mitigate/compensate
impacts
Please insert *following the mitigation hierarchy

Section 4.10 (now 4.11) amended
accordingly.

Details of biodiversity enhancements/net gain that
will be provided *
Please insert *using the latest national Biodiversity
metric to ensure a minimum net gain of 10%.
For sites that have a higher biodiversity value (either
on the site itself or the setting of the site) then we
would like to see a 20% net gain.

Section 4.10 (now 4.11) amended
accordingly. NB. There is no
statutory or policy ‘driver’ to require
20% net gain at the current time,
therefore this has been omitted.

Protected species surveys may need to be
undertaken over an extended period *
Please add in *prior to submission of any
application.

Section 4.10 (now 4.11) amended
accordingly.

All reports must be up-to-date *
Please insert *(see CIEEM guidelines on the
Lifespan of Ecological Reports and Surveys)

Section 4.10 (now 4.11) amended
accordingly.

ECC should require all applications to demonstrate
with suitable evidence how they will provide robust
ecological corridors within the site and
complementing/extending ecological networks
external to the site. These corridors should utilise
only native species and should align to the Nature
Recovery Network.

Noted.

Page 271

4.11 Ecology Report – Bats and Birds
Section 4.11 (now 4.12) amended
Bat and bird reports are required for the applications accordingly.
listed, unless:
• The entire roof space has already been converted
to living space
Please remove this bullet point. A building which
does not include a loft space may still provide bat
roosting opportunities. Carrying out re-roofing works
on such a building could result in an offence to both
the developer and potentially the local authority if
bats were found to be utilising roosting spaces
beneath slates/tiles or within cracks/gaps within the
building.
• Works are to a flat roof or a single layer sheet
metal roof

Please remove this bullet point. A building such as
this which for example comprises cob walls provides
significant potential bat roosting habitat. Carrying
out works on such a building could result in an
offence to both the developer and potentially the
local authority if bats were found to be utilising
roosting spaces within cracks/gaps within the
building.

Page 272

4.15 Green Infrastructure Statement
We would advise the inclusion of a statement
requiring the use of native species within all
new/enhanced green infrastructure. ECC should
require all applications to demonstrate with robust
evidence how they contribute to the Nature
Recovery Network/Local Nature Recovery
Strategies (LNRS). Green infrastructure is a key
part of this.

Section 4.15 (now 4.17) amended
accordingly. Devon Local Nature
Partnership website link added.

4.19 Lighting Assessment
We feel there should be a presumption against the
introduction of exterior lighting (for biodiversity and
climate grounds) unless a clear need can be
demonstrated.

Noted.

Details of permanent physical barriers should be
included as a more robust, enforceable and
effective barrier to lighting, e.g. using walls, hedges
and shrubs/trees to create dark areas/corridors rather than relying mainly on lighting strategies
which are difficult to enforce post development and
are of limited effectiveness.

Noted – this can be secured through
detailed landscaping schemes and
Landscape and Ecological
Management Plans (LEMPs) to be
conditioned.

Emma Reid, Planner,
Walsingham Planning

28.07.21

4.30 Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact
Assessment
For larger applications it will also be appropriate to
provide details of the landscape strategy for the site,
including indications of new *planting. Please add
*native
It would also be helpful if the introduction to the
Draft Document contained a validation checklist in
the form of a matrix… This would provide an easily
digestible summary and a reference point for the
more detailed information provided later in the
document.

Section 4.30 (now 4.32) amended
accordingly.

The information requirements in
section 3.0 are already tabulated for
ease of use. It’s considered that a
matrix covering all requirements
would be too large and unwieldy for
practical use.

Page 273

One of the main difficulties we face when identifying Section 3.2 states when a local
validation requirements, is differentiating the
requirement would not be required
requirements for outline and reserved matters
for outline applications.
applications, it is therefore appreciated that the new
local list differentiates between the two. We do
however have concerns about your approach in
grouping outline and full applications together when
the level of information necessary can often be very
different. However, if the goal is to simplify the
Reserved Matters process and not request
documents which have already been provided in
detail at the outline stage, we support this general
approach. In our experience it can be difficult to
provide some information in any meaningful way at
the outline stage. Particularly in the instance of
major residential applications when detailed design
matters such as layout have not yet been confirmed.

With regards to Part 4 of the Draft Document we
have the following comments in relation to specific
items:

Page 274



Green Infrastructure Statement: The guidance at
4.15 states that a masterplan is required to
identify and define green infrastructure provision
within the proposed development and how these
proposed GI assets connect to the wider GI
network. It is our opinion that this can be dealt
with through the provision of Design and Access
Statements and illustrative masterplan drawings
which are national requirements.

A Green Infrastructure Masterplan is
a separate requirement to ensure
that this issue is given due and
proper consideration in the formation
of the proposals, including any
illustrative masterplan drawings or
parameters plans for outline
applications.



Sustainability/Net Zero Carbon Statement: We
understand the need for the provision of such a
document in light of the climate emergency and
Exeter City Council’s carbon neutrality goals,
however, from our experience this level of detail
can be arbitrary at the outline stage. It is our
opinion that this should be required at either the
Reserved Matters stage or via an appropriately
worded condition.

This is a requirement for all
applications for major development,
including outline applications to
ensure that this issue is given due
and proper consideration in the
formation of the proposals. A further,
more refined statement could be
secured via planning condition for
subsequent reserved matters.



Viability Assessment: Whilst initial viability work
can be carried out at the outline stage there are
often factors which can only be assessed once
the detailed design of a scheme is completed.
Factors that were not originally identified can
arise later in the development process and may
need to be factored in at the Reserved Matters
stage.

This is required to assess the level
of affordable housing when planning
permission is granted. S106 legal
agreements could, in theory, include
a review mechanism where this is
agreed by all parties.



Page 275
Mike Deaton, Chief
Planner, Devon
County Council

28.07.21

Waste Audit Statement: The provision of Waste
Audit Statement at the outline stage in our
opinion can be arbitrary and superficial in nature.
This is because it is difficult for developers to
estimate the type and volume of waste
generated so early in the development process.
This is an issue which we have experienced
during the application process with other
council’s under the Devon Waste Plan, were we
have provided a Waste Audit Statement but a
condition has ultimately been required once the
correct level of detail is available. It is our view
that provision of such detail should be reserved
and provided in accordance with a prior to
commencement of development condition for a
Construction Management Plan.

This is a policy requirement of the
Devon Waste Plan.

In addition, as the National Planning Policy
Framework has been updated during this
consultation period, any references to the document
in the Local Validation Checklist should be updated
to reflect the latest Framework.
General
The NPPF was revised on the 20th July 2021,
across the document references and potential
contents relating the to the NPPF need to be
updated.

The references to the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
have been updated accordingly.

For various requirements included in the tables,
there is further details later in the document. For
ease of use, and clarity, it would be useful within the

This is addressed in section 3.0 and
not considered necessary.

The references to the NPPF have
been updated accordingly.

table to signpost when and where there is further
information included later in the document.

Page 276

Public Health colleagues welcome the inclusion of
Noted.
requirements regarding:
- 4.3 - Air Quality Assessment
- 4.8 - Daylight and Sunlight Report
- 4.21- Open space/Recreation Assessment
- 4.31 - Ventilation and Extraction Equipment Details
(noting that there may be further provisions as a
result of the COVID-19 Pandemic around ventilation
requirements, though this will most likely fall under
Environmental Health and Health and Safety
Executive)
Would like to highlight that NPPF requires planning
to achieve healthy, inclusive, and safe places, and
provide social, recreational, and culture facilities and
services the communities need. Particular reference
is drawn to the aims of enabling and supporting
healthy lifestyles, and taking into account the
support and delivery of local strategies to improve
health. This should allow consideration of wider
utility within the community rather than mitigating
through provision elsewhere; this is particularly
pertinent with lower income areas who may be
restricted in travel options and benefit from local and
easily accessible amenities.

Noted. Whilst Health Impact
Assessments are sometimes a
validation requirement, there is no
statutory or policy ‘driver’ to require
this in Exeter at the current time.
This can be reviewed through the
new Exeter Plan being prepared.

Section 3.0 - Page 7
It is noted that the Consultation Draft Local List
directs users to online ‘wildlife assessment check’.

Noted. This can be tested and
possibly incorporated through a
future review of the Local List.

We would like to highlight we have a locally
developed ‘wildlife and geology trigger table’ which
we require alongside all planning applications to
DCC. This ensures a consistent basis by which
potential wildlife implications are always considered.
We welcome districts to utilise the same table –
which some have adopted as part of their validation
requirements.
Wildlife and geology planning guidance Environment (devon.gov.uk)

Page 277

Section 3.2 – Page 14
Where refers to ‘Transport Statement/Assessment
and Framework Travel Plan’. Note that it references
under ‘When required?’ Schemes with significant
transport implications (see thresholds in Appendix B
of Guidance on Transport Assessment (DfT, 2007).
This is 15 years old and superseded, so suggest
could be indicative thresholds – available to discuss
this element of the validation list, using the DCC
Highways Officer contacts contained in Section
4.29.

Whilst the Guide has been
withdrawn, the thresholds in
Appendix B are still considered to
provide a good indication of when a
Transport Statement or Assessment
is required for certain developments.
Revised thresholds can be agreed
with Devon County Council
highways officers and incorporated
through a future review of the Local
List.

Where refers to ‘Waste Audit Statement’. The
middle column of this table refers to Policy W4:
Waste Prevention of the Devon Waste Plan. It
should also refer to Para 8 of the National Planning
Policy for Waste (NPPW). This should also be
added to the local requirements table on page 30 of
the document and para 4.33 of the document.

Sections 3.2 and 3.22 (now 3.25)
have been amended accordingly.
Website link to National Planning
Policy for Waste added to section
4.33 (now 4.35).

Section 4.2 – Page 35
We welcome the requirement for PROW to be
included on site layout plans to ensure they are
appropriately identified and considered in the
planning process.

Noted.

Page 278

Section 4.18 – Page 50
Section 4.18 (now 4.20) has been
Suggest that there is a requirement for LVIA’s to be amended accordingly.
carried out by a suitably qualified landscape
professional according to latest good practice
guidance, i.e. the Landscape Institute/IEMA’s 2013
‘Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact
Assessment’ (GLVIA3) and associated Technical
Guidance Note -TGN 06/19 - on the Visualisation of
development | Landscape Institute. These should be
mentioned.
Tall buildings in Exeter have a significant and
potentially adverse effect on the views and
character not only of the cityscape but also the
surrounding rural areas within its visual influence.
Therefore the requirement for all tall buildings to
have a LVIA is welcome. There are, in addition to
the LI TGN06/19, other guidance documents
available that specifically address assessment and
visualisation of tall buildings in urban locations,
namely the ‘London View Management Framework’
Supplementary Planning Guidance (2012). Exeter
City Council may wish to consider requiring
applications for tall buildings to be assessed in
accordance with this.

Noted.

Page 279

In addition, where large scale development could
potentially have a significant visual influence over
neighbouring districts and rural areas, the LVIA
should draw upon and take into account relevant
local landscape character assessments that
underpin landscape policies of Devon Minerals and
Waste Plans as well as neighbouring Local and
Neighbourhood Plans. Information about these is
available on DCC’s website here: Devon's
landscape character assessment (DLCA) Planning. This is particularly important where
development affects Teignbridge since they have
removed their designation of Areas of Great
Landscape Value in favour of strong landscape
policies linked to the Devon-wide landscape
character assessments. These landscapes should
still be regarded as ‘valued landscapes’.

Website link added.

You may wish to also require a Landscape and
Ecological Management Plan (which is a DCC
planning application requirement). There is often
strong overlap between landscape design and
ecological mitigation and enhancement - in the form
of habitat creation and ongoing management. DCC
has published guidance on how we review LEMPs
here: Landscape and Ecological Management Plans
(LEMPs)- Version 1 - Planning (devon.gov.uk). You
may wish to refer to/adapt this - subject to your
landscape and ecology officers agreeing with its
content. Currently, BS42020 guidance on LEMPs is
heavily weighted for biodiversity when in fact,

This is not considered to be a
validation requirement for Exeter,
however they are regularly secured
by condition.

landscape management should be wider- and
should be about fulfilling and sustaining the multiple
objectives of the landscape/environmental mitigation
and enhancement design - including biodiversity
and amenity enhancement, landscape integration,
reducing surface water runoff, filtering air pollution,
providing noise attenuation etc. The scope of
LEMPs can include management of SuDS features.
A LEMP can therefore also help ensure that the
multiple benefits of green infrastructure are
sustained into the future.

Page 280

The above would ensure that the validation
requirements are consistent with NPPF (2021)
paragraphs 130, 174, and 195 in particular, EIA
Regulations and also Policy W12 of the Devon
Waste Plan and Policy M18 of the Devon Minerals
plan. It may also be appropriate to mention these
policy/statutory ‘drivers’ in Table 3.2 under LVIA.
Section 4.22 – Page 53
Beside ‘Any community benefits’ suggest insert
brackets to include (promoting healthy and safe
communities), as worded in the NPPF

Section 4.22 (now 4.24) has been
amended accordingly.

Section 4.33 – Page 58
We welcome the inclusion of section 4.33 in the
updated Local Validation List, specifically reference
to Policy W4 of the adopted Devon Waste Plan and
the inclusion of a link to the further guidance
provided in the County Council’s Waste
Management and Infrastructure Supplementary

Noted.

Stephanie ParkerStephenson, Lead
Adviser (Sustainable
Development) Devon,
Cornwall and Isles of
Scilly Area Team,
Natural England

28.07.21

Planning Document. The requirement for major
planning applications to be accompanied by a
Waste Audit Statement has been poorly
implemented since the adoption of the Devon Waste
Plan and this amendment to the Local Validation
List will assist in ensuring this policy requirement is
met in Exeter going forward.
2.1 Pre-application advice
Applicants may also wish to be aware that Natural
England have a pre-application Discretionary Advice
Service (DAS). Further information can be found at
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/developers-getenvironmental-advice-on-your-planning-proposals.

This information will be provided
through the pre-application service
and does not need to be in the Local
List.

Page 281

4.3 Air Quality Assessment
We welcome the inclusion of air quality
assessments (on page 38) and advise that
assessment should also consider the potential
effects on ecological receptors. In particular, dust as
well as nutrient inputs through ammonia and
nitrogen deposition can affect sensitive species. We
suggest that the Air Pollution Information Service
(APIS) is referenced. APIS provides specific air
pollution advice based on habitats, ecosystems and
species, and provides critical loads for acidity and
nitrogen for designated features within every SAC,
SPA or SSSI in the UK.

Section 4.3 has been amended
accordingly.

Natural England has published a set of mapped
Impact Risk Zones (IRZs) for Sites of Special
Scientific Interest (SSSIs), which can be accessed
via Defra's MAGIC mapping website. This helpful

Whilst this website is known to
officers, it is not considered
necessary to add this to the criteria
for when an Air Quality Assessment

Page 282

GIS tool can be used to help consider whether a
proposed development is likely to affect a SSSI and
to inform where an Air Quality Assessment may be
required for a SSSI.

is required to validate planning
applications.

The review of the Exeter validation list offers an
opportunity to highlight to applicants the availability
of the Simple Calculation of Atmospheric Limits
(SCAIL) assessment which should be applied to
certain types of agricultural developments and
developments that include sources of combustion
within certain distances of protected habitats.

Website link added.

4.10 Ecology Reports
This section sets out the expectations for the
content of Ecology Reports, for ease of use it might
be advisable to again provide the link to the Wildlife
Assessment Checklist to enable developers to
ascertain whether they do need to provide an
Ecology Report.

Website link added.

The report contents list appears to broadly
summarise the process set out in the recognised
CIEEM guidance, it might be useful for the
developer if a link to CIEEM was provided in the
Further Information section. The contents list should
make it clear that Phase 2 habitat surveys may also
be required (if advised by the Ecologist), and that
the developer will need to demonstrate that the
mitigation hierarchy has been applied to the suite of
measures.

Website link added. Reference to
Phase 2 habitat survey added.
Reference to the mitigation hierarchy
already added following Devon
Wildlife Trust’s comments.

Page 283

It is noted that the Further Information section
provides a link to Exeter’s guidance on their
approach to Habitat Mitigation for European Sites.
However, the Local List doesn’t appear to include
any introductory text that explains the importance of
the strategic approach, an explanation of the
Appropriate Assessment process, why the strategic
approach has been prepared, who it applies to and
what the expectations are (if any) of developers at
the application stage.

This information is on the Council’s
website and does not need to be
repeated in the Local List.

4.15 Green Infrastructure Statement
Natural England notes that the table on page 13
states that a Green Infrastructure Statement will be
required of “All applications for major development
and any application that will have a significant
impact on the strategic green infrastructure network
(as shown on the Core Strategy Key Diagram)”.
How is the ‘significant impact’ determined? The
Core Strategy Key Diagram shows two broad
corridors representing the strategic green
infrastructure network, presumably the specific
green infrastructure features within these corridors
are mapped in more detail elsewhere?

This will be determined by officers
on a case-by-case basis for nonmajor applications within or near to
the strategic green infrastructure
network. The Green Infrastructure
Study provides more detail on the
green infrastructure features within
the strategic corridors.

Natural England welcomes the requirement (4.15)
for major developments to prepare and submit GI
Context Plans and Masterplans. Natural England is
working with Defra and other partners and
stakeholders to deliver the Governments 25 YEP
commitment to develop a National Framework of
Green Infrastructure Standards for launch in 2022.

Website link to emerging Framework
added.

Whilst the Standard is not yet available for inclusion
in this Local List this may be an opportunity to
encourage developers to consider what quality,
well-designed green infrastructure looks like and to
future-proof the list by referencing the emerging
framework, and by providing links to existing
reputable green infrastructure standards.

Page 284

4.19 Lighting Assessment
It would be beneficial if an explanation of what is
meant by ‘environmentally sensitive area’ could be
provided. Further guidance on managing artificial
lighting within the planning system is available here.

This is referred to in section 3.0 –
text in brackets added to section
4.19 (now 4.21) accordingly.
Website link added.

4.30 Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact
Assessment
Natural England also provides Standing Advice on
Ancient Woodland, which may be a helpful
reference for developments near ancient woodland
and veteran trees. We would also add that trees can
provide habitats for protected species such as bats.
We recommend that reference to the Natural
England Standing Advice for Protected Species be
included.

Website links added.

Exeter City Council
City Development

Local List
Page 285

Information Requirements for Planning and
Associated Applications

June 2022

Document Control Sheet
Version
Date
Amendments
Consultation 03.06.2021 Existing local list documents reviewed and revised local list drafted, taking into account new drivers for the
Draft
information requirements since the previous documents were published, including: new/amended legislation, the
National Planning Policy Framework (2019), the Core Strategy (2012) and the Devon Waste Plan (2014).
Final
09.06.2022 Fire Statements added; National Planning Policy Framework references updated to 2021 version; new prior approval
applications added; updates to existing prior approval applications; amendments addressing consultation responses,
including adding the local requirement for a Designing Out Crime Statement for certain applications.

Page 286
1

Contents
1.0

Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................................................ 6

2.0

Guidance for Applicants and Agents ....................................................................................................................................................... 6

2.1

Pre-application advice .................................................................................................................................................................................. 6

2.2

What is validation? ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 6

2.3

Extra information requested after validation ................................................................................................................................................. 7

2.4

Validation disputes ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 7

2.5

Preferred method for submitting applications and information ..................................................................................................................... 7

2.6

Fees ............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 7

2.7

Data protection ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 7

3.0

Information Requirements for Different Types of Planning Application ............................................................................................... 8

Page 287

3.1

Householder Application .............................................................................................................................................................................. 9

3.2

Applications for Outline or Full Planning Permission .................................................................................................................................. 11
Applications for Technical Details Consent following a Grant of Permission in Principle ........................................................................... 11

3.3

Applications for Approval of Reserved Matters (Contents page) ................................................................................................................ 17

3.4

Applications for Removal or Variation of a Condition Following a Grant of Planning Permission (Contents page) .................................... 17

3.5

Applications for Approval of Details Reserved by Condition (Contents page) ............................................................................................ 18

3.6

Application for Non-material Amendment Following a Grant of Planning Permission (Contents page) ...................................................... 18

3.7

Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for an Existing/Proposed Use or Operation (Contents page) ........................................ 19

3.8

Application for a Certificate of Lawfulness of Proposed Works to a Listed Building (Contents page) ........................................................ 19

3.9

Prior Approval: Larger Home Extension (Contents page) .......................................................................................................................... 20

3.10 Prior Approval: Enlargement of a Dwellinghouse by Construction of Additional Storeys (Contents page) ................................................. 21
3.11 Prior Approval: Changes of Use ................................................................................................................................................................. 22
Prior Approval: Temporary School on Previously Vacant Commercial Land (Contents page) ................................................................... 22
3.12 Prior Approval: Movable Structure for Historic Visitor Attraction, or Listed Pub/Restaurant/etc. (Contents page) ...................................... 23
3.13 Prior Approval: Temporary Use for Commercial Film-making (Contents page) .......................................................................................... 24
3.14 Prior Approval: Building for Agricultural/Forestry Use ................................................................................................................................ 24
2

Prior Approval: Private Road for Agricultural/Forestry Use ........................................................................................................................ 24
Prior Approval: Excavation/Deposit Waste for Agriculture .......................................................................................................................... 24
Prior Approval: Tank/Cage/Structure for Use in Fish Farming (Contents page) ......................................................................................... 24
3.15 Prior Approval: Collection Facility for a Shop (Contents page) ................................................................................................................... 25
3.16 Prior Approval: Erection, Extension or Alteration of a University Building (Contents page) ........................................................................ 26
3.17 Prior Approval: Demolition of Building (Contents page) ............................................................................................................................. 27
3.18 Prior Approval: Roof Mounted Solar PV on Non-domestic Building (Contents page) ................................................................................. 28
3.19 Prior Approval: Development for Electronic Communications Network (Contents page) ........................................................................... 28
3.20 Prior Approval: Single Living Accommodation/Non-Residential Buildings on a Closed Defense Site (Contents page) .............................. 29
3.21 Prior Approval: Demolition of Buildings and Construction of New Dwellinghouses in their Place (ZA) (Contents page) ............................ 31
3.22 Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Detached Blocks of Flats (A) ...................................................................................................... 32

Page 288

Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Detached Buildings in Commercial or Mixed Use (AA) ............................................................... 32
Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Terrace Buildings in Commercial or Mixed Use (AB) .................................................................. 32
Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Terrace Buildings in Use as Dwellinghouses (AC) ..................................................................... 32
Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Detached Buildings in Use as Dwellinghouses (AD) (Contents page) ........................................ 32
3.23 Application for Permission in Principle (Contents page) ............................................................................................................................. 34
3.24 Application for Listed Building Consent (Contents page) ........................................................................................................................... 35
3.25 Application for Planning Permission for Relevant Demolition in a Conservation Area (applies to the demolition of unlisted buildings, gates,
walls or other means of enclosure in conservation areas) (Contents page) ............................................................................................... 36
3.26 Application for Consent to Display an Advertisement (Contents page) ...................................................................................................... 36
3.27 Tree Works: Trees in Conservation Areas/Subject to Tree Preservation Orders (Contents page) ............................................................. 37
3.28 Application for Hedgerow Removal Notice (Contents page) ...................................................................................................................... 38
3.29 Application to Modify or Discharge a Planning Obligation Agreed under S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act (Contents page) .. 39

4.0

Information Requirements Guidance ..................................................................................................................................................... 39

4.1

Application Form and Fee (Contents page)................................................................................................................................................ 39

4.2

Plans Required – depending on the type of application (Contents page) ................................................................................................... 40

4.3

Air Quality Assessment (Contents page).................................................................................................................................................... 44

4.4

Archaeological Report (Contents page) ..................................................................................................................................................... 44
3

4.5

Community Infrastructure Levy (Contents page) ........................................................................................................................................ 45

4.6

Construction Management Report (Contents page) ................................................................................................................................... 46

4.7

Contaminated Land Risk Assessment (Contents page) ............................................................................................................................. 47

4.8

Daylight and Sunlight Report (Contents page) ........................................................................................................................................... 48

4.9

Design and Access Statement (Contents page) ......................................................................................................................................... 48

4.10 Designing Out Crime Statement (Contents page) ...................................................................................................................................... 50
4.11 Ecology Report (Contents page) ................................................................................................................................................................ 50
4.12 Ecology Report – Bats and Birds (Contents page) ..................................................................................................................................... 51
4.13 Electronic Communications Network Development (Contents page) ......................................................................................................... 52
4.14 Environmental Statement (Contents page) ................................................................................................................................................ 52
4.15 Fire Statement (Contents page) ................................................................................................................................................................. 53
4.16 Flood Risk Assessment (Contents page) ................................................................................................................................................... 53

Page 289

4.17 Green Infrastructure Statement (Contents page) ....................................................................................................................................... 55
4.18 Heritage Statement (Contents page) .......................................................................................................................................................... 55
4.19 Land/Slope Stability Risk Assessment (Contents page) ............................................................................................................................. 57
4.20 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) (Contents page) .......................................................................................................... 58
4.21 Lighting Assessment (Contents page)........................................................................................................................................................ 58
4.22 Noise Impact Assessment (Contents page) ............................................................................................................................................... 59
4.23 Open Space/Recreation Assessment (Contents page) .............................................................................................................................. 60
4.24 Planning Statement (Contents page) ......................................................................................................................................................... 60
4.25 Retail/Leisure Impact Assessment (Contents page)................................................................................................................................... 61
4.26 Sequential Test Assessment (Contents page) ........................................................................................................................................... 62
4.27 Statement of Community Involvement (Contents page) ............................................................................................................................. 63
4.28 Structural Survey (Contents page) ............................................................................................................................................................. 63
4.29 Sustainability/Net Zero Carbon Statement (Contents page) ....................................................................................................................... 63
4.30 Topographical Survey (Contents page) ...................................................................................................................................................... 64
4.31 Transport Statement/Assessment and Framework Travel Plan (Contents page) ....................................................................................... 64
4.32 Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact Assessment (Contents page) ........................................................................................................ 65
4

4.33 Ventilation and Extraction Equipment Details (Contents page) .................................................................................................................. 66
4.34 Viability Assessment (Contents page) ........................................................................................................................................................ 66
4.35 Waste Audit Statement (Contents page) .................................................................................................................................................... 67

Page 290
5

1.0 Introduction
This guide has been produced to assist applicants/agents when submitting applications for planning permission and other similar consents. It
gives advice on the types of information required and when they must be provided. The information includes national and local requirements. The
former are required for applications anywhere in England, whereas the latter only apply to Exeter. If any of the information is not provided then
the application may not be validated by the Council and progressed. The national requirements must always be provided, however in accordance
with legislation the list of local requirements must be published or republished on the Council’s website during the two year period immediately
before the date on which an application is made, for them to have any bearing on whether a planning application is valid or not. If this is not the
case and some or all of the local requirements are not provided then applicants/agents should bear in mind that it may take longer to process
their applications and there may also be a greater chance of planning permission being refused.
If you consider that a required item is not applicable to your particular application, please contact the planning applications team for advice on
01392 265223 or planning@exeter.gov.uk.

2.0 Guidance for Applicants and Agents
2.1

Pre-application advice

Page 291

We encourage all applicants to take advantage of our pre-application service before making a formal application. In order to help us give you the
best advice, we suggest that the following information is provided as part of your pre-application enquiry:






Contact details – your name, address, email and telephone number. If you are submitting on behalf of a client, please also include your
client’s details.
Interest in the site – owner, occupier, lessee, prospective purchaser or agent.
Site location – full address, including postcode.
Description of the proposed development/planning enquiry – an outline of your proposal and any important aims or issues.
Illustrative material – this can be in the form of photographs, sketches with dimensions or architectural plans.

Pre-application enquiries should be submitted by email to planning@exeter.gov.uk, or by post or by hand to the Civic Centre. Officers will be able
to advise whether planning permission is likely to be granted for your proposal, what changes may be necessary and what information will be
required for the formal application.

2.2

What is validation?

Once an application has been submitted to the Council, one of the planning officers will check that all the relevant information has been provided
to then be able to process and determine it. This is called the validation stage. If all the necessary information has been provided, including the
fee, then the planning officer will validate the application and start publicity and consultation with any relevant consultees. If, however, some of
the information required has not been provided, or it contains clear inaccuracies, then the application will be registered as invalid. Once this
process has finished, the planning officer will contact the applicant/agent to confirm whether the application is valid or invalid and in the case of
6

the latter provide guidance as to what further information is required in order to validate the application. The validation date is the date when all
the necessary information, including the fee, have been received by the Council. The statutory timescales for determining the application start on
this date.

2.3

Extra information requested after validation

The list of requirements is not exhaustive and the Council can request further or more detailed information after validation to resolve any
particular issues that arise. Any additional information not required by the Local List, but which the Council needs to determine the application,
will be requested during the course of the application and should be provided as soon as possible.

2.4

Validation disputes

If you disagree with our reasons for invalidating an application and negotiation with us has failed, you may send a notice to us setting out your
reasons for refusing to supply the information, under Section 12 of the Development Management Procedure Order 2015 (as amended) (DMPO).
You must have submitted all the other information needed to validate the application together with the fee. We will then either agree and validate
the application or disagree and issue a Non Validation Notice against which you may then appeal under Section 78 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 after the statutory time period has elapsed.

Page 292

You also have the right to complain to the Local Government Ombudsman on the grounds of maladministration provided you have been through
our complaints process. However, we will endeavour to reach agreement to resolve disputes.

2.5

Preferred method for submitting applications and information

Please use the Planning Portal to submit applications, plans and documents to us. The information is automatically uploaded to our IT system,
therefore it saves us significant time and resources needing to scan drawings and documents which are submitted by email or by post, or that
are hand delivered. We understand however that not everyone is confident at using computers, therefore we will still accept applications by these
other methods, but bear in mind that they may take us longer to process.

2.6

Fees

The Planning Portal includes a fee calculator that can be used to calculate the correct fee for your application. If you are submitting your
application using the Planning Portal, then you will be required to pay the fee at the same time using their online payment system. If you decide
to submit via a different method, then you can still use the Planning Portal to help you calculate the fee, but you can pay the Council by debit
card or by BACS instead – please call the planning applications team on 01392 265223. Payments by cheque are no longer accepted.

2.7

Data protection

All applications and supporting information will be published on our website. Private telephone numbers, private email addresses and signatures
will be removed prior to publication. We are committed to ensuring that your privacy is protected by adhering to the UK General Data Protection
Regulation (UK GDPR). Any personal information provided will be used by us for the purpose of processing your application and contacting you
regarding this. The data will be processed in accordance with the Council’s full privacy policy.
7

3.0 Information Requirements for Different Types of Planning Application
The tables on the following pages list the information requirements for different types of planning application, the statutory and planning
policy/guidance ‘drivers’ for seeking the information, and the circumstances when the information is required. Section 4.0 describes the
information and where further guidance can be found. Applications for proposals to alter or enlarge a single house, including works within the
boundary/garden, are known as Householder applications. These include: extensions, conservatories, loft conversions, dormer windows,
garages, car ports and outbuildings. However, some of these may also be possible by submitting a Prior approval application. Anything larger is
likely to require a Full/Outline application. Guidance on the different application types can be found on the Planning Portal. Otherwise please
contact the planning applications team on 01392 265223 or planning@exeter.gov.uk for advice.
For information, the definition of “major development” is as follows:

Page 293

a) the winning and working of minerals or the use of land for mineral-working deposits;
b) waste development;
c) the provision of dwellinghouses where:
i.
the number of dwellinghouses to be provided is 10 or more; or
ii.
the development is to be carried out on a site having an area of 0.5 hectares or more and it is not known whether the development
falls within sub-paragraph c)i;
d) the provision of a building or buildings where the floor space to be created by the development is 1,000 square metres or more; or
e) development carried out on a site having an area of 1 hectare or more.

You can check to see if your site or property is within a Conservation Area or whether there are any trees on or near your site/property that are
protected by Tree Preservation Orders using the interactive ‘Map of Tree Preservation Orders and Conservation Area’ on the Council’s website:
Conservation areas - Map of Conservation Areas - Exeter City Council.
To find out whether your property or any properties nearby are listed or locally listed, please refer to the ‘Listed Buildings Quick List’ on the
Council’s website: Listed buildings - Listed buildings in Exeter - Exeter City Council. This also includes a list of Scheduled Ancient Monuments.
You can check to see which Flood Zone your site or property is in using the ‘Flood map for planning’ on the GOV.UK website: Flood map for
planning - GOV.UK (flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk).
The Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) is shown on page 48 of the Core Strategy (2012) and the Area of Archaeological Importance is
shown on the Local Plan First Review Proposals Maps: Local Plan - Exeter City Council.
You can use the Wildlife assessment check - Exeter City Council to see if your development is likely to have an impact on any protected and
priority wildlife species and designated sites. You can also use the Devon County Council Environment Viewer to check to see whether your site
or property is within or close to an environmentally sensitive area, such as a: Special Protection Area (SPA), Site of Special Scientific Interest
(SSSI), County Wildlife Site (CWS), Special Verge, Devon Wildlife Trust Nature Reserve, or Exeter Valley Park.
8

3.1

Householder Application (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form, including signed Ownership
Certificate and Agricultural Land Declaration

Page 294

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
Location Plan drawn to an identified scale and The Town and Country Planning
showing the direction of North
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
Any other plans, drawings and information
The Town and Country Planning
necessary to describe the development,
(Development Management Procedure)
where plans and drawings are to be drawn to (England) Order 2015 (as amended)
an identified scale and plans shall show the
direction of North
Design and Access Statement
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
Fee
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

When Required?
All

All

All

Only if any part of the development is within a
conservation area and the floorspace created
by the development is 100 sq m or more.
All, except:
 An application to provide a means of
access or facilities to benefit a disabled
person who is resident within the
dwellinghouse.
 If the application is the first revision of
an application for development of the
same character or description on the
same site by the same applicant:
o For a withdrawn application:
Within 12 months of the date the
application was received;
o For a determined application:
Within 12 months of the date the
application was granted, refused
or an appeal dismissed;
o For an application where an
appeal was made for nondetermination: Within 12 months
9

Document / Plan etc.

Local Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Archaeological Report (incorporating deskbased assessment and field evaluation where
necessary)
Community Infrastructure Levy – Form 1: CIL
Additional Information
Community Infrastructure Levy – Form 2:
Assumption of Liability
Ecology Report – Bats and Birds

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’

When Required?
of the period when the giving of
notice of a decision on the
earlier valid application expired.

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
National Planning Policy Framework 194
Local Plan First Review Policy C5
Archaeology and Development SPD
The Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010 (as amended)
The Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010 (as amended)
National Planning Policy Framework 180
Local Plan First Review Policy LS4

When Required?
Applications for development involving ground
works in the Area of Archaeological
Importance
All

Page 295
Flood Risk Assessment

National Planning Policy Framework 167
Local Plan First Review Policy EN4

Heritage Statement

National Planning Policy Framework 194
Local Plan First Review Policies C1, C2, C3,
C4 and C5

Tree Survey and Tree Protection Plan

National Planning Policy Framework 130 and
174

If you know when submitting the application
who will pay the CIL liability.
Applications involving:
 Demolitions
 Extensive works to roofs including:
o Loft conversions
o Roof raising
o New window or other accesses
into roofs
o Extensions adjoining existing
roofs
 Solar panels
 Wind turbines
Required if any part of the development is
located within Flood Zones 2 or 3, or if the site
is 1 hectare or more and in Flood Zone 1.
Applications for development that physically
affect or affect the setting of:
 a listed building
 a conservation area
 a scheduled ancient monument
 a registered park and garden
 a locally listed building
If either of the ‘Trees and Hedges’ questions
on the application form are answered ‘Yes’.
10

Document / Plan etc.

3.2

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
Local Plan First Review Policy DG1
Trees and Development SPD

When Required?

Applications for Outline or Full Planning Permission
Applications for Technical Details Consent following a Grant of Permission in Principle (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form, including signed Ownership
Certificate and Agricultural Land Declaration
Location Plan drawn to an identified scale and
showing the direction of North

Page 296

Any other plans, drawings and information
necessary to describe the development, where
plans and drawings are to be drawn to an
identified scale and plans shall show the
direction of North
Design and Access Statement

Fire Statement

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)

Proposals for:
 Development which is major
development (except engineering or
mining operations, material changes in
use, or waste development)
 1 or more dwellinghouses in a
conservation area
 Building(s) of 100 sq m or more in a
conservation area
Proposals for:
 1 or more buildings 18 metres or more
in height or with 7 or more storeys
comprising 2 or more dwellings or
student accommodation (“a relevant
building”)
 Development of an existing relevant
building

The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)

All

All

11

Document / Plan etc.

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’

Page 297

Environmental Statement

The Town and Country Planning
(Environmental Impact Assessment)
Regulations 2017 (as amended)

Fee

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

When Required?
 Development within the curtilage of a
relevant building
Except where:
 The application is for a material change
of use resulting in the building no longer
being a relevant building
 The application is for a material change
of use of land or buildings within the
curtilage of a relevant building that
would not result in the provision of 1 or
more relevant buildings
 The application is for outline planning
permission
Proposals for:
 Schedule 1 development
 Schedule 2 development likely to have
significant effects on the environment
by virtue of factors such as its nature,
size or location
All, except:
 An application solely for the carrying out
of the operations for the purpose or
providing a means of access for
disabled persons to or within a building
or premises which members of the
public are admitted.
 If the application is the first revision of
an application for development of the
same character or description on the
same site by the same applicant:
o For a withdrawn application:
Within 12 months of the date the
application was received
o For a determined application:
Within 12 months of the date the
12

Document / Plan etc.

Local Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Air Quality Assessment

When Required?
application was granted, refused
or an appeal dismissed
o For an application where an
appeal was made for nondetermination: Within 12 months
of the period when the giving of
notice of a decision on the earlier
valid application expired

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
National Planning Policy Framework 186
Core Strategy Policy CP11
Local Plan First Review Policy EN3

When Required?
Applications for:
 Major development, except car-free
residential development
 Development that significantly
increases traffic flows or changes traffic
flows to high polluting vehicles
 Development on sites within 20 metres
of the Air Quality Management Area
(AQMA), unless Environmental Health
has already agreed it is not needed
Applications for:
 Development involving ground works in
the Area of Archaeological Importance
 Major development on greenfield sites
All

Page 298

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’

Archaeological Report (incorporating deskbased assessment and field evaluation where
necessary)

National Planning Policy Framework 194
Local Plan First Review Policy C5
Archaeology and Development SPD

Community Infrastructure Levy – Form 1: CIL
Additional Information
Community Infrastructure Levy – Form 2:
Assumption of Liability
Contaminated Land Risk Assessment

The Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010 (as amended)
The Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010 (as amended)
National Planning Policy Framework 183
Local Plan First Review Policy EN2
National Planning Policy Framework 125
Local Plan First Review Policy DG4
Residential Design SPD

Daylight and Sunlight Report

If you know when submitting the application
who will pay the CIL liability.
If any of the contamination questions on the
application form are answered ‘Yes’
Applications for:
 Residential development with limited
daylight/sunlight
 Development that will reduce
daylight/sunlight to neighbouring
13

Document / Plan etc.

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’

Designing Out Crime Statement

National Planning Policy Framework 130f
Local Plan First Review Policy DG7

Page 299

Ecology Report

National Planning Policy Framework 180
Local Plan First Review Policy LS4

Ecology Report – Bats and Birds

National Planning Policy Framework 180
Local Plan First Review Policy LS4

When Required?
residential properties or public buildings
and land
Applications for:
 Major development
 Educational buildings
 Neighourhood community facilities
 Premises where the intended occupants
are particularly vulnerable and require
higher standards of security to ensure
their personal safety, e.g. care homes,
drug rehabilitation centres, etc.
 ATM/cash machines
Except outline applications where detailed
design considerations are reserved matters
Applications for:
 EIA development
 Development on sites within or
adjoining an environmentally sensitive
area (see page 8)
 Development on sites, or adjoining
sites, with natural features/habitats –
woodland, trees, hedges, grass, scrub,
banks, rivers, streams, ponds, etc.
 Development requiring input from a
consultant ecologist according to the
results of a Wildlife Assessment Check
(see page 8)
Applications involving:
 Barn conversions
 Demolitions
 Redevelopment of existing buildings
that involves works to roofs, roof
spaces, external cladding,
cracks/crevices within walls or cellars
14

Page 300

Document / Plan etc.

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’

Flood Risk Assessment

National Planning Policy Framework 167
Local Plan First Review Policy EN4

Green Infrastructure Statement

National Planning Policy Framework 174
Core Strategy Policy CP16

Heritage Statement

National Planning Policy Framework 194
Local Plan First Review Policies C1, C2, C3,
C4 and C5

Land/Slope Stability Risk Assessment

National Planning Policy Framework 183

Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment

National Planning Policy Framework 130 and
174
Core Strategy Policies CP16 and CP19
Local Plan First Review Policies LS1 and DG1

Lighting Assessment

National Planning Policy Framework 185
Local Plan First Review Policies LS4, DG1,
DG4 and DG7
National Planning Policy Framework 185
Local Plan First Review Policy EN5

Noise Impact Assessment

When Required?
 Works to underground structures other
than drains/sewers
 Wind turbines or solar panels
 Floodlighting
Required if any part of the development is
located within Flood Zones 2 or 3, or if the site
is 1 hectare or more and in Flood Zone 1
All applications for major development and any
application that will have a significant impact
on the strategic green infrastructure network
(as shown on the Core Strategy Key Diagram)
Applications for development that physically
affect or affect the setting of:
 a listed building
 a conservation area
 a scheduled ancient monument
 a registered park and garden
 a locally listed building
For applications where land/slope stability is
expected to be an issue on the site
Applications for:
 Development located in the Landscape
Setting area, unless the site is within a
strategic allocation
 Tall buildings compared to surrounding
development
Applications involving significant external
lighting, or lighting within or adjoining an
environmentally sensitive area (see page 8)
Applications for:
 Potentially noise generating
developments near sensitive locations
 Noise sensitive development near
existing noise generating uses

15

Document / Plan etc.
Open Space/Recreation Assessment

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
National Planning Policy Framework 99
Local Plan First Review Policy L3
Public Open Space SPD

Planning Statement
Retail/Leisure Impact Assessment

National Planning Policy Framework 47
National Planning Policy Framework 90
Core Strategy Policy CP8
Local Plan First Review Policy S1
National Planning Policy Framework 87-89
Core Strategy Policy CP8
Local Plan First Review Policy S1

Sequential Test Assessment

Statement of Community Involvement
Sustainability/Net Zero Carbon Statement

Page 301

Topographical Survey
Transport Statement/Assessment and
Framework Travel Plan

Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact
Assessment

Ventilation and Extraction Equipment Details
Viability Assessment

Waste Audit Statement

National Planning Policy Framework 40
National Planning Policy Framework 154 and
157
Core Strategy Policies CP13, CP14 and CP15
Residential Design SPD
Local Plan First Review Policy DG1

When Required?
Applications for development on existing open
space (public or private), sports and
recreational buildings and land, including
playing fields
All applications for major development
Applications for retail and/or leisure
development not in a defined centre above
2,500 sq m floorspace
Applications for main town centre uses, as
defined in Annex 2 of the NPPF (2021), which
are not in a defined centre nor in accordance
with the Local Plan
All applications for major development
All applications for major development

Applications on sloping land or where there
are changes in levels
National Planning Policy Framework 113
Schemes with significant transport implications
Core Strategy Policy CP9
(see thresholds in Appendix B of Guidance on
Local Plan First Review Policies T1, T2 and T3 Transport Assessment (DfT, 2007))
Sustainable Transport SPD
National Planning Policy Framework 130 and
If either of the ‘Trees and Hedges’ questions
174
on the application form are answered ‘Yes’
Local Plan First Review Policy DG1
Trees and Development SPD
Local Plan First Review Policy S5
Applications for or including such equipment,
and for the uses in section 4.33 of this guide
Core Strategy Policy CP7
Applications for major residential development
Planning Obligations SPD
that do not meet the affordable housing
requirements of Policy CP7
National Planning Policy for Waste 8
All applications for major development
Devon Waste Plan Policy W4

16

3.3

Applications for Approval of Reserved Matters (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application in writing

Such particulars, plans and drawings
necessary to deal with the matters reserved
Fee

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

When Required?
All

All
All – Full fee due or if full feel already paid
then £462 due

Local Requirements – None

Page 302

3.4

Applications for Removal or Variation of a Condition Following a Grant of Planning Permission (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form, including signed Ownership
Certificate and Agricultural Land Declaration
Fee

Local Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Revised plans/drawings drawn to an identified
scale showing minor material amendments

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

When Required?
All

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
Core Strategy Policy CP17
Local Plan First Review Policy DG1
Planning Practice Guidance – Flexible options
for planning permissions

When Required?
Where the application seeks minor material
amendments to the design of a development
with planning permission by replacing an
approved plan or plans listed in a condition
with revised plans

All

17

3.5

Applications for Approval of Details Reserved by Condition (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application in writing

Such particulars, plans and drawings
necessary to deal with the application (the
condition numbers should be written on the
plans/documents they relate to)
Fee

Page 303

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
The Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990 (as
amended)
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

All, except where the condition is attached to
a Listed Building Consent or planning
permission for relevant demolition in a
conservation area

All

Local Requirements – None

3.6

Application for Non-material Amendment Following a Grant of Planning Permission (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

Fee

Local Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Revised plans/drawings drawn to an identified
scale showing the non-material amendments

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

When Required?
All

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
Core Strategy Policy CP17
Local Plan First Review Policy DG1

When Required?
Where the application seeks non-material
amendments to the design of a development
with planning permission

All

18

Document / Plan etc.

3.7

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
When Required?
Planning Practice Guidance – Flexible options
for planning permissions

Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for an Existing/Proposed Use or Operation (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

Page 304

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
Location Plan drawn to an identified scale and The Town and Country Planning
showing the direction of North
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
Such evidence verifying the information
The Town and Country Planning
included in the application as the applicant
(Development Management Procedure)
can provide
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
Fee
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

Local Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Existing / Proposed Floor Plans

3.8

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

All

All

All, unless for a lawful development certificate
for an existing use and the fee for a planning
application for the same development would
be exempt
When Required?
For applications relating to dwellings in order
to verify them

Application for a Certificate of Lawfulness of Proposed Works to a Listed Building (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

A plan identifying the listed building(s) drawn
to an identified scale and showing the
direction of North

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Planning (Listed Buildings) (Certificates
of Lawfulness of Proposed Works)
Regulations 2014
The Planning (Listed Buildings) (Certificates
of Lawfulness of Proposed Works)
Regulations 2014

When Required?
All

All

19

Document / Plan etc.
Such plans, drawings and information as are
necessary to describe the proposed works
Such evidence verifying the information
included in the application as the applicant
can provide

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Planning (Listed Buildings) (Certificates
of Lawfulness of Proposed Works)
Regulations 2014
The Planning (Listed Buildings) (Certificates
of Lawfulness of Proposed Works)
Regulations 2014

When Required?
All

All

Local Requirements – None

3.9

Prior Approval: Larger Home Extension (Contents page)

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

Page 305

A plan indicating the site and showing the
proposed development and any existing
enlargement of the original dwellinghouse to
which the enlarged part will be joined
Fee

If an adjoining owner or occupier objects
following notification, such further information
regarding the proposed development as the
authority may reasonably require in order to
determine the application, e.g. elevations of
the proposed development

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

All

All

When requested by the planning case officer
to assess the impact of the proposed
development on the amenity of adjoining
premises

Local Requirements – None

20

3.10 Prior Approval: Enlargement of a Dwellinghouse by Construction of Additional Storeys (Contents page)

Page 306

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Written description of the proposed
development, including details of any works
proposed
A plan indicating the site and showing the
proposed development drawn to an identified
scale and showing the direction of North
A plan drawn to an identified scale showing:
 The existing and proposed elevations
of the dwellinghouse
 The position and dimensions of the
proposed windows
Fee

Such information as the authority may
reasonably require in order to determine the
application, which may include:
 assessments of impacts or risks;
 impact/risk mitigation statement(s),
having regard to the NPPF (2021)
 details of proposed building or other
operations
Construction Management Report

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

Before beginning the development

All

All

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to Schedule 2 Part 1 Class AA of the GPDO,
or to ensure there will be no harm to
protected species, such as bats, in
accordance with the public authority duty to
conserve biodiversity

Local Requirements – None

21

3.11 Prior Approval: Changes of Use
Prior Approval: Temporary School on Previously Vacant Commercial Land (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

A plan indicating the site and showing the
proposed development

Page 307

Floor plan indicating the total floorspace in
square metres of each dwellinghouse, the
dimensions and proposed use of each room,
the position and dimensions of windows,
doors and walls, and the elevations of the
dwellinghouses
Flood Risk Assessment

Fire Statement

Fee

Such information as the authority may
reasonably require in order to determine the
application, which may include:
 assessments of impacts or risks;
 impact/risk mitigation statement(s)
 details of proposed building or other
operations

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

For applications relating to prior approval as
to flooding risks on the site and the
Environment Agency must be consulted
Applications for development in Class MA
where the building will contain 2 or more
dwellinghouses and will be 18 metres or more
in height or contain 7 or more storeys
All

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

All

Applications for development in Classes G,
M, MA, N, O, PA or Q

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to the relevant Class in Schedule 2 Part 3 and
Class CA in Schedule 2 Part 4 of the GPDO,
or to ensure there will be no harm to
protected species, such as bats, in
accordance with the public authority duty to
conserve biodiversity
22

Local Requirements – None

3.12 Prior Approval: Movable Structure for Historic Visitor Attraction, or Listed Pub/Restaurant/etc. (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
A written description of the proposed
development

Page 308

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
A plan indicating the site and showing the
The Town and Country Planning (General
proposed development
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
A statement setting out the proposed methods The Town and Country Planning (General
of:
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
 installing the movable structure
 reinstating the land to its original
condition once the movable structure is
removed
Developer’s contact address and email
The Town and Country Planning (General
address if the developer is content to receive
Permitted Development) (England) Order
communications electronically
2015 (as amended)
Fee
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
Such information as the authority may
The Town and Country Planning (General
reasonably require in order to determine the
Permitted Development) (England) Order
application
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

All

All

All

All

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to Schedule 2 Part 4 Class BB of the GPDO,
or to ensure there will be no harm to
protected species, such as bats, in
accordance with the public authority duty to
conserve biodiversity

Local Requirements – None

23

3.13 Prior Approval: Temporary Use for Commercial Film-making (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

A plan indicating the site and showing the
proposed development
Flood Risk Assessment

Fee

Page 309

Such information as the authority may
reasonably require in order to determine the
application, which may include:
 assessments of impacts or risks;
 impact/risk mitigation statement(s)

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

All

All

All

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to Schedule 2 Part 4 Class E of the GPDO, or
to ensure there will be no harm to protected
species, such as bats, in accordance with the
public authority duty to conserve biodiversity

Local Requirements – None

3.14 Prior Approval: Building for Agricultural/Forestry Use
Prior Approval: Private Road for Agricultural/Forestry Use
Prior Approval: Excavation/Deposit Waste for Agriculture
Prior Approval: Tank/Cage/Structure for Use in Fish Farming (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

24

Document / Plan etc.
A plan indicating the site

Fee

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

When Required?
All

All

Local Requirements – None

3.15 Prior Approval: Collection Facility for a Shop (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

Page 310

A plan indicating the site and showing the
proposed development
Fee

Such information as the authority may
reasonably require in order to determine the
application

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

All

All

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to Schedule 2 Part 7 Class C of the GPDO, or
to ensure there will be no harm to protected
species, such as bats, in accordance with the
public authority duty to conserve biodiversity

Local Requirements – None

25

3.16 Prior Approval: Erection, Extension or Alteration of a University Building (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
A written description of the proposed
development
A plan indicating the site and showing the
proposed development

Page 311

Drawings prepared to an identified scale
showing:
 in the case of a building to be erected,
the proposed external dimensions and
elevations of that building
 in the case of a building to be extended
or altered, the external dimensions and
elevations of that building both before
and after the proposed extension or
alteration
A written statement in respect of the heritage
and archaeological considerations of the
development
Developer’s contact address and email
address if the developer is content to receive
communications electronically
Fee

Such information as the authority may
reasonably require in order to determine the
application, which may include:
 assessments of impacts or risks;
 impact/risk mitigation statement(s)
 details of proposed building or other
operations

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

All

All

All

All

All

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to Schedule 2 Part 7 Class M of the GPDO, or
to ensure there will be no harm to protected
species, such as bats, in accordance with the
public authority duty to conserve biodiversity
26

Local Requirements – None

3.17 Prior Approval: Demolition of Building (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

Page 312

Statement that a signed and dated site notice
has been posted on or near the land by the
applicant containing the name of the applicant
 a description, including the address, of
the building(s) proposed to be
demolished
 a statement that the applicant has
applied to Exeter City Council for a
determination as to whether the prior
approval of the authority will be
required as to the method of demolition
and any proposed restoration of the
site
 the date on which the applicant
proposes to carry out the demolition
 the name and address of the local
planning authority
Fee

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

All

All

Local Requirements – None

27

3.18 Prior Approval: Roof Mounted Solar PV on Non-domestic Building (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

A plan indicating the site and showing the
proposed development
Fee

Such information as the authority may
reasonably require in order to determine the
application

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

All

All

Page 313

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to Schedule 2 Part 14 Class J of the GPDO,
or to ensure there will be no harm to protected
species, such as bats, in accordance with the
public authority duty to conserve biodiversity

Local Requirements – None

3.19 Prior Approval: Development for Electronic Communications Network (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

A plan indicating proposed location

Evidence the developer has given notice of
the proposed development to:
 any person (other than the developer)
who is the owner of the land; or

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

All

All

28

Document / Plan etc.
 a tenant of an agricultural holding any
part of which is comprised in the land
Evidence that the Civil Aviation Authority and
Exeter Airport have been notified of the
proposal

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’

When Required?

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

Fee

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

Except in the case of emergency,
development in Schedule 2 Part 16 Class A of
the GPDO which consists of the installation,
alteration or replacement of a mast on a civil
safeguarding area
All

Local Requirements – None

Page 314

3.20 Prior Approval: Single Living Accommodation/Non-Residential Buildings on a Closed Defense Site (Contents
page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
A written description of the proposed
development including a statement of any
proposed increase in the total footprint of
buildings on the closed defense site
Statement showing the total floorspace of
single living accommodation:
 on the closed defense site immediately
before 11th January 2022
 already added to the closed defense
site via development under Class TA(a)
 to be added to the closed defense site
via the proposed development
Statement showing the total floorspace of
non-residential buildings:
 on the closed defense site immediately
before 11th January 2022

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

Where the proposed development relates to
the erection or extension of single living
accommodation

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

Where the proposed development relates to
the erection or extension of a non-residential
building

29

Page 315

Document / Plan etc.
Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
 already added to the closed defense
site via development under Class TA(b)
 to be added to the closed defense site
via the proposed development
A plan indicating the closed defense site and
The Town and Country Planning (General
showing the proposed development
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
Drawings prepared to an identified scale
The Town and Country Planning (General
showing:
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
 in the case of a building to be erected,
the proposed external dimensions and
elevations of that building
 in the case of a building to be extended
or altered, the external dimensions and
elevations of that building both before
and after the proposed extension or
alteration
Developer’s contact address and email
The Town and Country Planning (General
address if the developer is content to receive
Permitted Development) (England) Order
communications electronically
2015 (as amended)
Such information as the authority may
The Town and Country Planning (General
reasonably require in order to determine the
Permitted Development) (England) Order
application
2015 (as amended)

When Required?

All

All

All

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to Schedule 2 Part 19 Class TA of the GPDO,
or to ensure there will be no harm to
protected species, such as bats, in
accordance with the public authority duty to
conserve biodiversity

Local Requirements – None

30

3.21 Prior Approval: Demolition of Buildings and Construction of New Dwellinghouses in their Place (ZA) (Contents
page)

Page 316

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
A written description of the proposed
development, which must include details of
the building proposed for demolition, the
building proposed as replacement and the
demolition/construction operations proposed
A plan drawn to an identified scale and
showing the direction of North indicating the
site of the proposed development
Drawings prepared to an identified scale and
showing external dimensions and elevations
of:
 the building proposed for demolition
 the building scheduled as replacement
 the position of each in the direction of
North
 the position and dimensions of
windows, doors and walls in the
block/each
dwellinghouse/dwellinghouse as
applicable
 the dimensions and use of all habitable
and other rooms in each dwellinghouse
proposed
A written statement specifying:
 the number of dwellinghouses in the
building proposed for demolition
 the number of new dwellinghouses
proposed in the replacement building
Flood Risk Assessment

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

Required if any part of the development is
located within Flood Zones 2 or 3

All

31

Document / Plan etc.
A written statement in respect of heritage and
archaeological considerations of the
development
Developer’s contact address and email
address if the developer is content to receive
communications electronically
Fee

Page 317

Such information as the authority may
reasonably require in order to determine the
application, which may include:
 assessments of impacts or risks;
 impact/risk mitigation statement(s),
having regard to the NPPF (2021); or
 details of proposed building or other
operations
Construction Management Report (including
proposed use of materials and the plans for
the disposal and recycling of waste generated
by the development)

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

Before beginning the development

All

All

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to Schedule 2 Part 20 Class ZA of the GPDO,
or to ensure there will be no harm to
protected species, such as bats, in
accordance with the public authority duty to
conserve biodiversity

Local Requirements – None

3.22 Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Detached Blocks of Flats (A)
Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Detached Buildings in Commercial or Mixed Use (AA)
Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Terrace Buildings in Commercial or Mixed Use (AB)
Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Terrace Buildings in Use as Dwellinghouses (AC)
Prior Approval: New Dwellinghouses on Detached Buildings in Use as Dwellinghouses (AD) (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
A written description of the proposed
development, including details of any
dwellinghouse and other works proposed

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

32

Page 318

Document / Plan etc.
A plan drawn to an identified scale and
showing the direction of North indicating the
site and showing the proposed development
Floor plans drawn to an identified scale and
showing the direction of North indicating the
total floorspace in square metres of each
dwellinghouse, the dimensions and proposed
use of each room, the position and
dimensions of windows, doors and walls, and
the existing and proposed elevations of the
building
A written statement specifying the number of
new dwellinghouses proposed (additional to
any existing dwellinghouses in the existing
building)
A list of all addresses of any flats and any
other premises in the existing building
Developer’s contact address and email
address if the developer is content to receive
communications electronically
Flood Risk Assessment

Fire Statement

A report by a chartered engineer/other
competent professional confirming the
external wall construction of the existing
building complies with paragraph B4(1) of
Schedule 1 to the Building Regulations 2010
Fee

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

All

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

All if relevant

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests

All

All

Required if any part of the development is
located within Flood Zones 2 or 3
Applications for development in Classes A or
AA where the building will contain 2 or more
dwellinghouses and will be 18 metres or more
in height or contain 7 or more storeys
Applications for development in Classes A or
AA where the existing building is 18 metres or
more in height

All

33

Document / Plan etc.

Such information as the authority may
reasonably require in order to determine the
application, which may include:
 assessments of impacts or risks;
 impact/risk mitigation statement(s),
having regard to the NPPF (2021); or
 details of proposed building or other
operations
Construction Management Report

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

When Required?

The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended)

Before beginning the development – does not
apply to AD

When requested by the planning case officer
to determine the prior approval issues relating
to the relevant Class in Schedule 2 Part 20 of
the GPDO, or to ensure there will be no harm
to protected species, such as bats, in
accordance with the public authority duty to
conserve biodiversity

Local Requirements – None

Page 319

3.23 Application for Permission in Principle (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form
A plan drawn to an identified scale and
showing the direction of North which identifies
the land to which the application relates
Particulars of: how the applicant complied with
section 61W(1) of the TCP 1990 Act
(pre-application consultation);
 any responses to the consultation that
were received by the applicant; and
 the account taken of those responses
by the applicant.
Fee

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country (Permission in
Principle) Order 2017 (as amended)
The Town and Country (Permission in
Principle) Order 2017 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country (Permission in
Principle) Order 2017 (as amended)

For permission in principle for any residential
development involving an installation for the
harnessing of wind power for energy
production where:
 the development involves the
installation of more than 2 turbines; or
 the hub height of any turbine exceeds
15 metres
All

The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests

All

34

Document / Plan etc.

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

When Required?

Local Requirements – None

3.24 Application for Listed Building Consent (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form, including signed Ownership
Certificate

Page 320

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990 (as
amended)
Location Plan drawn to an identified scale and The Planning (Listed Buildings and
showing the direction of North
Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990 (as
amended)
Any other plans, drawings and information
The Planning (Listed Buildings and
necessary to describe the works, where plans Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990 (as
and drawings are to be drawn to an identified amended)
scale and plans shall show the direction of
North
Design and Access Statement
The Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990 (as
amended)

When Required?
All

All

All

All – Access issues not required for works
affecting only the interior of the building

Local Requirements (as separate legislation relates to listed buildings, the application will be validated if the information below is not
provided, however applicants/agents should provide this information where relevant)
Document / Plan etc.
Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
When Required?
Heritage Statement
National Planning Policy Framework 194
All
Local Plan First Review Policy C2
Structural Survey
National Planning Policy Framework 194
Where the application proposes demolition,
Local Plan First Review Policy C2
significant alterations to the structure of the
building or heavier floor loading

35

3.25 Application for Planning Permission for Relevant Demolition in a Conservation Area (applies to the demolition
of unlisted buildings, gates, walls or other means of enclosure in conservation areas) (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form, including signed Ownership
Certificate and Agricultural Land Declaration

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
Location Plan drawn to an identified scale and The Town and Country Planning
showing the direction of North
(Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)
Any other plans, drawings and information
The Town and Country Planning
necessary to describe the development,
(Development Management Procedure)
where plans and drawings are to be drawn to (England) Order 2015 (as amended)
an identified scale and plans shall show the
direction of North

Page 321

Local Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Ecology Report – Bats and Birds
Flood Risk Assessment

Heritage Statement
Waste Audit Statement

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
National Planning Policy Framework 180
Local Plan First Review Policy LS4
National Planning Policy Framework 167
Local Plan First Review Policy EN4
National Planning Policy Framework 194
Local Plan First Review Policy C1
National Planning Policy for Waste 8
Devon Waste Plan Policy W4

When Required?
All

All

All

When Required?
All
Required if any part of the development is
located within Flood Zones 2 or 3, or if the site
is 1 hectare or more and in Flood Zone 1
All
Applications for the demolition of buildings
with floorspace of 1,000 sq m or more

3.26 Application for Consent to Display an Advertisement (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007
(as amended)

When Required?
All

36

Document / Plan etc.
Particulars specified in the form: Elevation drawing or photo of the
advertisement if already in place
 Elevation drawing or photo of existing
sign to be removed and replaced
 Coloured drawing(s) of proposed
advertisement if not already in place
showing dimensions and position on
land or building
 Other plans, drawings or information
necessary to describe the proposal
Location Plan drawn to an identified scale and
showing the direction of North

Page 322

Fee

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007
(as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007
(as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for
Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests
and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012
(as amended)

All

All, except following the withdrawal/refusal of
an earlier application and the same applicant

Local Requirements – None

3.27 Tree Works: Trees in Conservation Areas/Subject to Tree Preservation Orders (Contents page)
National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form

Particulars specified in the form: Sketch Plan showing the location of all
trees affected
 Identification of tree(s) affected
 Specification of proposed works to
tree(s)
 Reason for work where trees protected
by TPO

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (Tree
Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012 (as
amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Tree
Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012 (as
amended)

When Required?
All

All

37

Document / Plan etc.
 Arboricultural evidence if TPO tree is
diseased/might break or fall
 Engineer/Surveyor report and
Arboricultural report if TPO tree is
causing subsidence
 Written technical evidence from an
appropriate expert where TPO tree is
causing other structural damage

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’

When Required?

Local Requirements – None

3.28 Application for Hedgerow Removal Notice (Contents page)

Page 323

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form
Plan showing the location and length of
hedgerow or hedgerows proposed to be
removed drawn to an identified scale
(preferably 1:2500) and showing the direction
of North (mark stretches of hedgerow planted
less than 30 years ago on the plan with an
“X”)
Evidence of the date of planting of stretches
of hedgerow indicated to be removed that are
less than 30 years old

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Hedgerows Regulations 1997
The Hedgerows Regulations 1997

When Required?
All
All

The Hedgerows Regulations 1997

Applications involving the removal of
hedgerows less than 30 years old

Local Requirements (as separate legislation relates to hedgerows, the application will be validated if the information below is not
provided, however applicants/agents should provide this information where relevant)
Document / Plan etc.
Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
When Required?
Ecology Report
National Planning Policy Framework 180
All
Local Plan First Review Policy LS4
Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact
National Planning Policy Framework 130 and Where trees would be removed as part of the
Assessment
174
works
Local Plan First Review Policy DG1
Trees and Development SPD
38

3.29 Application to Modify or Discharge a Planning Obligation Agreed under S106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act (Contents page)

Page 324

National Requirements
Document / Plan etc.
Application Form, including:
 Name and address of applicant
 Address or location of the land to which
the application relates and the nature
of the applicant’s interest in the land
 Identification of the planning obligation
concerned
 Applicant’s reasons for applying to
modify or discharge the obligation
 Such other information as the authority
consider necessary to enable them to
determine the application
Map identifying the land to which the
obligation relates
Such other information as the applicant
considers relevant to the determination of the
application

Statutory / Policy / Guidance ‘Drivers’
The Town and Country Planning (Modification
and Discharge of Planning Obligations)
Regulations 1992 (as amended)

When Required?
All

The Town and Country Planning (Modification
and Discharge of Planning Obligations)
Regulations 1992 (as amended)
The Town and Country Planning (Modification
and Discharge of Planning Obligations)
Regulations 1992 (as amended)

All

When the applicant considers additional
information is relevant

Local Requirements – None

4.0 Information Requirements Guidance
4.1

Application Form and Fee (Contents page)

All applications must be submitted using the appropriate application form. For further details see Apply for planning permission - Exeter City
Council.
Our preference is for applications to be submitted electronically using the Planning Portal. For paper applications, please provide the following
number of complete sets of application form, plans and documents:



one set for most applications
two sets for combined applications (e.g. Full and Listed Building Consent)
39

Ownership Certificate A, B, C or D on the application form must be completed stating the ownership of the application site. This also incorporates
the Agricultural Land Declaration.



Complete Certificate A if you own all of the land (freehold or leasehold of 7 years or more) and do not have agricultural tenants; or
Complete Certificate B, C or D if you do not own all the land or if you have agricultural tenants on the land. This includes situations where
the development overhangs the boundary with the adjoining property/land.
o Certificate B – Complete this if you know who the owners/agricultural tenants are on the day 21 days before the date of the application.
State the names and addresses of these people on the application form. Before you submit the application, you will need to serve a
notice of the application on these people.
o Certificate C – Complete this if you know some of the owners/agricultural tenants. This is a combination of the circumstances
described in Certificates B and D and should be completed accordingly.
o Certificate D – Complete this if you do not know any of the owners/agricultural tenants. Specify the steps you have taken to find the
owners e.g. land registry search. You must advertise the application in a local newspaper at least 21 days before submission.

The application form must be signed and dated and all questions on the form must be answered fully and accurately.

Page 325

The correct full fee must be submitted with the application. A schedule of fees is available at How much does an application cost? - Exeter City
Council.

4.2

Plans Required – depending on the type of application (Contents page)

All plans must:










be to a recognised metric scale (e.g. 1:50, 1:100) which is marked clearly on the plan
have a scale bar or at least one measurement marked on the plan
be clearly marked with the direction of North
have the size of the plan (A3, A2 etc.) marked on the plan
have a unique drawing number which is also used in the file name
belong to you/your client as copyrighted plans cannot be accepted
preferably contain a single type of drawing per document, e.g. location plan, site layout plan, existing elevations, proposed elevations,
existing floor plans, proposed floor plans
be in black and white, except the red and blue outlines for location plans and coloured elevations/streetscenes
be of a quality and resolution that will be clear to view by the public when uploaded onto the website

For proposals in Flood Zones 2 or 3, plans should display levels to metres Above Ordinance Datum (mAOD).

40

Additional electronic requirements:







maximum file size 5Mb
no .zip or .exe files
preferably submit as PDF
minimum resolution of 200 dpi
drawings correctly orientated for on-screen display
file names reflect content

Location Plan
Location plans are required for most applications. They must:

Page 326






be up-to-date
normally be at a scale of 1:1250 (or 1:2500 if appropriate)
show the full site, including all site boundaries, adjoining properties and, where possible, at least two named roads
show the site outlined in red and any adjoining land owned by the applicant outlined in blue – the site should include all land necessary to
carry out the proposed development, including access, which is normally to the boundary

Location plans can be purchased online at Buy a planning map | Planning Portal.
Site Layout Plan (existing and proposed)
Site layout plans (sometimes referred to as Block Plans) are required for applications for new buildings, building extensions, changes of use and
other development where physical changes to the site layout are proposed. They must be drawn to a recognisable scale (e.g. 1:1000, 1:500,
1:200 or 1:100, depending on the size of the site) and show:








the proposed development
all site boundaries, existing buildings, roads, tracks, footpaths and access arrangements on the site
any buildings to be demolished
all buildings, roads, tracks, footpaths and access arrangements on land adjoining the site
all public rights of way crossing or adjoining the site
existing and proposed parking provision
the position of all trees on the site, including those on adjacent land that could influence or be affected by the development, with proposals
for removal/retention/new planting indicated

41






the position of all hedges on the site, including boundary hedges, other vegetation, ponds, watercourses, walls, banks and historic
features with proposals for removal/retention/new planting indicated
the extent and type of any hard surfacing
boundary treatments including walls or fencing where this is proposed
ground/floor levels across the site, including any retaining walls

Floor Plans (existing and proposed)
Floor plans are required for all applications for new, altered, replacement or extended buildings, and changes of use. They must be drawn to a
recognisable scale (e.g. 1:50 or 1:100) and show:

Page 327












all floors in the building
the entire floor area
all rooms, with an indication of their use
number of bedspaces (residential)
integral garages (residential)
built-in storage – must have minimum headroom of 900mm (residential)
internal bin stores
internal cycle stores
stairs/lifts
plant rooms

Roof Plans
Roof plans are required for all applications for new, replacement or extended buildings, or where there are alterations to existing roofs. They
must be drawn to a recognisable scale (e.g. 1:50 or 1:100), and show the shape of the roof and roofing materials. In the case of roofs involving
‘green’, ‘brown’ or ‘blue’ roofing systems, a detailed section of the roof should be included on the plan or separately.
Elevation Drawings (existing and proposed)
Elevation drawings are required for applications for new, altered, replacement or extended buildings. They must be drawn to a recognisable
scale (e.g. 1:50 or 1:100) and show:



all affected elevations in full
proposed building materials, style and finish of the building and windows and doors

42




any other buildings that are attached to the elevation and where possible the main features of that adjoining building (e.g. details of doors,
windows on the same elevation of an adjoining terraced or semi-detached dwelling)
the size and location of any ventilation/extraction equipment

Site Sections (existing and proposed)
Site sections are required for applications for new buildings on sloping sites, or where there are changes in levels on the site or between the site
and surrounding properties. They must be drawn to a recognisable scale (e.g. 1:50 or 1:100) and show the proposed development in relation to
buildings on adjoining land. Existing and finished levels should be marked on the drawings, fixed to a datum point off site.
Building Sections (existing and proposed)
Building sections are required for applications for new buildings. They must be drawn to a recognisable scale (e.g. 1:50 or 1:100) and show each
floor in the building and the position of external windows.

Page 328

Streetscenes
Streetscenes are required for residential applications with new road/streets providing access to the dwellings. They may also be required for
new, altered, replacement or extended buildings that will change the character of existing streets, e.g. larger scale, different architecture or
smaller gaps between buildings. They must be drawn to a recognisable scale (e.g. 1:100 or 1:200) and are usually in colour.
Specialist Plans
Specialist plans may be required to show specific details in a larger scale (e.g. 1:5, 1:10 or 1:20), where certain issues such as the detail of
window joinery is required, e.g. for Listed Buildings.
Photos
Photographs of the site/existing building(s) help to provide an understanding of the site and development, and are encouraged.
Advertisement Consent Plans
Detailed plans are required for applications for consent to display an advertisement. They must be drawn to a recognisable scale (e.g. 1:20 or
1:50) and show:



the size of the advertisement (including dimensions)
its position on the land or the building in question
43






the materials and colours to be used
the height above ground level
the extent of projection from any building
details of the method and colour of any illumination

4.3

Air Quality Assessment (Contents page)
All applications for major development, except car-free residential development, must be supported by an Air Quality Assessment (AQA),
addressing the air quality impacts of both the construction and operational phases of the development on human health and ecological receptors.
Impacts may arise from dust generated during demolition and/or construction works, emissions from plant or from the traffic generated by the
proposal. The latter will need to take into account the information contained within the Transport Statement/Assessment submitted with the
application. Where impacts are identified, the assessment must include appropriate mitigation measures to be secured through either planning
condition or s106 legal agreement.
An AQA is also required for proposals that significantly increase traffic flows to/from the site or that change traffic flows to high polluting vehicles,
e.g. car parks (>10 spaces), coach/lorry parks, etc.

Page 329

An AQA will also be required for any applications within 20 metres of the Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) to ensure that the proposal will
not be adversely affected by traffic pollution – particularly vulnerable uses such as residential and schools/nurseries, or will increase nitrogen
dioxide emissions within the AQMA through traffic generation. Please contact the Council’s Environmental Health team to confirm if this is
needed for your proposal.
An Air Quality Assessment should be prepared by a suitably qualified expert. It should indicate the change in air quality or exposure resulting
from the proposed development and outline appropriate mitigation measures, as necessary.
Further information:






Air quality - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Guidance – IAQM
Air Pollution Information System | Air Pollution Information System (apis.ac.uk)
SCAIL - Simple Calculation of Atmospheric Impact Limits (ceh.ac.uk)
Clean, safe city - Exeter City Council

Exeter City Council contacts: environmental.health@exeter.gov.uk

4.4

Archaeological Report (Contents page)

An archaeological report will be required for all applications within the Area of Archaeological Importance, as shown on the Local Plan First
Review Proposals Map, involving ground works, and for all applications for major development on greenfield sites. This should comprise a desk44

based assessment and field evaluation where necessary. The scope of the report should be discussed and agreed with the Council’s Heritage
Officer at pre-application stage. Information on the recording of archaeological remains should be made publicly available. This normally involves
adding the information to the historic environment record and the appropriate museum or other repository.
Further information:



Historic environment - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
CIfA regulations, standards and guidance | Chartered Institute for Archaeologists

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.5

Community Infrastructure Levy (Contents page)

Page 330

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is charged on residential development (excluding Use Class C2) and student housing anywhere in the
city, and retail development (Use Classes F.2, E and some sui-generis uses – A1-A5 before 1 September 2020) outside the City Centre; the City
Centre is shown in the CIL Charging Schedule at: cil-charging-schedule-oct-13.pdf (exeter.gov.uk). CIL receipts are used to fund infrastructure
made necessary by development, either in whole or in part, and CIL is levied on owners or developers of land when development takes place,
with payments typically being phased in accordance with the Council’s CIL Instalments Policy.
CIL cannot be used to fund Affordable Housing – this will continue to be delivered through planning obligations agreed under Section 106 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as will other (usually site-specific) infrastructure which meets the tests in CIL regulation 122 (2).
It is a local validation requirement that a ‘CIL Additional Information’ form is submitted with all planning applications. It is also a local validation
requirement to submit an ‘Assumption of Liability’ form with applications if the person who will pay the CIL liability is known. If not, the Council’s
preference is that it is submitted before the application is determined. These forms are available on the Planning Portal: Download the forms |
Community Infrastructure Levy | Planning Portal.
Note that most household extensions are exempt from paying CIL (if less than 100m2 additional floor space is proposed). If this is the case,
please fill in section 1, tick the ‘No’ box in question 2.a), and tick the ‘Yes’ box in question 4.d) of the ‘CIL Additional Information’ form. Put your
name and the date at the end of the form.
If an application is approved with a CIL liability, it is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure the correct forms are submitted and that the correct
procedures are followed, particularly prior to commencement of development (including demolition). If, for example, a ‘Commencement Notice’ is
not submitted prior to the commencement of development, the applicant forfeits any right to pay CIL in instalments. It can also be the case that
exemptions from CIL are lost if the correct procedure is not followed, or that surcharges can be applied. The penalties can be significant.
Sometimes the Council has no discretion as to the course of action it is required to take in imposing surcharges or penalties.

45

Planning obligations, also known as Section 106 agreements (based on that section of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990), are private legal
agreements made between local authorities and developers and can be attached to a planning permission to make development acceptable
(which would otherwise be unacceptable in planning terms). Applicants and agents should clarify the Council’s requirements in pre-application
discussions and confirm any planning obligations that they agree to provide as part of the Planning Statement submitted with the application.
Further information:




Community infrastructure levy (CIL) - Exeter City Council
Conditions and obligations | The decision-making process | Planning Portal
Section 106 agreements (s106) - Exeter City Council

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk; for CIL specific enquiries email CIL@exeter.gov.uk.

4.6

Construction Management Report (Contents page)

Page 331

A Construction Management Report, sometimes referred to as a Construction Method Statement, is normally a requirement for major
developments that have been granted planning permission, under a planning condition. However, they are a national requirement for some prior
approval applications, which state that:
“before beginning the development, the developer must provide the local planning authority with a report for the management of the
construction of the development, which sets out the proposed development hours of operation and how any adverse impact of noise, dust,
vibration and traffic on adjoining owners or occupiers will be mitigated”

In the case of prior approvals for ‘Demolition of Buildings and Construction of New Dwellinghouses in their Place’ (Class ZA), this is expanded as
follows:
“before beginning the development, the developer must provide the local planning authority with a report for the management of the
construction of the development, which is acceptable to the authority and sets out the method of demolition, the proposed development
hours of operation and how any adverse impact of noise, dust and vibration and traffic on occupiers of the new building and adjoining
owners or occupiers will be mitigated, the proposed use of materials, and the plans for the disposal and recycling of waste generated by
the development and that in carrying out the development the developer must comply with the report.”
Therefore, a Construction Management Report can be submitted either with the application or after prior approval has been granted, but it must
be provided before the development is begun.
The information that is normally required by the Council in a Construction Method Statement is:
a) The site access point(s) of all vehicles during the construction period.
46

b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)
j)

The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors.
The areas for loading and unloading plant and materials.
Storage areas of plant and materials used in constructing the development within the phase.
The erection and maintenance of securing hoarding, if appropriate.
Wheel washing facilities.
Measures to monitor and control the emission of dust and dirt during construction.
No burning on site during construction or site preparation works.
Measures to monitor and control noise and vibration nuisance to neighbours from plant and machinery.
Construction working hours and deliveries from 8:00 to 18:00 Monday to Friday, 8:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or
Bank Holidays.

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.7

Page 332

Contaminated Land Risk Assessment (Contents page)
A Contaminated Land Risk Assessment is required for all applications where the answer to any of the contamination questions under ‘Existing
Use’ on the application form is ‘Yes’. This means whenever contamination is known or suspected, or where the application is for a use which is
‘particularly vulnerable’. ‘Particularly vulnerable’ uses include: dwellings, schools, nurseries, allotments and playing fields, among others.
The risk assessment must be completed by a competent person. They are required to determine the existence or otherwise of contamination, its
nature, the risks it may pose, and whether these can be reduced to an acceptable level. Contamination is likely to be present if previous uses on
or around the site comprised industrial buildings or land, or petrol stations/garages where fuels and chemicals were in regular use. However, it
may also be present in other locations, including the countryside, e.g. by inappropriate spreading of materials. Please contact the planning
applications team, which has a GIS layer indicating potential contaminated land.
To ease the burden on small developers, the Council will not normally require an assessment:



Where there is a current approval
Where the application is clearly not a risk, e.g. a minor change with no ground disturbance

If the proposed development is situated within 250 metres of a former landfill site, there will be a requirement to specifically consider whether
there are issues relating to ground gas.
Further information:



Land affected by contamination - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Pollution control - Contaminated land - Exeter City Council
47

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk
Exeter City Council contacts: environmental.health@exeter.gov.uk

4.8

Daylight and Sunlight Report (Contents page)

It is important that homes have adequate access to natural light and sunlight to provide a healthy environment to the occupier. The Government
has recently amended the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 to highlight the importance of
this issue for new dwellings created through the Order, stating:
“Where the application relates to prior approval as to adequate natural light, the local planning authority must refuse prior approval if
adequate natural light is not provided in all the habitable rooms of the dwellinghouses.”
At the same time, in encouraging higher densities, the Government states:
“local planning authorities should refuse applications which they consider fail to make efficient use of land, taking into account the policies
in this Framework. In this context, when considering applications for housing, authorities should take a flexible approach in applying
policies or guidance relating to daylight and sunlight, where they would otherwise inhibit making efficient use of a site (as long as the
resulting scheme would provide acceptable living standards).” (NPPF paragraph 125 c))

Page 333

Detailed guidance on this issue can be found in the BRE guide ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight – A guide to good practice’ (2nd
edition).
It is also important that new development does not result in the loss of light to surrounding properties to an unacceptable degree. For some
development proposals for new or extended buildings, it may be helpful to include before and after shadow plans to show the difference that the
proposed development makes on overshadowing of surrounding properties at different times of day and year.
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.9

Design and Access Statement (Contents page)

Design and Access Statements explain the design logic behind a planning application and should show that the applicant has thought carefully
about the context of the development and how everyone, including disabled people, older people and very young children, will be able to use or
be affected by the place or development that they want to build.
The length of the statement will vary depending on the complexity of the proposal. Relatively simple proposals can be quite short whereas
complex developments that may be affected by a greater range of influences will need to be more comprehensive and detailed. The latter should
explain the evolution of the design, including sketches of the early iterations that led to the final design proposal.
In accordance with the DMPO, a Design and Access Statement must:
48







Explain the design principles and concepts that have been applied to the development.
Demonstrate the steps taken to appraise the context of the development and how the design of the development takes that context into
account.
Explain the policy adopted as to access, and how policies relating to access in relevant local development plan documents have been
taken into account.
State what, if any, consultation has been undertaken on issues relating to access to the development and what account has been taken of
the outcome of any such consultation.
Explain how any specific issues which might affect access to the development have been addressed.

In accordance with the Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Regulations, a Design and Access Statement accompanying an application for
Listed Building Consent shall explain:



Page 334



the design principles and concepts that have been applied to the works.
how the design principles and concepts that have been applied to the works take account of–
o the special architectural or historic importance of the building;
o the particular physical features of the building that justify its designation as a listed building; and
o the building’s setting.
Unless the proposed works only affect the interior of the building, how issues relating to access to the building have been dealt with,
including–
o Explain the policy adopted as to access, including what alternative means of access have been considered, and how policies
relating to access in relevant local development documents have been taken into account.
o Explain how the policy as to access takes account of:
 the special architectural or historic importance of the building;
 the particular physical features of the building that justify its designation as a listed building; and
 the building’s setting.
o State what, if any, consultation has been undertaken and what account has been taken of the outcome of any such consultation;
and
o Explain how any specific issues which might affect access to the building have been addressed.

Further information:





Planning portal advice
Design Council advice
Easy Access to Historic Buildings | Historic England
FC_WfW-Inclusive-Guide_FINAL_V03.pdf (wheelsforwellbeing.org.uk)
49

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.10 Designing Out Crime Statement (Contents page)
The Designing Out Crime Statement should detail how Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design principles are to be incorporated into
the development. This includes:








Access and Movement – places with quality connections and well-defined routes, that provide convenient movement without
compromising security
Structure – encouraging ‘active frontages’ and limiting access to private space
Surveillance – encouraging overlooking of public spaces by those who will take action should a crime be committed
Ownership – clearly defining where public space ends and private space begins and encouraging people to take ownership of their
environment
Physical Protection – ensuring buildings include appropriate physical measures to prevent crime
Activity – ensuring the level of human activity is appropriate to the location to reduce the risk of crime and increase perceptions of public
safety
Management and Maintenance – discouraging disorder by creating places that are well looked after with minimum cost implications.

Page 335

Further information:



Secured By Design
designersGuide_digital_0_0.pdf (designcouncil.org.uk)

Devon & Cornwall Police contact: ForceDOCOTeam@devonandcornwall.pnn.police.uk
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.11 Ecology Report (Contents page)
Applications for development that will adversely affect biodiversity must be accompanied by an Ecology Report, which must appraise the site
itself and adjacent land. It must be produced by a suitably qualified and licensed ecological consultant and include:








Desk study
Extended phase 1 habitat survey/Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
Phase 2 habitat survey (when advised by the ecologist)
Protected species surveys (when advised by the ecologist)
Assessment of importance of biodiversity features
Assessment of impacts (including on European sites)
Suite of measures following the mitigation hierarchy to avoid/mitigate/compensate impacts
50





Details of how these will be delivered
Details of biodiversity enhancements/net gain that will be provided using the latest national Biodiversity metric to ensure a minimum net
gain of 10%.
A scheme for monitoring the effectiveness of mitigation/compensation measures

Protected species surveys may need to be undertaken over an extended period prior to submission of any application and the results used to
inform the design of the development, as well as mitigation/compensation measures. Applicants and agents will need to comply with all relevant
legislation relating to protected species.
All reports must be up-to-date (see CIEEM guidelines on the Lifespan of Ecological Reports and Surveys) and produced by a suitably qualified
and licensed professional ecological consultant – they should be a member of the Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environmental
Management (CIEEM). If your professional ecological consultant considers that a report is not required, you may submit a letter from them
justifying why this is the case.
Further information:

Page 336







Planning and development: Protected sites and species - detailed information - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Natural environment - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Resource Hub | CIEEM
Habitats Mitigation - Exeter City Council
Wildlife assessment check - Exeter City Council

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.12 Ecology Report – Bats and Birds (Contents page)
Bat and bird survey reports must include: date of survey, methodology used, evidence found, assessment of impacts on protected species,
mitigation/compensation for impacts, details on how these will be delivered and a scheme for monitoring effectiveness of
mitigation/compensation. The necessary surveys may need to be undertaken over an extended period prior to submission of any application.
All reports must be up-to-date and produced by a suitably qualified and licensed professional ecological consultant. If your professional
ecological consultant considers that a report is not required, you may submit a letter from them justifying why this is the case.
Further information:



Bats: surveys and mitigation for development projects - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Wild birds: surveys and mitigation for development projects - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
51

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.13 Electronic Communications Network Development (Contents page)
Planning applications for mast and antenna development by mobile phone network operators should be accompanied by a range of
supplementary information including the area of search, details of any consultation undertaken, details of the proposed structure, technical
justification, and information about the proposed development along with evidence that all relevant masts-sharing and site-sharing opportunities
have been investigated.
Planning applications should also be accompanied by a signed declaration that the equipment and installation has been designed to be in full
compliance with the requirements of the radio-frequency public exposure guidelines of the International Commission on Non-Ionising Radiation
Protection (ICNIRP).
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.14 Environmental Statement (Contents page)

Page 337

An Environmental Statement (and non-technical summary) must be provided for any development that falls within Schedule 1 of the Town and
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (as amended), and for Schedule 2 projects that are likely to have
significant environmental effects. The Environmental Statement must be prepared by persons who, in the opinion of the Council, have sufficient
expertise to ensure the completeness and quality of the statement. The Environmental Statement must be accompanied by a statement setting
out how the requirement for sufficient expertise has been met.
Applicants/agents can seek a ‘screening opinion’ from the Council as to whether an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) is required. This is
best done at the pre-application stage. If an EIA is required, the Council can then carry out a ‘scoping opinion’ to identify the matters that the EIA
will need to address. The Environmental Statement must then be submitted with the application. If an EIA is not required, there is no further
action needed.
If a screening opinion is not sought before an application is submitted and it appears that the application is a Schedule 1 or 2 application, it will
still be validated and the planning case officer will undertake a screening opinion early in the application process. If the application requires an
EIA, the planning application process will stop until the Environmental Statement is provided.
In cases where an EIA is not required, environmental information may still need to be provided. See other sections of this guide.
Further information: Environmental Impact Assessment - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

52

4.15 Fire Statement (Contents page)
A Fire Statement is a statutory requirement for certain developments. The statement must explain the fire safety design principles, concepts and
standards that have been applied to the development. It must be written on a Fire statement form (publishing.service.gov.uk) (or a form
substantially to the same effect).
Fire Statements are required for full planning applications for 1 or more buildings 18 metres or more in height or with 7 or more storeys
comprising 2 or more dwellings or student accommodation (“a relevant building”). The height is to be measured from ground level to the top floor
surface of the top storey of the building (ignoring any storey which is a roof-top machinery or plant area or consists exclusively of machinery or
plant rooms). Any storey below ground level is to be ignored and any mezzanine floor is a storey if its internal floor area is at least 50% of the
internal floor area of the largest storey in the building which is not below ground level. A storey is treated as below ground level if any part of the
finished surface of the ceiling of the storey is below the ground level immediately adjacent to that part of the building.
Student accommodation refers to residential accommodation for students who are school boarders or attending higher education courses.

Page 338

“Ground level”, in relation to a building, means the level of the surface of the ground immediately adjacent to the building or, where the level of
the surface of the ground on which the building is situated or is to be situated is not uniform, the level of the lowest part of the surface of the
ground adjacent to it.
Further information:



Guidance: fire statement (publishing.service.gov.uk)
Fire safety and high-rise residential buildings (from 1 August 2021) - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.16 Flood Risk Assessment (Contents page)
A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) will be required if the proposed development falls within Flood Zones 2 or 3, or if the site is in Flood Zone 1 and
1 hectare or more.
The FRA should be produced using the Flood map for planning and Flood risk assessment for planning applications advice from the Environment
Agency, and the City Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA).
Within each flood zone, new development should be directed to sites with the lowest probability of flooding, as indicated by the SFRA.
New development should ideally be located within Flood Zone 1. However, if there is no reasonably available land within Flood Zone 1, and
development is proposed within Flood Zones 2 or 3, a Sequential Test shall be undertaken by the Council, using evidence provided by the
applicant and taking into account the flood vulnerability of the proposed development.
53

The FRA should identify and assess the risks of all forms of flooding to and from the development, and demonstrate how these flood risks will be
managed, taking climate change into account. The FRA should identify opportunities to reduce the probability and consequences of flooding. The
FRA should include the design of surface water management systems including Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS), and address the
requirement for safe access to and from the development in areas at risk of flooding.
Surface Water Management
All new developments must have an effective and robust surface water system which should not increase flood risk to adjacent properties or
land, and where possible should make improvements to reduce the risk of flooding.
When submitting and application, applicants must provide a surface water management plan, which demonstrates how surface water from the
development will be disposed of in a manner that does not increase flood risk elsewhere, in accordance with Sustainable Drainage Systems
(SuDS) principles. SuDS systems should be designed in accordance with local and national standards. Devon County Council, as the Lead Local
Flood Authority, is the statutory consultee for major developments with surface water drainage.

Page 339

Devon County Council has a requirement for monitoring of the groundwater for a period of 12 months when infiltration is proposed at a site. Due
to the longevity of this requirement, it is recommended that monitoring is commenced as early as possible. Further information can be found in
SuDS guidance - Flood Risk Management (devon.gov.uk).
Further information:








Flood risk assessments if you're applying for planning permission - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Preparing a flood risk assessment: standing advice - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Flood risk and coastal change - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Flood map for planning - GOV.UK (flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk)
Home - Flood Risk Management (devon.gov.uk)
Exeter City Council Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA)
Flood risk activities: environmental permits - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Environment Agency contact: DCISEnquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk
Devon County Council contact: floodrisk@devon.gov.uk
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

54

4.17 Green Infrastructure Statement (Contents page)
A Green Infrastructure Study (Phase 1) and a Green Infrastructure Strategy (Phase 2) were commissioned by East Devon District Council,
Exeter City Council, Teignbridge District Council and Natural England as part of their ongoing commitment to meeting the needs of new and
future communities and to general environmental protection and enhancement.
This Green Infrastructure work provides a framework for green infrastructure to be taken into account in planning for the significant amount of
new growth in the area.
Proposals should not harm the integrity of the strategic and local Green Infrastructure (GI) network, or diminish the value of existing key GI
assets. Where appropriate, the value of existing GI assets shall be enhanced, new assets created and connectivity improved between individual
assets. Particular emphasis should be placed on delivering high quality assets that provide multiple functions and benefits. Native species should
be used within new/enhanced green infrastructure.

Page 340

A Green Infrastructure Context Plan is required to identify the key GI opportunities for the development site and how they relate to the
surrounding area and the GI network. This plan presents the evidence base for the Green Infrastructure Masterplan and is informed by an
evaluation of the existing and potential assets and their roles and benefits.
A Green Infrastructure Masterplan is required to identify and define green infrastructure provision within the proposed development and how
these proposed GI assets connect to the wider GI network.
A Green Infrastructure Statement is required to explain how the proposal contributes to achieving the aims of the Green Infrastructure Strategy
and Nature Recovery Network/Local Nature Recovery Strategies (LNRS).
Further information:






Natural environment - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Home (naturalengland.org.uk) – Introduction to the Green Infrastructure Framework – Principles and Standards for England
Green Infrastructure Study
Green Infrastructure Strategy
Devon Nature Recovery Network - Devon Local Nature Partnership (devonlnp.org.uk)

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.18 Heritage Statement (Contents page)
A Heritage Statement is required for all development affecting heritage assets. The NPPF (2021) defines heritage asset as:

55

“A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning
decisions, because of its heritage interest. It includes designated heritage assets and assets identified by the local planning authority
(including local listing).”
Paragraph 194 of the NPPF (2021) states:
“In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets
affected, including any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and no
more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance. As a minimum the relevant historic
environment record should have been consulted and the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise where necessary. Where a
site on which development is proposed includes, or has the potential to include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, local planning
authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.”
Heritage Statements must therefore provide a description of the significance of the heritage assets affected, including the contribution made by
their setting. Any information gained from the Devon Historic Environment Record, together with the impact of the proposal, should be set out to
explain the design concept, in conjunction with the Design and Access Statement. It should detail the sources that have been considered and the
expertise that has been consulted.

Page 341

For listed building consent applications, a Heritage Statement should outline the historic importance of the building, and include:





the schedule of works;
an analysis of the significance of archaeology, history and character of the building/structure;
the principles of and justification for the proposed works; and
the impact of the proposed works on the historic fabric, the special character of the listed building or structure, its setting or the setting of
any adjacent listed buildings.

A structural survey may also be required.
Where the proposal includes total or substantial demolition of a listed building the statement should include:




condition of the building and cost of repair/maintenance in relation to the importance of the building and the value derived from continued
use;
efforts made to retain the building in use including open marketing at a realistic price; and
merits of alternative proposals for the site.

For substantial or total demolition in a conservation area, where a building or structure is positively contributing towards the character of a
conservation area, a Heritage Statement should include:
56





a structural survey outlining the condition of the building;
a written analysis of the character and appearance of the building/structure and the contribution it makes to the conservation area; and
justification for the proposed demolition and its impact on the special character of the area.

For applications either related to or impacting on the setting of heritage assets, depending on the scale of the application, it should include:




plans showing historic assets that may exist on or adjacent to the application site including listed buildings and structures, historic parks
and gardens, scheduled monuments and locally listed buildings;
an analysis of the significance of archaeology, history and character of the building/structure;
the principles of and justification for the proposed works, and their impact on the special character and setting of the heritage asset.

If previously unidentified heritage assets are found that are considered to be of architectural, artistic, archaeological or historic interest, their
significance will need to be judged. Information on the heritage assets will need to be sought from the historic environment record and the effect
of proposals on identified assets will need to be considered.

Page 342

For applications within or adjacent to a conservation area, the Heritage Statement should include an assessment of the impact of the
development on the character, appearance or setting of the area. Conservation area appraisals have been prepared by the Council and should
be referenced. New development will need to demonstrate that it preserves those aspects of the heritage setting that either enhance or make a
positive contribution towards the character or appearance of the conservation area.
Further information:






Government Guidance - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
Part 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework
Exeter City Council – listed buildings
Exeter City Council – conservation areas
Exeter City Council – Historic Environment Record

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.19 Land/Slope Stability Risk Assessment (Contents page)
Where any land instability is suspected or may occur in estuary areas or due to steep slopes, etc. a Land/Slope Stability Risk Assessment must
be undertaken for the development, which should be produced by a suitably qualified geotechnical, civil or structural engineer. The report may
assess local geology, the history of landslides, consider ground investigation, soil testing, slope stability analysis and reporting depending upon
the level of assessment needed.
57

Further information: Land stability - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.20 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) (Contents page)
A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) is required for development located within the Landscape Setting area, as shown on the
Local Plan First Review Proposals Map, unless the site is within a strategic allocation (Core Strategy Policy CP19), and for tall buildings, i.e. that
are significantly taller than the surrounding built environment. The former must take into account the Monitoring and evidence base - Exeter
Fringes Landscape Sensitivity and Capacity Study (2007) - Exeter City Council. The latter should be combined with the Heritage Statement,
where the proposal will have an impact on the setting of designated and/or non-designated heritage assets. The LVIA should take account of the
distance from the development, magnitude of impact, sensitivity of the viewers (e.g. a notable public viewpoint) and seasonal effects of screening
vegetation. LVIAs should be carried out by a suitably qualified landscape professional in accordance with latest good practice guidance, i.e.
Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment Third edition (GLVIA3) and Technical Guidance Note 06/19 ‘Visual Representation of
Development Proposals’.
Whilst major developments will require a full LVIA, a landscape and visual appraisal or technical note with photographs may be adequate for
smaller schemes.

Page 343

Landscape design should be considered at the outset as part of the overall scheme siting and design. It should successfully integrate a
sympathetic development with its surroundings and not be designed to screen a poor development. Hard and soft landscaping and building
design should be complementary. The design should allow sufficient space for the long-term retention of existing mature trees and hedgerows,
and for the planting of trees and hedges of appropriate size, allowing for their long-term growth.
Further information:




Visualisation of development | Landscape Institute
Natural environment - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Devon's landscape character assessment (DLCA) - Planning

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.21 Lighting Assessment (Contents page)
Proposals involving significant external lighting or that are within or adjoining an environmentally sensitive area (see section 3.0) require:




Details of lighting, including isoline drawings of lighting levels (in lux) and proposed mitigation
Proposed hours of lighting and means of control of lighting, e.g. timer, motion sensors, etc.
Layout plan with beam orientation
58



Schedule of the equipment used in the design

Further information: Light pollution - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.22 Noise Impact Assessment (Contents page)
Examples of applications which require a Noise Impact Assessment:



A demonstrably noisy form of development is proposed which has the potential to cause significant adverse noise impact, e.g. a proposed
new road or heavy industry.
A new development is proposed which would create significant potential for adverse noise impacts, either due to the proposed introduction
of noise sensitive development in a noisy location, or a potentially noisy use or activity in an area with noise sensitive development
nearby.

Page 344

Noise Impact Assessments should be based on physical measurement surveys rather than predictive modelling. It will normally be necessary to
confirm the noise emissions of proposed new plant and equipment, either from reliable manufacturers’ data or by undertaking measurements of
existing facilities elsewhere, rather than relying on the scene noise emissions.
Where the development involves residential uses affected by external noise, the assessment should include discussion of overheating
conditions. It should demonstrate good acoustic design, including achieving both sustainable acoustic comfort and sustainable thermal comfort.
The ANC/IoA guidance ‘Acoustics Ventilation and Overheating: Residential Design Guide’ Version 1.1 (January 2020) provides methods by
which the overheating assessment can be conducted (15126 ANC AVO Residential Design Guide_PRINT3.indd (association-of-noiseconsultants.co.uk)).
For the assessment of noise wholly or primarily from transport sources, the assessment should follow the ‘ProPG: Planning and Noise –
Professional Practice Guidance on Planning & Noise, New Residential Development’ (May 2017) (14720 ProPG Main Document.pdf
(ioa.org.uk)).
A Noise Impact Assessment should be prepared by a suitably qualified acoustician. The Institute of acoustics have a Find-A-Specialist service,
as do The Association of Noise Consultants | ANC (association-of-noise-consultants.co.uk).
Further information: Noise - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk
Exeter City Council contacts: environmental.health@exeter.gov.uk
59

4.23 Open Space/Recreation Assessment (Contents page)
Local Plan First Review saved Policy L3 protects open space from development, unless:





the loss of open space would not harm the character of the area; and
the open space does not fulfil a valuable recreational, community, ecological or amenity role; and
there is adequate open space in the area; or
the loss of open space is outweighed by its replacement in the area by open space of at least equivalent recreational, community,
ecological or amenity value (including in particular, the provision and enhancement of equipped play space).

This is consistent with paragraph 99 of the NPPF (2021):
Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless:

Page 345

a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or
b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and
quality in a suitable location; or
c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or
former use.

Accordingly, an Open Space/Recreation Assessment is required for applications for development on existing open space (public or private),
sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, to determine if the proposal complies with the above policies.
Further information:




Open space, sports and recreation facilities, public rights of way and local green space - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
156780.pdf (publishing.service.gov.uk) – Assessing needs and opportunities: a companion guide to PPG17
http://www.sportengland.org/playingfieldspolicy

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.24 Planning Statement (Contents page)
A planning statement identifies the context and need for a proposed development and includes an assessment of how the proposed
development accords with relevant national and local planning policies. It may also include details of consultations with the local planning
authority and wider community/statutory consultees undertaken prior to submission. Alternatively, a separate statement of community
involvement may be appropriate.

60

Where the application includes affordable housing in accordance with Core Strategy Policy CP7 and the NPPF (2021), the Planning Statement
should include a statement on the provision of affordable housing in the scheme, and the following information is required:





Number of residential units
Mix of units with numbers of habitable rooms and/or bedrooms and/or floor space
Plans showing the location of each such unit
If different levels or types affordability or tenure are proposed for different units, this should be clearly and fully explained

Any regeneration benefits of the proposed development should be included, such as:






Details of any new jobs that might be created or supported
Economic impacts (construction and occupation)
The relative floor space totals for each proposed use (where known)
Any community benefits (promoting healthy and safe communities)
Reference to any regeneration strategies that might lie behind or be supported by the proposal

Page 346

Further information:







National Planning Policy Framework - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Local Plan - Exeter City Council
Supplementary planning documents - Exeter City Council
Neighbourhood Planning - Exeter City Council
Devon Minerals Plan - Planning
Devon Waste Plan - Planning

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.25 Retail/Leisure Impact Assessment (Contents page)
Applications for retail or leisure developments outside the City Centre or the District and Local Centres listed in Appendix 6 of the Core Strategy
above the national threshold of 2,500 sq m gross floorspace must be accompanied by an impact assessment including an assessment of the
following:



Impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and private investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of
the proposal.
Impact of the proposal on city, district and local centre vitality and viability, including local consumer choice and trade in the centres.

61

The level and type of evidence and analysis required to address the key considerations should be proportionate to the scale and of the nature of
the proposal.
Further information:




Town centres and retail - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter Core Strategy
Exeter Local Plan First Review (Saved Policies)

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.26 Sequential Test Assessment (Contents page)
Applications for the following main town centre uses outside the City Centre or the District and Local Centres listed in Appendix 6 of the Core
Strategy that are not in accordance with the adopted development plan must be accompanied by a sequential test assessment:

Page 347






Retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory outlet centres)
Leisure, entertainment and more intensive sport and recreation uses (including cinemas, restaurants, drive-throughs, bars, pubs,
nightclubs, casinos, health and fitness centres, indoor bowling centres and bingo halls)
Offices
Arts, culture and tourism development (including theatres, museums, galleries and concert halls, hotels and conference facilities)

The assessment should identify any available sites (or sites expected to become available within a reasonable period) within the catchment of
the proposal located within or on the edge of a defined centre and assess their suitability for the proposal allowing for reasonable flexibility.
Where a suitable alternative site is available or expected to become available within a reasonable period, the application will be refused unless
there are other material considerations.
The scope of the assessment should be agreed with planning officers before submission.
Further information:




Town centres and retail - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter Core Strategy
Exeter Local Plan First Review (Saved Policies)

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

62

4.27 Statement of Community Involvement (Contents page)
Applications may need to be supported by a statement setting out how the views of the local community have been sought and taken into
account in the formulation of development proposals.
Further information: Before submitting an application - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.28 Structural Survey (Contents page)
A structural survey, carried out by a suitably qualified structural engineer, should be provided with listed building consent applications where the
application proposes partial demolition, significant alterations to the structure of the building or heavier floor loading, to ensure the structural
integrity of the building.
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

Page 348

4.29 Sustainability/Net Zero Carbon Statement (Contents page)
Applications for major development must be supported by a Sustainability/Net Zero Carbon Statement addressing Core Strategy Polices CP13,
CP14 and CP15, and the following paragraphs of the NPPF (2021):
“154. New development should be planned for in ways that:
a) avoid increased vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from climate change. When new development is brought forward in areas
which are vulnerable, care should be taken to ensure that risks can be managed through suitable adaptation measures, including
through the planning of green infrastructure; and
b) can help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as through its location, orientation and design. Any local requirements for the
sustainability of buildings should reflect the Government’s policy for national technical standards.
157. In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should expect new development to:
a) comply with any development plan policies on local requirements for decentralised energy supply unless it can be demonstrated by the
applicant, having regard to the type of development involved and its design, that this is not feasible or viable; and
b) take account of landform, layout, building orientation, massing and landscaping to minimise energy consumption.”
Policy CP13 deals with decentralised energy supply in the City. The areas where there are existing/proposed local energy networks are shown
on the Proposals Map to the Publication Version of the Development Delivery DPD (Emerging plans and guidance - Exeter City Council). In
these areas, major development must be designed and constructed to be able to connect to the decentralised energy network either now or in
the future if the network has not been completed.
63

Exeter City Council declared a climate emergency in July 2019. It aims to be a carbon neutral city by 2030. In response, Exeter City Futures
created a clear roadmap to carbon neutrality: the Net Zero Exeter 2030 Plan, which has been officially adopted by the Council. This document is
a material consideration for planning applications in the city.
Further information:






Climate change - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Local Plan - Core Strategy Development Plan Document - Exeter City Council
Emerging plans and guidance - Exeter City Council
Net Zero Exeter - Exeter City Futures
Net-Zero-Exeter-2030-Plan.pdf (exetercityfutures.com)

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk
Exeter City Futures: info@exetercityfutures.com

Page 349

4.30 Topographical Survey (Contents page)
Applications for development on sites with sloping land or with changes in levels will require a topographical survey to confirm the levels on and
around the site.
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.31 Transport Statement/Assessment and Framework Travel Plan (Contents page)
The coverage and detail of the Transport Statement/Assessment should reflect the scale of the development and the extent of the transport
implications of the proposal. For major proposals, it should illustrate accessibility to the site by all modes of transport, and the likely modal split of
journeys to and from the site. It should also give details of proposed measures to improve access by public transport, walking and cycling, to
reduce the need for parking associated with the proposal, and to mitigate transport impacts.
A Framework Travel Plan is also required outlining the way in which the transport implications of the new development will be managed in order
to minimise environmental, social and economic impacts. For schemes with a relatively small transport impact, a Transport Statement can be
submitted instead of a Transport Assessment and Framework Travel Plan, outlining the transport aspects of the application, assessing the
existing and proposed conditions, but without the detailed analysis of impact on the wider network.
Where a Transport Statement/Assessment is submitted, it must include Annual Average Daily Traffic flow (AADT) as well as peaks.

64

The scope of the Transport Statement/Assessment should be agreed with Devon County Council highways officers before submission. Where
the proposed development will also have an impact on the strategic road network, the scope should also be agreed with National Highways
before submission.
Further information:






Travel Plans, Transport Assessments and Statements - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
[Withdrawn] Guidance on transport assessment - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter Transport Strategy 2020-2030 & InnovaSUMP - Roads and transport (devon.gov.uk)
Supplementary planning documents - Sustainable Transport SPD - Exeter City Council
Cycle Infrastructure Design (publishing.service.gov.uk)

Devon County Council contact: Brian.Hensley@devon.gov.uk and alex.a.thomas@devon.gov.uk
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

Page 350

4.32 Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact Assessment (Contents page)
An arboriculturalist should undertake a survey and appraisal of trees on the application site and adjoining land and produce the following
information, consistent with standards set out in British Standard 5837:2012:





Trees to be felled and trees to be retained should be clearly marked out on a plan. An accompanying schedule should provide full
information on the amenity value of each tree together with details of species, size, age and condition.
A tree constraints plan should show root protection areas and the canopy spread of the tree(s) on the application site and adjoining land.
As well as trees, the survey must indicate key landscape features such as ponds, hedges and wildlife corridors that may be affected by
the proposed development. Trees to be felled and trees to be retained should be clearly marked. For larger applications it will also be
appropriate to provide details of the landscape strategy for the site, including indications of new native planting.
An arboricultural method statement should be provided detailing measures to be taken to protect trees shown to be retained on the
submitted drawings, accompanied by schedules of any necessary tree work and proposals for long-term maintenance.

If you are granted full planning permission, you will not need separate consent for tree works which are required to implement the planning
permission. However, to undertake any works which are not required to implement the planning permission, to protected trees or trees within a
conservation area, a tree works application must be made. You may also need a felling licence from the Forestry Commission.
Further information:




Exeter City Council Trees and Development Supplementary Planning Document
BS 5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction
Felling - Getting Permission
65




Ancient woodland, ancient trees and veteran trees: advice for making planning decisions - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Protected species and development: advice for local planning authorities - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.33 Ventilation and Extraction Equipment Details (Contents page)
Details of the position and design of the ventilation and extraction equipment, including odour abatement techniques and acoustic noise
characteristics, will be required to accompany all applications for the following uses:







restaurants and cafes – use for the sale of food and drink for consumption on the premises (Class E)
drinking establishments – use as a public house, wine bar or other drinking establishment (sui-generis)
hot food takeaways – use for the sale of hot food for consumption off the premises (sui-generis)
Offices, research and development, light industry (Class E)
General industry (Class B2)
Other development where substantial ventilation or extraction equipment is proposed to be installed

Page 351

Any ventilation or extraction systems should be marked on the relevant elevation drawings.
For commercial kitchens, a risk assessment should be completed and submitted with the application demonstrating the potential impact of the
proposal and the mitigation that will be used.
An Air Quality Assessment is likely to be required for non-kitchen emissions.
Further information: Nuisance smells: how councils deal with complaints - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk
Exeter City Council contacts: environmental.health@exeter.gov.uk

4.34 Viability Assessment (Contents page)
If an application does not offer the appropriate level of affordable housing as set out in Policy CP7 of the Core Strategy, a viability assessment is
required to show that meeting the policy requirement would make the development unviable. The assessment itself will be subject to a separate
appraisal by an assessor approved by the Council and paid for by the developer.
Further information:



Exeter City Council Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document
Exeter Core Strategy Development Plan Document
66

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

4.35 Waste Audit Statement (Contents page)
Waste Audit Statements are required in accordance with Policy W4 of the adopted Devon Waste Plan for major development proposals. A
template for carrying out a waste audit statement is contained within the SPD below at Appendix B.
Further Information:




Devon Waste Plan - Planning
Waste Management and Infrastructure SPD - Planning (devon.gov.uk)
National planning policy for waste - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Exeter City Council contacts: please call 01392 265223 or email planning@exeter.gov.uk

Page 352
67

Equality Impact Assessment: Local Validation List (June 2022)
The Equality Act 2010 includes a general duty which requires public authorities, in the exercise of their functions, to have due regard to the
need to:
Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act.
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and people who do not share it.
Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not

Page 353

In order to comply with the general duty, authorities must assess the impact on equality of decisions, policies and practices. These duties do
not prevent the authority from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the impacts on all
members of the community.
Authorities which fail to carry out equality impact assessments risk making poor and unfair decisions which may discriminate against particular
groups and worsen inequality.
Committee name and
date:

Executive
5 July 2022

Report title

Local Validation List

Decisions being
recommended:

That Executive formally adopts
the final Local List

People with protected
characteristics potentially
impacted by the decisions
to be made:
Gypsies and travellers, migrant
workers, asylum seekers, people
with disabilities and age related
conditions could potentially be
impacted, albeit the impacts are
low, both positive and negative
and can be mitigated.

The assessment
For each of the groups below, an assessment has been made on whether the proposed decision will have a positive, negative or
neutral impact. Where the impact is negative, a high, medium or low assessment is given. The assessment rates the impact of the
policy based on the current situation (i.e. disregarding any actions planned to be carried out in future).
High impact – a significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no mitigating measures in place etc.
Medium impact – some potential impact exists, some mitigating measures are in place, poor evidence
Low impact – almost no relevancy to the process, e.g. an area that is very much legislation led and where the Council has very little
discretion
Protected characteristic/ area of
interest

Page 354

Positive,
Negative
or Neutral
Impact
Negative

High,
Medium or
Low
Impact
Low

Disability: as defined by the Equality
Act – a person has a disability if they
have a physical or mental impairment
that has a substantial and long-term
adverse impact on their ability to carry
out normal day-to-day activities.
Sex/Gender

Positive

Low

Gender reassignment

Neutral

Religion and belief (includes no
belief, some philosophical beliefs such

Neutral

Race and ethnicity (including
Gypsies and Travellers; migrant
workers; asylum seekers).

Neutral

Reason

The Local List will be published on the Council’s website in accordance
with the statutory requirements meaning it may not be easily accessible
to people with limited access to the internet, although information on
applying for planning permission is currently published in this way. This
is legislation led. Hard copies of the document could be made available
to people on a request basis, which could be collected by hand or
posted.
The Local List has been written in accordance with the accessible
documents guide. It brings together the national and local requirements
for planning applications from various pieces of Government legislation
and best practice, making it easier to find out the requirements.
However, the impact is low because this information is already available
on the internet.
There is no evidence to suggest that the Local List would have a
potential impact on this characteristic.
There is no evidence to suggest that the Local List would have a
potential impact on this characteristic.
There is no evidence to suggest that the Local List would have a
potential impact on this characteristic.

Protected characteristic/ area of
interest

Page 355

as Buddhism and sects within
religions).
Sexual orientation (including
heterosexual, lesbian, gay, bisexual).
Age (children and young people aged
0-24; adults aged 25-50; younger
older people aged 51-75/80; older
people 81+; frail older people; people
living with age related conditions. The
age categories are for illustration only
as overriding consideration should be
given to needs).

Pregnancy and maternity including
new and breast feeding mothers
Marriage and civil partnership
status

Positive,
Negative
or Neutral
Impact

High,
Medium or
Low
Impact

Neutral
Negative

Neutral
Neutral

Low

Reason

There is no evidence to suggest that the Local List would have a
potential impact on this characteristic.
Planning applications are generally submitted by adults, some of whom
are older people who may have age related conditions. Older people
and adults with age related conditions might have limited access to the
internet and/or may find the document confusing. The impact is
considered low because the Local List does not make a significant
change to the current situation whereby the process of submitting
planning applications may already seem confusing to people with these
characteristics and the place where most information can be found in
this respect is the internet. In addition, the document aims to be a ‘onestop-shop’ for finding out how to submit planning applications and what
information is needed, which is also a positive impact.
There is no evidence to suggest that the Local List would have a
potential impact on this characteristic.
There is no evidence to suggest that the Local List would have a
potential impact on this characteristic.

Actions identified that will mitigate any negative impacts and/or promote inclusion
Whilst the Local List brings a lot of information into one place in an attempt to simplify the process of submitting planning applications, it is
understood that it may still be confusing to some user groups and difficult to access. To mitigate the former, it is intended to make
improvements to the Planning Services web page on the Council’s website to support these groups, for example by producing user guides for
the more common application types. In regard to the latter, a number of copies of the document will be printed on A4 and A3, and made
available to members of the public upon request who do not have, or have difficulty using, the internet.
Officer: Matthew Diamond, Assistant Service Lead – Development Management (Major Projects)
Date: 9 June 2022

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14
REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 5th July 2022

REPORT TO COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 19th July 2022
Report of: Deputy Chief Executive
Title: Proposed changes and re-procurement of outreach-led rough sleeping services

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1.

What is the report about?
The Council has been working with partners to co-produce how best to further improve
the effectiveness of its current commissioned outreach services which help to target and
reduce rough sleeping in the city. Following co-production with partners and a recent
successful funding bid to the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities
(DLUHC), the Council proposes to procure a remodelled service to better help meet the
needs of people rough sleeping in the city and those at risk of rough sleeping. The
remodelled service will merge the former Rough Sleeping Outreach Service (1), Housing
First Floating Support (2) and Navigator Service (3).
This particular remodelling project is one of a number of initiatives aimed at further
reducing rough sleeping and street-attached lifestyles in the city. It is designed to
complement other key activities under the Council’s Ending Rough Sleeping plan. As
such it is not intended as a standalone leading resolution to the issues of local rough
sleeping. It is one project in a number of work streams to follow that will form part of the
new Exeter homelessness and rough sleeping strategy (due Autumn 2022). It will join up
with the wider strategic work targeted under this strategy including the recommendations
arising from the recent ASB summits.
The principle reason for this report is due to the overall value of the contract to be
tendered exceeding £1M therefore requiring approval for entering the procurement
process.

2.

Recommendations:
That Executive recommends and Council approves:
2.1 That Exeter City Council undertakes a procurement process compliant with the
provisions of the Council’s Procurement and Contract procedures and the Public
Contracts Regulations 2015 in order to identify a provider to deliver a remodelled
homelessness and rough sleeping service; and

Page 357

2.2 That the Council enters into a contract with the successful tenderer

3.

Reasons for the recommendation:
Exeter City Council is committed to and shares the government’s vision of ending rough
sleeping. Additional funding, both capital, through the Next Steps Accommodation
Programme (NSAP) and the Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme (RSAP), and
revenue, through the Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI), have been made available to
support local authorities to achieve this goal. The Council has utilised all funding streams
in order to increase resources and assets to help the council to meet the challenge of
ending rough sleeping in the city.
The need to operate more flexible services as a result of the pandemic generated a
review and needs assessment with partner agencies. This led the Council and partners to
recommend and design a more flexible approach to the provision of frontline services to
better address rough sleeping and reduce recurrence of rough sleeping. To date services
have been procured and delivered individually. Rough sleepers commonly have contact
with the Rough Sleeping Assertive Outreach team, Housing First Support service and the
Navigator service. Whilst collaborative working exists, an opportunity has been identified
to introduce more flexibility across these services.
The proposed remodelled service will see all three above services being brought together
and operating as a remodelled homelessness and rough sleeping service. The new
provider will work with the Council to further reduce rough sleeping in the city and would
have the flexibility to enhance target delivery to where the need is.

4.

What are the resource implications including non-financial resources?
The annual contract cost is £638,000 with a total spend over the 30 month contract of
£1,619,419.
The contract will be fully funded through the Homelessness Prevention Grant and Rough
Sleeping Initiative Grant. £170,000 would come from the Homelessness Prevention
Grant and £468,000 from Rough Sleeping Initiative Grant.

5.

Section 151 Officer Comments:
The funds are available in the approved budget to fund the contract. The purpose of the
report is to seek approval for entering into a procurement process and ultimately to award
a contract in line with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Council’s
Procurement and Contract procedures.

6.

What are the legal aspects?
All Contracts let by the Council must comply with the Council’s Procurement and Contract
procedures set out in the Constitution which state all contracts with a Contract Value
exceeding £1,000,000 must be authorised by Executive Committee and Full Council and
tendered and advertised on the open market. All procurement processes must also
comply with the provisions of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.

Page 358

7.

Monitoring Officer’s comments:
The Deputy Monitoring Officer has no additional comments.
Simon Copper (Deputy Monitoring Officer)

8.

Report details:
The remodelled outreach-led rough sleeping service will provide increased capacity and a
more flexible service to meet the needs of rough sleepers in the city and to provide
preventative support to people at risk of homelessness and early intervention to those
who are at risk of repeat episodes of rough sleeping. The service will need to operate 7
days a week with an emergency service offer during evenings and at weekends.
Working on the Department of Levelling Up, Communities and Housing’s (DLUCH) four
key pillars to ending rough sleeping, prospective providers will need to demonstrate that
they are able to deliver the following interventions:PREVENTION (Preventing homelessness and rough sleeping for the first time)






Identify vulnerable adults who are at risk of losing their settled accommodation and
preventing them from becoming homeless. Prospective providers will be expected to
engage and accept nominations from the Housing Needs Service, The Substance
Misuse Service, Royal Devon and Exeter Hospital, Social Housing Providers and
Private Rented Landlords.
To provide support to ensure that the individual is signposted to appropriate support
that meets their needs. Engaging with landlords to address issues around arrears,
ASB and prevent homelessness.
Provide regular reporting on the service and achievements

INTERVENTION (Providing support for rough sleepers and assertively assist to
move away from the streets)
Assist the City Council in meeting its target of zero rough sleepers by the end of 2024.
This will be achieved through:









Providing regular outreach across the City to identify and verify people rough
sleeping in the city including 6 weekly City wide outreach sessions conducted to
official rough sleeping count guidance.
supporting rough sleepers to access healthcare services including mental health
support, general practitioner support, drug and alcohol support
undertaking assessments on the street and in placed-based services with rough
sleepers and people at risk of rough sleeping
identifying rough sleepers individual support needs and to make referrals to the
‘Access 2 Accommodation Panel’ to identify accommodation services which best
meet individuals needs
To adopt a Trauma Informed, strengths based and person centred approach to
ensure that no one makes the street their home.
To adopt an assertive approach that ensures no one makes the street their home
To work with people who are engaged in street homelessness activities (begging and
street drinking) and support to access support services and work with police and
council to address behaviour that is detrimental to the individual.

Page 359





To provide monthly and quarterly reporting that meets all DLUCH requirements and
the annual rough sleeper count.
To oversee periods of severe weather in line with ECC Severe Weather Emergency
Protocol (SWEP).
To update caseload information of all rough sleepers on ECC client information
system

RECOVERY (Supporting rough sleepers in accommodation to maintain their
housing and reduce episodes of repeat rough sleeping)








to provide support to the ‘Off the Streets Placements’ for rough sleepers consisting of
4 Emergency Pods and to take on the lease and management of ‘The Junction’
which is a 4 bed HMO currently leased by the Council.
To oversee referrals from the street into ‘Off the Streets’ Placements (Emergency
Accommodation for rough sleepers). Supporting clients to access the provision and
working with the provider to provide additional support whilst alternative
accommodation is sourced through the Supported Accommodation Pathway.
To identify former rough sleepers who are at risk of losing their accommodation
placements and provide early intervention services.
To reduce episodes of repeat rough sleeping through early intervention, support to
engage with services, support to engage with health services etc.
To provide a Housing First Support Service- supporting 15 people already
accommodated in Housing First Tenancies and work with ECC and Registered
Social Landlords (RSLs) to expand the Housing First Service over the coming years.

SYSTEM (To work with the City Council and other partners to co-produce
principles that are Trauma-Informed and strengths based that can be adopted
across the Homeless Sector)




To work with the Council to deliver against targets set with DLUCH and to end rough
sleeping in the city by the end of 2024
To work with the Council to deliver against its Homelessness and Rough Sleeping
Strategy
To work with the Council and other providers to co-produce a suite of Policies and
Principles which highlight best practice that can be adopted across homelessness
services. To ensure that services are helping people to move forward with their lives
with the best possible support.

The service will ensure rough sleepers in the city and people at risk of rough sleeping are
well informed with choice and control over the advice, support and opportunities they can
access in areas of health and wellbeing, housing, financial and social inclusion.
Many people who are rough sleeping have high levels of complex needs; mental health
problems, drug and alcohol dependencies, and institutional experiences are common
factors. The longer someone sleeps rough the greater the risk that physical and mental
health problems will worsen. Rough sleeping is costly to society as a whole; rough
sleepers are likely to have more frequent and sustained contact with public services
compared to other citizens.

9.

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?
The service will contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan in the following areas:-

Page 360



Building great neighbourhoods - By tackling social inequality through maximising
homelessness preventions and reliefs and through maintaining and developing
emergency, first and second stage housing options with suitable personalised
support to address single and multiple need.



Promoting active and healthy lifestyles - Supporting households to access key health
and advocacy services in primary and secondary healthcare services including
mental health assessment and support, physical and social care, and education,
training and employment opportunities.



Tackling congestion and accessibility - By extending access to homelessness &
housing support services by extending our reach into the community through
outreach and co-location and by developing multiple access points to advice and
assistance

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?
The primary risk is without the services being enhanced there will not be additional
capacity to provide emergency cover during evenings and weekends. This remodelled
service will mitigate against that risk and be better able to adapt to meet need.
The secondary risk is limited local market interest to provide the service. This risk has
been mitigated by substantive co-production with partners currently delivering the
services. Partners have expressed interest in continuing to deliver remodelled services
on behalf of the Council.

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)
The remodelled service will be inclusive and will work with people who are rough sleeping
on the streets of Exeter or at risk of homelessness regardless of who they are or where
they come from.

12. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:
No direct carbon/environmental impacts arising from the recommendations.

13. Are there any other options?
One option is that the services stay the same and the Council procure services
individually. The key issue with this approach is that the Council and rough sleepers
would not benefit from the additional capacity and flexible approach that is needed to
further reduce rough sleeping in the city.
The other option is that the service is provided in-house. The key challenge with this
approach is the loss of expertise and independent approach from current providers. It
should also be noted that a number of rough sleepers are mistrustful of statutory services
and may not engage with the service. The Council does not have the market expertise or
capacity to call on additional staff that the voluntary sector has. Providers can provide
added value from charitable funds and non-statutory funds to increase capacity into the
service which would not otherwise be available to the Council.
Deputy Chief Executive, Bindu Arjoon

Page 361

Author: Chris Stocks

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:1) Rough Sleeping Outreach Service – Council funded service to work exclusively with people
rough sleeping in Exeter. The team verify rough sleepers during early morning outreach
sessions. The team signpost, assess, provide advice and support to relieve homelessness.
2) Housing First Floating Support – Council funded service providing high support to former
rough sleepers living in Council tenancies. ‘Housing First’ is an internationally recognised
model towards providing housing for people who experience complex lives.
3) Navigator Service – Council funded service, providing intensive support from the streets and
into accommodation for people with multiple needs (substance misuse, mental health, criminal
activity, physical health problems).

Contact for enquires:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 4.36
01392 265275

Page 362

Equality Impact Assessment: Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Services
The Equality Act 2010 includes a general duty which requires public authorities, in the exercise of their functions, to have due regard to the
need to:
Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act.
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and people who do not share it.
Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not

Page 363

In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on equality of decisions, policies and practices. These duties do
not prevent the authority from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the impacts on all
members of the community.
Authorities which fail to carry out equality impact assessments risk making poor and unfair decisions which may discriminate against particular
groups and worsen inequality.
Committee
name and
date:
Executive Committee
5th July 2022
Council on 19 July 2022

Report Title

Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Services

Decisions being
recommended:
Executive recommend to Council
to approve the decision to
proceed with procurement to
identify a suitable provider to
deliver a remodelled
homelessness and rough
sleeping service.

People with protected characteristics
potentially impacted by the decisions
to be made:
None

Factors to consider in the assessment: For each of the groups below, an assessment has been made on whether the proposed
decision will have a positive, negative or neutral impact. This is must be noted in the table below alongside brief details of why this
conclusion has been reached and notes of any mitigation proposed. Where the impact is negative, a high, medium or low
assessment is given. The assessment rates the impact of the policy based on the current situation (i.e. disregarding any actions
planned to be carried out in future).
High impact – a significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no mitigating measures in place etc.
Medium impact –some potential impact exists, some mitigating measures are in place, poor evidence
Low impact – almost no relevancy to the process, e.g. an area that is very much legislation led and where the Council has very
little discretion
Protected characteristic/ area of
interest

Page 364

Race and ethnicity (including
Gypsies and Travellers; migrant
workers; asylum seekers).

Positive
or
Negative
Impact
Positive

Disability: as defined by the Equality
Act – a person has a disability if they
have a physical or mental impairment
that has a substantial and long-term
adverse impact on their ability to carry
out normal day-to-day activities.

Positive

Sex/Gender

Positive

High,
Medium or
Low
Impact

Reason

The proposed new service will be fully inclusive and will work with
anyone on the streets regardless of sex, disability, ethnicity, gender or
religion. Our service is there to engage with all and support to access
housing or prevent homelessness. Whilst options are reduced for
people with no recourse to public funds the service will identify a
pathway to support the individual away from making the streets their
home.
A large number of rough sleepers will suffer from mental health
problems. The new service will work closely with the newly established
DPT Homeless Mental Health Team, based at CoLab, to ensure that
where mental health is a barrier to accessing accommodation and
support that people are signposted and supported to access appropriate
support. This team will also be responsible for making appropriate
safeguarding referrals when this necessitates further action.
The proposed new service will be fully inclusive and will work with
anyone on the streets regardless of sex, disability, ethnicity, gender or
religion. Our service is there to engage with all and support to access
housing or prevent homelessness. The service will be responsible for
signposting to further services if needed.

Protected characteristic/ area of
interest
Gender reassignment

Positive
or
Negative
Impact
Neutral

High,
Medium or
Low
Impact

Reason

There is no evidence to suggest that the new service would have a
potential impact on this characteristic.

Page 365

Religion and belief (includes no
belief, some philosophical beliefs such
as Buddhism and sects within
religions).
Sexual orientation (including
heterosexual, lesbian, gay, bisexual).

Neutral

There is no evidence to suggest that the new service would have a
potential impact on this characteristic.

Neutral

There is no evidence to suggest that the new service would have a
potential impact on this characteristic.

Age (children and young people aged
0-24; adults aged 25-50; younger
older people aged 51-75/80; older
people 81+; frail older people; people
living with age related conditions. The
age categories are for illustration only
as overriding consideration should be
given to needs).
Pregnancy and maternity including
new and breast feeding mothers

Neutral

There is no evidence to suggest that the new service would have a
potential impact on this characteristic.

Neutral

There is no evidence to suggest that the new service would have a
potential impact on this characteristic.

Marriage and civil partnership
status

Neutral

There is no evidence to suggest that the new service would have a
potential impact on this characteristic.

Actions identified that will mitigate any negative impacts and/or promote inclusion

Officer: Chris Stocks
Date: 07.06.2022

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 15
REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 5 July 2022

REPORT TO COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 19 July 2022
Report of: Electoral Registration Officer and Returning Officer
Title: Implications of the Elections Act 2022

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1.

What is the report about?
This report concerns the implementation of the Elections Act 2022, which received Royal
Assent on 28 April 2022, and the potential impact on budgets and resources.

2.

Recommendations:
1. For members to note the report and consider specific implications as and when further
legislation is brought into force, over the next six to eighteen months.
2. To approve a supplementary budget up to £50,000 for the 2022/23 financial year, and
potential future budgetary requirements, to meet the immediate demands of the Act.

3.

Reasons for the recommendation:
To meet the statutory requirements of the new Act and ensure that the Electoral
Registration Officer and Returning Officer are sufficiently resourced to ensure
compliance.

4.

What are the resource implications including non financial resources?
It is estimated that:-

-

There would be an initial budgetary requirement of £40k set up costs this year. (Initial
rush for ID plus polling equipment and accessibility purchased ready)
There could be up to £49k ongoing costs for 23/24 (business as usual for ID cards
and polling station staffing plus all the other activities – postal vote activities are just
likely to be business as usual from the outset, so may not require a start-up amount)
That there could be £23k set up costs for 23/24 (EU citizen and overseas are likely to
require an initial big effort and will then peter out to business as usual in 24/25)
That there could be a further £9k ongoing costs for 24/25

This includes an additional resource of a temporary member of electoral services staff. It
should be noted that the Government have indicated that some grant funding will be

Page 367

available but the level of this is unknown at present. This will have an impact on the level
of resource which the Council will need to provide.

5.

Section 151 Officer comments:
The additional cost pressures indicated in the report are noted and Members should be
aware that as this is an ongoing pressure, further reductions will be required unless the
Government fully funds the ongoing costs associated with the measures. There is a “new
burdens” agreement between Central and Local Government whereby the Government
promise to fully fund additional burdens on the sector – however this is often done at
national level and there will invariably be winners and losers.
In the short term, the immediate ask of a one-off £50,000 budget will have to be taken
from reserves (unless the funding is made available by the Government). The ongoing
costs will be added to the Medium Term Financial Plan along with any additional funding
identified.

6.

What are the legal aspects?
To comply with the Elections Act 2022 and subsequent secondary legislation in the form
of Regulations and to ensure that the Council meets its obligation (under section 54 of the
Representation of the People Act 1983) to provide sufficient resources to the Electoral
Registration Officer.

7.

Monitoring Officer’s comments:
The Council has an obligation to comply with the Elections Act 2022 and subsequent
secondary legislation in the form of Regulations and to ensure that the Council meets its
obligation (under section 54 of the Representation of the People Act 1983) to provide
sufficient resources to the Electoral Registration Officer.
(John Street– Deputy Monitoring Officer)

8.

Report details:
This report concerns the implementation of the Elections Act 2022, which received Royal
Assent on 28 April 2022, and the potential impact on budgets and resources. Details of
the various elements of the requirements are contained in Appendix A to this report,
where officers have also estimated the implications, costs and resources required. It
should be noted that various parts of the Act will be implemented over a period of time,
with the first being implemented by December 2022.
It should be noted that this is a worst case scenario as to the potential budgetary
implications, as the Government has indicated that it would assist fund the additional
budgetary burdens placed on local authorities. However, no such confirmation has yet
been received as to the level of this funding and so the Council has to make such plans
as necessary to ensure it meets its obligations, the first of which has an implementation
date of December 2022.

9.

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?
To ensure an open and accessible Council is achieved and the democratic process is
facilitated in accordance with legislative requirements.

Page 368

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?
The risks are that legal action may result if the legislative requirements are not met, which
would result in additional costs and a loss of reputation for the Council. These risks can
be mitigated by ensuring that appropriate resources are put in place, in good time.

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)
11.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equalities Duty, decision makers are required to
consider the need to:




eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct;
advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking
account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and
foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting
understanding.

11.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on
equality of decisions, policies and practices. These duties do not prevent the authority
from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals
that consider the impacts on all members of the community.
11.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex
and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and
new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a
decision.
11.4 The report is for information only as statutory requirements will be placed upon the
Electoral Registration Officer and Returning Officer.

12. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:
There are no direct carbon/environmental impacts arising from the recommendations.

13. Are there any other options?
There are no other options, the legislation must be complied with.
Electoral Registration and Returning Officer, John Street
Author: John Street Electoral Registration and Returning Officer.

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:None
Contact for enquires:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 4.36
01392 265275

Page 369

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

Elections Act 2022 Summary
Item

Expected Date of
Implementation

First Election
Likely to be
Affected

Consequences

Potential Costs

Elector ID

December 2022

May 2023

Electors will have to show an
approved form of photo
identification before voting.
If they cannot provide one of the
required forms of identification as
set out in legislation, they will be
able to apply for a free Voter Card
from their ERO.

2,000 cards @2.00

Page 371

Current research is suggesting that
around 2% of people may require
identification issued by the ERO –
for Exeter this translates to
approximately 2,000 people.
However, the figure could be much
higher than this and there is
nothing preventing a person who
already has an acceptable form of
photo ID applying for a voter card.
The deadline to apply for a voter
card is expected to be 5pm on the
day prior to polling day – this will
present challenges in getting late
applicants ID to them prior to
voting the next day.
Elector will be able to choose to
apply online, by post or in person.
There will be a facility to provide a
temporary card.
The deadline will be 5pm on the
day before polling day.
Polling Station staff will need to
record the ID provided and keep

Total

Initial Yr 1
Ongoing
Set up costs Costs from
22/23
22/23
£4,000.00
£4,000

2,000 Applications
@30 mins = 1,000
hrs @£13.00/hr.

£13,000.00

Additional Polling
Station Staff
55@£160.00 plus
55@£50 training

£11,550.00

Initial Yr 1 Set
up costs
23/24

Ongoing costs
from 23/24
£2,000.00

£13,000

£5,000.00

£0

£11,550.00

Ongoing costs
from 24/25

Item

Expected Date of
Implementation

First Election
Likely to be
Affected

Consequences

Potential Costs

records of who was refused a vote
because of a lack of ID.

A4 poll cards est.
additional
£5,000.00

£5,000.00

Additional
Equipment
£150x55

£8,250.00

£6,000.00

£2,250.00

Total
£41,800.00

£23,000.00

£25,800.00

£16,500.00

£16,500.00

£6,500.00

Poll cards will be A4 size

Although requirements for the gender
will not be specified in regulations,
electors may wish to request a specific
gender poll clerk to view their
photographic identification; this
request should be met if there is a
female poll clerk available and ROs
may wish to consider their staffing
arrangements for polling stations,
however it will not be a mandatory
requirement.

Total

Initial Yr 1
Set up costs
22/23

Ongoing
Costs from
22/23

Initial Yr 1 Set Ongoing costs
Ongoing costs
up costs
from 23/24
from 24/25
23/24
£0
£5,000.00

Page 372

Facilities will be necessary to carry out
some ID checks in private, wither by
the use of another room, or behind a
privacy screen.
Proxy voters will need to provide their
own ID or apply for a Voter ID Card.

Accessibility

May 2023

ROs will have a general
responsibility to take all reasonable
steps to support voters with
disabilities. The Electoral
Commission will be providing
guidance on what measures ROs
can look to put in place for their
area.
The provisions for voters to be
assisted by a companion will be
extended to allow anyone over the
age of 18 to assist.
In order to take all reasonable
steps to support voters with
disabilities through supplying

Equipment
£300.00 per
polling station
(55)

Additional storage
may be required.

Item

Expected Date of
Implementation

First Election
Likely to be
Affected

Consequences

Page 373

appropriate equipment and
adaptations – the RO needs to
consult and engage with other
council departments and key
stakeholders who are best placed
to inform on what practical steps
can be taken.
Assistance from departments such
as equalities and access officers,
who have expertise in what
measures would be helpful to put
in place will be required at the
earliest opportunity.
In addition, it would be sensible to
consult and engage with local
disability groups to form
constructive working relationships
and feed their expert opinions into
what support is required within
our area.

Absent
Voting
Postal Vote
Handling

May 2023

Political parties and campaigners
will be banned from handling
postal votes. There will also be a
limit on the number of postal votes
a person can hand in at polling
stations (limit will be set out in
secondary legislation).
When a person hands in postal
votes at the polling station, they
will be required to fill in a form
with their details and the details of
the elector on whose behalf they
are handing in the postal vote. If
they do not fill in the form, the
votes will be rejected. If a person
attempts to hand in more than the
limit, they will be advised of the
new rules and only allowed to
hand in the limited number. If a
person seeks to hand in more than
the permitted number in one
attempt they will all be rejected.

Potential Costs

Total

Total
£16,500.00

Initial Yr 1
Set up costs
22/23

£16,500.00

Ongoing
Costs from
22/23

Initial Yr 1 Set
up costs
23/24

Ongoing costs
from 23/24

£6,500.00

Ongoing costs
from 24/25

Item

Expected Date of
Implementation

First Election
Likely to be
Affected

Consequences

Potential Costs

Total

Initial Yr 1
Set up costs
22/23

Ongoing
Costs from
22/23

Initial Yr 1 Set
up costs
23/24

Ongoing costs
from 23/24

The person handing in postal vote
packs at a polling station will be
required to fill in the same form
whether handing in their own
postal vote pack only, handing in
the postal votes of other voters, or
handing in both their own and
others’ postal vote packs. The
person will indicate on the form
whether they are handing in their
own postal vote only or also on
behalf of other voters.

Absent
Voting
Applications

January 2024

May 2024

Page 374
Online
Absent Vote
Applications
and
Verification

July 2023

May 2024

Postal voters will need to make a
fresh application every three years.
Currently, electors are required to
refresh their signature every 5
years.
The application process for absent
voters will include a process for
verifying identity, in a similar way
to individual registration.
Electors will be allowed to act as
proxy for no more than four
people, of which no more than two
can be ‘domestic’ electors (i.e. not
overseas or service electors).

Printing and
postage 2250 @
£1.00

Electors will be able to apply for an
absent vote online (as well as by
paper). Both online and paper
applications will include a process for
verifying the applicant’s identity,
which will be similar to the current
process for individual electoral
registration applications.

Online applications
may encourage 20%
more applications

Absent vote applicants using the
online service will continue to be
required to supply their personal
identifiers (date of birth and a
handwritten signature) as part of a
postal vote application, to be matched
against the personal identifiers they

Additional
processing
2,250@5 mins =
187.5 hrs
@£13.00 ph.

3,000 @ £0.75
Additional
Processing
3,000 x 5mins
@£13.00 ph (250
hrs)

£2,250.00

£0

£2,250.00

£2,437.50

£0

£2437.50

Total
£4,687.50

£0

£4,687.50

£2,250.00

£0

£2,250.00

£3,250.00

£0

£3,250.00

Ongoing costs
from 24/25

Item

Expected Date of
Implementation

First Election
Likely to be
Affected

Consequences

Potential Costs

submit on their postal vote statement
which accompanies the ballot paper
when voting. Users will be asked to
take a picture of their signature and
upload it to the online service. EROs
will retain the signature (and date of
birth) so that it can be used to verify
completed postal voting statements
that are returned with postal vote
ballots.

Additional issue and
opening costs

Page 375

The process of uploading an image of
a handwritten signature has already
been tested with a range of users and
it has proven to be an accessible and
efficient way to roll out the online
service. However, should a user be
unable to upload a picture of their
signature or otherwise complete their
application, they will have the option
to download their application form as
is, to print it, add their signature and
return it to their local ERO.
The new identity verification process
for absent vote applications in Great
Britain will apply to paper applications
as well as applications made online.
The information an elector will need
to provide will likely be very similar to
the requirements for registration
applications, whereby an applicant
provides their National Insurance
number which is matched against
Department of Work and Pensions
(DWP) data. There will also be an
‘exceptions’ process for electors to
follow if they are unable to provide a
National Insurance number or cannot
be verified through such data
matching. EROs will have the power to
request further information, including
(if necessary) requesting an identity
attestation from another registered
elector.
The exceptions process will likely be

PV issued
3,000 @£1.00
PV returned
2,000 @£1.00
Staff costs issue
3x£340
Staff costs open 2x
£340.00

Total

Initial Yr 1
Set up costs
22/23

Ongoing
Costs from
22/23

Initial Yr 1 Set
up costs
23/24

Ongoing costs
from 23/24

£3,000.00

£0

£3,000.00

£2,000.00

£0

£2,000.00

£1,020.00
£680.00

£0
£0

£1,020.00
£680.00

Ongoing costs
from 24/25

Item

Expected Date of
Implementation

First Election
Likely to be
Affected

Consequences

Potential Costs

similar to the exceptions process for
registration applications, which
involves the ERO requesting
documentary evidence from the
applicant in order to verify their
identity. The applicant may be
required to submit copies of one or
more documents, depending on
availability, such as a passport,
photocard driving licence, birth
certificate, or marriage or civil
partnership certificate.

Page 376

EU Citizens
Voting &
Candidacy
Rights

June 2023

May 2024

EU citizens will no longer
automatically be able to register to
vote, vote, and stand for election.
Two groups of EU citizens will retain
their rights:
• ‘qualifying EU citizens’ from
countries with reciprocal agreements,
and who have leave, or do not require
it, to remain in the UK. Currently
Luxembourg, Poland, Portugal and
Spain.
• ‘EU citizens with retained rights’
who were resident in the UK before 1
January 2021

Total

Total
£12,200.00

4,500 x 20 mins x
£13.00 ph

Initial Yr 1
Set up costs
22/23

Ongoing
Costs from
22/23

Initial Yr 1 Set
up costs
23/24

Ongoing costs
from 23/24

Ongoing costs
from 24/25

£12,200.00

£0

£19,500.00

£19,500.00

£7,500.00

Total
£19,500.00

£19,500.00

£7,500.00

(1500 hrs)

Does not affect Irish, Maltese and
Cypriot citizens
EROs will need to review existing EU
electors, and process applications in
line with new eligibility criteria (from
June 2023). As yet the process for the
review is still in development and we
are awaiting more details.

Item

Expected Date of
Implementation

First Election
Likely to be
Affected

Consequences

Potential Costs

Overseas
Electors

July 2023

May 2024
(UKPGE)?

The 15-year limit on voting rights for
British citizens living overseas will be
removed.
Overseas electors will be able to
register at an address where they
were previously registered, or if they
were never previously registered,
where they were last resident.
The registration period will be
increased to three years (currently
required to renew every year), and
renewals will be linked to a fixed point
of 1 November. This is intended to
now tie in with the new three-yearly
cycle for absent vote applications.

400 x 30mins x
£13.00 ph
(200 hrs)

Page 377

The number of people who qualify as
overseas electors could triple. This
would mean up to 500 electors and
possibly more in the approach to a
UKGPE.

PCC
Elections

May 2023

Postage
400 x £2.00

Total

Initial Yr 1
Set up costs
22/23

Ongoing
Costs from
22/23

Initial Yr 1 Set
up costs
23/24

Ongoing costs
from 23/24

Ongoing costs
from 24/25

£2,600.00

£2,600.00

£1,500.00

£800.00

£800.00

£300.00

Total
£3,400.00

£3,400.00

£1,800.00

Introduction of First Past The Post
system
£98,087.50

£39,500.00

£0

£22,900.00

£49,187.50

£9,300.00

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 16
REPORT TO EXECUTIVE
Date of Meeting: 5th July 2022

REPORT TO COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 19th July 2022
Report of: Director Finance
Title: Former Exeter Bus Station

Is this a Key Decision?
No

Is this an Executive or Council Function?
Council

1.

What is the report about?
This report seeks funding to advance the demolition of the former Exeter Bus Station
building in preparation for interim uses to be brought forward before the wider
regeneration of the CityPoint site.

2.

Recommendations:
That Executive recommends and Council approves:
2.1 The provision of the sum of £900,000 for the purpose of funding the demolition of the
former Exeter Bus Station.

3.

Reasons for the recommendation:
A number of schemes for the interim use of the building and the surrounding areas have
been considered but not substantively advanced. It is felt that it will be easier to deliver
positive interim uses of the land once the existing building have been removed. This
course of action will also remove a significant constraint on future redevelopment of the
wider CityPoint site and should accelerate delivery of the Liveable Exeter aspirations for
the site.

4.

What are the resource implications including non financial resources?
A new budget will need to be put in place to deliver a demolition project. Ongoing
spending on hoardings and security would, however, not be required.
Demolition should have the effect of increasing the value of the Council’s site as part of
the overall CityPoint site so the potential will be created to enhance the returns from the
redevelopment scheme as a whole.

Page 379

5.

Section 151 Officer comments:
Whether an alternative asset is delivered in conjunction with the demolition will determine
whether this is a capital or revenue scheme. As such therefore, there are two options
being developed to fund the scheme. A bid is being made to the Government’s Levelling
Up Fund to demolish and replace the Bus Station with some “meanwhile” uses until the
longer-term scheme can be delivered. If this bid is successful then the demolition will be
funded from Capital Grant. Alternatively, the demolition will be funded from the excess
income generate from our recent acquisition of the Guildhall Shopping Centre. As this is
a regeneration project it falls under the permitted uses of this income.

6.

What are the legal aspects?
There are no identified legal issues to raise at this stage.

7.

Monitoring Officer’s comments:
The Deputy Monitoring Officer has no additional comments.
(Simon Copper – Deputy Monitoring Officer)

8.

Report details:
Members will be aware that the new bus station has now been operational for some time
and that bus and coach operations have now been fully relocated from the former Bus
Station site. The temporary use of the upper and lower aprons during the construction of
St. Sidwell’s Point have also come to an end. The opportunity has therefore arisen to
bring forward demolition of the redundant facility. This will allow the City Council to have a
cleared site on which to introduce a range of “meanwhile” uses to animate the area
adjoining the new leisure centre and will deliver the removal of a significant constraint to
the future redevelopment of the wider CityPoint site.
The alternative approach will be to hoard and mothball the site. This is estimated to cost
around £150,000 as an upfront hoarding and CCTV costs with ongoing security costs of
£20,000 per annum and the continuing rates liability. This would also prevent our being
able to explore the full range of meanwhile uses whilst the CityPoint scheme moves
forward.

9.

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan?
The demolition of the existing buildings will bring forward possibilities for increasing the
range of activities in the city centre and adjoining the new leisure centre as well as taking
a significant step towards preparing the CityPoint site for redevelopment.

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced?
In the current construction industry climate it is difficult to confidently estimate costs so we
might find the estimated cost to be insufficient. This risk cannot at this stage be mitigated
fully but we will need to engage proactively with the market to seek to deliver the project
within budget.

Page 380

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)
11.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equalities Duty, decision makers are required to
consider the need to:




eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct;
advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking
account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and
foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting
understanding.

11.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on
equality of decisions, policies and practices. These duties do not prevent the authority
from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals
that consider the impacts on all members of the community.
11.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that
decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex
and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and
new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a
decision.
11.4 In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people
with protected characteristics as determined by the Act because the operational transport
function of the facility has been accommodated in new facilities in the city centre. The
redundant building therefore no longer serves the community.

12. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:
There are no direct implications resulting from the recommendation to fund the demolition
project. However, there are opportunities to mitigate carbon impact during the demolition
process and we will look to maximise those where possible.

13. Are there any other options?
The alternative of hoarding the site is considered in the report.

Director Finance, Dave Hodgson
Author: Michael Carson

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended)
Background papers used in compiling this report:None
Contact for enquires:
Democratic Services (Committees)
Room 4.36
01392 265275

Page 381

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality Impact Assessment: Former Exeter Bus Station
The Equality Act 2010 includes a general duty which requires public authorities, in the exercise of their functions, to have due regard to the
need to:
Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act.
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and people who do not share it.
Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not

Page 383

In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on equality of decisions, policies and practices. These duties do
not prevent the authority from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the impacts on all
members of the community.
Authorities which fail to carry out equality impact assessments risk making poor and unfair decisions which may discriminate against particular
groups and worsen inequality.
Committee name and
date:

Executive 05.07.22
Council 19.07.22

Report Title

Former Exeter Bus Station

Decisions being
recommended:

Funding of demolition costs

People with protected
characteristics potentially
impacted by the decisions
to be made:
None identified

Factors to consider in the assessment: For each of the groups below, an assessment has been made on whether the proposed
decision will have a positive, negative or neutral impact. This is must be noted in the table below alongside brief details of why this
conclusion has been reached and notes of any mitigation proposed. Where the impact is negative, a high, medium or low
assessment is given. The assessment rates the impact of the policy based on the current situation (i.e. disregarding any actions

planned to be carried out in future).
High impact – a significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no mitigating measures in place etc.
Medium impact –some potential impact exists, some mitigating measures are in place, poor evidence
Low impact – almost no relevancy to the process, e.g. an area that is very much legislation led and where the Council has very
little discretion
Protected characteristic/ area of
interest

Page 384

Race and ethnicity (including
Gypsies and Travellers; migrant
workers; asylum seekers).
Disability: as defined by the Equality
Act – a person has a disability if they
have a physical or mental impairment
that has a substantial and long-term
adverse impact on their ability to carry
out normal day-to-day activities.
Sex/Gender
Gender reassignment
Religion and belief (includes no
belief, some philosophical beliefs such
as Buddhism and sects within
religions).
Sexual orientation (including
heterosexual, lesbian, gay, bisexual).
Age (children and young people aged
0-24; adults aged 25-50; younger
older people aged 51-75/80; older
people 81+; frail older people; people
living with age related conditions. The
age categories are for illustration only

Positive
or
Negative
Impact

High,
Medium or
Low
Impact

Reason

Protected characteristic/ area of
interest

Positive
or
Negative
Impact

High,
Medium or
Low
Impact

Reason

as overriding consideration should be
given to needs).
Pregnancy and maternity including
new and breast feeding mothers
Marriage and civil partnership
status
Actions identified that will mitigate any negative impacts and/or promote inclusion

Page 385

Officer:
Date:

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 17

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 387

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 391

This page is intentionally left blank

